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Our company keeps growing continuously 
even in this 2022. We have invested in 
25% of the Romklao Wind Farm project, 
which is a 48 megawatts wind power plant 
located in Mukdahan Province, Thailand.  
In addition to this growth in performance, 
our company also has a strong financial 
structure as reflected in the company’s 
credit rating by TRIS rating Co., Ltd. which 
was upgraded from BBB to BBB+, and a 
strong credit line of over 2,200 million baht 
from International Finance Corporation 
(IFC) and the Siam Commercial Bank Co., 
Ltd. (SCB), which will help the company 
to lower its financing cost and strengthen 
its capital base for future growth.

Moreover ,  our  company was a lso 
nominated in the ESG100 list by Thaipat 
Institute for the second year in a row, 
demonstrates our company’s empathy 
in sustainable growth, and our care 
for the environment, society and good 
governance.

Lastly, on behalf of the company’s board 
of directors, I would like to express my 
gratitude to our customers, shareholders, 
financial institutions, business partners, 
t rade partners, local communit ies, 
relevant government agencies, as well as 
all other stakeholders for supporting our 
company’s business groups. This gives us 
the business groups a strong foundation 
and potential for continued growth in the 
future.

Mr. Kamthorn Wangudom
Chairman

Message
from the Chairman
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Our Sermsang groups continue to show our 
performance growth from the previous year. 
In 2022, we were able to generate the highest 
profit since our incorporation. Our groups had 
revenues from sales and services of 3,117.4 
million baht, a 20.0% increase, and Core 
Operating Profit of 1,019.5 million baht, a 20.4% 
increase, which were the result of revenue 
recognition from our new power plant projects’ 
commercial operation start, and also mergers 
and acquisitions (M&A).  

We considered this 2022 as another year of 
our continued development, with the full year 
revenue recognition of the LEO1 solar power 
project, which started its commercial operation 
in July 2021, and the Truong Thah Tra Vinh 
Wind Power Project in Vietnam, which started 
its commercial operation in October 2021, 
and our investment in 25% of the Romklao 
Wind Farm project in March 2022, resulting in 
our company’s owning of the power purchase 
agreement in total of 236 megawatts at the 
end of 2022.

As for our future business growth, our 
management team remains committed in 
further expanding all types of alternative energy 
businesses both in the five countries we already 
have and other potential countries. In addition 
to the energy business, our company also aims 
to further invest in the new businesses related 
in caring the environment, society and good 
governance for sustainable growth and long-
term returns for shareholders.

All these successes would not have been 
possible without the support of our company’s 
board of directors, shareholders, business 
partners, employees, including all sectors 
that always providing support. On behalf of 
the management team, I would like to express 
my gratitude to all of you for your continued 
support. We the management team and all 
employees will continue to strive for further 
business development, be ready for any 
opportunities and challenges in the future, as 
well as stick to our sustainable development 
principles for the benefit of all stakeholders.

Mr. Varut Thammavaranukub
Chief Executive Officer

Message 
from the Chief Executive Officer
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1
STRUCTURE
AND OPERATION 
OF THE GROUP
Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited
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1. Policy and the overall business operation 

1.1 Vision Mission Goals and Strategies  

1.1.1 Vision 

 Sermsang Power Corporation Group Company (“Company” or “SSP”) and the Company’s 
subsidiaries (collectively called “Group Company”) have the business operation vision that is  

“The Group Company strives to be the leading energy company in Asia by becoming a sustainable 
energy producer and supplier along with fostering and promoting a stable clean environment for the best 
interests of society.” 

1.1.2 Mission 

The Group Company is committed to empowering people and business organizations to take part in 
sustainable development of the future by The Group Company applying expertise in the acquisition of 
appropriate technology and create dynamic resources that can meet energy needs in a sustainable, efficient, 
and effective manner. 

1.1.3 Goals and Strategies 

The Group Company aims to be a leader in the production and distribution of electric power using 
international technology in project development to promote a clean environment that is sustainable and creates 
the maximum benefit to the society. Some of the key strategies for achieving this goal are detailed as follows: 

(1) Committed to investing and developing renewable energy power projects in various forms such as 
solar energy, wind energy, biogas energy and biomass energy both in domestically and the Asian 
region. The goal is to expand investment and develop power plant projects totaling 500 MW by 
2025. 

(2) Promote and support the communities nearby to participate in the development of the Group 
Company's power generation projects. This starts with building knowledge and understanding on 
renewable energy power generation projects as well as encouraging employment from nearby 
communities from project construction to commercial operation. This is to promote the well-being 
of neighboring communities through support, and assistance, and to prevent possible 
environmental impacts together with communities,  

(3) giving importance to the development of human resources to develop knowledge and expertise in 
electric power. 
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1.2  History and major developments 

1.2.1 Important history 

In 2012, the Kraipisitkul family, the Group Company's major shareholders, saw a business opportunity 
in the renewable energy industry from the government's policy to promote renewable energy production by 
providing tax incentives as well as Adder on top of base tariff to the Very Small Power Producer (VSPP) and the 
Small Power Producer (SPP) for the period of 10 years after commercial operation date. The application to sell 
electricity was submitted to the Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand (“EGAT”) under the name of Sermsang 
Power Limited Company (“SPN”) and was accepted to enter into the 40.0 megawatts power purchase agreement 
(“PPA”) with EGAT. SPN entered into the PPA with EGAT on 7 June 2013 (“Sermsang Solar Project”). The Project 
was completed and commenced commercial operation (COD) on February 2, 2015. 

Subsequently, the shareholders' group established a limited company Sermsang Power Corporation 
(“SSP”) on 16 June 2015 in order to proceed with the restructuring of the Group Company to be ready for listing 
on the Market for Alternative Investment (MAI) with the objective that SSP was to operate the business of holding 
shares in subsidiaries and other companies in the future (Holding Company), which operates the business of 
generating and distributing electricity from renewable energy and other related businesses. Later, On March 27, 
2019, Sermsang Power Corporation Company Public Limited moved from MAI to the Stock Exchange of Thailand 
(SET) for the first day.  

In this regard, from October 2015 to March 2016, the Group Company and the major shareholders 
have restructured the Group Company by allowing SSP to hold shares in all subsidiaries (that are in the current 
Group Company).  

As of December 31, 2022, Subsidiaries in Sermsang Power Group Corporation Public Company 
Limited consist of:  

Subsidiaries in Thailand 

(1)  Sermsang Power Limited (“SPN”) 
(2)  Access Energy Limited (“AE”) 
(3)  Essential Power Limited (“EP”) 
(4)  Plus Energy Limited (“PE”) 
(5)  Prestige Group Limited (“PTG”) 
(6)  Triple P Renewable Limited (“PPP”) 
(7)  Siam Clean Solution Limited (“SCS”) 
(8)  Siam Renewable Power Limited (“SRP”) 
(9)  Sermsang Solar Limited (“SS”) 
(10)  Sermsang Corporation Limited (“SSC”) 
(11)  Sermsang International Limited (“SI”) 
(12)  Sermsang Infinit Limited (“SN”) 
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(13) Uni Power Tech Company Limited (“UPT”) 
(14) Niche Renewable Power Company Limited (“NRP”) 
(15) Sermsang Next Ventures Company Limited (“SNV”) 
(16) SSTE Sustainable Company Limited (“SSTE”) 
(17) STZ Innovation Company Limited (“STZ”) 
(18) Renewable Absolute Power Company Limited (“RAP”) 
(19) Renewable Infinite Company Limited (“RI”) 
(20) Bettenergy Company Limited (“Betten”) 
(21) Lom Koh Yai Company Limited. (“LKY”) 
(22) Lom Changklang Company Limited (“LCK”) 
(23) Lom Narai Company Limited (“LNR”) 
(24) Lom Singhkhon Company Limited (“LSK”) 
(25) Infinite Renewable Power Company Limited (“IRP”) 

Associate  

(26) Windchai Company Limited (“Windchai”) 

Overseas Subsidiaries  

(27) S. Global Power Limited1 (“SGP”)  
(28) Surge Energy Corporation Limited2 (“SEG”) 
(29) Access C Management Limited3 (“ACM”)  
(30) Seijo Corporation4 (“SJC”) 
(31) Sermsang Sustainable Singapore Private Limited 5(“SSSG”) 
(32) Tenunn Gerel Construction LLC6 (“TGC”) 
(33) Truong Thanh Quang Ngai Power and High Technology Joint Stock Company7 (“TTQN”) 
(34) SEA Sun Energy Partners Pte. Ltd. 8(“SSEP”) 
(35) PT Sea Sun Energi 9(“SSE”) 
(36) Truong Thanh Tra Vinh Wind Power Joint Stock Company 10(“TTTV”) 

  

 
1 Established in Hong Kong Special Administrative Region with SI as a shareholder holding 100% of the shares. 
2 Established in Hong Kong Special Administrative Region with SGP as a shareholder holding 100% of the shares. 
3Established in Hong Kong Special Administrative Region with AE as s shareholder holding 100% of the shares.  
4Established in Japan with ACM as a shareholder holding 100% of the shares.  
5 Established in Singapore with SI as a shareholder holding 100% of the shares.  
6 Established in Mongolia with SSSG as a shareholder holding 75% of the shares. 
7Established in Vietnam with as a shareholder holding 87% of the shares. 
Established in Singapore with SI as a shareholder holding 96% of the shares. 
9 Established in Indonesia with SSEP as a shareholder holding 96% of the shares. 
10 Established in Vietnam with SSP as a shareholder holding 80% of the shares. 



SERMSANG POWER CORPORATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED10 

                                                                                                  
Sermsang Power Corporation Public Limited Company 

 
Form 56 – 1 - 2022 Policy and the overall business operation                                                                               Section 1 Page 4 

The operating company (“GK Operator”) under the GK-TK investment structure, where SEG, 
as a TK investor, also entered into the TK Agreement (“TK Agreement”). 

(37) G.K GSSE1 (“GSSE”)  
(38) Zouen Energy G.K.2 (“ZOUEN”) 
(39) Ashita Power 1 G.K.3 (“ASP1”) 
(40) Ashita Power 2 G.K.4 (“ASP2”) 

As of December 31, 2022, the Group Company has power plant projects divided by their location 
and status as follows: 

- Solar power plant projects in Thailand. 
Projects that commercial operations have begun. 
• Sermsang Solar Project, which is operated by SPN, started its commercial operation in 

the first quarter of 2015. It has 52 megawatts installed capacity and 40 MW contracted 
capacity of PPA. The plant is located in Lopburi province. 

• 8 Solar Rooftop Projects under SN operation,  
▪ SNNP1 Project, which started commercial operation in the first quarter of 2018. It has 

0.04 MW installed capacity. The project entered into a PPA with Srinanaporn 
Marketing Co., Ltd. and located in Ratchaburi Province. 

▪ SNNP2 project, which started commercial operation in the first quarter of 2018. It has 
1.0 MW installed capacity. the project entered into a PPA with Srinanaporn Marketing 
Co., Ltd. and located in Ratchaburi Province. 

▪ SNNP3 project, which started commercial operation in the second quarter of 2019. 
It has 0.4 MW installed capacity. the project entered into a PPA with Srinanaporn 
Marketing Co., Ltd. and located in Samutsakorn Province 

▪ DoHome projects consisting of 5 sub-projects (branches Bang Bua Thong, Rama 2, 
Nakhon Ratchasima, Khon Kaen and Chiang Mai) opened for commercial operation 
in Q3 2018. It has 3.0 MW installed capacity. the project entered into a PPA with 
DoHome Company Public Limited Company 

 
1Established in Japan by SEG investing in Yamaga project as TK investor. under GK-TKstructure at the rate of 90% according to the 

proportion of TK investment. 
2Established in Japan by SEG investing in SOEN project as TK investor. under GK-TKstructure at the rate of 100% according to the proportion 

of TK investment. 
3Established in Japan by SEG investing in Leo1 project as TK investor. under GK-TKstructure at the rate of 100% according to the proportion 

of TK investment. 
4Established in Japan by SEG investing in Leo2 project as a TK investor under GK-TKstructure at the rate of100% in proportion to TK 

investment. 
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▪ SNNP4 project, which started commercial operation in the first quarter of 2020. It has 
0.3 MW installed capacity. the project entered into a PPA with Srinanaporn Marketing 
Co., Ltd. and located in Samutsakorn Province 

▪ The PRC project, which started commercial operation in the second quarter of 2020. 
It has 0.962 MW installed capacity. the project entered into a PPA with PRC Plast 
(Thailand) Co., Ltd. and located in Nontaburi Province. 

▪ The TAPACO project, which started commercial operation in the second quarter of 
2020. It has 0.885 MW installed the project entered into a PPA with Tapaco Public 
Company Limited and located in Chonburi and Prachinburi Provinces. 

▪ The SPT project, which started commercial operation in the third quarter of 2022. It 
has 0.778 MW installed the project entered into a PPA with Siam Plastech Products 
Company Limited and located in Nakorn Pathom Provinces. 

• WVO Solar Power Plant Project, under the joint investment between The War Veterans 
Organization of Thailand (WVO) and SS. It has 5.0MW installed and contracted capacity 
of PPA, located in Ratchaburi Province.  
 

- Biomass power plant project in Thailand 
Projects that commercial operations have begun. 
• UPT Project, which is operated by UPT operation, started its commercial operation in the 

second quarter of 2019. It has 9.9 megawatts installed capacity and 8.0 MW contracted 
capacity of PPA. The plant is located in Nakhon Ratchasima province. 

 
- Solar power plant project in Japan 

Projects that commercial operations have begun. 

• Zouen Project, under ZOUEN operation, opened for commercial operation in Q3 2018 
with an installed capacity of 8.0 MW and a production capacity under the power purchase 
agreement of 6.0 MW, located in Mashiki, Japan. 

• Yamaga Project under GSSE operations, it will be in commercial operation in Q2, 2020 
with an installed capacity of 34.5 MW. and a production capacity under the power 
purchase agreement of 30.0 MW, located in Yamaga, Japan. 

• Leo 1 project, under the operation of Ashita Power 1 GK, opened for commercial 
operation in Q3 2021 with an installed capacity of 26.0 MW and a production capacity 
under the power purchase agreement of 20.0 MW, located in Minami-Izu, Japan. 
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Projects under construction and development 

• Project Leo 2, under the Ashita Power 2 GK operation, is currently under development 
and is expected to be commercially operational by 2024 with an installed capacity of 22.0 
MW. and a production capacity under the power purchase agreement of 17.0 MW, 
located in Shimoda, Japan. 

- Solar power plant project in Vietnam 
The Group Company invests in the Binh Nguyen Solar project in Vietnam which is operated 

through TTQN with an installed capacity of 49.61 MW and has a production capacity under the 
power purchase agreement of 40.0 MW, located in Quan Ngai, Vietnam. The project has 
commenced commercial operations in the second quarter of 2019. 

- Wind power plant project in Vietnam 
Project Tra Vinh Wind Power, under TTTV operation, opened for commercial operation in Q4 

2021 with an installed capacity of 48.0 MW. and a production capacity under the power purchase 
agreement of 48.0 MW, located in Tra Vinh, Vietnam. 

- Solar power plant project in Mongolia 
The Group invests in the Khunsight Kundi project in Mongolia. which is operated through TGC 

with an installed capacity of 16.4 MW and has a production capacity under the power purchase 
agreement of 15.0 MW, located in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia. The project Commenced commercial 
operations in the third quarter of 2019. 

- Wind power plant project in Thailand 
Project Romklao wind farm, opened for commercial operation in Q2 2019 with an installed 

capacity of 45.0 MW. and a production capacity under the power purchase agreement of 45.0 MW, 
located in Mukdahan, Thailand. The company investment of 25% of shares in first quarter of 2022. 

- Solar Rooftop Project in Indonesia 
Solar Rooftop Project in Indonesia started commercial operation from 2018 until 2021 with a 

total installed capacity of approximately 26.2 MW. The project entered into a power purchase 
agreement with industrial users. The nature of the service agreement will be a long-term contract of 
24-30 years and set the electricity purchase rate reference to the electricity tariff of the Indonesian 
base tariff.  

1.2.2 Important development 

Year Major changes and developments 

2020 ▪ In the first quarter of 2020, the Group Company has made a significant development. as follows: 
- Solar Rooftop SNNP 4 project commenced commercial operation in March 2020  

▪ In the second quarter of 2020, the Group Company has made a significant development. as follows: 
- Solar Rooftop PRC Project commenced commercial operation in April 2020. 
- Solar Rooftop TAPACO Project commenced commercial operation in April 2020. 
- Yamaga Project commenced commercial operation in May 2020, electricity is sold to Kyushu 

Electric Power Co., Inc. (KYUDEN) under contract of 30.0 MW (34.5 MW installed capacity). 
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Year Major changes and developments 

▪ In the third quarter of 2020, the Group Company has made a significant development. as follows: 
- The Company signed an EPC contract and commenced the construction of the Tra Vinh Wind 

Power Wind Farm in July 2020. 

2021 ▪ In the third quarter of 2021, the Group Company has made a significant development. as follows: 
- Acquisition of UPT biomass in July 2021. 
- Leo 1 Project commenced commercial operation in July 2021.  

▪ In the fourth quarter of 2021, the Group Company has made a significant development. as follows: 
- TTTV Project commenced commercial operation in October 2021.  

 

2022 ▪ In the first quarter of 2022, the Group Company has made a significant development. as follows: 
- Acquisition of Windchai in Mar 2022. 

▪ In the second quarter of 2022, the Group Company has made a significant development. as follows: 
- Divestment Hidaka project in June 2022.  

 
 

1.3  Nature of business 

1.3.1 Business overview and revenue structure  

The Company operate business by holding shares in other companies (Holding Company) that operate 
the business of generating and distributing electricity from renewable energy and other related 
businesses, both domestically and internationally. 

As of 31 December 2022, the Company and its subsidiaries have projects that have commenced the 
commercial operation, projects under construction, and development as follows: 

Projects that have commenced commercial operation with total PPA-equity of 235.5 MW are: 

(1) SPN project (in Thailand) with installed capacity of 40.0 MW, commenced commercial operation 
in the first quarter of 2015. 

(2) Zouen Project (in Japan) with installed capacity is 6.0 MW, commenced commercial operation in 
third quarter of 2018. 

(3) Solar Rooftop Project (in Thailand), total installed capacity of 6.9 MW are namely SNNP1 project, 
SNNP2 project (commenced commercial operation in first Quarter  of 2018) DoHome project 
(commenced commercial operation in third quarter of 2018) SNNP3 project (commenced 
commercial operation in second Quarter, 2019) SNNP4 Project (commenced commercial 
operation in first Quarter of 2020) Project TAPACO (commenced commercial operation in second 
Quarter of 2020)  PRC project (commenced commercial operation in second quarter of 2020) and 
SPT project  (commenced commercial operation in third quarter of 2022) 
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(4) WVO solar project with the installed capacity of 5.0 MW commenced commercial operation in 
fourth quarter of 2018. 

(5) Binh Nguyen Solar project, which is operated through TTQN (in Vietnam) with the installed 
capacity of 34.8 MW commenced commercial operation in second quarter of 2019. 

(6) Khunsight Kundi project (in Mongolia) with installed capacity of 11.3 MW commenced commercial 
operation in third quarter of 2019. 

(7) Solar Rooftop Project (in Indonesia) with a total installed capacity of 26 . 2  MW gradually 
commenced the commercial operation since in fourth quarter of 2019. 

(8) Yamaga Project (in Japan) with the installed capacity of 2 7 . 0  MW commenced commercial 
operation in second quarter of 2020. 

(9) UPT project with the installed capacity of 7 .9 MW commenced commercial operation in second 
quarter of 2019. 

(10)  Leo Project (Ashita Power 1) (in Japan), total installed capacity of 20.0 MW commenced   
commercial operation in third quarter of 2021. 

(11) Wind project (in Vietnam) contracted capacity of 3 8 .4  MW commenced   commercial operation 
in fourth quarter of 2021. 

(12) Windchai project contracted capacity of 11.3 MW commenced (the company holding of 25%). 
 

Projects under construction and development with total PPA-equity of 20.0 MW, are including 

(1) Leo Project (Ashita Power 2) (in Japan), total installed capacity of 20.0 MW 

The business of the Group Company can be divided into 3 groups as follows: 

(1) Solar power plant investment and development business is divided into 
▪ Solar farm business in Thailand which consists of (1) SPN project, Lopburi province. and 

(2) WVO Solar projects, Ratchaburi province. 
▪ Solar Farm business in foreign countries, comprised projects in Japan, which are (1) 

Yamaga Project (2) Zouen Project (3) Leo project (4) Projects in Mongolia includes 
Khunsight Kundi project, and (5) Projects in Vietnam, including Binh Nguyen Solar Project,  

(2) Solar rooftop investment and development business is divided into 
▪ Solar Rooftop business in Thailand, comprises of (1) SNNP1 project (2) SNNP2 project (3) 

DoHome project (4) SNNP3 project (5) SNNP4 project. (6) PRC project (7) TAPACO project 
and (8) SPT project. 

▪ Solar Rooftop business in foreign countries is Solar Rooftop Project in Indonesia. 
(3) Business of investment and development of wind power plants in Vietnam.  
(4) Business of investment and development of other renewable energy power plants such as biogas 

power plant biomass power plant and waste-to-energy power plants etc.  
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In this regard, Revenue Structure of the Group Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, 2021 
and 2022 can be summarized as follows: 

Revenue structure 

Consolidated financial statements of the Group Company  
for the fiscal year ended 31 December  

2020  2021  2022 

Amount 
(million baht) % 

Amount  
(million baht) % 

Amount  
(million baht) % 

Revenue from sale       

Sale revenue from solar 1,809.9 83.5 2,110.0 81.2 2,194.4 70.4 

Sale revenue from wind - - 117.7 4.5 508.2 16.3 

Sale revenue from biomass 306.0 14.1 304.0 11.7 302.8 9.7 
Sale revenue from solar 
rooftop 25.6 1.2 47.4 1.8 81.3 2.6 

Total revenue from sales 2,141.4 98.8 2,579.1 99.3 3,086.6 99.0 

Revenue from solar roof 
construction services (EPC 
revenue)  

25.0 1.2 18.0 0.7 30.8 1.0 

Total revenue from sales 
and service 

2,166.5 100.0 2,597.1 100.0 3,117.4 100.0 
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1.3.2 Business operations and product lines 

1.3.2.1 Products or services 

(1) Solar Farm Business 

Solar Farm Business in Thailand 

SPN project 

SPN has entered into the PPA with EGAT for 40 MW contracted capacity on Non-Firm basis (meaning 
there is no minimum amount of electricity required to be sold to EGAT) with a 5-year contract term. The contract 
can be renewed for a period of 5 years at a time, upon expiration of the agreement. The Project obtained Adder 
at the rate of 6.5 baht per kilowatt-hour on top of base tariff for a period of 10 years from the commercial operation 
date. The Group Company has a policy to renew the contract after the expiration of 5 years until the end of the 
project's life, which in general, a project will last for approximately 25 years. 

SPN projects had key details as follows: 
Topic Detail 

Project company SPN 
Shareholding by the Company 100% 
Project location Khok Samrong District Lopburi province. Thailand 
Area size 889-0-55 rai 
Installed capacity / Contracted capacity 52/40 MW 
Off-taker Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand 
Tariff rate Base tariff plus Ft and Adder at 6.5 baht per kilowatt-hour 
Project status Commenced the commercial operation 
Commercial Operation Date February 02, 2015 
Solar panel technology Thin Film Silicon 

WVO solar project, Ratchaburi province.  

WVO solar project is invested through SS, a subsidiary company established in Thailand as a joint 
venture partner with the War Veterans Organization of Thailand as the owner of the project under the ground-
mounted solar power generation project for government agencies and agricultural cooperatives in 2017 

Topic Detail 
Project company SS 
Shareholding by the Company 100% 
Project location in Ratchaburi Province. 
Area size 51 Rai 
Installed capacity / Contracted capacity 5/5 MW 
Off-taker Provincial Electricity Authority 

Tariff rate 
Feed-in tariff, amounting to 4.12 baht per kilowatt-hour  
(over a period of 25 years). 

Project status Commenced the commercial operation 
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Topic Detail 
Commercial Operation Date November 30, 2018 
Solar panel technology Poly Crystaline Silicon 

Overseas Solar Farm Businesses 

The investment in solar farm businesses overseas currently includes investments in Japan, 
Mongolia, and Vietnam as follows: 

Solar Farm business in Japan 

In investing in Japan, the Company has made investments through the GK-TK structure, with summarized 
information as follows. 

Project Yamaga Zouen Leo 

Project company GSSE ZOUEN 
Ashita Power 1 and 

Ashita Power 2 

Investment Proportion by 
the Group Company 

90% 100% 100% 

Type of business Solar Farm Solar Farm Solar Farm 

Location Kumamoto prefecture  Kumamoto prefecture  Shizuoka Prefecture  

Installed capacity 34.5 MW 8.0 MW 48.0 MW 

Contracted capacity 30.0 MW 6.0 MW 37.0 MW 

PPA term 20 years 20 years 20 years 

Scheduled COD 
 

Commenced 
commercial operation 

in the second quarter of 
2020. 

Commenced 
commercial operation 
in the third quarter of 

2018. 

Leo 1 commenced 
commercial operation 
in the third quarter of 

2021. 

  Solar Farm Business in Vietnam 

At present, the company has invested in 1 solar farm project in Vietnam with the following summary 

Project Binh Nguyen Solar 

Project company Troung Thanh Quang Ngain Power and High Technology Joint Stock Company (TTQN) 

Investment Proportion by 
the Group Company 

87% 

Type of business Solar Farm 

Location Quan Ngai, Vietnam 

Installed capacity 49.6 MW 



SERMSANG POWER CORPORATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED18 

                                                                                                  
Sermsang Power Corporation Public Limited Company 

 
Form 56 – 1 - 2022 Policy and the overall business operation                                                                               Section 1 Page 12 

Contracted capacity 40.0 MW 

PPA term 20 years 

Scheduled COD 
 

Commenced commercial operation 
in the second quarter of 2019. 

Solar Farm business in Mongolia 

At present, the company has invested in 1 solar farm project in Mongolia, with the summary as follows: 

Project Khunshight Kundi 

Project company Tenuun Gerel Construction LLC (TGC) 

Investment Proportion by 
the Group Company 

75% 

Type of business Solar Farm 

Location 
Khunshight, TUV, Mongolia  

(about 40km south of Ulanbaatar, Mongolia's capital) 

Installed capacity 16.4 MW 

Contracted capacity 15.0 MW 

PPA term 
12 years 

(according to the current purchase agreement) 

Scheduled COD 
Commenced commercial operation  

in the third quarter of 2019 

(2) Wind farm Business 

Project TTTV Windchai 

Project company 
Truong Thanh Tra Vinh Wind Power Joint 

Stock Company (TTTV) 
Winchai Company 

Limited 

Investment Proportion by 
the Group Company 

80% 25% 

Type of business Wind Farm Wind Farm 

Location Tra Vinh, Vietnam  Mukdahan, Thailand 

Installed capacity 48.0 MW 45.0 MW 

Contracted capacity 48.0 MW 45.0 MW 

PPA term 20 years 20 years 
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Scheduled COD 
Commenced commercial operation  

in the fourth quarter of 2021 
Commenced commercial operation  

in the second quarter of 2019 

(3) Biomass Business 

Project UPT 

Project company Uni Power Tech Company Limited 

Investment Proportion by 
the Group Company 

99% 

Type of business Biomass 

Location Sikhio , Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand 

Installed capacity 9.9 MW 

Contracted capacity 8.0 MW 

PPA term 20 years 

Scheduled COD 
Commenced commercial operation  

in the second quarter of 2019 

(4) Solar Rooftop Business 
Solar Rooftop Business in Thailand 

At present, the company has invested 8 Solar Rooftop projects with the following summary. 

Project SNNP 1 SNNP 2 DoHome SNNP 3 

Project company SN 

Proportion of shares held by 
SSP 

100% 100% 100% 100% 

Type of business Solar Rooftop Solar Rooftop Solar Rooftop Solar Rooftop 

Location Samutsakorn Province 
in Ratchaburi 

Province. 

5 branches (Bang Bua 
Thong, Rama 2, 

Nakhon Ratchasima, 
Khon Kaen and 

Chiang Mai) 

 
Province 

Samut Sakhon 
 

Installed capacity 384 kilowatts 998 kilowatts Total 3,000 kilowatts 384 kilowatts 

PPA term 25 years 25 years 25 years 25 years 

Scheduled COD 
Commenced 

commercial operation 
Commenced 

commercial operation 
Commenced 

commercial operation 
Commenced 

commercial operation 
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in the first quarter of 
2018 

in the first quarter of 
2018 

in the third quarter of 
2018 

in the first quarter of 
2019 

 

Project SNNP 4 PRC Tapaco SPT 

Project company SN 

Proportion of shares held by 
SSP 

100% 100% 100% 100% 

Type of business Solar Rooftop Solar Rooftop Solar Rooftop Solar Rooftop 

Location 
Samut Sakhon 

Province 
in Nonthaburi 

Province. 

Chonburi Province 
and Prachinburi 

Province 

 
Nakorn Pathom  

Province 
 

Installed capacity 307 kilowatts 962 kilowatts 885 kilowatts 778 kilowatts 

PPA term 25 years 25 years 25 years 18 years 

Scheduled COD 

Commenced 
commercial operation 
in the first quarter of 

2020 

Commenced 
commercial operation 
in the second quarter 

of 2020 

Commenced 
commercial operation 
in the second quarter 

of 2020 

Commenced 
commercial operation 
in the third quarter of 

2022 
 

Solar Rooftop Business in Indonesia 

Project Solar Rooftop Indonesia 

Project company SEA SUN Energy Partners Pte. Ltd (SSEP) 

Proportion of shares held by 
SSP 

95% 

Type of business Solar Rooftop 

Location Indonesia 

Installed capacity 26.2 MW 

PPA term 24-30 years 

Scheduled COD Commenced commercial operation in the 2018-2022 
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at Lopburi province Thailand (no commercial operation)

SPN project contracted capacity of 40.0 MW
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at Ratchaburi Province. Thailand (on commercial operation)

WVO project contracted capacity of 5.0 MW
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at Kumamoto Japan. (on commercial operation)

Zouen project contracted capacity of 6.0 MW
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at Shizuoka Japan. (on commercial operation)

Leo 1 project contracted capacity of 20 MW.

at Kumamoto Japan. (on commercial operation)

Yamaga project contracted capacity of 30 MW
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at Quang Ngai Province, Vietnam (on commercial operation)

At Tuv Province, Mongolia (on commercial operation)

at Tra Vinh, Vietnam. (on commercial operation)

Binh Nguyen Solar project contracted capacity of 40 MW.

Khunsight Kundi project contracted capacity of 15 MW.

TTTV project contracted capacity of 48.0 MW.
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at Thailand (on commercial operation)

Solar rooftop project, total installed capacity of 7.7 MW.

at Nakhon Ratchasima Province. Thailand (on commercial operation)

UPT project contracted capacity of 8.0 MW.
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in Indonesia (on commercial operation)

Solar rooftop project, total installed capacity of 26.2 MW.
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1.3.2.2 Price structure 

SPN projects  

For SPN project, as SPP and EGAT have entered into Non-Firm PPA with details of the tariff as follows: 

(1) Energy Payment Rate 

Energy Payment rate that EGAT purchases from the Group Company consists of 2 parts including  

▪ Bas Tariff: the wholesale tariff at the voltage level of 115 kV that EGAT charges to the Electricity Distribution 
Authorities, according to the period of use (Time of Use or "TOU"), the said rate varies according to the 
time of use, reflecting the difference from the cost of electricity for each period. The TOU rate is divided 
into 2 rates, including Peak rate (Monday - Friday, 9:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m.) and Off-peak rate (Monday - 
Friday, 10:00 p.m. - 9:00 a.m., Saturday, Sunday, and 24 hours on public holidays). 

▪ Fuel Tariff: the electricity cost calculation according to the automatic average wholesale tariff adjustment 
formula (Average Wholesale Ft or "Ft"), the Ft value is calculated from 2 variables, including the cost of 
fuel used in electricity generation of EGAT and the cost of electricity purchased from private producers 
and neighboring countries.  

In this regard, The Energy Regulatory Commission (“ERC”) will appoint a subcommittee to supervise the 
tariff and service charges and to consider and approve the Ft value and propose to ERC for approval and 
announcing for public hearings before the revised Ft value is announced every 4 months. 

(2) Adder 

SPN project receives an additional purchase price of electricity at the rate of 6.5 baht per kilowatt-hour for 
a period of 10 years from the COD. 

 

WVO solar project, Ratchaburi province. 

For the WVO solar project. under the ground-mounted solar power generation project for government 
agencies and agricultural cooperatives in 2017, SS which is a joint venture partner in the project has entered into 
PPA with the Provincial Electricity Authority (“PEA”) receiving Feed-in Tariff (FiT) at the rate of 4.12 baht per 
kilowatt-hour over a period of 25 years.  
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Solar power plant projects in Japan 

For solar power plant projects in Japan, at present, all projects of the Group Company have been 
granted a project license from the Ministry of Economy Trade and Industry (“METI”), which the licenses have a 
fixed rate for the purchase of electricity in the form of constant FiT throughout the purchase period of 20 years 
from the commencement of the commercial operation. Details of the electricity purchase from the solar power 
plant projects in Japan of the Group Company are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Solar power plant project in Mongolia 

 The Khunsight Kundi Project has entered into a PPA with the National Dispatching Center (NDC), a 
Mongolian governmental enterprise, for a 12-year term with a FIT at a rate equivalent to USD 0.162 per kilowatt-
hour over a period of 12 years.  
        Solar power plant project in Vietnam 

 TTQN project has entered into a PPA with Vietnam Electricity (EVN), a Vietnamese government 
enterprise, for a 20-year term with FIT at the rate equivalent to USD 0.0935 per kilowatt-hour. over a period of 
20 years.  

Nearshore wind farm project in Vietnam 

 TTTV project has entered into a PPA with Vietnam Electricity (EVN), a Vietnamese government 
enterprise, for a 20-year term with a FIT at the rate equivalent to USD 0.0980 per kilowatt-hour. over a period of 
20 years.  

UPT project, Nakhon Ratchasima province 

UPT project has entered into a PPA with Provincial Electricity Authority (“PEA”), receiving Feed-in Tariff 
(FiT) at the rate of 4.57 baht per kilowatt-hour (include premium of 0.3 baht per kilowatt-hour for 8 years) over a 
period of 20 years. 

 

 

Topic Yamaga Project Zouen Project Leo Project 

FiT rate 36 Yen 
Per kilowatt-hour 

36 Yen 
Per kilowatt-hour 

36 Yen 
Per kilowatt-hour 

Contracted capacity of 
PPA 

30.0 MW 6.0 MW 37.0 MW 

Off-taker Kyushu Electric Power 
Co., Inc 

Kyushu Electric Power 
Co., Inc 

Tokyo Electric Power 
Company Holdings, 

Inc 
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Solar Rooftop Projects in Thailand 

For Solar Rooftop projects in Thailand, the Group Company will enter into power purchase agreements 
with interested industrial users, with the nature of the service agreement being a long-term contract. of about 20-
25 years and to define a clear electricity purchase rate. 

In presently Sermsang Infinite (SN) has entered into 4 PPAs with Srinanaporn Marketing Co., Ltd. for SNNP1, 
SNNP2, SNNP3 and SNNP4 projects, 5 PPA with DoHome Public Company Limited 5 branches of DoHome 
projects (including Bang Bua Thong, Rama 2, Nakhon Ratchasima, Khon Kaen and Chiang Mai) 1 PPA with PRC 
Plast (Thailand) Co., Ltd., 1 PPA with Tapaco Public Company Limited, and 1 PPA with Siam Plastic Products 
Company Limited. All contracts mentioned are valid for 25 years and have a rate of electricity purchase in the 
form of electricity tariff rate based on retail base tariff (retail TOU charge) from PEA and average retail Ft. 

Solar Rooftop projects in Indonesia 

For Solar Rooftop Project in Indonesia, the Group Company will enter into agreements with interested 
industrial users, with the nature of the service agreement being a long-term contract. of about 20-30 years and 
to define a clear electricity purchase rate. The electricity purchase rate is based on the Indonesia base tariff. 

1.3.3 Power generation process 

 The electricity generation process of the Group Company's solar power plant project can be summarized 
as follows:  

(1) When the sunlight strikes each solar panel circuit, the surface of each solar panel is transformed into a 
conductive carrier and separates the positive and negative electric charges to the low voltage direct 
current (DC). 

(2) The power is passed through the String Combiner Box to combine the electric current and forwarded to 
an inverter to convert low voltage direct current into low voltage alternating current (AC). 

(3) The low-voltage AC power is passed through the transformer to increase the voltage. 

(4) The current that has been added to the voltage will be sent through a cutout device (Switch Gear), which 
is responsible for disconnecting the electricity sales to the grid system of the buyer. The electric current 
is then passed through to the electricity meter of the project and of the power purchaser respectively, to 
distribute the current further to the purchaser.  
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The diagram shows the process of generating electricity from solar energy using the Photovoltaic method. 

 

In this regard, In the case of the electricity generation process of the Solar Rooftop Project, the current that is 
added to the voltage through the transformer may be transmitted to the customer's system directly through the 
project's power unit meter without passing through the grid system. 

SPN project, Lopburi Province 

SPN project Solar, uses the process technology to generate electricity using solar panels or 
photovoltaics. (“Photovoltaic”), which is the conversion of solar energy into electrical energy by using solar cells 
or Photovoltaic Cell. In this regard, SPN project uses Thin Film Silicon solar panels to produce photovoltaic power.  

In the production of solar power, SPN project the primary equipment that have received product 
warranty are Solar panel (PV Module), inverting system and other equipment from a turnkey contractor for a 
period of 5-10 years, according to the type of primary equipment. If the warranted equipment is defected within 
the warranty period, the turnkey contractor is required to fix, repair or replace in order for the equipment to 
function without any charges. In addition, the project is also guaranteed the DC power generation performance 
from solar panels (PV Panel Output Warranty) for a period of 25 years from a turnkey contractor,  

WVO project, Ratchaburi province 

For WVO solar project, Ratchaburi province. use in solar panel or photovoltaic electric power generation 
technology (Photovoltaic) and uses Poly-crystalline Silicon type of solar panel to generate power and has been 
guaranteed the quality of the main equipment (Product Warranty), which are solar panels (PV modules), inverter 
system and other devices from a turnkey contractor, for a period of 10 years according to the type of main 
equipment. In addition, the project is backed by a 25-year PV Output Warranty from a turnkey contractor. 

Solar power plant project in Japan 

For solar power plant projects in Japan uses process technology to generate electricity using solar 
panels or photovoltaics, the same with SPN project. Solar in Thailand in this regard, the Yamaga Project use solar 
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panels the type of Poly-crystalline Silicon. Zouen project and Leo project use solar panels the type of 
Monocrystalline Silicon in power generation with details of the electricity generation process similar to the 
electricity generation process in Thailand,  

The Zouen Project, and the Yamaga which the commercial operation has begun and has been 
guaranteed the quality of the structure, system and main equipment of the project. The photovoltaic modules (PV 
modules), the inverter and transformer are guaranteed for 2 years, and the solar panels are guaranteed for 10 
years. For the Yamaga projects and a period of 2 years for Zouen project by turnkey contractors and / or 
equipment manufacturers (Manufacturer Warranty), including a 25-year warranty for the DC power generation 
performance from the photovoltaic modules for the Yamaga Project. and a period of 20 years for Zouen project 

for The Leo project, which is under construction, is guaranteed the quality of the main structure system 
and equipment of the project whereby the photovoltaic modules (PV modules), inverter system and transformer 
are guaranteed for a period of 2 years, solar panels are guaranteed for a period of 15 years, including a 25-year 
warranty for the DC power generation performance from solar panels. 

Solar power plant project in Mongolia 

For the Khunshight Kundi project in Mongolia, which has begun commercial operation, the product 
warranty is obtained solar panels (PV modules), inverter system and other devices from a turnkey contractor for 
a period of 10, 5, and 2 years depending on the type of main equipment. The project is also backed by a 20-
year PV Output Warranty. 

Solar power plant project in Vietnam 

For the Binh Nguyen project in Vietnam, which has begun commercial operation, the product warranty 
is obtained solar panels (PV modules), inverter system and other devices from a turnkey contractor, for a period 
of 10 years, 5 years and 2 years. according to the type of main equipment. The project is also covered by a 25-
year PV Output Warranty. 

Near-shore wind farm projects in Vietnam 

For the Tra Vinh Power Plant project in Vietnam, has obtained a guarantee of the quality of the main 
equipment (Product Warranty), for equipment including the wind turbine power generator from the manufacturer. 
for a period of 2 years in addition, the project is guaranteed the construction results from the contractor for a 
period of 2 years. 

Solar Rooftop Projects in Thailand 

For Solar Rooftop Projects in Thailand Uses process technology to generate electricity using solar panels 
or photovoltaics, the same with SPN project in Thailand 

Solar Rooftop projects in Indonesia 

Solar Rooftop Project in Indonesia uses process technology to generate electricity using solar panels or 
photovoltaics, the same with SPN project in Thailand 
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1.3.4 Operation and Maintenance Process 

SPN project 

SPN currently hires a service provider for operational and maintenance services for SPN Project for a 
period of 10 years from COD with an important scope of work including 

(1) Take any action to ensure that solar power plants can generate and distribute electricity 
on a daily basis. such as Manage the security of the projects Liaise with the government 
agencies involved in the daily operations. Manage waste collection and / or sewage 
caused by activities in the project area etc.  

(2) Maintain the power plant according to the maintenance plan. The Group Company and 
the service provider on operational and maintenance will jointly formulate an 
implementation and maintenance plan, as well as the annual maintenance budget. In the 
preparation of annual operating and maintenance plans, the Group Company and the 
operating and maintenance service providers will jointly make and improve the 
operational and maintenance plan annually to increase operational efficiency. The above 
maintenance is divided into  

▪ Routine Maintenance means Daily maintenance to inspect the general condition of 
equipment and power plant environment Visually (Visual Inspection) by a team of 
operational and maintenance service providers. 

▪ Planned Maintenance means maintenance of equipment as specified in the master 
maintenance Plan. The plan will determine the time to inspect the equipment. On 
a weekly basis, monthly, quarterly, or 6 months etc. depending on the suitability of 
each type of equipment. 

▪ Unplanned Maintenance means Maintenance repair and / or replacement of each 
type of equipment other than planned maintenance, warranty repair and elective 
maintenance. 

▪ Warranty Repair means maintenance the equipment is guaranteed under a turnkey 
contractual contract and the operation and maintenance service provider will 
repair the equipment. This includes the separation and assembly of the equipment. 
etc.  

▪ Elective Maintenance means maintenance of important equipment parts apart from 
routine maintenance, planned maintenance, unplanned maintenance, and 
warranty repair. 

Each year, the operational and maintenance service provider draws up an elective maintenance plan 
which is an annual plan, and will submit the said plan together with the annual operation and maintenance plan 



SERMSANG POWER CORPORATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED34 

                                                                                                  
Sermsang Power Corporation Public Limited Company 

 
Form 56 – 1 - 2022 Policy and the overall business operation                                                                               Section 1 Page 30 

to the Group Company. The Group Company will be responsible for the cost of maintenance only if necessary 
(Elective Maintenance). 

WVO solar project, Ratchaburi province and Solar Rooftop Projects.  

For the WVO solar projects (Ratchaburi Province) and Solar Rooftop projects, both in Thailand and 
Indonesia, The Group Company are the service providers of operations and maintenance for the projects. 
However, the Group Company may consider hiring an outsourcing service provider to provide operation and 
maintenance services on behalf of the Group Company, depending on suitability. In this regard, The Group 
Company There is a policy to operate and maintain the project according to common industry standards to 
ensure that the project can be operated continuously and at full efficiency.  

Solar power plant project in Japan  

The Group Company Operation and Maintenance Service Provider was contracted for the H Zouen and 
Yamaga Project that has begun commercial operations, the scope and duties of the Operations and Maintenance 
Service Provider will be in accordance with the standards of business operation in the industry and will cover 
any actions to ensure that solar power plants can generate and distribute electricity on a daily basis. Solar panel 
cleaning work Grass cutting Take care of the areas within the project area Electrical system inspection work 
Prepare reports for the performance and maintenance of power plants according to the maintenance plan. 

In this regard, The Asset Management Company is the one to monitor and ensure that the Operational 
and Maintenance Service Providers perform their contract duties for the best benefit of the project and GK 
Company. 

Solar power plant project in Vietnam 

For the Binh Nguyen solar power plant project in Vietnam, the project companies will conduct the 
operation and maintenance of the project by themselves. 

Solar power plant project in Mongolia 

For the Khunsight Kundi solar power plant project in Mongolia. the project companies will conduct the 
operation and maintenance of the project by themselves. 
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1.3.5 Monitoring process 

 Following up on project implementation in Thailand 

SPN project, Lopburi province. 

For SPN project of the Group Company Follow up on the project performance closely by the Group 
Company's Project Operations Department officer, who is responsible for monitoring the performance of the 
Operational and Maintenance service providers through (1) Computer System: Supervisory Control and Data 
Acquisition (“SCADA”) (2) report the performance results on a regular basis as agreed in the Operational and 
Maintenance Service Provider Agreement, which is produced by the Operations and Maintenance Service 
Provider; and (3) Meeting with operations and maintenance service providers to discuss, review and analyze. 
Regular performance reports as agreed in the Operational and Maintenance Service Provider Agreement. 

in at present, SPN Project has a procedure for monitoring the operation and maintenance together with 
the service and maintenance service providers as follows:  

(1) Operational level of the operating team based at the power plant - The 
operating team of the operation department based at the power plant closely 
monitors the operation and maintenance team with the operations team of the 
operating and maintenance service provider.  

(2) Control level of operations at the head office - The control team of the 
operations department at the head office controls and monitors the operation 
and maintenance of the power plant by using SCADA system non-stop on a 
daily basis to quickly resolve any problems that may arise with minimal 
operational impact. such as in the event of a problem with the power 
generation system, an alarm will be sent through the SCADA system. 

(3) Management Level – The management meets with Operational and 
Maintenance Service Providers weekly and monthly to improve operational 
and maintenance processes.  

The Operational and Maintenance service providers will deliver Operation and Maintenance Report on 
a regular basis according to the agreed period of time to the Group Company with details of important information 
in the. performance and maintenance report including Power generation efficiency, Amount of electric power 
sold to EGAT, and unusual events that occurred (if any), etc. 
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WVO solar project, Ratchaburi province. 

WVO solar project, Ratchaburi province. The commercial operations commenced at the end of the fourth 
quarter of 2018. The Group Company plans to monitor the project performance closely in the same manner as 
SPN project in Thailand.  

Solar Rooftop Projects in Thailand and Indonesia, 

The Group Company operations are planned to clearly define steps and measures to monitor 
performance. such as There is an arrangement of personnel of the Group Company to monitor the performance 
of the power plants etc. so that both the Group Company and the employer can closely follow up on the project 
performance.  

Monitoring of project implementation in Japan. 

For solar power plant projects in Japan The Group Company Establish procedures and measures for 
monitoring the performance of the operation and maintenance service provider contract as follows: (1) Arrange 
to have a personnel to monitor the performance of the power plant for the period specified in the contract through 
SCADA system (2) Prepare reports on the performance and maintenance on a regular basis as specified in the 
contract to submit to the operating company and (3) To have regular audits as stipulated in the contract whereby 
the mentioned audit will be determined by a licensed engineer as required by law  

Monitoring of project implementation in Mongolia and Vietnam. 

The Group Company Plan to monitor the performance of the project by establishing steps and measures 
to closely monitor the performance of Project Company and maintenance service providers. 

Policy on innovation and dissemination of innovations derived from operating with responsibility towards the 
society, environment, and stakeholders. 

The Group Company There is a policy to adopt the concept of social responsibility and explorations to 
create business innovations that create benefits and competitiveness for business and society. The Group 
Company The various processes of the current business operation will be inspected to see whether they pose 
risks or have negative impacts on society and the environment, and study solutions to mitigate such impacts 
along with creating sustainable profits and business growth. In addition, in the event that the Group Company 
operates and creates business innovations that create benefits and competitiveness for business and society, 
the Group Company will disclose the innovations that are found to benefit the society and the environment to 
encourage businesses and other entrepreneurs to follow. 
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1.4 Marketing and Competition 

1.4.1 Competition strategy 

 The Group Company There is a strategy to compete and expand the business of generating and 
distributing electricity from renewable energy and other related businesses. These include (1) improving the 
efficiency of existing projects (2) Self-develop new renewable energy power plants and (3) Acquisition / Merger. 
as follows: 

(1) Develop the efficiency of existing projects for maximum return on investment. 

▪ Technology selection: The Group Company Selecting quality technology and 
equipment suitable for the investment project in order to generate stable and 
consistent electricity. For the Group Company's solar power plants at present, The 
Group Company the Group Company selects solar panels from the world's leading 
panel manufacturers with expertise in the production and development of solar 
power plants and has long, reliable industry experience. In this regard, the 
mentioned panel manufacturing company also provides panel quality assurance 
and DC power generation performance guarantee from the solar panels (PV 
Output Warranty). 

▪ Choosing the project site: The Group Company Consider selecting the project site 
by taking into account various factors including (1) solar intensity, which the Group 
Company will select a project site with an appropriate level of light intensity in order 
to achieve the return of the project and return to the shareholders that are 
worthwhile and satisfactory for the Group Company (2) Topography, such as slope 
of the area, The solidity characteristics of the soil, the height of the area above sea 
level and risks from natural disasters (3) Climate and such as temperature and (4) 
The site is located in an area where there is no restriction in connection with the 
grid system in order to control project development costs.  

▪ Selection of a turnkey contractor and Operations and Maintenance Service 
Providers: The Group Company The focus is on selecting a turnkey contractor and 
leading operational and maintenance service provider with experience, reliability, 
financial stability, as well as a reasonable bidding price to ensure that the Group 
Company's power plants are able to generate electricity according to its target 
and achieve the expected return on investment.  

▪  Performance Monitoring: The Group Company The operation of the solar power 
plant is closely monitored and the performance is reported on a regular basis as 
specified in the contract of the operating and maintenance service provider. 
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(2) Growth from the self-developed new renewable energy power plant project (Organic 
Growth) 

▪ Domestic projects: The Group Company Ensure readiness in terms of personnel 
and finance to be able to invest in new projects in the country when there is a 
business opportunity, including monitoring government policies related to the 
development of renewable energy power projects and business opportunities that 
may formed according to the Thailand Power Development Plan (PDP) and the 
Renewable and Alternative Energy Development Plan (AEDP). 

▪ Overseas projects: The Group Company There is a Business Development team 
with experience and expertise in the renewable energy industry with a study of 
information and investment feasibility, business opportunities in renewable energy 
projects in foreign countries that are continuously supported by government 
policies, such as Solar power plant project in Japan Mongolia, and Vietnam as well 
as other countries made in Southeast Asia etc.  

(3) Growth from acquisitions / mergers domestically and internationally (Inorganic Growth). 

▪ The Group Company the Company considers acquiring e all or part of the business 
in renewable energy power plant projects, both domestically and internationally, 
that are either under development, construction process, or has commenced 
commercial operation, to enable the Group Company to Grow rapidly in the 
business of generating and distributing electricity from renewable energy. In this 
regard, such acquisitions are subject to suitability and business opportunities by 
focusing essentially on the best interests of the Group Company and its 
shareholders. 

1.4.2 Target customers 

 In presently The Group Company The business of producing and distributing electricity from solar 
energy, targeting customers for this business is a government agency that is a power purchaser in Thailand, 
such as such as Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand. (“EGAT”) and the Provincial Electricity Authority 
(“PEA”), etc. Industrial User Electricity business operator in Japan such as Hokkaido Electric Power Company, 
Limited Kyushu Electric Power Co., Inc and Tokyo Electric Power Company Holdings, Inc, a state-owned 
enterprise that is a power purchase agency in Vietnam Including Vietnam Electrivity and Mongolia i.e., National 
Dispatch Center etc.  

In addition, In expanding the renewable energy power plant business of the Group Company in the 
future, the Group Company will focus on entering into medium to long term contracts with power buyers who are 
reliable and financially stable like the such as Government agencies, Industrial users or a private company that 
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receives a concession from the government in the country in which the Group Company operates to ensure that 
the Group Company will have stable income in the long term under limited risks. 

1.4.3 Sales and distribution channels 

SPN projects is classified as a Small Power Producer (SPP) that produces electricity for distribution to 
EGAT, which has distribution channels through the electric unit meter at the electrical outlets. These are the same 
point as the electrical system connection point that connects to EGAT's electricity transmission system. For the 
WVO Solar project, it is connected to the power transmission system of PEA. 

For Japan, the Group Company Distribution of electricity by linking electricity from the power plant to 
the transmission line of the private electricity operator in the region where the power plant is located, whereby 
the amount of electricity sold is measured from the power unit passed through the meter in at the electrical 
distribution point of the project. 

For solar power plant projects in Mongolia and in Vietnam The Group Company The electricity is 
distributed by linking electricity from the power plant to a substation of the National Dispatching Center of 
Mongolia and Vietnam Electricity of Vietnam, respectively, which are government agencies that play the role of 
a contract party to an inter-government power purchase agreement with the private sector. 
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1.4.4 Industry conditions and competition 

Industry condition and competition in Thailand1 

(1) Thailand electricity business structure 

 
 

The electricity industry structure in Thailand has 3 main stakeholders consisting of (1) power generation 
system (2) transmission system and (3) power distribution system. In this regard, currently, the electricity 
business structure in Thailand is Enhanced Single-Buyer (ESB) structure, with EGAT being the power producer, 
distributor, and the sole buyer (Single Buyer). EGAT distributes electricity via Electric transmission (Transmission) 
to the MEA and PEA to distribute electricity to users and sell directly to some large power consumers. 

(1.1) Power generation system 

In December 2022, the electricity generating system in Thailand has a total contracted capacity of 
53,415.5 MW from producers that can be divided into five main groups. including  

(1) Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand (EGAT) 

(2) Large private power producer (Independent Power Producer or "IPP") 

(3) Small Power Producer (“SPP”) 

(4) Very Small Power Producer (“VSPP”) and  

(5) Foreign power producers. 

 
 

1 Industry conditions information in this section has been compiled from publicly available documents and / or publications of the public 
sector, such as ERC, EGAT and Bank of Thailand, as well as publicly available industry resources. Some numeric data in this section of the 
document have been rounded to the nearest whole number. In addition, the forecast and estimate information in this section 
is collected from public sources and / or publications of the public sector. This information is subject to change according to the conditions 
used by the data source to make predictions. The Group Company and the financial advisors do not certify that the aforementioned sources 
are correct as the Group Company and the financial advisors have not received any formal approval from such sources.  
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The diagram shows the power generating capacity by type of power supplier. in Month December 2022 

 
Source: EGAT (www.egat.co.th), ERC (www.erc.or.th) 

note: Production capacity of the Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand Large power plant Small power plant Very small power plant and 
Foreign electricity producers. in Month December 2022  

(1) Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand (EGAT) 

EGAT is a state enterprise agency under the supervision of the Ministry of Energy. In December 2022, 
EGAT had a total contracted capacity from commercially operated power plants of 16,920.3 MW (31.7% of total 
system capacity), making it the largest power producer in Thailand. The types of power plants can be categorized 
as follows: 

The diagram shows the production capacity by type of power plant of EGAT as of December 2022 

 
Source: EGAT (www.egat.co.th), ERC (www.erc.or.th) 
note: Capacity by type of power plant of EGAT as of Month December 2022  

 

(2) the Independent Power Producer (IPP) 

IPP is a private producer with a contracted capacity of more than 90 MW. As of December 2022, there 
are 16 IPP projects with a total contracted capacity of 16,748.5 MW (31.4% of the total power generation system 
capacity). 
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(3) Small Power Producer (SPP) 

SPP is private producer with a contracted capacity from 10 - 90 MW. As of December 2022, there are 
158 SPPs with a total contracted capacity of 9,424.5 MW 17.6% of the total power generation system capacity 
with details as follows: 

Topic Project type 
Contract type 

Firm Non-Firm Total 
Number of 
projects 
(project) 

Cogeneration  74 6 80 
Renewable  22 55 77 
Total 96 61 157 

Contracted 
capacity 
(MW) 

Cogeneration  6,095.0  278.0 6,373.0 
Renewable  427.4 2,492.4  2,919.8 
Total 6,522.4 2,770.4 9,292.8 

Source: EGAT (www.egat.co.th) 

According to the Power Development Plan of Thailand BE 2018 - 2037 (PDP 2018): In 2018-2025, there 
will be an increase in the purchase of electricity from the SPP of 85 projects with contracted capacity of 
approximately 3,665.5 MW with details as follows:  

Project type 
Number of projects 

(project) 

Contracted production 
capacity 
(MW) 

Cogeneration  17 1,391.5 
Cogeneration1 25 704.0 
SPP Hybrid Firm 17 300.0 
Renewable  26 1,269.96 
Total 85 3,665.46.0 
Source: PDP 2018 
note: 1It is an extension of the contract after it expires. 

 

(4) Very Small Power Producer (VSPP) 

VSPP is private producer with contracted capacity of less than 10 MW. As of December 2022, there are 
986 VSPP power plants with a total contracted capacity of 4,087.3 MW (equivalent to 7.7 percent of the total 
power generation system capacity). 

According to the PDP 2018 stipulates that during the year 2018-2022 there will be a total of 944.3 MW 
of electricity purchased from VSPP, which can be divided into (1) Renewable power plant and projects according 
to the government's promotion policy, the total contracted capacity of 927.5 MW and (2) the Cogeneration with 
total contracted capacity of approximately 16.8 MW. 
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(5) Foreign power producers. 

In addition to generating electricity from EGAT's power plants and purchasing from the above 3 groups 
of domestic private power producers (IPP, SPP and VSPP), EGAT also purchases electricity from foreign power 
producers which are the Lao People's Democratic Republic (“Lao PDR”) and the Federation of Malaysia 
(“Malaysia”) with a total of 8 projects.  

In December 2022, total contracted capacity of 6,234.9 MW (11.7% of the total power generation 
capacity).  

(1.2)  Transmission system 

The transmission system is an important part of the transmission of electrical energy from the generating 
source to the electricity consumers. The transmission system has two important components: the high-voltage 
transmission line and the sub-station. 

Transmission line transports electricity from the generating source to various points with substations as 
the link between power lines. The substation converts the voltage level from the high voltage transmitted through 
the transmission line to the low voltage before sending it to the consumers. 

In Thailand EGAT operates the power transmission system and distributes electricity from power plants, 
both from EGAT’s power plants and purchased from other power producers, to PEA and electricity consumers 
who purchase directly EGAT. Through EGAT transmission network. 

(1.3)  Distribution system.  

In Thailand MEA (responsible for distributing electricity to electricity users in Bangkok, Nontaburi and 
Samutprakan) and PEA (responsible for distributing electricity to the rest of the country) maintains and manages 
the electricity distribution system, including retail services, where most of the power that EGAT produced and 
transmit will be distributed to the MEA and PEA for further distribution to consumers.  
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(2) Demand for electricity in Thailand 

A diagram showing the demand for electricity and gross domestic product, 2013–2022. 

 
Source: EGAT (www.egat.co.th), Bank of Thailand (www.bot.or.th) 
note: Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) 

When compared Thailand’s electricity demand data with the gross domestic product (GDP) during 
2012-2021, it was found that the demand for electricity continued to increase in line with the GDP increase. In 
2021, the electricity demand was 30,135.3 MW, an increase from 2012 (in 2012, the electricity demand was 
26,121.1 MW), representing an average growth rate of 1.8% per year compared to the average GDP growth rate 
at 1.6% per year. 

Diagram showing the proportion of electricity consumption by user type 2013 - 2022 from MEA and PEA 

 
Source: Annual Report 2022 of MEA (MEA Annual Report 2022) PEA Annual Report 2022 (PEA Annual Report 2022) 

From data on the electricity consumption by user type in the years 2013 - 2022 from the MEA and PEA, it 
was found that the industrial sector had the highest electricity consumption (the electricity consumption of the 
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industrial sector had increased from 108,311.9 million units in 2013 to 123,499.8 million units in 2022 or equivalent 
to an average annual growth rate of approximately 1.5% per year), followed by the household sector. In 2022 
under the management of the MEA and PEA Industrial and household sectors accounted for 65.3% and 28.7% 
of electricity consumption, respectively.  

(3) The trend of the power generation industry in Thailand 

Energy Policy and Planning Office, Ministry of Energy, who plans, manages, and oversees the 
development of power generation capacity in Thailand, places great importance to the energy security of the 
country in order to support economic growth, population growth and the expansion of urban and community 
areas, including the appropriate allocation of the fuel used to generate electricity, by aligning and responding to 
the demand for electricity in accordance with the National Economic and Social Development Plan. 

Thailand PDP 2018 estimates the average annual growth rate of the peak demand for electricity at 3.1 
percent per year. By 2037, the peak demand for electricity is estimated at 53,997.0 MW. 

The diagram shows the forecast of power generation capacity and energy demand Year 2018 - 2037 

 
Source: Thailand Electricity Capacity Development Plan (PDP 2018 Revision 1) 

Therefore, PDP2018 Revision 1 sets out guidelines for the allocation of major power plants in different 
regions as necessary and sufficient to maintain power system stability, which is supervised by EGAT. It also 
promotes the production of renewable energy in accordance with the government's promotion policy, with the 
goal of annual purchase and buying at a price not exceeding Grid Parity in order to maintain the level of retail 
electricity prices not to rise. The contracted capacity is estimated from the estimated capacity of the contract in 
2018 at 48,002 MW to 77,211 MW. At the end of the 2037 PDP plan, or equivalent to the average contracted 
capacity growth rate of 2.5% per annum. In this regard, the contracted capacity at the end of the PDP is estimated 
from an increase in contracted capacity from New power plants totaling 56,431 MW net, with a decrease in 
contract capacity from old power plants that expired during 2018 - 2037 of 25,310 MW.  

from the increase in new contracted capacity during the year. 2018–2037 will be the highest percentage 
of renewable energy plant contract capacity, accounting for 33.4% of total new contracted capacity. 

(4) Trends in the electricity generating from renewable energy industry in Thailand  
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Draft of Renewable Energy and Alternative Energy Development Plan 2018-2037 (AEDP2018)  

Renewable energy  

AEDP 2015 AEDP 2018 
Change  

2018-2015 Target Status  Target Total Target  

Solar (MW)  6,000   2,849   9,290   12,139  6,139 

Floating solar energy (MW)  -   -   2,725   2,725  2,725 

Biomass (MW)  5,570   2,290   3,500   5,790  220 

Wind (MW)  3,002   1,504   1,485   2,989  -13 

Biogas (Waste / water) (MW)   1,280   382   1,183   1,565  285 

MSW (MW)  500   500   400   900  400 

Industrial waste (MW)  50   31   44   75  25 

Small hydro (MW)  376   239   69   308  -68 

Large hydro (MW)  2,906   2,920   -   2,920  14 

Total (MW)  19,684   10,715   18,696   29,411   9,727  
 

Source: Draft Renewable Energy and Alternative Energy Development Plan (AEDP 2018)  
Note: * Only the target in AEDP2018 is the Installed Capacity. Others are the Contract Capacity.  

Following the support measures from the Ministry of Energy since 1 9 8 9 , which has a policy to promote 
and support the private sector to have a role in electricity generation, especially the generation of electricity from 
renewable energy, resulting in the higher production of electricity from renewable energy that constantly 
increases from the new draft of Renewable Energy and Alternative Energy Development Plan (AEDP) to be 
comply with the PDP 2018 plan, of which the power generation target has been adjusted. The target value is set 
to the contracted capacity instead of the installed capacity of renewable energy power plants, from 19,684 MW 
to 29,411 MW, accounting for 20% and 34%, respectively of the total electricity generating capacity in that year, 
in line with the goals set out in the AEDP plan. 
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 Industry and competition in Japan1 

(1) Structure of the industry enterprise in Japan  

 

source: Electricity Review Japan 2016, The Federation of Electric Power Companies of Japan (www.fepc.or.jp) 

 

Since 1 9 9 5 , the Japanese government has continuously conducted the liberalization of electricity 
industry for the strengthened energy in the country by promoting fair and transparent competition under the 
principle that electric entrepreneurs have to integrate 3 main structures, which are (1) power generation system 
(2) distribution system and power network management, and (3) marketing and sales as vertical integration. At 
present, there are 1 0  private entrepreneurs operating and providing services for the above 3  main structures. 
Each private entrepreneur is the power supplier and responsible for the transmission system from the power 
generation system to the electricity users, which the company is responsible for in each region.  

 
1 Industry information in this section has been prepared from publicly available documents and / or government publications, such as The 
Federation of Electric Power Companies of Japan and the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry, as well as publicly available industry 
resources. Some of the numerical information in this section of the document has been rounded off. Additionally, the forecast and the estimation 
in this section is gathered from public sources and / or government publications. The information is subject to change in accordance with the 
conditions used for making predictions. The company group does not warrant that such source of information is correct.  
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source: Electricity Review Japan 2016, The Federation of Electric Power Companies of Japan (www.fepc.or.jp) 
In regulating the electrical industry, the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (“METI”) established 

the Electricity Market Surveillance Commission in the year 2015 to act in the regulations and supervise the 
operations as a neutral organization to provide power transmission and distribution systems, as well as to manage 
power networks to be transparent and fair.  

In the development of electric industry, METI has established an organization for Cross-regional 
Coordination of Transmission Operators (“OCCTO”) in the year 2015 to be an intermediary in the development 
of distribution system and management of the power networks of electric industry in Japan.  

The Japan Electric Power Exchange (“JEPX”) is a wholesale market for electricity, both Spot and 
Forward, which was established in 2003 following a joint investment between electric entrepreneurs in Japan. 
The objective is to create price indicators for determining the risks associated with investment in the electricity 
industry and a central market for electric entrepreneurs with excess and deficient sources of electricity industry 
to be able to trade and exchange electric energy.  

(2) Trends in electricity generating from renewable energy industry in Japan  

In the wake of the 2011 earthquake and tsunami, nearly all nuclear power plants in Japan had to be shut 
down for safety tests. The shutdown of nuclear power plants has changed the percentage of fuel used to generate 
electricity. As a result, the electricity bills in Japan have almost doubled due to the import of fossil fuels from 
abroad to replace nuclear fuels. Also, the Energy Self-Sufficiency Rate decreased from 20% to 6.0%.  

To solve the aforementioned problems, the Japanese government has released various policies and 
measures to create energy security and stability in both normal and crisis situations by distributing the countries 
where the fuel is imported and developing domestic energy sources. One of the important policies and measures 
for development of domestic energy resources is to promote the use of renewable energy by developing the 
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power system networks with relevant regulatory support, as well as research and development to reduce 
operating costs, etc.  

In 2012, the Japanese Legislature introduced the Act on Purchase of Renewable Energy Sourced 
Electricity by Electric Utilities. The Act sets an electricity purchase framework as Feed-in Tariff (FiT) for renewable 
energy, which requires the electricity entrepreneurs to purchase electricity from renewable energy at a price and 
a period specified by METI.  

Since the Japanese government announced the adoption of an electricity purchase framework in FiT 
format 2012, this has resulted in the Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) of electricity generating capacity 
from renewable energy to be increased from 6.4% per year between 2006 and 2012 to 30.5% per year between 
2012 and 2015. In 2015, the total renewable energy generation capacity was 48.7 gigawatts, an increase of 26.8 
gigawatts from 2012. It has a total generating capacity of 21.9 gigawatts of electricity generated from renewable 
energy, which is an increase from 25.6 gigawatts of solar power generation capacity. 

  METI has set a preliminary goal to increase the proportion of electricity generation from renewable energy to 
22.0-24.0% of the total electricity generation capacity in 2030 to optimize the proportion of fuel used in electricity 
generation. The proportion of electricity generated from renewable energy in 2030 is expected to come from 
solar energy 7.0%, wind power 1.7%, biomass 3.7- 4.6%, geothermal power 1.0 - 1.1%, and hydropower 8.8% - 
9.2%. 

(3) GK-TK investment structure in Japan  

The GK-TK investment structure is a type of investment by TK investors and GK Company (GK), which 
is a juristic individual of a company limited. In the TK agreement, GK Company acts as an operator and TK 
investor is an investor who has no involvement in managing the TK investment (or Silent Partner). The TK 
investment contract is made in accordance with the Commercial Code of Japan. 

TK investors will not participate in the management or the general day to day operations. It also has no 
power to act on behalf of and has no voting rights in matters related to management and operations.  

However, in the enterprise of solar power plants, investors can identify key activities involved in the 
development, clearly with construction and operation of the project. When the commercial operation is started, 
the project owner can supervise and monitor the performance by identifying the scope of those important 
activities through the terms of related contracts. Therefore, the setting of investment objectives as well as all 
important activities involved during the project development phase shall be extremely important to control and 
manage the project when it launches for commercial operations towards a success. 

Those involved in the GK-TK investment structure of the Group can be detailed as follows:  
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Diagram of those involved in the GK-TK investment structure of the Group 
 

 
 

(1) GK or Operator 

The operator has the rights and duties according to the law in conducting enterprise and operating a 
solar power plant. The operator has duties and responsibilities to TK investors according to the terms of contract 
stipulated in the TK Investment. Under the TK investment contract, the operator is responsible for the interests of 
TK investors and shall be the recipient of the rights and obligations under the law of management and 
administration of investment.  

The operator can consider hiring a property manager, turnkey contractor, operation and maintenance 
service provider, and other service providers for the enterprise under the agreement stipulated in the TK 
Investment Contract. The operator shall register as a juristic individual of a company limited, so called GK (Godo 
Kaisha) Company under the Companies Act of Japan. 

When there is profit from project management, the operator shall allocate profit sharing to TK investors. 
In the event of a loss from management and administration of investment, TK investors have to also bear the loss. 
However, the loss must not exceed the portion that TK investors has invested. 

(2) TK Investor 

TK investor is an investor in the operator's equity. TK Investors have the rights to receive a share of the 
profits derived from the enterprise of the operator as specified in the TK Agreement, under Section 5 3 6 
( Contribution by Silent Partner and Right and Obligations), according to the Commercial Code of Japan. TK 
investors are assigned the role of only investors not involved in management (Silent Investor) and have no power 
to act on behalf, with no voting rights in matters related to management and administration of investment. 
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Therefore, TK investors are not required to accept any rights or obligations occurring in connection with 
investment. 

Under Section 5 3 9  ( Inspection of Balance Sheet and of the Status of Business and Property) of the 
Commercial Code of Japan, investors who have the rights to request a review of management and administration 
results of the operator at the end of business year of each year. When there is a reasonable ground and an order 
from the Japanese court, TK Investors can request further examination of the investment management results of 
the operator according to terms stipulated in the TK Investment Contract. 

(3) Trustee (ISH) 

Trustee is a shareholder of Normal Membership Interest and / or Managing Membership Interest in the 
operator. In general, a trustee does not manage to operate in a self-employed company, but an individual to sign 
various contracts related to the operator. 

(4) Power Purchaser 

The private power purchaser is a person who buys electricity from an operator. The electricity purchase 
rate is as stipulated in the METI Approval to operate the power plant project, with the purchase period as 
specified in the Power Purchase Agreement made between the operator and the private power purchaser 
company. 

(5) Asset Management Company 

The asset management operator is an operator of the solar power plant under the terms and scopes set 
in the Asset Management Agreement, which is a contract between the operator and the asset management 
company.  

(6) Land Owner 

The landowner owns the area where the solar power plant is located. The operator will consider entering 
a Land Rental Agreement or a Surface Right Agreement with the land owner, depending on the suitability to be 
used as the location of a solar power plant.  

(7) EPC Contractor 

EPC contractor provides design, equipment procurement, and construction of the solar power plant. 
The service contracts may differ depending on the case, such as a turnkey contract which ranges from design 
and procurement of equipment to construction and pre-testing before handed-over, or a separate contract which 
divides the design, equipment procurement, and construction segments. 

(8) O&M Contractor 

QM contractor operates and maintains solar power plants under the terms and scopes stipulated in the 
operating and maintenance service provider contract, which is a contract made between the operator and the 
operating and maintenance service company.  
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(9) Professional Service Provider 

General accounting and management service provider is a professional service provider in 
administration services to the operator.  

(10) Tax Service Provider 

Tax service provider is a service provider in tax return services to the operator.  

(11) Lender 

The lender provides loans to finance the development and construction of solar power plant. The 
operator will enter a loan agreement with the lender, with various terms for lending, such as a credit line, interest 
rate, installment, etc.  

However, those who are involved in the GK-TK investment structure for the investment in solar power 
project in Japan of other investors and / or other companies may differ from the structure invested by the Group 
Company. 
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Industry and competition in Vietnam1 

(1) Structure of electricity industry in Vietnam  

In 2 0 2 2, the Vietnam Electricity Market is regulated by the Vietnamese government. The Vietnam 
Electricity (EVN) and its subsidiaries are the center of business sector, with total authority over five ((b) to (f)) of 
the eight entities involved in the Vietnam Electricity Industry, which are legally enacted in Vietnam as follows: 

(1) Electricity-generating Units 
(2) Electricity-transmitting Units 
(3) Electricity-distributing Units 
(4) Electricity-wholesaling Units 
(5) Electricity-retailing Units 
(6) National Electric System-regulating Units 
(7) Electricity Market Transaction-administering Units 
(8) Customer 

The Vietnamese government has liberalized and enacted regulations to encourage and encourage non-
governmental organizations to participate in the electricity-generating units.  

(2) Trends in the electricity generating from renewable energy industry in Vietnam  

The Vietnamese government has released the National Power Development Plan; PDP) every 10 years to 
guide the legislation of various regulations. The current plan for the period 2021 - 2030 is the 8th edition of the 
National Energy Development Plan (PDP 8), which the summarized objectives as follows:  

(1) Encourage all economic entities to take part in the development of national electricity system, 
especially private organizations.  

(2) Give priority to the development of renewable energy sources.  
(3) Promote the development of modern electrical systems or smart grid systems in the country. 
(4) Build a power system that connects to neighboring countries.  

It is evident that the government continues to focus on the development of renewable energy unit in succession 
from the 7th Revised Development Plan (PDP 7 Revised), as well as the policy to attract more foreign investors 
into the power generation industry from more renewable energy sources. 

 

 

 
1 Industry information in this section has been prepared from publicly available documents and / or government publications, such as Vietnam 
Electricity, as well as publicly available industry resources. Some of the numerical information in this section of the document has been rounded 
off. Additionally, the forecast and the estimation in this section is gathered from public sources and / or government publications. The information 
is subject to change in accordance with the conditions used for making predictions. The company group does not warrant that such source of 
information is correct.  
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(3) Competition trends in the solar power industry in Vietnam  

During this past year, the Vietnamese government has given high importance to the development of 
electricity generation from renewable energy sources. It also aims to have a total capacity of 5 ,5 0 0  MW of the 
installed renewable energy power plants by the end of 2 0 1 9 , as well as the enacting of new regulations to 
promote the development of power plant projects from renewable energy sources, such as the Verdict 13/2020 
/  QD-TTg of mechanisms to promote the development of solar power systems in Vietnam, announced by the 
Prime Minister of Vietnam on April 4, 2020, which enforced after 22 May 2020 onwards, for the new feed-in tariff 
(FiT) system as follows:  

(1) 8.38 US Cents per kWh for rooftop solar power project  

(2) 7.69 US Cents per kWh for floating solar power project  

(3) 7.09 US Cents per kWh for ground solar power project  

Private investment, especially foreign investment, continues to increase in the form of BOT (Build-Operate-
Transfer) or construction projects, which have undergone a period of time and handed over to the Vietnamese 
government on May 2063. The EVN announced that Vietnam has 31,570 rooftop solar power projects with a total 
capacity of 657.88 MW peak. 

 
Industry and competition in Mongolia1 

(1) Overview of the electricity generation industry in Mongolia  

Diagram of energy system zoning in Mongolia 

 
1 Industry information in this section has been prepared from publicly available documents and / or government publications, such as Ministry 
of Energy and Energy Regulatory Commission of Mongolia, as well as publicly available industry resources. Some of the numerical 
information in this section of the document has been rounded off. Additionally, the forecast and the estimation in this section is gathered from 
public sources and / or government publications. The information is subject to change in accordance with the conditions used for making 
predictions. The company group does not warrant that such source of information is correct.  



Annual Registration Statement 2022 (Form 56-1 One Report 2022) 55 

                                                                                                  
Sermsang Power Corporation Public Limited Company 

 
Form 56 – 1 - 2022 Policy and the overall business operation                                                                               Section 1 Page 51 

Power distribution system is divided by region into 5 systems as follows: (1) Central Energy System (2) 
Western Energy System (3) Eastern Energy System (4) Southern Energy System (5) Altai-Uliastai Energy System  

When comparing the proportion of producers from alternative energy, it is divided into 72.3% wind 
energy, 16.8% hydro energy, and 10.9% solar energy. The Mongolian Ministry of Energy has the National 
Renewable Energy Center as an agency responsible for alternative energy, which conducts the Mongolia 
Sustainable Development Vision 2030, with a target to increase electricity generation from alternative energy by 
2020 – 2030, aiming to increase alternative energy which accounts for 25-30 percent of Mongolia's total energy 
consumption. 

(2) Trends in the electricity generating from renewable energy industry in Mongolia  

The Mongolian government is committed to the development of renewable energy system and has set 
goals as follows:  

a. Stage 1 2015 – 2023  
Focus on improving the safety of energy resources and reserve capacity, while laying the foundation for 

the development of renewable energy, along with improving the document system and legal environment.  
b. Stage 1 2024 – 2030  

Aim for electricity generation from alternative energy to have a 30% share of total energy, connecting 
the region with high capacity transmission lines, while turning an energy company into a public company and 
having electricity delivery services to be a more competitive market.  

(3) Competitive trends in solar power industry in Mongolia  

Due to the continuing growth of Mongolia's economy, the government has forecast that Mongolia will 
have a continual increase in demand for electric power.  

 
 

1.5 Procurement of products or services 

The group of companies put great importance to the process of procuring products or services for the 
development of solar power plants. This is so that the solar power plants can generate electricity efficiently and 
safely, with an appropriate return on investment. The Board of Directors and / or the Executive Committee of the 
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company shall consider and approve investments in various projects according to the approval authority. Then, 
the group of companies shall appoint a working group to be responsible for further related operations.  

The working group regularly report on the progress of the project development studies, as well as the 
operating results when the projects open for commercial operations to the Board of Directors and / or the 
Executive Committee of the company. There are important steps as follows:  

 
1.5.1 Location selection and land acquisition  

 In determining the areas for construction of the projects, the group of companies has established land 
selection criteria in accordance with the Group's competitive strategy. There are important criteria to consider, 
such as location in an area with appropriate solar intensity or annual average wind speed, ability to manage risks 
from natural disasters within reasonable costs, and capability to connect to the transmission line of the private 
electricity operators in that region, by considering the connection point from the suitability and the cost of 
investment, etc. The Group may consider buying or renting land or renting over-the-ground rights (depending 
on each case). 

1.5.2 Procurement and obtaining relevant licenses  

For projects in Thailand, the group of companies has established a working group to carry out work related 
to the application for a license to ensure the ability to obtain a license for project operation, accurately and 
completely, in which each area in charge of each country has different responsible units.  

For overseas projects, the group may consider hiring specialists and / or related advisors in countries 
where the group has investment, to prepare documents related to obtaining licenses, without contravention to 
regulations and / or governing laws. The project owner or the operator of each project will apply for a license.  

 
1.5.3 Selection of turnkey contractors 

The group of companies has a comprehensive policy for selecting contractors. The main objective is to 
be able to control project development costs. In considering the selection of a turnkey contractor, the group of 
companies will consider the financial status, past performance, specifications, standard equipment, and delivery 
time. In addition, the group of companies reviews the reputation and reliability to ensure the acceptance from 
financial institutions which support credit for project construction. 

For projects in Japan Vietnam, and Mongolia, the project owner selects a turnkey contractor as a turnkey 
contract and may consider hiring a designer, procurement and / or construction separately if they consider that 
such undertaking is appropriate. 

1.5.4 Selection of service providers for operation and maintenance  

The group of companies selects an operating and maintenance service provider, starting from project 
development which considers financial status, past performance, scope of work, and delivery time. In addition, 
the group of companies shall review the reputation and reliability to ensure the acceptance from financial 
institutions that support credit for the construction projects.  
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For projects in Thailand, the group has an engineering department at power plants, which always work in 
conjunction with the operating and maintenance service providers. This is so that the employees of the group is 
passed on skills, knowledge, and expertise In operations and maintenance from an operation and maintenance 
service provider. For projects in Japan, Vietnam, and Mongolia, the project owner is personally responsible for 
the operation and maintenance. 

Impact to environment  

For solar power plant projects in Thailand, the Group strictly operates in accordance with the 
environmental laws to apply for a construction permit and operate a solar power plant project of the Group. The 
solar power plant is a project or enterprise that does not qualify for a report of Environmental Impact Assessment 
or "EIA". The terms for licensing general renewable energy power plants are as follows: 

 Code of Practice (CoP), measures to prevent, 
correct, and monitor environmental impact 

Environmental & Safety Assessment (ESA) 

Applying for a license  Electricity production license  Factory license to operate a power plant (Ror Ngor 4, 
Factory No. 88)  

Technology type All types of technology All types of technology 
Fuel type All types of fuel and energy sources All types of fuel and energy sources  

  
The scope of installed 
production capacity  

- 1000 kilowatts or more but less than 10 MW (for a 
thermal power plant which is not required to 
submit EIA report) 

- From 1,000 kilovolt amperes and above (for a 
power plant without burning fuel, such as solar, 
wind, hydro power plants) 

From 5 MW or more but less than 10 MW 

Background / Objectives 

Operators must 
- Follow the preventive, corrective measures that 
ERC has set as the same minimum standard for 
all projects. 
- Performing public participation to allow 
stakeholders to express their opinions from the 
beginning of the project. In addition, issues, 
comments, and concerns that have been 
considered must be included as an additional 
appropriate measure in the annex of the 
environmental checklist.  

Operators must 
- Study the impact on the environment and analyze 
the dangers that may arise from the operation. 
- Propose preventive and corrective measures to 
reduce the effect and provide a safety management 
system for the ESA working group of the Department 
of Industrial Works for approval. The results of the 
study and the measure of each project may be 
different. 

 
Entrepreneurs can use the minimum CoP measures as a preliminary proposal in the ESA report by 
setting additional measures for specific projects or activities based on the results of studies and 
comments / opinions.  

Exception None 

 
Factories located in industrial estates or in an 
investment promotion area where an environmental 
impact assessment report has been prepared. 
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Code of Practice (CoP), measures to prevent, 
correct, and monitor environmental impact Environmental & Safety Assessment (ESA) 

Time of preparation 

Operation is divided into 3 phases: Before 
submitting an application for a license, 
Monitoring of environmental impact during 
operation, and rehabilitation of the area when 
the operation is discontinued.  

Before submitting an application for a license 

Source: Handbook for obtaining an electricity enterprise license - a license for electricity generation enterprise, electricity distribution system, and 
distribution of electricity by the Energy Regulatory Commission, License Department  

The types of environmental and safety reports that need to be prepared classified by type of power plants 
and installed capacity can be summarized as follows:  

Installed capacity  
Type of power plants  

Thermal  No fuel burning  

10 MW (MW) or more  EIA/EHIA CoP 

5-10 MW (MW)  CoP + ESA CoP + ESA 

1000 kilovolts (kV) or more  CoP CoP 

Source: Handbook for obtaining an electricity enterprise license - a license for electricity generation enterprise, electricity distribution 
system, and distribution of electricity by the Energy Regulatory Commission, License Department  

At present, Sermsang Solar project and WVO projects, which have been in commercial operations, must 
be operated in accordance with the Code of Practice (CoP) standard for prevention, corrective actions, with 
monitoring of environmental impacts only, not having to prepare reports on studies, preventive, and corrective 
measures, impacts on quality, environment, and safety (Environmental & Safety Assessment (ESA)). 

In the area of waste and disposal management, such as solar panels and other equipment, which are 
defective or out of lifetime, the operation and maintenance service providers will perform the actions.  

For solar power plant projects in Japan, Vietnam and Mongolia, the Group has undertaken strict 
environmental actions in accordance with relevant laws in order to apply for a construction permit and operate a 
solar power plant business of the group. Regarding the environment, as applicable laws vary from country to 
country and region, the Group has established a work team to study and operate in relation to the implementation 
of environmental impact measures to ensure that the group of companies correct and complete actions 
necessary to conduct the enterprise.  

Work not yet delivered 

-None- 
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1.6 Assets used for operations  

1.6.1 Fixed assets used for operations  

As of 31 December 2022, fixed assets used in the operations of the group of companies have net value 
after deducting accumulated depreciation and provision for various impairment as shown in the consolidated 
financial statements of the company are equal to 13,249.1 million baht with details as follows:  

No. List of assets  
Net book value as of 
December 31, 2022 

(million baht) 
Proprietary  Obligation  

1 Land  519.1  
Owner 

and tenants  Partial mortgage  

2 Land improvement 2,065.5  Owner and tenants Partial mortgage  

3 Office buildings and building 
improvements  

98.9  Owner  Partial mortgage  

4 Power plant 981.5 Owner  Partial mortgage  
5 Solar roof system 588.1  Owner  Without any obligation  
6 Machinery, equipment, and spare parts  8,877.4  Owner  Partial mortgage  
7 Equipment, tools, utensils and decorations 93.3  Owner  Without any obligation  

8 Vehicle 5.6  Owner  Without any obligation  

9 Work in progress 19.7  Owner  Without any obligation  

Total 13,249.1  

The list of fixed assets of the group as shown above, can be classified by type of assets and company as 
follows:  
1.6.2 Land 

Ownership 
company  

Location  Area size 
(Rai-Ngan-Wa)  

Holding purpose  

Net book value as 
of December 31, 

2021  
(million baht) 

Proprietary  Obligation  

SPN 

Wang Khon Khang 
Subdistrict, Khok 
Samrong District, 
Lopburi Province  

879-2-18 

To use as a project 
location  

263.7 Owner  
mortgage obligation 

as collateral with 
financial institutions 

SPN 

Wang Khon Khang 
Subdistrict, Khok 
Samrong District, 
Lopburi Province  

9-2-37 2.8 Owner  Without any obligation  

SJ Shizuoka, Japan 558-0-4 
To use as a project 

location  
86.2 Owner  Without any obligation  
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UPT Nakhon Ratchasima, 
Thailand 259-0-93 To use as a project 

location 
166.4 Owner 

mortgage obligation 
as collateral with 

financial institutions 

Total 519.1  

 

1.6.3 Land improvement 

Ownership 
company 

Location Holding purpose 
Net value as of 

December 31, 2021  
(million baht) 

Proprietary  Obligation  

SPN 
Wang Khon Khang 

Subdistrict, Khok Samrong 
District, Lopburi Province  

To use as a project 
location  94.8 Owner  

mortgage obligation 
as collateral with 

financial institution  

ZOUEN Kumamoto, Japan  To use as a project 
location  

7.6  Owner  
mortgage obligation 

as collateral with 
financial institution  

SS 
Rang Bua Subdistrict, 
Chom Bueng District, 
Ratchaburi Province 

To use as a project 
location 19.8  - 

mortgage obligation 
as collateral with 

financial institution 

TGC 

Fides Tower, Room 1202 
Khan-Uul district, 15th 
khoroo. Ulaanbaatar, 

Mongolia 

To use as a project 
location 15.4  Tenant - 

TTQN 
92 Le Loi Street, Chanh Lo 

Ward, Quang Ngai City, 
Vietnam 

To use as a project 
location 37.9 Tenant 

mortgage obligation 
as collateral with 

financial institution 

GSSE 4-2-3 Akasaka, Minato, 
Tokyo 107-0052, Japan 

To use as a project 
location 

554.5 Tenant 
mortgage obligation 

as collateral with 
financial institution 

Ashita Power 
1 

1-1-7 Moto Akasaka, 
Minato-Ku, Tokyo, Japan 

To use as a project 
location 1,276.9 Tenant 

mortgage obligation 
as collateral with 

financial institution 

UPT 
Sikhio , Nakhon 

Ratchasima, Thailand 
To use as a project 

location 34.0 Tenant 
mortgage obligation 

as collateral with 
financial institution 

TTTV Ap Nha Mat, Truong Long 
Hoa, Duyen Hai, Tra Vinh 

To use as a project 
location 24.6 Tenant 

mortgage obligation 
as collateral with 

financial institution 

Total 2,065.5  
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1.6.4 Office building and building improvement 

Ownership 
company Assets  Holding purpose  

Net book value as 
of December 31, 

2022  
(million baht) 

Propriety  Obligation  

SPN 
Office buildings and 

building improvements of 
the project  

To be used as the office 
location of the project  

3.4  Owner  
mortgage obligation 

as collateral with 
financial institution  

SS 
Tambon Rang Bua, 

Amphoe Chom Bueng, 
Ratchaburi Province  

To be used as project 
location  

2.7 Owner  
mortgage obligation 

as collateral with 
financial institution 

TGC 

Fides Tower, Room 1202 
Khan-Uul district, 15th 
khoroo. Ulaanbaatar, 

Mongolia 

To be used as project 
location  

21.5  Tenant  
mortgage obligation 

as collateral with 
financial institution  

UPT 
Office buildings and 

building improvements of 
the project 

To be used as project 
location 51.1 Owner 

mortgage obligation 
as collateral with 

financial institution 

SSP 
Office buildings and 

building improvements of 
the project 

To be used as project 
location 6.9 Tenant - 

TTTV 
Ap Nha Mat, Truong Long 
Hoa, Duyen Hai, Tra Vinh 

To be used as project 
location 13.3 Tenant 

mortgage obligation 
as collateral with 

financial institution 

Total  98.9  

 
 

1.6.5 Power plants 

Ownership 
company  

Assets  Holding purpose  
Net book value as of 
December 31, 2022  

(million baht) 
Proprietary  Obligation  

SPN 
The solar power plant of 

the Sermsang Solar 
project  

For use in the production 
of electricity  

355.8  Owner  

mortgage 
obligation as 
collateral with 

financial institution  

SS 
The solar power plant of 

the project  
For use in the production 

of electricity  
20.5 Owner  

mortgage 
obligation as 
collateral with 

financial institution 

ZOUEN The solar power plant of 
the project  

For use in the production 
of electricity  

153.0  Owner  

mortgage 
obligation as 
collateral with 

financial institution 
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Ownership 
company  Assets  Holding purpose  

Net book value as of 
December 31, 2022  

(million baht) 
Proprietary  Obligation  

TTQN The solar power plant of 
the project  

For use in the production 
of electricity  

333.6 Owner  

mortgage 
obligation as 
collateral with 

financial institution 

GSSE The solar power plant of 
the project  

For use in the production 
of electricity  26.3 Owner  

mortgage 
obligation as 
collateral with 

financial institution 

Ashita Power 
1 

The solar power plant of 
the project 

For use in the production 
of electricity 25.8 Owner 

mortgage 
obligation as 
collateral with 

financial institution 

UPT The power plant of the 
project 

For use in the production 
of electricity 

153.0  Owner 

mortgage 
obligation as 
collateral with 

financial institution 

TTTV The power plant of the 
project 

For use in the production 
of electricity 333.6 Owner 

mortgage 
obligation as 
collateral with 

financial institution 

Total 981.5  

 

1.6.6 Solar roof system 

Ownership 
company  

Assets  Holding purpose  

Net book value as 
of December 31, 

2022  
(million baht) 

Proprietary  Obligation  

SN Solar roof system  For use in the production 
of electricity  

140.5 Owner  Without any 
obligation  

SSE Solar roof system  
For use in the production 

of electricity  447.6 Owner  
mortgage obligation 

as collateral with 
financial institution 

Total  588.1  
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1.6.7 Machinery, equipment, and spare parts  

Ownership 
company  Assets  Holding purpose  

Net book value as 
of December 31, 

2022  
(million baht) 

Proprietary  Obligation  

SPN 
machinery, equipment 
and spare parts of the 

project  

For use in the production 
of electricity  

1,555.0 Owner  
mortgage obligation 

as collateral with 
financial institution  

ZOUEN 
machinery, equipment 
and spare parts of the 

project  

For use in the production 
of electricity  

348.5 Owner  
mortgage obligation 

as collateral with 
financial institution  

SS 
machinery, equipment 
and spare parts of the 

project  

For use in the production 
of electricity  

79.7 Owner  
mortgage obligation 

as collateral with 
financial institution 

TGC 
machinery, equipment 
and spare parts of the 

project  

For use in the production 
of electricity  394.4 Owner  Without any 

obligation 

TTQN 
machinery, equipment 
and spare parts of the 

project  

For use in the production 
of electricity  915.1 Owner  

mortgage obligation 
as collateral with 

financial institution  

GSSE 
machinery, equipment 
and spare parts of the 

project  

For use in the production 
of electricity  1,432.2 Owner  

mortgage obligation 
as collateral with 

financial institution  

Ashita Power 1 
machinery, equipment 
and spare parts of the 

project 

For use in the production 
of electricity 812.2 Owner 

mortgage obligation 
as collateral with 

financial institution 

UPT 
machinery, equipment 
and spare parts of the 

project 

For use in the production 
of electricity 436.3 Owner 

mortgage obligation 
as collateral with 

financial institution 

TTTV 
machinery, equipment 
and spare parts of the 

project 

For use in the production 
of electricity 

2,904.0 Owner 
mortgage obligation 

as collateral with 
financial institution 

Total 8,877.4  
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1.6.8 Equipment, tools, appliances, and decorations  

Ownership 
company  Assets  Holding purpose  

Net book value as 
of December 31, 

2022  
(million baht) 

Proprietary  Obligation  

SSP 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations  

To support 
Business operation  

2.9  Owner  
Without any 
obligation 

SPN 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations  

To support 
Business operation  0.2  Owner  

Without any 
obligation  

SI 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations  

To support 
Business operation  0.4  Owner  

Without any 
obligation  

SSC 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations  

To support 
Business operation  

0.0 Owner  
Without any 
obligation  

SN 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations  

To support 
Business operation  

0.5 Owner  
Without any 
obligation  

ZOUEN 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations  

To support 
Business operation  

4.3  Owner  
Without any 
obligation  

TGC 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations  

To support 
Business operation  

0.6 Owner  
Without any 
obligation  

SS 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations  

To support 
Business operation  

0.1 Owner  Without any 
obligation  

TTQN 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations  

To support 
Business operation  

0.7 Owner  Without any 
obligation  

TTTV 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations  

To support 
Business operation  

0.4 Owner  Without any 
obligation  

GSSE 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations  

To support 
Business operation  

56.8  Owner Without any 
obligation  

Ashita Power 
1 

Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations 

To support 
Business operation 

25.4 Owner Without any 
obligation 
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Ownership 
company  

Assets  Holding purpose  

Net book value as 
of December 31, 

2022  
(million baht) 

Proprietary  Obligation  

SJ 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations 

To support 
Business operation 0.0 Owner Without any 

obligation 

UPT 
Equipment, tools, 
appliances and 

decorations 

To support 
Business operation 1.0 Owner Without any 

obligation 

รวม 93.3  

 
1.6.9  Vehicle 

Ownership 
company  

Assets  Holding purpose  

Net book value as 
of December 31, 

2022  
(million baht) 

Proprietary  Obligation  

TGC Car  To support 
Business operation  

0.8 Leasing  Without any 
obligation  

UPT Car  To support 
Business operation  

4.8  Leasing  Without any 
obligation  

Total  5.6  
 

1.6.10  Work in progress 

Ownership 
company  

Assets  Holding purpose  
Net book value as of 
December 31, 2022  

(million baht) 
Proprietary  Obligation 

SI Others - 1.1 - - 

SN Solar Rooftop Project  

For use in the 
business of 

generating and 
distributing electricity 
from solar energy in 

Thailand  

9.0 Owner  Without any 
obligation  

TTTV Production and distribution 
of wind energy  

For use in the 
business of 

generating and 
distributing electricity 
from wind energy in 

Vietnam  

0.0 Owner  Without any 
obligation  

TTQN 
Production and distribution 

of solar energy 
For use in the 
business of 1.8 Owne 

Without any 
obligation 
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Ownership 
company  Assets  Holding purpose  

Net book value as of 
December 31, 2022  

(million baht) 
Proprietary  Obligation 

generating and 
distributing electricity 
from solar energy in 

Vietnam 

Ashita Power 2 
Production and distribution 

of solar energy 

For use in the 
business of 

generating and 
distributing electricity 
from solar energy in 

Japan 

7.8 Owner 
Without any 
obligation 

Total 19.7   
 

1.6.11 Intangible assets 

As of 3 1  December 2 0 2 2, the majority net book value of intangible assets in the consolidated financial 
statements of the company can be detailed as follows:  
 

Ownership company 
Net book value as of December 31, 2022  

(million baht) 
GSSE 243.2 
SPN 19.2 
SSP 0.02 
PPP 0.0 
SI 0.1 
SN 1.0 

ZOUEN 33.8  
Ashita Power 1 202.9 
Ashita Power 2 17.8 

TGC 38.4  
WVO 1.6 
TTQN 196.2  
TTTV 189.8 
UPT 0.04 
LNR 7.0 
LCK 6.0 
LKY 6.0 
LSK 7.1 
รวม 970.1 
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The intangible assets consist of (1) rights to connect the power distribution system, (2) computer 
programs, (3) external communication and electricity distribution systems, and (4) rights to use the power 
transmission system (Please see details of intangible assets in Management's Analysis and Explanation section). 

 

1.6.12 Business and property insurance  
The Group has policies in place to undertake insurance at an appropriate level and in line with industrial 

practice to prevent damages that may occur to the group's core assets. The group of companies have a policy 
to renew various insurances when expired. 

For projects under construction, the Group has an insurance policy, or requires relevant parties to have 
insurance to cover possible damages, such as LEO and wind power projects. During the contract negotiation 
process, the group assigns a comprehensive contractor to be the insurer during the construction period. The 
insurance limit covers most of the assets of the project. However, such terms have been specified in the details 
of contract to hire a turnkey contractor. 

The details of major insurance coverage are as follows:  
 

Project/Country Type and amount of insurance  Assured  
Insurance 

period 

SPN/Thai 

Industrial All Risk Insurance 

4 Mar 2022 
- 

3 Mar 2023 

▪ All risk insurance  
Property Damage and Machinery 
Breakdown 

1,917.0 million 
baht  

▪ SPN  
▪ O&M Contractor 
▪ Creditors of 

Financial 
Institutions  

▪ Business Interruption  775.0 million baht  ▪ SPN 
▪ Creditors of 

Financial 
Institutions  

Public and Product Liability Insurance 
▪ Third party liability insurance  Total US$45.0 

million 
▪ SPN and / or 

subsidiaries and / 
or affiliates  

▪ Liability insurance due to 
pollution 

▪ Product liability insurance 

WVO/Thai 

Industrial All Risk Insurance 

1 Apr 2022 
- 

1 Apr 2023 

▪ Property Damage and 
Machinery Breakdown 

140.0 million baht  ▪ SS 
▪ O&M Contractor 

▪ Business Interruption 29.0 million baht  ▪ SS 
Public and Product Liability Insurance 
▪ Third party liability insurance  
▪ Liability insurance due to 

pollution  
▪ Product liability insurance  

Total US$3.0 
million 

▪ SS 

SNNP1/Thai 
Industrial All Risk Insurance 1 Jul 2022 

- 
1 Jul 2023 

▪ Property Damage and 
Machinery Breakdown 

15.0 million baht  ▪ SN 
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Project/Country Type and amount of insurance  Assured  Insurance 
period 

 

SNNP2/Thai 

Industrial All Risk Insurance 1 Jul 2022 
- 

1 Jul 2023 
▪ Property Damage and 

Machinery Breakdown 
29.0 million baht  ▪ SN 

 
 

SNNP3/Thai 
Industrial All Risk Insurance 1 Jul 2022 

- 
1 Jul 2023 

▪ Property Damage and 
Machinery Breakdown 

11.1 million baht ▪ SN 

 Industrial All Risk Insurance  

SNNP4/Thai 
▪ Property Damage and 

Machinery Breakdown) 
8.1 million baht ▪ SN 1 Jul 2022 

- 
1 Jul 2023 

DoHome/Thai 
Industrial All Risk Insurance 1 Jul 2022 

- 
1 Jul 2023 

▪ Property Damage and 
Machinery Breakdown 

90.2 million baht  ▪ SN 

PRC/Thai 
Industrial All Risk Insurance 4 Feb 2022 

- 
4 Feb 2023 

▪ Property Damage and 
Machinery Breakdown 

22.0 million baht  ▪ SN 

TAPACO/Thai 

Industrial All Risk Insurance 
▪ Property Damage and 

Machinery Breakdown 
13.0 million baht  ▪ SN 27 Jan 2022 

- 
27 Jan 2023 

▪ Property Damage and 
Machinery Breakdown 

7.5 million baht  ▪ SN 11 Jun 2022 
- 

11 Jun 2023 

SPT/Thai 
▪ Industrial All Risk Insurance 13 May 2022 

- 
18 Mar 2023 

▪ Property Damage and 
Machinery Breakdown 

18.0 million baht ▪ SN 

Zouen/Japan 

Industrial All Risk Insurance 

31 Jul 2022 
- 

31 Jul 2023 

▪ Property Damage and 
Machinery Breakdown 

1,766.5million yen ▪ Zouen 

▪ Business Interruption 333.0 million yen  ▪ Zouen 

Public and Product Liability Insurance 
▪ Third party liability insurance 500 million yen / 

accident  
▪ Zouen 

Yamaga/Japan 

Industrial All Risk Insurance 

30 May 2022 
- 

30 May 2023 

▪ Property Damage and 
Machinery Breakdown 

8,740.9 million yen  ▪ GSSE 

▪ Business Interruption 1,368.5 million yen ▪ GSSE 
Public and Product Liability Insurance 
▪ Third party liability insurance  500 million yen / 

accident  
▪ GSSE 

Leo1/Japan 

Industrial All Risk insurance 
30 Sep 2022 

- 
30 Sep 2023 

▪ PropertyDamage and 
Machinery Breakdown 

4,300 million yen ▪ ASP1 

▪ Business Interruption 250 million yen ▪ ASP1 
Public and Product Liability Insurance 
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Project/Country Type and amount of insurance  Assured  Insurance 
period 

▪ Third party liability insurance 300 million yen / 
accident 

▪ ASP1 

Binh 
Nguyen/Vietnam 

Industrial All Risk Insurance 
▪ Property Damage and 

Machinery Breakdown 
US$ 38 million  ▪ TTQN / SI 

▪ Creditors of 
Financial 
Institutions 

22 Jul 2022 
- 

21 Jul 2023 

▪ Business Interruption US$ 7 million  ▪ TTQN / SI 
▪ Creditors of 

Financial 
Institutions 

Public and Product Liability Insurance 
▪ Third party liability insurance US$ 1 million ▪ TTQN/SI 

Khunsight 
Kundi/ Mongolia 

Industrial All Risk Insurance  
▪ Property Damage and 

Machinery Breakdown 
US$ 18.6 million ▪ TGC 

▪ Creditors of 
Financial 
Institutions  

5 Aug 2022 
- 

4 Aug 2023 

▪ Business Interruption US$ 4 million  ▪ TGC 

Public and Product Liability Insurance 
▪ Third party liability insurance  US$ 1 million / 

accident  
▪ TGC 

▪ Liability insurance due to 
pollution 

▪ Product liability insurance 

Wind Farm/ 
Vietnam 

Industrial All Risk Insurance 

1 Dec 2022 
- 

30 Nov 2023 

▪ PropertyDamage and 
Machinery Breakdown 

US$ 84.9 million 
▪ TTTV 

▪ Creditors of 
Financial Institutions 

▪ Business Interruption US$ 18.7 million 
▪ TTTV 

▪ Creditors of 
Financial Institutions 

UPT/Thailand 

Industrial All Risk Insurance 

24 Jun 2022  
- 

 23 Jun 2023 

▪ P r o p e r t y D a m a g e  a n d 
Machinery Breakdown 

▪ Business Interruption 

729 million baht 
 
 

212.5 million 
baht 

▪ UPT 

▪ Public and Product Liability 
Insurance 

100 million baht 
▪ UPT 
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1.6.14 Investment Policy In subsidiaries and associates  

The company has a policy to invest in subsidiaries and / or associated company consistent with the 
group's vision and growth plan, which will make the group of companies have higher operating results or profits, 
or invest in a business that benefits (Synergy) to increase the competitiveness of the group towards the goal 
achievement to become a leading operator in the group's core business.  

In this regard, the company, its subsidiaries and / or associates may consider investing in other 
businesses if it is a business with potential for business growth, or beneficial to the business of the group which 
can generate good return on investment. The consideration of the company’s investment, its subsidiaries and / 
or associates must be accepted and / or approval from the Board of Directors meeting, or the shareholders' 
meeting of the company (depending on each case).  

At present, the company as a parent company has invested in the solar power plant and the solar 
rooftop projects in Thailand, Japan, Mongolia, Vietnam, and Indonesia, as detailed in Item 2 (Nature of Business).  

 
1.6.15  Power purchase agreement  
 
Solar power plant project in Thailand 

1. SPN has entered a power purchase agreement as a small power producer (SPP) with the details as 
follows:  

Topic Important details  

Project SPN project 
Location  Wang Khon Khang Subdistrict, Khok Samrong District, Lopburi Province  
Off-taker EGAT 
COD  2 February 2015 
Contract period  The contract is effective from the date of signing the contract. The contract will be valid from the first 

month of electricity sold to EGAT for a period of 5 years. When the contract expires. if the other party 
wishes to renew the contract, that party must notify the other party at least 30  days in advance in 
writing before the expiration of the contract. The contract then lasts for another 5 years at a time.  

Contracted Capacity 40.0 MW at level of 115 kV  
Adder  6.5 baht / kW-hour for a period of 10 years from the date of COD 
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2 .  WVO has entered a power purchase agreement as a very small power producer (VSPP), with 
important details in the agreement as follows:  

Topic Important details  

Project  WVO Solar Project  
Location  Tambon Rang Bua, Amphoe Chom Bueng, Ratchaburi Province  
Off-taker PEA 
COD  30 November 2018 
Contract period  25 years from the date of COD 
Contracted Capacity  5 MW at level 22 kV  
Tariffs  Feed-in Tariff at 4.12 baht / kWh throughout the contract  
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Solar power plant projects in Japan 

As of December 31, 2022, there are 3 projects that have a PPA and started commercial operations, namely the 
Zouen Project, Yamaga Project and Leo project. SSH has entered into PPAs with important details as follows:  

ZOUEN has entered a power purchase agreement with important details as follows:  

Topic Important details  

Project  ZOUEN project  
Off-taker Kyushu Electric Power Inc. 
Contract period  20 years from the start of commercial operation  
Contracted Capacity 6.0 MW  
Tariffs  Feed-In Tariff at 36 yen/kilowatt-hour 

GSSE has entered a power purchase agreement with important details as follows:  

Topic Important details  

Project  Yamaga project  
Off-taker Kyushu Electric Power Inc. 
Contract period  20 years from the start of commercial operation  
Contracted Capacity 30.0 MW  
Tariffs  Feed-In Tariff at 36 yen/kilowatts-hour 

ASP has entered a power purchase agreement with important details as follows:  

Topic Important details  

Project  Leo 1  
Off-taker Kyushu Electric Power Inc. 
Contract period  20 years from the start of commercial operation  
Contracted Capacity 20.0 MW  
Tariffs  Feed-In Tariff at 36 yen/kilowatts-hour 
 

Solar power plant project in Vietnam 

As of 3 1  December 2 0 2 2, TTQN has entered into a PPA and commenced commercial operations on May 3 1 , 
2019, with contract details as follows:  

Topic Important details  

Project  Binh Nguyen Solar Project 
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Topic Important details  

Off-taker Vietnam Electricity (EVN)  
Contract period  20 years from the start of commercial operation  
Contracted Capacity 40 MW  
Tariffs  Feed-In Tariff at US$ 0.0935 /kilowatt-hour 

 
Solar power plant project in Mongolia 

As of 31 December 2022, TGC has entered into a PPA and commenced commercial operations on July 6, 2019, 
with contract details as follows:  

Topic Important details  

Project  Khunsight Kundi Project 
Off-taker National Dispatch Center (NDC)  
Contract period  20 years from the start of commercial operation  
Contracted Capacity 15 MW  
Tariffs  Feed-In Tariff at US$ 0.162 /kilowatt-hour 

Biomass power plant project in Thailand 

As of 31 December 2022, UPT has entered into a PPA and commenced commercial operations on May 24, 2019, 
with contract details as follows:  

Topic Important details  

Project  UPT Project 
Off-taker Provincial Electricity Authority (PEA) 
Contract period  20 years from the start of commercial operation  
Contracted Capacity 8 MW  
Tariffs  Feed-in Tariff at 4.57 baht / kWh (include premium of 0.3 baht / kWh for 8 years)  

Wind power plant project in Vietnam 

As of 31 December 2022, TTTV has entered into a PPA and commenced commercial operations on October 25, 
2021, with contract details as follows:  

Topic Important details  

Project  TTTV Project 
Off-taker National Dispatch Center (NDC)  
Contract period  20 years from the start of commercial operation  
Contracted Capacity 48 MW  
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Topic Important details  

Tariffs  US$ 0.098 /kilowatt-hour 

1.6.16 Land lease as location of the project  

At present, the lands that the group uses for various projects as ownership and tenants are in all of the 
5 projects, namely (1) Binh Nguyen Solar Project, Vietnam with a total leasing period of 49 years since the 
construction, (2) Khunsight Kundi Project, Mongolia with a total leasing period of 30 years, (3) Yamaga Project, 
Japan with a total leasing period of 20 years from the start of commercial operation, (4) Zouen Project, Japan 
with a total leasing period of 21 years and 6 months from the date of contract signed.  
1.7  Future projects  

As of 31 December 2022, the company has the projects under construction and development as follows:  

1. One projects in Japan  
a. LEO 2 Project (Ashita Power 2) with installed capacity of 22.0 MW  

The main of each project are as follows:  

(1) LEO 2 Project (Ashita Power 2)  

Subject  Details  
Project  LEO 2 (LEO) 
Project company  ASP2 G.K. or ASP2 as the operator  
Proportion of investment  SSP holds shares in SEG at a percentage of 100 (including direct and indirect holding) and 

SEG invests as a TK investor at a proportion of 100% of the total investment of TK, with return 
of investment according to the proportion in TK investment contract. 

Investment structure  Investment structure of GK-TK  
▪ The operator is ASP2 G.K.(ASP2). 
▪ TK Investor is SEG with investment proportion of 100 of total TK investment.  

Project status  Under project development  
Off-taker Tokyo Electric Power Company Holdings, Inc., as a private electricity entrepreneur in Tokyo 

Location  Shimoda City, Japan 
Area  756 rai 
Schedule for commercial 
operation  

The group expects that the LEO2 project shall be able to open commercial operations during 
2024. 

Technology  Solar panel of Polycrystalline Silicon  

Installed capacity  22.0 MW  
Contracted capacity 17.0 MW  
Purchase period  20 years  
Curtailment) Limited Curtailment 
Tariff  Feed-in Tariff (Fit) at 36 yen/kilowatt- hour  
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1.8  Structure of the group of companies  
1.8.1 Shareholding Structure  

As of December 31, 2022, the group’s structure is as follows:  

 
1.8.2 The company and its subsidiaries 

At present, the company operates its business by holding shares in other companies (Holding 
Company), with investments as follows:  

(1) Subsidiaries that operate the business of generating and distributing electricity from 
renewable energy, with various projects 

Name  Nature of business Country  
Direct and indirect 

shareholding 
(percentage) 

Joint venture  
(if any) 

SPN 
Producing and distributing electricity from solar 
energy, such as the solar building project (In 
commercial operation) 

Thailand 100 - 

SN 

Producing and distributing electricity from Solar 
Rooftop, comprising of SNNP1 , SNNP2 , SNNP3 
and Do Home projects (in commercial operation) 
and SNNP4 (under construction)  

Thailand  100 - 

SS 
Producing and distributing electricity from solar 
energy, such as the Solar Project (WVO), 
Ratchaburi Province (in commercial operation)  

Thailand 100 - 

TGC 

Producing and distributing electricity from solar 
energy, including the Khunsight Kundi project, 
which is located in Mongolia (In commercial 
operation)  

Mongolia  75 

Sharp Energy 
Solutions 

Corporation (10%) 
AMOE Solar (10%) 
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SH Energy Solution 
(5%) 

TTQN 
Producing and distributing electricity from solar 
energy, including the Binh Nguyen Solar project, 
located in Vietnam (In commercial operation) 

Vietnam  87 

Troung Thanh 
Vietnam Group 

Joint Stock 
Company (“TTVN”) 

SSE 
Producing and distributing electricity from Solar 
Rooftop in Indonesia  Indonesia 96 Xurya Pte. Ltd. 

TTTV 
Producing and distributing electricity from wind 
power, located in Vietnam (In commercial 
operation) 

Vietnam  80 

Troung Thanh 
Vietnam Group 

Joint Stock 
Company (“TTVN”) 

UPT 
Producing and distributing electricity from 
biomass power, located in Thailand (In 
commercial operation) 

Thailand 100 - 

(2) Subsidiaries with shareholding in other companies 

Name  Nature of business  Country  
Direct and indirect 

shareholding  
(percentage) 

Joint venture 
 (If any) 

AE 

Shareholding in companies operating in the business 
of generating and distributing electricity from 
renewable energy and other related businesses in 
overseas  

Thailand 100 - 

SI 

Shareholding in companies operating in the business 
of generating and distributing electricity from 
renewable energy and other related businesses in 
overseas 

Thailand 100 - 

SGP 

Shareholding in companies operating in the business 
of generating and distributing electricity from 
renewable energy and other related businesses in 
overseas  

Hong Kong 1001 - 

SEG Investing in solar power plants in Japan TK investor  Hong Kong 1002 - 

ACM 

Shareholding in companies operating in the business 
of generating and distributing electricity from 
renewable energy and other related businesses in 
overseas  

Hong Kong 1003 - 
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SSSG 

Shareholding in companies operating in the business 
of generating and distributing electricity from 
renewable energy and other related businesses in 
overseas  

Singapore 1001 - 

SSEP 

Shareholding in companies operating in the business 
of generating and distributing electricity from 
renewable energy and other related businesses in 
overseas  

Singapore 961 Xurya Pte. Ltd. 

 

(3) “GK Operator” under the GK-TK investment structure at SEG1 as a TK investor with “TK 
Agreement” 

Name Nature of business  Country  
Proportion of  
TK investment 
(percentage)1 

Joint venture  
(if any) 

GSSE 

Operating solar power generation and distribution 
business in Japan, including 1 project under the GK-
TK investment structure, with volume of electricity 
offered for sale under the contract of 30.0 MW, located 
in Yamaga District. Kumamoto, Japan (Yamaga 
Project) (under construction)  

Japan 90 Smart Solar Co. 
Ltd. 

ZOUEN 

Operating solar power generation and distribution 
business in Japan, including 1 project under the GK-
TK investment structure, with volume of electricity 
offered for sale under the agreement of 6 . 0  MW, 
located in Mashiki District. Kumamoto, Japan (Zouen 
Project) (in commercial operation) 

Japan 100 - 

Ashita 
Power 1 

Operating solar power generation and distribution 
business in Japan, including 1 project under the GK-
TK investment structure, with volume of electricity 
offered for sale under the contract of 20.0 MW, located 
in Minamiizu City, Shizuoka, Japan (LEO 1  Project) 
(under construction)  

Japan  100 - 

Ashita 
Power 2 

Operating solar power generation and distribution 
business in Japan, including 1 project under the GK-
TK investment structure, with volume of electricity 
offered for sale under the contract of 10.0 MW, located 
in Shimoda City, Shizuoka, Japan (under project 
development and not yet started construction (LEO 2 
Project) 

Japan 100 - 
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(4) Subsidiaries operating the business of producing and distributing electricity from 
renewable energy, without significant operation  

Name  Nature of Business Country  
Direct and Indirect 

Shareholding  
(percentage) 

EP 
Generating and distributing electricity from renewable 
energy and other related businesses (Not yet 
operated) 

Thailand 100 

PE 
Generating and distributing electricity from renewable 
energy and other related businesses ( Not yet 
operated) 

Thailand 100 

PTG 
Generating and distributing electricity from renewable 
energy and other related businesses ( Not yet 
operated) 

Thailand 56.3 

PPP 
Generating and distributing electricity from renewable 
energy and other related businesses ( Not yet 
operated) 

Thailand 56.3 

SCS 
Generating and distributing electricity from renewable 
energy and other related businesses ( Not yet 
operated) 

Thailand 100 

SRP 
Generating and distributing electricity from renewable 
energy and other related businesses ( Not yet 
operated) 

Thailand 100 

SSC 
Generating and distributing electricity from renewable 
energy and other related businesses (Not yet 
operated) 

Thailand 100 

SJC Operating other related businesses with renewable 
energy power plants in Japan  Thailand 100 

NRP Holding company Thailand 100 
RAP Holding company Thailand 75 
RI Holding company Thailand 75 

SSTE Holding company Thailand 75 
STZ Holding company Thailand 75 
SNV Holding company Thailand 100 

BETTEN 
Generating and distributing electricity from renewable 
energy and other related businesses (Not yet 
operated) 

Thailand 100 

LKY 
Generating and distributing electricity from renewable 
energy and other related businesses (Not yet 
operated) 

Thailand 75 
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LCK 
Generating and distributing electricity from renewable 
energy and other related businesses (Not yet 
operated) 

Thailand 75 

LNR 
Generating and distributing electricity from renewable 
energy and other related businesses (Not yet 
operated) 

Thailand 100 

LSK 
Generating and distributing electricity from renewable 
energy and other related businesses (Not yet 
operated) 

Thailand 75 

IRP Holding company Thailand 75 

1.9 Relationship with major shareholders 
The major shareholders have shareholding in energy businesses as follows:  

1.9.1 Uni Power Tech Company Limited (“UPT”) 

a company operating biomass power plant business, with details as follows:  

Subject Details  

Type of project  Biomass Power Plant  

Type of fuel  Chopped wood, bark, and biogas  

Contracted Capacity 8.0 MW  

Installed capacity  9.9 MW  

Off-taker Provincial Electricity Authority (PEA)  

Contract period  20 years 

Location Nakhon Ratchasima Province  

Project status  Commercial operation  

Following the regulations of the Energy Regulatory Commission regarding the purchase of electricity 
from very small power producers, the Feed-in Tarff renewable energy generation project (excluding the solar 
power project) is prohibited to change the number of shareholders, causing the existing shareholders have to 
submit and propose to sell electricity less than half and no change in the number of shares held by existing 
shareholders to less than 5 1 . 0  percent of the total shares until the very small power producers have 
commercialized power (COD) for a period of 3  years during the restructuring of the group of companies. In 
addition to legal limitations as mentioned above, there are also operational costs that may result in the 
development of the UPT project not to be in the best interest and the expected benefits from the restructuring 
may not worth the cost of operation. Therefore, the company has not brought UPT (not yet a commercial 
operation) to join in the group of companies.  
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UPT will not expand or increase production capacity in the biomass power plant business, or any other 
businesses that may create a conflict of interest, or compete with the Group Company by expanding the biomass 
power plant business in the future, which will be operated under the group of companies It will be in accordance 
with the vision, policy and business goals of the group of companies. 

The major shareholders of UPT and UPT entered an agreement with the company to define the scope of 
business operation of UPT and the group of companies as clearly described above. 

1.9.2 T.K.H Wood Power Company Limited (“TKH”) 

At present, the Kraipisitkul family hold a 100% stake in TKH, which operates the business of producing, 
supplying, and selling fuel from chopped pieces of wood and bark to biomass power plants, including the one 
operated by UPT, in which the Kraipisitkul family Is a major shareholder. The details of the chopped-wood factory 
operated by TKH are as follows: 

Subject Details 

Nature of business  Production, procurement, and distribution of fuel from chopped pieces of wood 
and bark to the biomass power plants  

Type of raw material  Wood chip  

Production capacity  40.0 tones/hour 

Location Nakhon Ratchasima Province 

 

TKH's major shareholder and the company agree to set the scope of business operation. TKH operates 
the business of producing, procuring, and selling fuel from chopped pieces of wood and bark to biomass power 
plants operated by UPT and third parties, without expanding or increasing the production capacity of TKH. At 
present, TKH has 100.0 percent of the production capacity to be sold to UPT.  

In addition, TKH and TKH's major shareholders agree to enter an agreement with the company to 
determine the scope of business operation of TKH and the group of companies as clearly described above.  

1.9.3 Absolute Products Company Limited (“ASP”) 

At present, the Kraipisitkul family holds a 100% stake in ASP, which operates a palm oil extraction and 
biogas power plant businesses, with the amount of electricity offered for sale under agreement of 0 .8  MW. The 
power plant generates power from the by-product of palm oil extraction that is not related to the business of the 
group of companies and not competitive with the group’s business. ASP does not operate a competitive business 
with the group of companies. In the future, ASP may consider investing in biomass power plants by using raw 
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materials from the by-products of ASP’s production process or other businesses of the family, which 
can be used to generate and sell electricity. The power plant of ASP can be detailed as follows:  

Subject Details  

Type of project  Biogas Power Plant 
Type of fuel  Wastewater from palm oil factory 
Contracted capacity 0.8 MW  
Installed capacity  0.999 MW  
Off-taker Provincial Electricity Authority (PEA) 
Contract period  Duration of 5 years and continuously for 5 years each time 

automatically 
Location  Nakhon Si Thammarat Province 
Project status  Commercial operation  

The major shareholder of ASP and the group of companies agrees to define the scope of the power 
generation and distribution business, where ASP operates and / or expands the power plant business only the 
ones that generate electricity from by-products of the production process of ASP or other businesses of the family 
with the by-products that can produce can sell electricity only. ASP will not operate and / or expand the stand-
alone power plant business.  

In addition, the major shareholders of ASP and ASP enter an agreement with the company to determine 
the scope of business of ASP and the group of companies as clearly described above.  

TKH, and ASP have issued a letter of confirmation that their business operations are in accordance 
with the contract they have signed and the company has already presented to the Board of Directors for 
acknowledgment in the meeting No. 1/2019 on February 28, 2019. 

1.7  Shareholders 

List of major shareholders of the company as reference information according to the closing of the 
shareholder register book on December 30, 2022 can be summarized as follows:  

List of Shareholders  

As of December 30, 2022 

Number of shares 
(share) 

Shareholding 
Proportion (Percent) 

1. Prime Energy Company Limited (“PME”) 1 368,221,150 29.5 

2. Unity I. Capital Limited (“UNITY”)2 82,198,236 6.6 
3. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul  79,879,099 6.4 
4. Mr. Piyawat Kraipisitkul   77,030,545 6.2 
5. Miss Thanthaphon Kraipisitkul 69,462,497 5.6 
6. UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD A/C - RC 37,223,000 3.0 
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List of Shareholders  

As of December 30, 2022 

Number of shares 
(share) 

Shareholding 
Proportion (Percent) 

7. CREDIT SUISSE AG, SINGAPORE BRANCH 35,001,700 2.8 
8. THAI NVDR 22,644,379 1.8 
9. LGT BANK (SINGAPORE) LTD 22,000,000 1.8 

10. Mr. Tanawat Kraipisitkul 17,515,031 1.4 
Total  811,175,637 64.9 

 

Note: 1PME is a company incorporated in Thailand. The shareholders are Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul, Miss Thanthaphon Kraipisitkul, Mr. Piyawat 
Kraipisitkul, and Mr. Thanawat Kraipisitkul. 

2 UNITY is a company incorporated in Hong Kong. The shareholders are Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul, Miss Thanthaphon Kraipisitkul, Mr. 
Piyawat Kraipisitkul, and Mr. Thanawat Kraipisitkul.  

 

Shareholder Agreement 

 -None- 

Restrictions on the transfer of shares of the company 

The company's shares are transferable without restrictions, unless the transfer of shares causes foreign 
shareholders to hold shares in the company more than 49.0 percent of the total issued shares of the company. 

1.8  Issuance of other securities  
Debt securities 

a)  

  Issuer Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited  

Name of the debenture  Debenture of Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited  

No. 1/2021, maturity year 2024 

 Type of debenture  Name-Registered debenture, unsubordinated bond, non-insurance, having a 
bondholder representative 

Number and value of the bonds    
offered for sale 
Total value of the bonds offered 
for sale  

600,000 (Eight hundred thousand) units  
 
600,000,000 (Eight hundred million) baht 
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Total value of the bonds offered 
for sale  

600,000,000 (Eight hundred million) baht 

 value per unit  1,000 (one thousand) baht  

Offering price per unit  1,000 (one thousand) baht  

Interest rate of debentures  The interest rate is fixed at 4.80 percent (four points, eight zero) per year over 
the life of the bond.  

Year of debentures  2 (two) year and 6 (months) from the issuance date  

Issuance date  23 July 2021 

Early redemption of debentures 
 None  
Debenture Registrar  Bank of Ayudhya Public Company Limited or the person duly appointed to act 

as a debenture registrar  

Representative of Debenture 
Holders  

Asia Plus Securities Company Limited or the person duly appointed to act as 
the bondholders' representative  

Credit rating  The issuer of the bond has been confirmed its credit rating “BBB+” by TRIS 
Rating Company Limited on September 19, 2022. 

Requirements for maintaining 
financial ratios  

Maintain ratio “Interest Baring Debt” to “Shareholder Equity” in the 
consolidated financial statements not exceed 3 . 0 :  1  at the end of each 
accounting period over the life of the debentures.  

b)  
  Issuer Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited  

Name of the debenture  Debenture of Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited  

No. 1/2022, maturity year 2025 
 

 Type of debenture  Name-Registered debenture, unsubordinated bond, non-insurance, having a 
bondholder representative 

Number and value of the bonds    
offered for sale 
Total value of the bonds offered 
for sale  

1,500,000 (One million five hundred thousand) units  
 
1,500,000,000 (One million five hundred thousand) baht 

 value per unit  1,000 (one thousand) baht  

Offering price per unit  1,000 (one thousand) baht  
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Interest rate of debentures  The interest rate is fixed at 4.60 percent (four points, six zero) per year over the 
life of the bond.  

Year of debentures  3 (three) year from the issuance date  

Issuance date  25 Mar 2022 

Early redemption of debentures 
 

None  

Debenture Registrar  Bank of Ayudhya Public Company Limited or the person duly appointed to act 
as a debenture registrar  

Representative of Debenture 
Holders  

Asia Plus Securities Company Limited or the person duly appointed to act as 
the bondholders' representative  

Credit rating  The issuer of the bond has been confirmed its credit rating “BBB+” by TRIS 
Rating Company Limited on September 19, 2022. 

Requirements for maintaining 
financial ratios  

Maintain ratio “Interest Baring Debt” to “Shareholder Equity” in the 
consolidated financial statements not exceed 3 . 0 :  1  at the end of each 
accounting period over the life of the debentures.  

 
Bill of exchange 
As of December 31, 2022, the company has none bill of exchange. 
1.12 Amount of registered capital and paid-up capital 

Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited is a listed company on the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand. As of December 31, 2022, the company has a registered capital of 1,503,506,001 baht, divided 
into 1,503,506,001 ordinary shares with a par value of 1.0 baht and a paid-up capital of 1,248,932,772 
baht, divided into 1,248,932,772 ordinary shares with a par value of 1.0 baht. 
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1.13 Issuance and offering of debt instruments to the general public 

Purpose of spending money Estimated 
amount of 

money spent 

Estimated time 
spent 

Details  

To be used to repay short-term 
debt to financial institutions and / 
or as capital for business 
expansion  

800 million baht  Within 1 year from 
the date of 
issuance of debt 
securities  

Sermsang Power Corporation Public 
Company Limited (“the Company”) has 
issued and offered "Debentures of 
Sermsang Power Corporation Public 
Company Limited No. 1/2020 due to be 
matured in 2022" ("Debentures"), with total 
offering value of 800,000,000 baht on 
December 4, 2020. The objective is to use 
the proceeds from the debenture issuance 
and offering for repayment of short-term 
debts with financial institutions and / or as 
capital and supporting the business 
expansion of the company. On December 4, 
2020 the company has already used the 
proceeds from the said bond offering to 
repay short-term debts with financial 
institutions in the amount of 668,329,763 
baht. On March 31,2021 the company has 
already used the proceeds from the said 
bond offering to repay short-term debts with 
financial institutions in the amount of 
131,670,237 baht. 

  

Business expansion or as capital 
for business  

1,500 million 
baht 

Within 2023 Sermsang Power Corporation Public 
Company Limited (“the Company”) has 
issued and offered "Debentures of 
Sermsang Power Corporation Public 
Company Limited No. 1/2022 due to be 
matured in 2025" ("Debentures"), with total 
offering value of 1,500,000,000 baht on 
March 25, 2022. The objective is to use the 
proceeds from the debenture issuance and 
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Governing law 

Thai Law 

1.14 Dividend Policy 
(1) The Company's dividend payment policy 

The Board of Directors may consider the annual dividend payment of the Company, subject 
to the approval at the shareholders' meeting. For an interim dividend payment, the Board of Directors 
has the power to approve the payment of dividends from time to time when it is of the opinion that the 
company has sufficient profits to do so and report to the shareholders' meeting at the next meeting.  

The Company has a policy to pay dividends to shareholders of not less than 40.0% of the net 
profit according to the separate financial statements of the company, after the reduction of the 
corporate income tax and all types of reserves required by law and the company in each year. In this 
regard, the Board of Directors shall consider the dividend payment by taking into account various 
factors for the benefit of the shareholders mainly, such as the company's financial status, reserve for 
future investment, reserve for loan repayment or as working capital, with consideration of core 
operating profit after adjustment and the net profit according to the consolidated financial statements. 
The dividend payment does not significantly affect the normal operation of the company as the Board 
of Directors deems appropriate.  

(2)  Dividend payment policy of subsidiaries in Thailand 
The subsidiaries in Thailand have a policy to pay dividends to shareholders of not less than 

70.0% of the net profit according to the separate financial statements after deducting corporate income 
tax and all types of reserves specified by laws and subsidiaries each year. In this regard, the directors 
of subsidiaries shall consider the dividend payment by taking into account various factors for the 
benefit of the shareholders mainly, such as the operating results and financial position of the 
subsidiaries, reserve for future investment, reserve for loan repayment, or as working capital within 
subsidiaries. The payment of dividends does not have a significant impact on the normal operations of 
subsidiaries as the Board of Directors deems appropriate.  

(3)  Dividend payment policy of foreign subsidiaries  
The overseas subsidiary companies has a policy to pay dividends to shareholders of not less 

than 40.0% of the net profit or retained earnings according to the separate financial statements after 

offering for supporting the business 
expansion of the company  or as capital and 
supporting the business. 
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deducting various amounts as required by law, taking into account various factors for the benefit of the 
shareholders mainly, such as the operating results and financial status of the subsidiaries, reserve for 
future investment, reserve for loan repayment, or as working capital within subsidiaries. The payment 
of dividends does not have a significant impact on the normal operations of subsidiaries as the Board 
of Directors deems appropriate. 
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2.1 Risk Management Policies 

The Company has set risk management policies for the entire organization by appointing a risk 
management committee to carry out the duties of reviewing policies and assessing various risks created from 
external factors and internal factors. Additionally, the committee is tasked with the establishment of guidelines 
towards the management of risk for the purpose of maintaining acceptable levels, and with the communication and 
arrangement of operations training seminars for officers, in order to create awareness on the importance of risk 
management. The risk management committee may consider the appointment of persons and/or work groups to 
proceed with these various work tasks, as assigned and deemed appropriate by the risk management committee. 
This will allow the aforementioned persons and/or work groups to operate, follow up on, and report to the risk 
management committee, such that the risk management committee may be informed of the compliance of the 
Group Company to the risk management policies. Furthermore, the Group Company has the following risk 
management policies: 

1. To endorse a culture of risk management in order to construct understanding, conscience, and mutual 
responsibility in matters concerning risk, control, and risk impacts on the Group Company, in the 
administrative and operational processes of the entire Company group. To promote risk management 
culture to have the same understanding, cultivate consciousness, mutual responsibility in matters 
concerning risk, control, and impacts on the administration and operation of the Group Company. 

2. To have the procedures, guidelines, and methods for risk management that possess universally 
appropriate and sufficient quality, including the continuous and consistent indication, analysis, evaluation, 
ordering, management, control, follow-up, reporting, assessment, and communication of risk-related data, 
operating for the entire Company group. 

3. To have risk measurements, both in qualitative aspects, such as the reputation and image of the Group 
Company, and quantitatively, such as the loss, decrease in revenue, or increase in expenses, calculated 
from feasibility and impacts. To have risk assessment in both qualitative aspect, such as the reputation 
and image of the Group Company, and quantitative aspect, such as the profit and loss, decrease in 
revenue, or increase in expenses. The assessment covers both probability and impact. 

2. Risk Management 

 

 

 

 

2.	Risk Management
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4. To implement risk ceilings (Risk Limits) to limit the extent of damage that might occur to be within 
acceptable levels for the Group Company. This includes the specification of events or risk levels which 
may serve as warnings (Warning Signs) that will signal workers to proceed in such a way as to prevent 
risks from exceeding their determined limits. 

5. To have a written operating procedure that will guide executives and workers to function under, which will 
control risks caused by operational activities. 

The Group Company’s Risk Management Procedure is as follows: 

1.1 Setting the policies and criteria for risk management 

This is a formulation of the policies, purposes, limits, responsibilities, and methodologies for risk 
management, such that it is in accordance with the present strategies, targets, plans, and business directions. The 
Group Company will provide an annual review and arrange this formulation alongside its business plan for the sake 
of synergy. 

1.2 Risk identification 

This is an identification of risks that may impact the achievement of goals and targets, bearing in mind the 
risks that may be caused by internal and external factors, such as by the environment, law, finance, information 
systems, decision-making information systems, investor satisfaction, invested capital management, fame and 
image, and security systems. The Group Company will manage risks by prioritizing them before considering control 
systems: should the risks fall under the “high” and “very high” priorities, the Company will bring these risks under 
analysis for further management. 

1.3 Risk analysis 

This is an analysis to assess the levels of remaining risk subsequent to the evaluation of existing control 
systems, and a prioritization in order of importance of these risks. Should any risks remain in the “high” or “very 
high” levels, measures for managing these risks must be immediately established by the responsible high-level 
executives. Should any risks remain in the “moderate” or “low” levels, management measures will be assigned on 
the departmental level, or resolved during work operational procedures. 
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1.4 Risk management 

This is a formulation of planning methods to manage significant risks, as prioritized by their levels during 
the risk analysis procedure. Risk management occurs under many methods, such as control, risk transfer, risk 
avoidance, risk exploitation, or risk acceptance. 

1.5 Results monitoring and review 

These are steps for the review of risk management results which were made under the specified plans. 
They include the evaluation of results from risk management, which the risk management committee will monitor 
and report to the high-level management and the board of directors. 

2.2 Risk Factors  

The risks specified below contain several which are significant, and may have negative impacts to business, 
financial status, operational results, business opportunities, and ultimately the ordinary shares of the Group 
Company. Furthermore, other risks may exist which the Group Company has currently yet to anticipate, or may be 
risks which the Group Company has considered and has deemed as having no significant impact on the business 
operations of the Group Company. 

The important risks factors for the Group Company are categorized as (1) Risks caused by being a company 
that does business by holding shares in other companies (Holding Company), (2) Risks from business operations, 
(3) Management risks, (4) Financial risks, (5) New project investment risks, and (6) Risks related to the Company’s 
ordinary shares, for which the details are given as follows: 

 

(1) Risks caused by being a company that does business by holding shares in other companies  (Holding 
Company) 

Since the Company has primary income stemming from holding shares in other companies, and does not 
significantly operate its own businesses that generate income, the Company’s operating results and dividend 
payments will depend on the operational results and dividend payments of its subsidiaries. Thus, the Company’s 
turnover and dividend payments will depend on the operational results and dividend payments of its subsidiary 
companies. Currently, the Company holds shares in 36 subsidiary companies located both in Thailand and in 
foreign countries, of which 4 solar power project companies invested through the GK-TK structure in japan. 
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The subsidiary companies in Thailand have dividend payment policies with rates no less than 70% of their 
net profit after income taxes and legal reserve. The foreign country subsidiary companies have dividend payment 
polices with rates no less than 40% of their net profit, or retained earning after required legal reserves. Nevertheless, 
the subsidiary companies might not be able to pay dividends to shareholders due to certain limitation, such as 
dividend restrictions in loan agreement with commercial banks, capital expenditure requirements for business 
expansion as well as significant changes in law of the countries in which the Company operates its businesses. 
These aforementioned cases may cause the decrease in dividend income of the Company and would negatively 
impact the operational results and financial status of the Company. 

Furthermore, as of December 31, 2021, Sermsang Palang Ngan Company Limited (SPN), which is a 
subsidiary company that operates the business of solar power plants in Thailand (the “Se rmsang Solar Project”), 
is obliged under the loan agreement with c o m me rc ia l  b a n k s  to pay the loan installment and maintain certain 
finanicial ratios before declaration of dividend payment to shareholders. Thus, the Company possesses risk should 
SPN become unable to pay its dividends, if SPN is unable to repay its loans, maintain its financial ratios, or 
proceed in accordance with the aforementioned contract stipulations. Nevertheless, since the start of its 
commercial operations, SPN has displayed sufficient operating results and liquidity, and has been continuously 
able to retain its financial ratios while operating in accordance with these aforementioned contract stipulations, 
which has allowed a consistent payment of dividends to shareholders. 

 

As for the power plant projects in Japan, Mongolia and Vietnam, the project finance loans have similar 
conditions which must also be complied with prior to dividend payments. 

For solar rooftop projects in Thailand, the Group Company has invested through SN with the Company’s 
fund, and has not used loans from commercial banks. Thus, SN still does not have any limitations in the payment of 
its dividends from loan stipulations made with commercial banks. Nevertheless, there is a risk that SN is unable to 
pay its dividends, should the project turnover proceed in unexpected ways, or in the event that SN seeks its project 
finance which may have the dividend payment restriction same as the Group Company SPN as mentioned above.   

(2) Risks from business operations 

The Group Company operates the businesses of (1) domestically and internationally producing and 
distributing electricity from renewable energy resources, and (2) other businesses related to the domestic and 
international production and distribution of electricity from renewable energy resources. 

The business operations of the Group Company have the following risks that might occur: 
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2.2.1 Business operation risks for solar power plants and wind power plants 

2.2.1.1 Risk of irradiation being lower than anticipated 

Solar power plants depend on solar irradiation as a main factor for electricity generation. 
Should the solar irradiation be of an intensity lower than the anticipated levels, operational results 
might be negatively impacted. During the project’s feasibility study stage, the Group Company 
performed a detailed assessment on the project site location, and statistically analyzed solar 
irradiation using historical data collected during a period of 25–35 years from reliable sources, such 
as the Department of Alternative Energy Development and Efficiency, the National Aeronautics and 
Space Administration (NASA), the New Energy and Industrial Development Organization (NEDO), 
and data from Metronome. This was done to develop confidence that the areas in which the projects 
would be developed possess irradiance levels that would produce returns for the Group Company 
within a satisfactory range. Furthermore, the Group Company has considered hiring technical 
consultants to carefully assess various factors, such as intensity of solar radiation, soil 
characteristics, project location, and equipment qualification that are suitable for the project sites, 
so that the investment decisions of the Group Company may proceed in a suitable manner. 

2.2.1.2 Risk of wind speed being lower than anticipated 

Wind power plants rely on wind energy as a main factor for electricity generation. Should 
wind speed is lower than what was anticipated, operational results might be negatively impacted. 
During the project’s feasibility study stage, the Group Company performed a detailed assessment 
on the project site location and installed wind masts to record wind speed information and other 
data that might affect the wind power assessment, to a duration of over 1 year. The aforementioned 
data was used to analyze the correlation between the detailed level data (Microscale) from the wind 
masts and the moderate level data (Mesoscale) from satellites and international climate models. 
Historical wind condition data was used at durations no less than project life, or for about 20 years, 
from reputable sources such as the MERRA-2 climate model from the National Aeronautics and 
Space Administration (NASA), and ERA-5 climate models from the European Centre for Medium-
Range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF). This ensures that the areas in which the projects will be 
situated possess wind condition levels that would produce returns for the Company within a 
satisfactory range. Furthermore, the Group Company has considered hiring technical consultants 
to carefully assess various factors, such as wind speed, project location, and equipment 
qualifications that are suitable for the projects, so that the investment decisions of the Group 
Company may proceed in a suitable manner. 



Annual Registration Statement 2022 (Form 56-1 One Report 2022) 97 

   Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited 

    
Form 56-1-2022: Risk Management                                                                                                                                                   Section 2 Page 6 

 

2.2.1.3 Risk of solar panel deterioration being faster than anticipated 

Solar panel is one of the main equipment used to produce electricity in solar power plants. 
Should the solar panels deteriorate at a rate faster than normal, the solar power plants might produce 
reduced levels of electricity. This would negatively impact the operational results and financial status 
of the Group Company. 

Nevertheless, the Group Company has proceeded to provide the solar power plants of the 
Group Company with significant insurance from its turnkey contractors and/or the solar panel 
manufacturers, under the following details:  

 Solar panels PV Output Warranty Construction quality 

Sermsang Solar, Lopburi 10 years 25 years Main equipment quality 
5–10 years 

Zouen, Japan 10 years 20 years 2 years 
Solar Rooftop 10 years 25 years 3 years 
Solar War Veterans 
Organization of Thailand, 
Ratchaburi 

10 years 25 years 5 years 

Binh Nguyen, Vietnam 10 years 25 years 2 years 
Khunsight Kundi, Mongolia 10 years 20 years 3 years 
Yamaga, Japan 10 years 25 years 2 years 
Leo, Japan 15 years 25 years 2 years 
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2.2.1.4 Risks related to power generation process efficiency and stability 

The main factors affecting the Group Company’s power production process efficiency and 
stability include (1) the efficiency and service life of the key equipment used to generate power, (2) 
weather conditions, and (3) the cessation of power production in the solar power plant due to internal 
factors, such as technical issues in the power production process, or external factors, such as the 
instability or repair of electricity transmission systems. 

The Group Company has chosen solar panels that suit the climate in each area; for 
example, the Sermsang Solar project uses Thin Film Silicon solar panels, while the solar power 
plants in Japan, Mongolia, and Vietnam use Poly Crystalline solar panels. The Group Company has 
also chosen wind turbines that suit the wind conditions at their place of installation, referring to the 
wind condition model simulation data mentioned above, in order to create confidence that the wind 
turbines can produce electricity at the fullest efficiencies, with absolutely minimized shut down 
period. due to weather conditions being outside their working range. 

In addition, the Group Company manages its risk by (1) arranging 24-hour monitoring of 
power plant activity results using the computerized Supervisory Control And Data Acquisition 
(SCADA) system in order to quickly determine and solve any problems that occur, so that the power 
plant can resume normal electricity distribution; (2) arranging regular power plant inspections and 
maintenance to ensure that power plant operations proceed effectively; (3) arranging insurance for 
the key equipment used in electricity generation, to build confidence that the project can operate 
continuously; and by (4) creating contracts with experienced operations and maintenance service 
providers, and/or arranging standardized operations and maintenance teams, to reduce these 
aforementioned risks. 

2.2.1.5 Management risks for projects under construction 

There exists construction delay risks, which might delay commercial operation from the 
stated schedule in the power purchase agreement. Furthermore, there are also risks involving 
construction costs that might be higher than what was estimated. 

The Group Company reduces aforementioned risks by hiring turnkey contractors in the 
design, equipment procurement, and construction of the power plants, and to reduce the risk of 
dependence on these turnkey contractors, it has established strict turnkey contractor consideration 
procedures both in Thailand and internationally, which ensures that construction will proceed in a 
timely manner and within the specified budgets. 
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Namely, these selection processes will consider important qualities such as (1) experience 
and expertise in various related areas, such as design, equipment procurement, or power plant 
construction; (2) knowledge and specialties in technological fields; and (3) strong and stable 
financial positions. Furthermore, the limits of work and service guarantees are also considered, in 
addition to acceptance from the commercial banks that provide project loans. 

 During the construction period, the Group Company controls and monitors project 
progress and the continuous disbursement of the project budget. For projects of a large size, 
technical consultants experienced in construction supervision will also be hired for monitoring 
purposes. 

2.2.1.6 Risk from increased solar power plant operations and maintenance costs 

Projects that hire operations and maintenance service providers  

- SPN, Zouen, and Yamaga projects 

  The Group Company has contracted operations and maintenance service providers to 
operate and maintain the Sermsang Solar Project, and upon expiration of the contract, the Group 
Company may be at risk should these aforementioned service costs increase significantly. 
Nevertheless, the Group Company may consider (1) opening auctions to select the best offers 
from operations and maintenance service providers, or (2) proceed with maintenance using the 
Group Company’s own personnel, as the Group Company currently works closely with these 
operations and maintenance service providers. Thus, the Group Company is confident that its 
personnel will have the ability to independently and efficiently perform the above operations. 

Projects operated and self-maintained by the Company 

- The Solar War Veterans Organization of Thailand, Solar Rooftop, Binh Nguyen Solar in 
Vietnam, and Khunsight Kundi in Mongolia projects. 

               For these aforementioned projects, the Company, or the company that owns the project 
(Project Company), will independently perform operations and maintenance. Thus, their costs can 
be more effectively assessed and controlled than any externally dependent methods. 
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2.2.1.7 Risks from expenses incurred from renewal of performance and main equipment of solar 
power plants warranty  

Mainly, solar power plant equipment comprises (1) solar panels (PV Module), (2) an electric 
current converter system (Inverter), and (3) a transformer. These appliances are included in the 
warranties of the turnkey contractor and/or equipment manufacturer (depending on each case, and 
on the business operation standards of the country that the Group Company has chosen to invest 
in). Should these aforementioned warranties expire, the Group Company might receive increased 
costs due to equipment warranty extensions, or from increased costs due to appliance self-
replacement, should damages occur. 

Details on equipment warranties for each project are shown under sections 1.3.3 and 
2.2.1.3: Risk of solar panel deterioration being faster than anticipated. 

2.2.1.8 Risk from reliance on major customers 

In general, the solar power plant projects and rooftop solar power plant (Solar Rooftop) 
projects of the Group Company have taken medium-term to long-term power purchase agreements 
contracts with the electricity off-taker, the important details of which are shown below: 

 

Project Contract  
(Off-taker) Contract duration Contract 

status 
Commercial 

operation schedule 
Projects that have opened for commercial operations 
Project Sermsang 
Solar 

Electricity Generating 
Authority of Thailand 

5 years, extendable 
in increments of 5 

years 

Signed Opened for 
commercial 
operations 

Project Zouen Kyushu Electric Power 
Co., Inc 

20 years Signed Opened for 
commercial 
operations 

Projects SNNP1, 
SNNP2, SNNP3 
and SNNP4 

Srinanaporn Marketing 
Company Limited 

25 years Signed Opened for 
commercial 
operations 

Project Do Home Dohome Public Company 
Limited 

25 years Signed Opened for 
commercial 
operations 
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Project Contract  
(Off-taker) Contract duration Contract 

status 
Commercial 

operation schedule 
Project PRC Prc Plast (Thailand) 

Company Limited 
25 years Signed Opened for 

commercial 
operations 

Project TAPACO Tapaco Public Company 
Limited 

25 years Signed Opened for 
commercial 
operations 

Project SPT Siam Plastic Products 
Company Limited 

18 years Signed Opened for 
commercial 
operations 

Project Solar War 
Veterans 
Organization of 
Thailand, 
Ratchaburi 

Provincial Electricity 
Authority 

25 years Signed Opened for 
commercial 
operations 

Project Yamaga Kyushu Electric Power 
Co., Inc 

20 years Signed Opened for 
commercial 
operations 

Project Khunsight 
Kundi 

National Dispatch Center 
of Mongolia 

12 years Signed Opened for 
commercial 
operations 

Project Binh 
Nguyen Solar 

Vietnam Electricity (EVN) 20 years Signed Opened for 
commercial 
operations 

Project Ashita 
Power 1 

Tokyo Electric Power Company 
Holdings, Inc 

20 years  Opened for 
commercial 
operations 

Project UPT Provincial Electricity 
Authority 

20 years Signed Opened for 
commercial 
operations 
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Project Contract  
(Off-taker) Contract duration Contract 

status 
Commercial 

operation schedule 
Project TTTV Vietnam Electricity (EVN) 20 years Signed Opened for 

commercial 
operations 

Projects under construction and development 
Project Leo (Ashita 
Power 2) 

Tokyo Electric Power 
Company Holdings, Inc 

20 years Operationally 
underway 

2024 

 

For the Group Company projects shown above, the Group Company may be at risk if the 
power purchasers terminate their power purchase agreements, which would n negatively impact 
the operational results and financial status of the Group Company at a significant level. 

The Group Company, however, possesses strict control and monitoring measures for the 
solar power plants of the Group Company, in accordance with the terms/conditions of the power 
purchase agreements, and operates in compliance with international standards and with other 
stipulations specified by the power purchaser and/or the employers. This was assigned so that the 
Group Company’s solar power plants will have all the qualifications required in the contracts and 
under related laws. 

Furthermore, the Group Company has a policy of seeking additional business expansion 
opportunities by investing in renewable electricity energy businesses, both in Thailand and 
internationally, to reduce the reliance risks associated with a small number of customers. 

 

2.2.1.9 Risks from natural disasters or force majeure 

Currently, the Group Company operates its businesses of solar power electricity production 
and distribution in Thailand, Japan, Mongolia, and Vietnam. Should any unanticipated natural 
disasters or critical events of force majeure occur, such as power systems failures, floods, 
snowstorms, fire, earthquakes, volcanic eruptions, or sabotage occur in locales where the Group 
Company’s solar power plants are situated, the operations of the Group Company’s solar power 
plants might be halted, or damage might be inflicted on the property of the Group Company, which 
may negatively affect the operational results and financial status of the Group Company. 
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For the consideration and preparation of areas in which the projects might be located, the 
Group Company has studied retrospective statistics on natural disasters in order to create 
confidence that the projects of the Group Company will be located in areas with low potential for 
natural disasters. Additionally, arrangements were made to procure insurance to reduce risks and 
the financial impacts that may occur, for which the insurance policy is set at a comparative level to 
that of general operators in the industry and proceeding in accordance with the terms set by 
commercial banks and/or financial institutions (Project Finance lenders). 

2.2.2 Other risks associated with business operations 

2.2.2.1 Risks from personnel reliance, particularly for high-level executives 

Operating the business of electricity production from renewable energy sources, including 
other related businesses, relies on the knowledge, ability, expertise, and experience of personnel, 
and in particular, on high-level executives. Should the Group Company be unable to preserve the 
aforementioned important personnel, or be unable to procure persons with the appropriate 
qualifications at the same level of these high-level executives to maintain positions in place of these 
important personnel, this may impact the consistency of work management and operations of the 
Company. 

2.2.2.2 Risk from policy changes in the government sector, and from other related government 
agencies 

Currently, the Group Company possesses power purchase agreements with the 
government sector both in Thailand and internationally. Changes or cancellations in power purchase 
conditions by the government sector might negatively impact the Group Company’s operational 
results and financial statements to a significant extent. 

The executives and work teams of the Group Company, who comprise personnel 
possessing knowledge, ability and experience, are tasked with studying and following the news and 
policies of the government sector and other related government agencies, and with assessing the 
competitive ability of the Group Company, in order to prepare in advance plans that accommodate 
change. They must use this aforementioned data to assemble the Group Company’s future business 
plans. Furthermore, the Group Company also studies information and considers its feasibility 
prospects regarding international investments in renewable energy power plants to mitigate risk. 
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2.2.2.3 Risk of income loss from electricity purchase restrictions (Curtailment)  

Projects in Japan  

In general, to carry out solar power plant business operations in Japan, the Group Company 
must enter into power purchase agreements with private power business operators who service the 
areas in which each power plant is located. The power purchase contracts have a term of 20 years, 
and under these aforementioned contracts, the Group Company has no obligations to sell electricity 
to these private power business operators; however, the private power business operators are 
obligated to sell all the electricity that each project can produce. 

Nevertheless, in early 2015, the Agency for Natural Resources and Energy (“ANRE”) in 
Japan announced its intent to apply law and operations guidelines to revise the current guidelines 
regarding the purchase of electricity from renewable energy sources. This includes the 
implementation of limits on electricity purchases (Curtailment), in which electricity provider 
companies have the right to limit electricity power purchases from renewable energy sources to a 
duration no greater than 360 hours per year without needing to compensate for damages incurred. 
Furthermore, this law also enables specific private electricity operators to restrict quantities of 
purchased electricity without limit (Unlimited Curtailment), in which the electricity business operator 
must officially announce its purchase restriction schedule to the private electricity business 
operator.  

Furthermore, the private electricity operators, i.e., the electricity purchase recipients of 
Project Yamaga and Project Zouen, namely, Kyushu Electric Power Co., Inc, are in areas that allow 
unlimited restrictions on electricity purchases (Unlimited Curtailment) for all 3 cases. For these 
reasons, the Group Company faces a possible risk of lost revenue if the quantity of its electricity 
purchases becomes restricted. 

The Group Company has considered these aforementioned electricity purchase limitations 
during the feasibility studies for its projects in Japan. The Group Company has the policies of (1) 
hiring technical consultants to study matters concerning electricity purchase limitations for private 
electricity business operators who will purchase electricity from each project, and/or (2) 
coordinating with the private electricity business operators by requesting reports on electricity 
purchases in each project (if any) for decision-making purposes before investing in these 
aforementioned projects. 
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For Project Yamaga and Project Zouen, the Group Company has received study results 
regarding electricity purchase limitations from its technical consultants, and after consideration, has 
judged that continued investment in these projects is worthwhile and appropriate. 

2.2.2.4 Risk of procurement inability for Chief Electrical Engineers to supervise solar power 
plant operations in Japan 

The Electricity Business Act of Japan requires operators to have a Chief Electrical Engineer 
tasked with the supervision of safety measures during the construction, operation, and maintenance 
of the power plant, in which the license level of the Chief Electrical Engineer will vary depending on 
the size of the power plant. Thus, the Company’s solar power plant projects in Japan might face 
delay risks for the project’s commercial operation start date, or incur additional costs. 

Furthermore, the Group Company’s solar power plant projects in Japan have set rules 
and/or guidelines towards the scope of duties for property managers to proceed in engineer 
acquisition. 

The Group Company has selected property managers who are experienced, are 
trustworthy, have good past performance, have strong financial positions, and are accepted by 
banks that provide project loans (Project Finance), creating confidence that the Group Company 
will be able to work within the scope of services required in its contracts. 

2.2.2.5 Risk associated to involvement in operation for solar farm projects in Japan 

Currently, the Company has invested in 3 solar power plant projects in Japan through the 
GK-TK investment structure, which holds the purpose of tax management for investments in Japan. 
The Company has invested under the GK-TK investment structure by holding shares in SEG, a 
subsidiary company for which the Company holds shares at a 100% stake, which is located in the 
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China. SEG has invested in 
the aforementioned projects with the status of a TK investor. 

Furthermore, under the GK-TK investment structure, SEG, as a TK investor, will be an 
investor that does not participate in work management (Silent Investor), pursuant to Section 536 
(Contribution by Silent Partner and Right and Obligations) under the Commercial Code of Japan. 
The operating company will hold the right to receive tax benefits through investors investing in Japan 
from business operations made by the operating company, which are paid to TK investors, and 
considered as tax expenses of the operating company. 
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The operating company is required to deduct a withholding tax with a rate of 20.42%, which 
is the tax burden of the TK investors, from these aforementioned profit shares (TK Distribution). 

Although SG holds the status as a TK investor, and has no part in operations management 
or in Day-to-day operations, the Company, with the status of the parent company, has set guidelines 
for the supervision of solar power plant projects in Japan by selecting business partners in Japan 
who are trustworthy and experienced in solar power plant operations Furthermore, for (1) the TK 
investment contracts made between SEG, which was designated by the Company as a TK investor 
company, and the operating companies, and (2) various contracts related to business alliances 
and/or various service providers, and their operating companies, their scope of investment 
purposes, operations, and important business activities has been defined during the project 
development phase. For example, procurement for project development financing, turnkey 
construction contractors, and property managers were all defined in this stage, which holds high 
importance for project control and management after the power plants begin commercial 
operations. This creates confidence that the solar power plant projects will proceed in the best 
interests of the Company and its shareholders. 

Nevertheless, although investments under the GK-TK structure are generally implemented 
under Japanese law, should SEG, with the status of a TK investor, proceed with any actions that are 
deemed as having influence over the management or operations of the solar power plants, this 
might impact its status as a Silent Investor under the GK-TK investment structure, causing potential 
risk of reclassification (re-characterization) into a limited partnership (NK, or nin-i-kumiai). This may 
cause the profit shares (TK Distribution) from business operations, paid by the operating companies 
to SEG, which has the status of a TK investor, to no longer be held as tax expenses, and may cause 
the operating companies to receive higher tax burdens, and/or penalty fee payments, and/or 
additional payable tax interest on top of the aforementioned tax assessment. Therefore, should SEG, 
under the status of a TK investor, be reclassified (re-characterization) as a general limited partner 
(NK or nin-i-kumiai), this might impact the Company’s Return on Investment in Japanese solar power 
plants to fall to lower rates than what was anticipated by the Group Company. 

Currently, the Japanese solar power plant projects have opened in some parts for 
commercial operations, and have already begun profit share payments (TK Distribution) from 
business operations made by the Operator to some TK investors. 
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2.2.2.6 Risk from decreased average electricity tariffs received by the Company group 
              As the new Company group power plants that have opened for operations collect their 
electricity fees in the form of Feed-In Tariffs, which are at rates lower than originally supported 
by the Group Company under the adder format, the Group Company is at risk of receiving lower 
average tariff rates. Combined with the high interest payment rates required of the Group 
Company, this may cause certain limitations in the ability of the Group Company to generate 
profit. Nevertheless, the electricity fees received by the Group Company will be in line with lower 
power plant construction costs when compared to past costs; this impact on the Company’s 
profitability may only be to a minimal extent. 

2.2.3 Management risk 
2.2.3.1   Risk of being controlled by major shareholder votes during the shareholders’ meeting  

As of December 30, 2022, the Kraipisitkul family holds approximately 55.6% of the total 
paid-up capital in the Company. Furthermore, the Kraipisitkul family maintains their positions as 
the executives, directors, and authorized directors of the group. Thus, the Company has given 
these major shareholders the power to control the Group Company’s management, in addition 
to the ability to control the majority of votes in the shareholders’ meeting, including matters 
concerning the appointment of directors, or requests for authorization on any other matters that 
require majority votes in the shareholders’ meeting, except for matters involving law or Company 
regulations, for which the Company requires a vote of no less than three-fourths of the 
shareholders attending the shareholders’ meeting who hold the right to vote. Thus, minor 
shareholders may not be able to combine their votes to examine and influence matters 
proposed by the major shareholder group.  

Nevertheless, the Group Company has organized its management structure with 
personnel who are knowledgeable and competent, and the Group Company has clearly and 
transparently determined the scope of their operations, duties, and responsibilities in its 
delegation of authority to its directors and executives. Measures have been set for the 
formulation of items related to the executives, major shareholders, and authorized operations 
managers, including persons with conflicting interests. These aforementioned persons will not 
have voting rights in their corresponding authorization items, so that the business operations of 
the Group Company might proceed in a transparent way. 

Furthermore, the board structure of the Company comprises 2 independent directors, who hold rank as the 
Company’s auditors,1 additional independent director, who hold rank as the 
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Company’s chairman and 2 additional independent directors. Furthermore, these independent 
directors were appointed for the purposes of auditing, balanced decision-making, and the 
consideration of various items before their presentation at the shareholders’ meeting, to create 
confidence with the minor shareholders and other stakeholders that the Group Company’s 
management structure contains a balance of power, transparently displays its efficient management 
of operations, and proceeds with all activities and items to the highest benefit of the Group 
Company. 

2.2.4  Financial risk 

2.2.4.1 Risk from interest rate fluctuations 

As the Group Company develops its power plant projects through Project Finance loans 
from commercial banks and various financial institutions, its interest rates depend on the nature 
of the projects. The interest rates are characterized as fixed interest rates and floating interest 
rates, and should these interest rates change significantly, the business, operational results, and 
financial status of the Group Company might be negatively impacted. 

The Group Company has the policy of consistently managing and monitoring interest rate 
trends, and of considering the use of suitable financial instruments to reduce interest rate 
fluctuation risks. For example, SPN made Interest Rate Swap contracts for the majority of its loans 
to reduce its interest rate fluctuation risks. The Khunsight Kundi project made fixed interest rate 
contracts throughout the duration of its loan contracts. Although loan agreements in Japan use 
floating interest rates, currently the levels are close to 0%, and the Company may consider 
entering into Interest Rate Swap contracts as appropriate, should this be judged as beneficial to 
the Company. 

2.2.4.2 Risk from foreign exchange rate fluctuations 

The Group Company has made foreign investments in US dollars and Japanese yen, and 
has made certain equipment purchase investments in foreign currencies. Furthermore, foreign 
investments will receive electricity tariffs in the form of foreign currencies; thus, any significant 
foreign exchange rate fluctuations might impact the group’s operational performance. 

The majority of power purchase agreements, however, while paid in local currency, are 
adjusted according to US dollars. Furthermore, the Group Company has a policy of exchange rate 
risk management by (1) arranging the proportion of long-term loans to be in the same currency as 
that of revenue from its various projects (Natural Hedge) to reduce foreign exchange rate 
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fluctuation risks, and (2) using derivative instruments such as Forward Contracts to hedge against 
exchange rate risks in construction equipment purchases. 

2.2.4.3 Risk from debt service capability 

For the Group Company’s power plant project development, the Group Company’s main 
investment sources comprise Project Finance loans at debt ratios of approximately 70–75% of the 
projects cost and at approximately 80–90% of the project cost for projects in Japan. 

The Group Company is therefore obligated to pay its interest and principal to commercial 
banks as scheduled, and to operate under the financial terms stipulated in its contracts. Should 
the Group Company receive operational results that do not match its financial projections, or 
should it be unable to comply with the terms of these aforementioned contracts, the Group 
Company might be at risk of being unable to pay its interest and principal as scheduled, and might 
be called for an immediate repayment. 

Nevertheless, the renewable energy power generation and distribution business creates 
rather stable operating cash flows, and the Group Company has made long-term financial plans 
while continuously monitoring its own proceedings. This ensures that the Group Company will 
have sufficient cash flows to pay its interest and principal, operate in accordance with the 
stipulated conditions in its loan contracts, and also effectively expand its investments according 
to its set goals. 

2.2.5 Risk from new project investments 

2.2.5.1 Risk from underperforming returns on investment 

the Group Company has continously expanded its power plant investments. Furthermore, 
before entering into investments in any project, the Group Company conducts detailed feasibility 
studies before deciding to invest, of which the important steps are outlined below: 

(1) Select trustworthy business partners who are experienced wth renewable energy power 
plant operations, both domestically and internationally. 

(2) Calculate the return on investment by analyzing a Sensitivity Analysis of the project that 
covers the Worst Case Scenario to study impacts on finance and returns in worst-case 
situations that the Company might face. Furthermore, for project investment assessments, 
the Group Company has calculated the reserve investment (Contingency) funds that the 
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Company estimates will sufficiently cover any additional costs should project development 
costs increase by a certain extent. 

(3) Conduct in due diligenceand investment feasibility in detail, and possibly arrange for 
consultation in various areas (depending on the case), such as: 

(3.1) Technical consultants/engineers, to (1) evaluate sunlight intensity or wind data by 
referring to statstical data, (2) perform feasibility studies, (3) provide technical and 
engineering consultation related to project development, and (4) monitor projec t 
development/construction so that it proceeds as planned. 

(3.2) Legal consultants, to provide advice pertaining to law and the steps involved with 
investment, to inspect land titles, project contracts, and related license documents, 
to provide advice on compliance with relevant laws, and to negotiate additional 
related contracts to the highest benefit of the Group Company and its major 
shareholders. 

(3.3) Other specialized consultants, such as financial, accounting, and tax consultants, 
to create confidence that the Group Company possesses reasonable costs in its 
entries, and correctly and fully operates udner the relevant rules and laws. 

Furthermore, information from the above studies will be presented to the Executive 
Committee and/or to the authorizing authorities for the purpose of consideration prior to 
investment authorization. 

2.2.5.2 Risk from land acquisition for use in renewable energy production and distr ibution 
businesses 

To invest in, develop, and construct renewable energy power plants, the Group Company 
must acquire land to develop its projects. Thus, the Group Company possesses risk regarding 
land acquisition as stipulated by the power purchase agreement, which must be of a size that is 
sufficient with its investment plan, and/or risks involving land acquisition costs, which might be 
higher than anticipated. This would cause delays in the investments of the Group Company, and 
so the Group Company’s power plants might not be able to open for commercial operations within 
the schedules stipulated in the power purchase agreements. 

Nevertheless, the Group Company procures land by selecting knowledgeable and 
competent personnel to acquire and gather land under the criteria established by the Group 
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Company, so that the Company might acquire quality land for its solar power production and 
distribution business activities within the appropriate prices. In this way, the Group Company will 
directly enter into purchasing contracts with the landowner, to ensure that the land prices which 
the Group Company has gained contracts for will have prices appropriate for business operations. 

2.2.5.3 Risk from investing in foreign renewable energy power projects 

the Group Company has the policy of investing in foreign renewable energy power 
proejcts; thus, the Group Company faces risk from changes in the status of the economy, society, 
politics, law, and government sector policies related to the renewable energy power plant 
business in countries that the Group Company might invest in. Furthermore, there are financial 
risks that might negatively impact the operational results of the Group Company, such as risks 
involving inflation, exchange rate limitations, and foreign exchange rate fluctuations. the Group 
Company might also have risks involved with an inability to acquire, as scheduled, personnel 
with the ability to manage foreign projects. 

Nevertheless, the Group Company has performed data and feasibility studies on potential 
investments in many foreign renewable energy power plants to diversify these aforementioned 
risks, and carries out preparations for the management of foreign renewable energy power plant 
projects by hiring consultants throughout the stages of project development. Furthermore, the 
Group Company possesses a policy of acquring and developing personnel to support the 
development of foreign renewable energy power plant projects. 

2.2.6 Risks related to the Company’s ordinary shares 

2.2.6.1 Risk from Thai laws and the Company’s Articles of Association, which limit 
shareholdings by foreign shareholders, for which the above limitation might impact the 
liquidity and market price of the Company’s shares 

The Company’s Articles of Association limit the total ownership of all sold shares of the 
Company to foreign persons at a value of 49.0%. Furthermore, Thai law also limits the foreign 
ownership of shares, under the Foreign Business Act of 1999 (and its additional amendments); 
thus, the liquidity and market price of the ordinary shares might be negatively impacted, and in 
particular when the foreign shareholding reaches the specified ceiling. This might prevent Thai 
shareholders from transferring their own shares to other persons who do not possess Thai 
citizenship. Furthermore, when the shareholders and purchasers who do not have Thai citizenship 
have not realized in advance that their shares would fall under the provisions of foreign 
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shareholding limits, in such a scenario, the shares may or may not be able to be registered on 
behalf of the purchaser, and the registrar may or may not refuse to register the transfer of these 
shares. 

2.2.7 Risk from economic fluctuations caused by the COVID-19 viral outbreak 

Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 virus at the start of 2020, governments in various 
countries have attempted to enforce various measures to reduce the spread of the virus through 
the mandated cessation of retail businesses, restaurants, and various service bus inesses, in 
addition to requests for citizens to self-quarantine at home. These measures have significantly 
impacted the nature of worldwide business operations and consumption, which has caused 
worldwide economic deceleration. Nevertheless, as the main business of the Company is the 
production and distribution of electricity, which as a concession business facilitated through the 
use of power purchase agreements (PPA) with domestic and international government sectors, 
such as the Provincial Electricity Authority, the Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand, the 
National Dispatching Center (NDC), and Vietnam Electricity (EVN), the Company has not been 
directly affected by the spread of the COVID-19 virus. The Company has only been affected 
indirectly in terms of increased operational procedures, and through difficulties in international 
travel between the countries of the officers and the project developers. This has resulted in only 
minimal delays to project development. Aside from this, the Company’s management continues 
to closely monitor the progress of the COVID-19 situation to confirm that the Company can 
immediately change its operational procedures, and has considered the impact of the COVID-19 
situation on its financial statement. Thus, the Company has reviewed the value of its assets and 
estimated liabilities that may have changed significantly due to the COVID-19 situation. 
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3. Sustainability 

Driving a Sustainable Business 
Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited and the group of companies that Sermsang 

Power Corporation Public Company Limited holds the shares have a determination to engage in the sustainable 
future development by operate the business with the responsibility towards economic, environmental, and 
social wises as well as the good corporate governance. The Company group intends to be a part in responding 
to the world’s Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) by implementing the criteria of the organization’s 
sustainability assessment which covers economic, environmental, and social dimensions, as well as paying 
attention towards the satisfaction of needs and expectations of the stakeholders. The Company, thereby, 
realizes that there will be an opportunity for the improvement of work processes together with the business 
operation which covers every dimension of sustainability concerns and corresponds with the goal and 
international sustainability operating approach.  

The Company group operates the work towards sustainability at the policy level in which the Board of 
Directors considers carrying out approaches, policies, strategies, and business operation frameworks in 
respect of sustainability, which cover the aspects of economy, social, environment, and governance. The 
foregoing operation approach is implemented in order to allow the Company to set up a standardized 
organizational regulation with decent approaches in compliance with its objective to be the organization which 
aims to build trust and sustainability to every group of stakeholders as well as both internal and external relevant 
agency units up to international standard. Subsequently, in the management level, there is a group of 
committees in charge of the corporate sustainability management, operating the work in accordance with the 
policy and goal set up from the policy level as well as assessing and reporting the operation progress. 

Sustainability Policy and Targets 
Nevertheless, for the Company group to accomplish their goal in sustainably operate the business, in 

2 0 2 1 , they had an arrangement and analysis of key sustainability concerns in relation to business operation 
through the selection process of key concerns from the needs and expectations of each group of stakeholders 
together with the key concerns that affect the Company group according to their data of business operation 
related to sustainability through internal data analysis e.g. sustainability concerns from the operating model and 
direction of the Company group, and through external data analysis e.g. sustainability concerns of companies 
in the renewable energy industry, sustainability trends in Thailand and abroad, and sustainability concerns from 
the reporting guidelines of the Collaborative Organization on Sustainability Reporting Standard Edition (GRI 
Standards); as well as Sustainable Development Goals of the United Nations (SDGs). The Company group 
implemented the foregoing sustainability concerns to formulate strategies, policies, and procedures in 
responding to the key sustainability concerns of the Company group. 

3. Sustainability
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 The materiality topics regarding sustainability of the Company are divided into 3 dimensions 

Economic Dimension 
• Direct economic value generated and distributed 
• Indirect economic impacts 
• Anti-Corruption 

 
Environmental Dimension 

• Energy Management  
• Water Management  
• Biodiversity  
• Greenhouse Gas Management  
• Waste Management  
• Selection of Suppliers Based on Environmental Criteria 

Social Dimension 
• Recruitment 
• Occupational health and Safety   
• Human resources training 
• Nondiscrimination 
• Community Engagement 
• Selection of Suppliers Based on Social Criteria 
• Customer Privacy  

 
In addition, the Company correspond to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) relevant to the 

business operations as follows  
• SDG 3 Good Health and Well-Being  
• SDG 4 Quality Education 
• SDG 5 Gender Equality  
• SDG 6 Clean Water and Sanitation 
• SDG 7 Affordable and Clean Energy 
• SDG 8 Decent Work and Economic Growth 
• SDG 11 Sustainable Cities and Communities 
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• SDG 12 Responsible Consumption and Production 
• SDG 13 Climate Action 
• SDG 15 Life on Land 
• SDG 16 Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions 

Stakeholder Impact Management Throughout the Value Chain 
Business Value Chain  

Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited operates its business by holding shares of other 
companies (Holding Company), whose business is the production and distribution of the electricity generated 
from the renewable energy, serving those electricity providers both in Thailand and overseas as well as 
manufactures that consume loads of electricity. According to the Chain Value, it reflects the operation and 
stakeholders who involve in such operation of the organization by which the Company group recognizes the 
group of stakeholders affected by the business operation as well as the suitability management towards the 
activities throughout the business Value Chain. 
Process of electricity production and distribution business  

1. Project Planning 
2. Manufacturing 
3. Installation  
4. Grid Connection 
5. Operation and Maintenance 
6. Decommissioning 

Stakeholder Analysis  
Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited recognizes the importance of building 

cooperation with stakeholders for the effective performance as to which all parties are provided with the 
maximum benefit. The Company thereby respects the rights of the stakeholders, treats them fairly and equally, 
and operates the business with transparency in compliance with the moral ethics respecting the vision of the 
Company. 

The Company adopts an international standard, AA1000 Stakeholder Engagement Standard 
(AA1000SES), as a standard used to identify the stakeholders, by having Value Chain Relationship analysis 
together with stakeholders’ demand and expectation analysis as well as the assessment and prioritization using 
criteria from the impact and influence from the stakeholders on the operations of the Company. 

The Company classifies the stakeholders into 7 major groups including customers, personnel, 
shareholders and investors, partners, supervisory units, communities around the factory, and society, to which 
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the process and frequency of bonding as well as the operation to meet their needs and expectations are 
different 

Environmental Management 

 The Company group has implemented environmental protection policies to ensure the safety of the 
environment and reduce the impacts on the environment in all business processes and set the following 
guidelines: 

- Surveying the area together with people in the community to evaluate the impact on the environment 
and prepare an initial environmental impact report (IEE Report) to be used in the assessment before 
commencing the construction of the project. 

- Establishing clear planning and implementation of operating systems and ensuring that they are in line 
with external agencies to reduce the impact on the environment and the community both directly and 
indirectly. 

- Setting standards for the disposal of hazardous waste such as solar panels, broken or expired 
equipment. In this regard, the site and disposal methods are chosen according to the standards and 
regulations required by the law. 

- Adopting systematic environmental management, follow-up process for evaluation, and reviewing 
process for continuous improvement. 

The scope sustainability performance in environmental dimension data which include energy, greenhouse gas 
emissions, water management, and waste management covering a group of subsidiaries located in Thailand, 
namely:  

Solar Farm Business 
- Sermsang Power Limited (SPN)  
- Sermsang Solar Limited (SS)  
- Surge Energy Corporation Limited 2 ("SEG") 
- Tenunn Gerel Construction LLC6 ("TGC") 

Solar Rooftop Business 
- Sermsang Infinite Limited (SN) 

Climate Change and Air Pollution Management 
In the wake of extreme climate change and its effects across the globe, SSP realizes its impact on the 

company as well. Therefore, we strive to conduct business in a way that is environmentally friendly through the 
production and distribution of renewable energy to promote the use of clean energy and lower the impact on 
the environment. Assuming the responsibility of taking care of society and the environment, we have embedded 



Annual Registration Statement 2022 (Form 56-1 One Report 2022) 117 

                                                              Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited 

   
Form 56-1-2022: Sustainability                                                                                                                                                 Section 3 Page 5 

sustainability into management. Various initiatives to reduce resource consumption, improve energy efficiency, 
assess risk, and lower the impact on the environment toward the sustainable energy business of the future have 
thus been pursued.  

Greenhouse gas emissions SPN SS SN 
Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) (305-1) 
(unit: tons of carbon dioxide equivalent) 
Employee travel - - 5.55 

Total Scope 1 = 5.55 tons CO2e 
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions from energy use (Scope 2) (305-2) 
(unit: tons of carbon dioxide equivalent) 
Electricity consumption 355.57 - 13.04 

Total Scope 2 = 368.61tons CO2e 
Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 3) (305-3) 
(unit: tons of carbon dioxide equivalent) 
Third-party water 0.29 - 0.8 
General waste 1.26 0.17 - 

Total Scope 3 = 3.21 tons CO2e 

 
As shown in the table showing the performance by the subsidiary SS Company, there is no greenhouse gas 
emission from the use of groundwater, unlike the use of third-party water. Nevertheless, the Company has 
been cautious in sharing the resources with the community and has laid out guidelines to comply with 
regulations and laws. 

 In addition, 116.06 tons of greenhouse gas emissions from hazardous waste from solar panels are not 
included in the calculation. As it is in the process of being audited and disposed of according to standards and 
regulations, there is no disposal of such waste. However, the Company has established guidelines for proper 
waste storage so as not to disturb or affect the operation. 

 Due to our commitment to improving operational efficiency, we have always aspired to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions and improve operational processes, such as installing solar panels with a higher 
capacity per installation area and using LED lightbulbs in the office to increase energy efficiency and reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions. 
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Direct greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (tons of carbon dioxide equivalent)  5.55 

Amount of indirect GHG emissions (tons of carbon dioxide equivalent)  368.61 

Other indirect GHG emissions (tons of carbon dioxide equivalent)   3.21 

Direct and indirect GHG emissions from electricity generation 

(tons of carbon dioxide equivalent)       374.13 

Amount of electrical energy sold (megawatt-hour)     255,384 

GHG emissions per unit of electricity sold (305-4) 

(tons of carbon dioxide equivalent)       0.00146 

Water Management 
The business of producing and distributing electricity generated from renewable energy is an industry 

that uses a modest amount of water in the process. Yet, we commit ourselves to social responsibility and 
acknowledge the importance of stewarding it as a shared resource. To achieve this, a water use management 
system for maximum efficiency is established. In addition, the operation has always been in compliance with 
applicable water management regulations and laws in order to minimize the impact of water shortage problems 
as much as possible. 

To effectively manage the resource, 5 3 2  m3  and 1 5 6  m3  of water supply from the Provincial 
Waterworks Authority were used by SPN and SN for all operations and cleaning processes of solar panels, 
respectively. SS and TGC treated groundwater before using it in the process of their operation. Strictly following 
the regulations and laws, we notified the monthly amount of pumping water to Department of Water Resources.  
In 2022, a total of 1277.5 m3 and 126.81 m3 of groundwater were pumped, respectively. We have set up a 
wastewater treatment system and closely monitored and evaluated the operation. As our treatment practice is 
in line with the standard, the wastewater discharged by the company in 2022 did not violate the parameters or 
legal requirements. 

 Our target to improve and develop the utmost effectiveness of the water resource 
management by 2 0 2 4  includes water treatment, in-depth information collection, and the adoption of the 3 Rs 
Principles - Reduce, Reuse and Recycle to manage the resource. Other program includes optimizing resource 
utilization through the analysis of water consumption per unit of electricity generated in the production process 
(m3/MWh). 
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Waste Management 
 The Company is committed to improving the operation to effectively manage the waste and maximize 
the resources by reducing the generation of waste that is disposed of by incineration or landfill. A juristic person 
with expertise is hired to manage hazardous waste from projects such as damaged, depreciated, or expired 
solar panels, equipment, and containers. Each project has a designated storage area for hazardous waste so 
that the authorized and registered legal entity can properly dispose of it as required by law. Several activities 
to promote the reduction of environmental impact were organized, such as the Zero Waste Day Campaign to 
reduce the single use of plastic, sorting waste, donating solar panels to communities, etc. Internal and external 
stakeholders have also been encouraged to recognize the importance of waste treatment and recycle or reuse 
to reduce the impact on the environment and the community. 

Performance 
- Non-hazardous waste = 1.8 tons 
- Hazardous waste = 116.06 tons 

 Of the total 272.49 tons of hazardous waste that was not disposed of, were stored solar panels awaiting 
disposal because the company was under review by the Board of Investment (BOI) to obtain permission to 
dispose of industrial waste according to the standard procedure. Solar power generation requires the use of 
solar panels, which are classified as industrial hazardous wastes according to their industry hazardous waste 
type. The hazardous wastes are generated from lower-standard solar panels that are expired, deteriorated, and 
degraded, as well as damaged panels due to an accident, such as stones or ball bearings falling onto them, 
etc. 

Biodiversity 
As biodiversity lies at the heart of the Company, we are well aware that the impacts from operations 

may affect the ecosystem and environment. Even though it is not mandatory for the solar power plant projects 
in Thailand to prepare an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), the Company has rigorously spelled out 
guidelines and environmental practices that are required by law. 

 Solar power plants in foreign countries strictly follow the relevant regulations and laws of each country. 
They must conduct studies and operate in compliance with measures related to the EIA. For example, in the 
implementation of a project in Japan, there are measures that must be taken before the project can be 
established. A survey as well as an assessment of the abundance of ecosystems and environmental impacts 
in that area have to be carried out. In the case of the construction of a mountain pass that will affect the number 
and species of insects and flowers in that area, the assessment of species and density must be performed 
every quarter and season to ensure that the project will not affect them throughout the project period. If rare 
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creatures or near extinction are found, relocation of the species must be conducted to reduce the impact and 
maintain the balance of the ecosystem. And if those rare or near extinction species cannot be relocated, the 
project will not be implemented. 

Selection of Suppliers Based on Environmental and Social Criteria 

Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited embraces the great importance of selecting 
partners to raise the standard of suppliers, reduce risks in work processes that affect the environment, and 
address social issues. As a consequence, the Company highlights the development of "supplier" groups to 
grow sustainably together with us. We are very discerning in selecting suppliers who are required to meet the 
legal criteria — both environmental and social criteria — to achieve the highest operational efficiency and be 
able to fairly and appropriately respond to stakeholders. 

Recognizing that the suppliers that work together are important stakeholders who contribute to the 
sustainability of the business value chain, SSP has thus specified the operation guidelines to continuously 
demonstrate our transparent conduct and demonstrated good business ethics. The directives of executives, 
procurement departments, and related officers with regard to the procurement process have been spelled out 
in a systematic, transparent, verifiable, and efficient manner. Also, as the environmental and social aspects are 
taken into account, we have established standardized criteria for selection, assessment, monitoring, and 
control. 

Operational goals 

• Conduct business with respect for human rights with no impact on the environment and society 

Indicator 

• In the event of the selection of vendors or contractors when the purchase amount exceeds 500,000 
baht for the first time, an assessment against environmental and social performance must be carried 
out. Suppliers are required to pass the selection criteria in order to be able to be place on orders or 
be hired. After the completion of the process, they shall be re-evaluated. If they fail to meet the criteria, 
they shall be excluded from the vendor list (announced and effective September 1, 2022). 

Performance 

Selection of suppliers based on environmental criteria 
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In 2022, Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited selected suppliers according to legal 
requirement. All suppliers passed the environmental assessment criteria. Furthermore, suppliers who promote 
the use of environmentally friendly materials in all work processes were also selected. 

The table shows the number of new suppliers meeting the environmental criteria  

Number of suppliers (per year) 
New suppliers undergoing environmental assessment 2020 2021 2022 

0 0 0 
The table shows the number of suppliers rendering negative environmental impacts in the supply chain and 
operations   

Number of suppliers assessed for 
environmental impact 

Number of suppliers (per year) 
2020 2021 2022 

0 0 0 
Number of suppliers identified as having 
significant actual and potential negative 
environmental impacts 

0 0 0 

Selection of suppliers based on social criteria 

In 2022, Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited selected a supplier according to legal 
requirements. All suppliers passed the social assessment criteria, and no suppliers conducted illegal 
employment such as use of child labor, etc. 

The table shows the number of new suppliers based on social criteria.  

Number of suppliers (per year) 
New suppliers undergoing social assessment 2020 2021 2022 

0 0 0 

The table shows the number of suppliers rendering negative impact on social aspects in the supply chain and 
operation  

Number of suppliers assessed on the 
impact on society 

Number of trader (per year) 
2020 2021 2022 

0 0 0 
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Number of suppliers identified as having 
significant actual and potential negative 
social impacts 

0 0 0 

Sustainability in the Social Dimension 

Employee Wellness and Development  

Employees are the key factor and force that drive the organization towards success. Under the 
human resource management policy, SSP realizes and attaches weight to the fact that all employees shall be 
equally and fairly entitled to basic rights in accordance with relevant labor laws. We are committed to 
continuously taking care of our employees and improving our employee development program. Furthermore, 
the quality of life and a safe environment, in addition to the physical and mental well-being of employees, are 
of paramount importance so as to foster their bond and create a sense of belonging in the organization 
among them so that they are ready to grow sustainably together. 

 Operational guidelines 

 “SSP places importance on human resource staffing and management. We provide equal 
employment opportunities without discrimination to comply with human rights principles.  Personal information 
collection is also implemented according to the PDPA Policy.” 

- Strictly operate according to the policy and guidelines for employees of SSP along with compliance 
with laws and regulations related to employees. 

- Listen to suggestions and complaints from employees to make improvements and corrections. 
- Allocate appropriate welfare to employees on the basis of equality without discrimination. 
- Provide fair compensation to employees. 
- Be transparent in the operation of all human resource management processes. 

Employee benefits and welfare  
 Suitable welfare allocation for employees is of great importance for SSP because we believe that 

welfare arrangements have a prominent role on the quality of work and employee satisfaction. In addition to 
reducing exhaustion among them, it is a way to reward the dedication of employees, which in turn drives the 
growth of the organization. SSP has allocated welfare and compensation in various forms that are suitable for 
employees from the start of their work until their retirement to enable them to work with full efficiency. In addition, 
employees’ opinions and useful recommendations are welcome to improve the work and better respond to their 
needs. 
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Human resources training  
 SSP places great importance on continuously developing employees' knowledge and competency. An 
improvement in the competence of employees will help them promptly cope with business competition and the 
rapid changes in society. SSP lays out a policy of personnel development that offers the opportunity for all 
employees at all levels to sharpen their skills according to their line of work. They are also given opportunities 
to learn other lines of work of their choice. A good working and learning experience for employees at all levels 
has always been supported, right from the beginning of the work and during the team collaboration to achieve 
continuous improvement. 

 In 2 0 2 2 , SSP created an individual development plan for employees at each level to develop their 
potential and capabilities in various fields. Additionally, the performance evaluation of employees was 
conducted. Employees received 1 0 0  percent evaluation as specified by the goals of SSP. The expense of 
training and developing personnel was 2 2 1 ,4 08 .6 4  Baht. The average number of training and development 
hours was 10.45 hours: 10.52 hours for female employees and 10.05 hours for male employees. According to 
the training plan of the SSP Group, fair and equal opportunities for employees at all levels are promoted. 
Discrimination based on gender, age, or level will not be tolerated. All new employees will attend the orientation 
program designed to help them quickly adapt and ensure they are ready to work in an efficient manner. 

Occupational Health and Safety 
SSP puts a strong emphasis on safety, occupational health and good working environment of 

employees who are invaluable human capital, a vital force for the company. In addition, the visitors and those 
working at our premises have as well been given utmost care. We have specified measures to control, supervise 
and manage occupational health and safety in accordance with laws and regulations and other international 
related standards.  Those activities aim to ensure that employees are safe at work. The Occupational Health 
and Safety Committee is appointed to represent the management and employees. In addition to their 
responsibilities for managing operations in accordance with safety standards, they discuss, review and analyze 
the performance report. An operational risk is assessed in every step of the operation to reduce and control 
risks that may occur during work both at and outside the premises. There is also a plan to prevent accidents, 
identify initial risk on a regular basis to improve safety procedures.  

SSP has arranged for an annual physical examination, health insurance, life insurance, and accident 
insurance. Public relations materials on a health care campaign for employees have been produced to raise 
employees' awareness of the importance of health care and safety at work.  

Owing to the spread of COVID-19, SSP performed a preliminary screen using an ATK test. Employees 
and visitors also had their body temperatures checked before entering and exiting the site and plant.  
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     Due to our focus on preventing accidents that may occur, the SSP Group has set a target of "zero 
accidents." Trainings on safety and occupational health have been provided to employees and contractors in 
identifying hazards and assessing risks from work in every activity. A safety culture has been cultivated 
among employees and contractors. In the meantime, any activity without safety control measures or safety 
devices will be prohibited. In 2022, the plans and occupational health and safety trainings of the Group of 
Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited were as follows: 

1. Solar rooftop design and installation 
2. Electrical Installation Standard for Thailand 
3. Safety training for working at heights 
4. First aid and venomous snake bites treatment 
5. Emergency Operations Team Training 
6. Emergency evacuation 
7. Firefighting and fire escape training 

Performance 
 SSP has followed up on and evaluated the work-related injury fatalities, work-related injuries, high-
consequence work-related injuries, work-related ill health, work -related ill health fatalities, and occupational 
illness of employees and contractors. Zero cases were reported, which is in accordance with the goals set by 
the organization.  

Nondiscrimination 
SSP has always placed precedence on employees, as they are a vital cog that drives the company 

forward. We have specified a policy of non-discrimination for all working processes. All employees shall work 
in an environment where respect for each other exists. We promote equality for employees at all levels 
according to human rights principles, with no discrimination against employees and no special treatment for 
any individual person. 

We realize the significance of each step of human resource management, starting with the recruitment 
and selection process, which creates security for the employees. The recruitment and selection criteria 
promoting equality have been specified in order to allow equal opportunity in employment. Doing so enables 
SSP to acquire personnel suitable for the position based on skills and knowledge. In the selection process, we 
consider the skills, knowledge, and competence of each candidate and continuously organize a series of 
trainings for employees without discrimination against race, religion, skin color, gender, etc. Career 
advancement as well as fair remuneration and welfare are determined. Moreover, SSP welcomes both positive 
and negative opinions from employees.  
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Performance 
- As a consequence of our firm adherence to human rights and our practice of equality throughout the 

value chain, no incident related to discrimination was reported. 

Community Engagement and Social Development 
Guided by morality and ethics principles, SSP realizes that it is important for the business to contribute 

to the health of the economy, society, and environment. We are aware of the impact of the business, which can 
both favorably and adversely affect the community. Favorable relationships with the community and community 
engagement have thus been given top priority, which will assist in streamlining the operation. Moreover, amidst 
the spread of COVID-1 9  affecting the stakeholders, SSP has always sought solutions and prepared to cope 
with various situations in order to prevent the disease and assist the communities. We are ready to fully 
cooperate with the government and stakeholder groups in supporting surrounding communities and local 
communities to grow together in a sustainable manner.  

Operational guidelines 
The SSP Group affirms an absolute goal to move forward with sustainable community development 

through fostering relationships and promoting engagement with the communities as well as stakeholders. 
Besides, SSP is open to opinions and suggestions, both positive and negative, to develop and improve the 
business operations of SSP to be more efficient. The community relations goal of SSP by 2024 is zero incidents 
or complaints from the relevant community. Various social activities addressing the needs of the community on 
a continuous basis have been carried out to improve the wellbeing of the community as well as promoting the 
safety. A satisfaction survey of the community is conducted once a year. Also, there is a channel to receive 
complaints directly from the community in order to conveniently and immediately solve problems that arise from 
the complaints. We strive to lessen the impact and its degree on the communities while strengthening good 
relations with them that will lead to the joyful coexistence and co-prosperity of both the community and the 
company. 

In 2022, SSP donated money and financially supported public programs as follows:  

• Donated money to support schools in the community to organize activities on Children's Day for the schools. 
• Offered Royal Kathina Robes from the Ministry of Industry at Thong Noppakhun Temple, Khlong San 

Subdistrict, Khlong San District, Bangkok on October 28, 2022 and granted scholarships to two schools: Wat 
Thong Noppakhun School and Phrapariyatthamma Wat Thong Noppakhun School. 

• Sponsored a charity golf tournament. The 2022 annual golf tournament was held on Saturday, March 19, 
2022 at Narai Hill Golf Resort and Country Club, Lopburi Province. A friendly tournament aimed at fostering 
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relationships with the Provincial Electricity Authority and related agencies, along with raising funds to 
support public programs for  society and communities, including the activities of the golf club.  

Customer Privacy 
Since the operations of Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited involve both domestic 

and foreign investment, information technology systems have thus played a prominent role in conducting the 
business. It is also one of the important infrastructures for increasing the efficiency of SSP's operations. SSP 
has consequently upheld business ethics and obeyed the applicable law. Above all, the privacy of personal 
information has been protected to the best of our ability as we have adhered to the Personal Data Protection 
Act B.E. 2019 of Kingdom of Thailand. The enactment of this Act is consistent with the conditions provided in 
Article 26 of the Constitution of the Kingdom of Thailand. 

 Respecting the privacy rights and the security of personal data, SSP has formulated a policy to 
protect personal information and publicize the need for security in transactions and the collection of customer 
personal information. Regulations and rules for the operation to build customer confidence have been put in 
place. We ensure that, through the established information technology system security measures, personal 
information will not leak and information theft allowing information to be disclosed to the public will not occur. 

Performance 
- Total number of customer data leaked/stolen or lost = 0 

 
For additional information, refer to the 2022 Sustainability Report at www.sermsang.com  
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Significant event in 2022  

1. Full period revenue reconigzation from Leo1 (Solar power plant) project in Japan, PPAe of 20.0 
MW, COD in July 2021.  

2. Full period revenue reconigzation from TTTV (Wind power plant) project in Vetnam, PPAe of 38.4 
MW, COD in late of October 2021.  

3. There was excercising SSP Warrant 1 (SSP-W1) In February 2022 amounting to 35 million units, 
which led Company to received cash for capital 417 million Baht (In 2021, there was excercising 
SSP Warrant 1 (SSP-W1) amounting to 37 million units, 448 million Baht) The Company received a 
total cash from excercising SSP Warrant 1 (SSP – W1) totalling 865 million Baht  

4. In March 2022, The Company invested in 25% shares of Romklao wind farm (Winchai), Wind power 
plant in Mukdahan, Thailand, PPAe of 45.0 MW. 

5. In June 2022, the Company divested Hidaka project (Solar power plant), PPAe of 14.8 MW. 
6. In September 2022, TRIS Rating upgraded the SSP’s rating to “BBB+” from “BBB”, with “stable”. 

The rating upgrade reflected a significant improvement in SSP’s financial profile. 
7. In December 2022, International Finance Corporation and Siam Commercial Bank Public Company 

Limited approved the credit facilities to the Company with a total of 2,200 million Baht for 
restructuring the Group’s current facilities and for future investment. 

The analysis on the operating results and financial status of the Company within the duration of the 
previous 3 years is based on the consolidated financial statements of the Company, for the fiscal years ending 
on December 31, in 2020, 2021, and 2022.  

4.1 Performance overview 

Operating results in 2021: The Company exhibited continuous growth from the years earlier. The 
operating results for 2019-2021, ended on December 31, 2019-2022, are shown in the following table: 

Consolidated financial statements  
(Units: million baht) 2019 2019 

(Restated) 2020 2022 

Total revenue 1,935.5 2,241.6 2,698.2 3,520.2 
Net profit 765.4 824.1 929.5 1,340.5 
Net profit (to SSP's Shareholders) 736.3 736.3 859.0 1,301.8 
Core Operating Profit 696.2 696.2 846.7 1,019.5 
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For the fiscal years ending on December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, the Company had total revenues 
to 1,935.5 million baht, 2,698.2 million baht and 3,520.2 million baht, respectively. The revenue growth at 30.3% 
and 39.4%, respectively, which resulted from the Company’s continual opening of new commercial power 
plants. For example, In 2020, the new projects included the Yamaga project in Japan, and 3 newly Solar Rooftop 
projects, which were the SNNP4, PRC, and TAPACO projects. In 2021, the new projects included the Leo 
project in Japan, wind project in Vietnam, Solar rooftop in Indonesia and biomass project in Thailand. In 2022, 
The Company invested in 25% shares of Romklao wind farm. 

For net profit, the Company had a net profit of 765.4 million baht, 929.5 million baht, and 1,340.5 million 
baht in 2020, 2021, and 2022, respectively. The net profit margins were at 39 . 5 %, 34 . 4 %, and 37 . 6 %, 
respectively, which proceeded according to growing revenue, and as for the net profit (equity holders of the 
Company), consistent growth was also observed, at net profits (equity holders of the Company) of 736.3 million 
baht, 859.0 million baht, and 1,301.8 million baht, in 2020, 2021, and 2022, respectively.  

Core Operating Profit was 696.2 million baht, 846.7 million baht, and 1,019.6 million baht in 2020, 
2021 and 2022, respectively. Core Operating Profit is the key performance indicator of management and 
board of directors to evaluate the company’s financial results, and consider, together with dividend policy, for 
the payment of dividend. The adjustment items (from net profit to core operating profit) for 2020, 2021 and 
2022, Deducted unrealized foreign exchange gain from loan from subordinaries, total 40.1 million, 21.0 million 
Baht and 40.5 million Baht repectively. the Company divested Hidaka project at 2,800 million JPY, which led 
to gain from disposal at 348.4 million Baht, including deferred tax expense of Hidaka project at 8.5 million 
Baht, and add back from restructuring financial agreement Winchai project of 7.6 million Baht and Others add 
back totalling 26.5 million Baht. 

Consolidated financial statements (Units: million 
baht) 

2020 
(Restated) 2021 2022 

Total assets 16,925.4 24,063.3  21,292.0 
Total liabilities 12,121.0 17,689.1  13,015.0  
Total equity 4,804.4 6,374.2  8,277.0 
Total Equity (To SSP's shareholders) 4,205.1 5,884.1  7,775.7  

 

As of December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, the Company possessed total assets of 16,925.4 million baht, 
24,063.3 million baht, and 21,292.0 million baht, respectively, total liabilities of 12,121.0 million baht, 17,689.1 
million baht and 13,013.4 million baht, respectively, and Company's equity (Excluding non controlling interests 
of subsidiaries) totaling 4,205.1 million baht, 5,884.1 million baht and 7,775.7 million baht, respectively. 
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4.2 Operating results analysis 

Revenue 

For the fiscal years ending on December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, the Company revenue from sales 
and service was 2,159.4 million baht, 2,579.1 million baht, and 3,117.4 million baht, respectively. For in the year 
2 0 2 2 electricity sale was increased, compared to the same period of the previous year, mainly due to the full-
year revenue recognition of Leo1 projects in Japan, TTTV project in Vietnam and the Solar Rooftop Projects in 
Indonesia. 

Revenue Structure 

Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the fiscal years ending on 31 December 

2020 
(Restated) 2021 2022 

Amount 
(Million baht) % Amount 

(Million baht) % Amount 
(Million baht) % 

  Sale revenue from solar 1,809.9 83.8% 2,110.0 81.2% 2,194.4 70.4% 
  Sale revenue from wind - - 117.7 4.5% 508.2 16.3% 

  Sale revenue from biomass 306.0 14.2% 304.0 11.7% 302.8 9.7% 
  Sale revenue from solar rooftop 25.6 1.2% 47.4 1.8% 81.3 2.6% 

Total revenue from sales 2,141.4 99.2% 2,579.1 99.3% 3,086.6 99.0% 
Total revenue from service 18.0 0.8% 18.0 0.7% 30.8 1.0% 

Total revenue from sales and service 2,159.4 100.0% 2,597.1 100.0% 3,117.4 100.0% 

The revenue from sales and service in 2020, 2021 and 2022 was at 2,159.4 million baht, 2,597.1 million 
baht, and 3,117.4 million baht, respectively, and was derived from electricity sales by 99.2%, 99.3%, and 99.0% 
in 2020, 2021 and 2022, respectively.  

Administrative expenses 

For the fiscal years ending on December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, the Company had administrative 
expenses at 196.5 million baht, 243.5 million baht, and 320.7 million baht, respectively. General and 
administrative expenses (G&A expenses) increased because of new project, property tax expense and one-
time expenses. The one-time expenses were including, cost of restructure financial agreements with IFC and 
SCB, which would reduce the interest expenses and enhance capital expenditure for future investment, 
unrealized loss from foreign exchange and wriite-off development project. In Quarter 4 2022, G&A expenses 
was 92.2 million Baht. For 12-month period of 2022, the G&A expenses increased to 320.7 million Baht, or G&A 
expenses was 249.3 million Baht after one-time expenses adjustment, G&A expenses compared to the revenue 
from sale was 8.0% decrease from 9.4% in 2021.  
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In 2021, general administrative expenses increased from 193.5 million baht to 243.5 million baht, 
which increased by 24.0% when compared to the previous year. This was due to the commencement of new 
project commercial operations and property tax form new COD project.  

Administrative expenses 
(Units: million baht) 

Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the fiscal years ending on 31 December 

2020 
(Restated) 

2021 2022 

General administrative 
expenses 

196.5 243.5 320.7 

% Of total revenue 8.8 9.4 10.3 
 

Financial Cost  

For the fiscal years ending on December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, the Company had financial 
expenses was at 313.7 million baht, 356.3 million baht and 561.3 million baht, respectively.In 2022, finance cost 
increase due to the recognition of interest expenses of TTTV, cost of restructure financial agreement SPN project 
amounted to 16.1 million Baht, considering as one-time expense.  In addition, the Financial Cost was also 
included full period financial expenses from the solar power plant project in Vietnam, Project Leo 1 in Japan 
and the interest expenses recognition from the Vietnam wind power project in the Quarter 4. Further more, there 
were one-time expenses from restructuring of loan agreement of SPN project. These factors led the finance 
cost to 561.3 million Baht in the year 2022, increasing by 57.7% from 2021   

Financial expenses 

Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the fiscal years ending on 31 December 

2020 
(Restated) 2021 2022 

Amount 
(million baht) % 

Amount 
(million baht) 

Financial expenses 313.7 356.3 561.3 
% of total revenue 14.0 13.2 13.2 

  

Net profit (loss) (to SSP's shareholders) 

For the fiscal years ending on December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, net profit (to SSP's shareholders) 
was 736.3 million baht, 859.0 million baht and 1,301.8 million baht, respectively. The net profit margin was 
38.0%, 31.8% and 36.5%, respectively. In 2021, net profit (to SSP's shareholders) was 859.0 million baht, or 
increasing 16.7% from the previous year mainly from new project. For 12-month period of 2022, net profit (to 
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SSP’s shareholders) increased by 51.5% from 859.0 million Baht to 1,301.8 million Baht contributed by revenue 
recognition from the start of commercial operation of new project, recognition from share of profit from 
subsidiaries and associate (Winchai project) and gain from disposal of Hidaka project. 

 Core Operating Profit 

Core Operating Profit is the key performance indicator of management and board of directors to 
evaluate the company’s financial results, and consider, together with dividend policy, for the payment of 
dividend. 

In the consideration of Core Operating Profit, this index was calculated from adjustments made to the 
net profit (for the portions belonging to Company shareholders' equity) as follows: 

Core Operating Profit 
(Units: million baht) 

Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the fiscal years ending on 31 December 

2020 2021 2022 

Net Profis (to SSP's shareholders) 736.3 859.0 1,301.8 
Add: losses (deducted profits) from unrealize 
foreign exchange (39.9) (21.0) 40.5 

Add: gain from disposal - - (348.4) 
Add: deferred tax - - (8.5) 
Add: restructure financial agreement 
Windchai project - - 7.6 

Other (0.2) 8.7 26.5 
Core Operating Profit 696.2 846.7 1,019.5 

 

For the fiscal years ending on December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, the Company had core operating 
profits of 696.2 million baht, 846.7 million baht and 1,019.5 million baht, respectively. Core operating profit 
margins was at 36.0%, 32.6%, and 32.7%, respectively. In 2021, core operating project increased from 696.2 
million baht to 846.7 million baht, or increasing 21.6% resulted from new project. For 12-month period of 2022, 
Core Operating Profit increased from 846.7 million Baht to 1,019.5 million Baht, increased by 20.4% from the 
same period last year 
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4.3  Financial status analysis 

Assets 

As of December 3 1 , 2 0 20, 2 0 21 and 2 0 2 2, the Company has total assets of 1 6,925.4 million baht, 
24,063.3 million baht, and 21,292.0 million baht, respectively. The increase of the assets reflects the additional 
investment in several projects. 

The majority of assets are related to electricity generation, such as land, land improvements, power 
plants, machinery, equipment and spare parts, and so forth. As of December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022.  Land, 
property plant and equipment accounted for 66.5%, 64.5% and 62.2% of total assets respectively. 

Statement of Financial Position 

Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the fiscal years ending on 31 December  

2020 2021 2022 
Million baht % Million baht % Million baht % 

Assets             
Current assets             
Cash and cash equivalents 1,387.6 8.2 3,579.7 14.9 3,227.5 15.2 
Short-term restricted bank deposits 199.4 1.2 251.5 1.0 153.9 0.7 
Trade and other receivables 478.9 2.8 703.8 2.9 711.6 3.3 
Unbilled Receivables 0.9  0.0   6.1  0.0   3.4  0.0   
Inventory 5.1 0.0   7.6 0.0   19.5 0.1   
Revenue Department receivable 208.0 1.2 214.4 0.9 0.1 0.0 
Short-term loans to related parties 9.0 0.1 10.0 0.0 66.6 0.3 
Other current financial assets 5.3 0.0 2.0 0.0 3.4 0.0 
Other current assets 10.7  0.1  151.6  0.6  83.3  0.4  
Total current assets 2,304.8  13.6 4,926.6  20.5  4,269.4  20.1  
Non-current assets       
Long-term restricted bank deposits  719.8 4.3  1,018.2  4.2  424.0  2.0 
Revenue Department receivables  53.4 0.3  71.7  0.3  75.0  0.4 
Long-term investments  -    -  -    -  -    - 
Other non-current financial assets 32.1 0.2 32.1 0.1 250.6 1.2 
Property, plant and equipment 11,249.0  66.5 15,522.4   64.5  13,249.2   62.2  
Other intangible assets  1,048.3  6.2  1,232.5   5.1   970.2   4.6  
Rights-of-use assets  766.5  4.5   724.2   3.0   762.8   3.6  
Prepaid rental   -     -     -     -     -     -    
Deferred tax assets  5.5  0.0   3.9   0.0   0.7   0.0  
Other non-current assets  746.1  4.4  531.8   2.2   470.4   2.2  
Total non-current assets 14,620.6  86.4 19,136.7   79.5  17,022.7   79.9  
Total assets 16,925.4 100.0 24.063.3 100.0 21,292.0 100.0 
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Cash and cash equivalents 

As of December 31 , 2020 , 2021  and 2022 , the Company had cash and cash equivalents equal to 
1,364.3 million baht, 3,579.7 million baht and 3,227.5 million baht, respectively. 

 

Property, plant, and equipment 

As of December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, the Company possesses property, plant and equipment 
equal to 11,249.0 million baht, 15,522.4 million baht and 13,249.2 million baht, respectively. These 
aforementioned increases reflect investments made in several projects, including COD projects and under 
construction projects. 

 

Other intangible assets 

As of December 3 1 , 2 0 20, 2 0 21 and 2 0 2 2, the Group has other intangible assets equal to 1,048.2 
million baht, 1,232.5 million baht and 970.2 million baht, respectively.   

Other intangible assets 

Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the fiscal years ending on 31 December 

2020 2021 2022 
Amount 
(million 
baht) 

% 
Amount 
(million 
baht) 

% 
Amount 
(million 
baht) 

% 

Land usage rights fees 127.1 12.1 351.5 28.5 313.4 32.3 
Rights fees associated with linking 
electricity distribution systems 

401.8 38.3 420.8 34.1 367.5 37.9 

Computer software and programs in 
development 1. 1 0.1 0.9 0.1 0.6 0.0 

External communications and power 
distribution systems 353.8 33.8 439.5 35.7 244.8 25.2 

External communications and power 
distribution systems and usage rights 
during construction 

164.5 15.7 19.8 1.6 43.9 4.5 

Total intangible assets 1,048.3 100.0 1,232.5 100.0 970.2 100.0 
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Liabilities 

As of December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, the Company had total liabilities of 12,121.0 million baht, 
17,689.1 million baht, and 13,015.0 million baht, respectively.  

Liabilities 

Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the fiscal years ending on 31 December  

2020 2021 2022 
Million baht % Million baht % Million baht % 

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity 
      

Current liabilities 
      

Trade and other payables 142.7 0.8 3,200.6  13.3  225.4  1.1  
Retention payable 5.6 0.0  3.4  0.0  -  - 
Short-term loan from bank 276.3 1.6 518.4  2.2  23.0  0.1  
Share acquisition payable to subsidiary's    former shareholders 9.3 0.1 10.4 0.0 3.2 0.0 
Short-term loan from non-controlling interest of the subsidiary 15.0 0.1 - - 7.2 0.0 
Share capital payable from a subsidiary's capital reduction - - - - - - 
Short-term loan from non-controlling interest of the subsidiary - - - - - - 
Other current financial liabilities 0.3 0.0 - - - - 
Current portion of long-term debentures - - 798.1 3.3 - - 
Current portion of lease liabilities 29.8 0.2 31.1 0.1 21.8 0.1 
Current portion of long-term loans 1,210.7 7.2 1,501.9 6.2    
Other current liabilities 12.0 0.1 15.9 0.1 18.1 0.1  
Total current liabilities 1,702.3 10.1 6,081.6  25.3  1,173.5 5.5 
Non-current liabilities       
Lease liabilities - net of current portion 582.8 3.4 552.7 2.3  615.0 2.9  
Long-term debentures 793.9 4.7 595.4 2.5 2,086.9 9.8 
Long-term loans - net of current portion 8,806.6 52.0 10,266.7  42.7  9,067.7  42.6  
Deferred tax liabilities 21.5 0.1  17.3  0.1  56.6 0.3 
Other non-current financial liabilities 201.6 1.2  162.8  0.7  -  -  
Other non-current liabilities 12.4 0.1  12.6  0.1  15.4 0.1  
Total non-current liabilities 10,418.7 61.6 11,607.5  48.2  11,841.6  55.6  
Total liabilities 12,121.0 71.6 17,689.1  73.5  13,015.0  61.1  
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Shareholders’ equity 

As of December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, the Company possessed shareholders' equities of 4,804.4 
million baht, 6,374.2 million baht, and 8,222.4 million baht, respectively. The increase was contributed by the 
profit from operations in the years.   

Shareholders’ Equity 
 

Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the fiscal years ending on 31 December 

2020 2021 2022 
Amount 
(Million 
baht) 

% Amount 
(Million 
baht) 

% Amount 
(Million 
baht) 

% 

Shareholders’ equity       
Issued and paid-up share capital 922.0 5.4 1,071.6 4.5 1,248.9 5.9 
Share premium 1,511.2 8.9 2,144.4 8.9 2,859.6 13.4 

Surplus on business combination       under 
common control 33.1 0.2 (159.7) (0.7) (159.7) (0.8) 

Unappropriated retained earnings 2,036.2 12.0 2,748.4  11.4  3,661.5  17.2  
Appropriated retained earnings – statutory 
reserve 

92.2 0.5 136.7 0.6 150.4 0.7 

Other components of shareholders' equity (389.7) (2.3) (57.2) (0.2) 15.0 0.1 
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 4,205.1 24.8 5,884.1  24.5  7,775.7  24.5  

Former shareholders before business 
combination under common control 262.4 1.6 - - - - 

Non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries 336.9 2.0 490.1  2.0  501.3  2.4  
Total shareholders' equity 4,804.4 28.4 6,374.2  26.5  8,277.0  38.9  
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4.4 Cash flow statement analysis 

Cash flow statement 

Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal years 
ending on 31 December 

2020 2021 2022 
Value 

(millionbaht) 
Value 

(millionbaht) 
Value 

(millionbaht) 
Profit (Loss) Before Taxes 846.6 994.8 1,380.6 
    Profit (loss) from operating activities before changes in 

operating assets and liabilities 
1,660.6  2,071.6   2,432.4  

Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities 1,531.5  2,390.4   2,043.4  
Net cash flows from (used in) investment activities (2,216) (3,193.0) (2,537.3) 
Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities 1,111.7 2,849.2 182.7 

Translation adjustments 7.1 145.6 2,301.3 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 434,3 2,192.1 (308.9) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 953.3 1,387.6 3,579.7 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,387.6 3,579.7 3,227.5 

 

Cash flows from operating activities 

For the fiscal years ending on December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, the Company had net cash flows 
from operating activities equal to 1,531.5 million baht, 2,390.4 million baht and 2043.4 million baht, respectively. 
in the year 2021 where the net cash flow from operating activities increaded from the year 2020. In the year 
2022 cash flows from operating activities was 2,043.4 decreased from 2021 dueto divesment Hidaka project. 

 

Cash flow from investment activities 

For the fiscal years ending on December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, the Company’s net cash flows used 
in investing activities was 2,216.0 million baht, 3,193.0 million baht, and 2,537.3 million baht, respectively. In 
2021 net cash flows used in investing activities was 3,193.0 million baht mainly increasing from new investment 
projects. 

 

Cash flow from financing activities  

For the fiscal years ending on December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, the Company had net cash flows 
from financing activities of 1,111.7 million baht, 2,849.2 million baht and 182.7 million baht, respectively. This 
reflects the increase of long-term loans from financial institutions, both in Thailand and in foreign countries, to 
construct and develop the projects.   
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4.5  Analysis of major financial ratio 

Calculation of financial ratios, unless otherwise stated, shall be based on the financial ratio formulas 
for companies in the industry and service groups, according to information registration handbook, form 5 6 -1 , 
prepared by the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

Liquidity ratio 

Liquidity ratio 
Consolidated Financial Statements  

For the fiscal years ending on 31 December 
2020 2021 2022 

Current ratio (times) 1.4 0.8 3.6 
Average collection period (days) 1 76.4 82.0 69.5 
Payment period (days) 88.0  545.1 454.4 
Annotation: 1 Calculated using the formula: 360 / (Net sales / Trade receivables and other receivables)   

  

Profitability ratio 

Profitability ratios 
Consolidated Financial Statements  

for the fiscal years ending on 31 December 
2020 2021 2022 

Gross profit margin (%) 64.2 57.5 56.5 
Net profit margin (%) 39.6 34.5 38.1 
Return on equity (%) 18.5 17.0 19.1 

For 2021, gross profit margin and net profit margin lower than 2022 but sill at faverable rate. In 2022, 
net profit margin increases from divesment Hidaka project. 

Leverage ratio 

Financial policy ratios 
Consolidated Financial Statements  

for the fiscal years ending on 31 December 
2020 2021 2022 

Debt to equity ratio (times) 2.52 2.78 1.57 
Debt to Equity Ratio 
(company only) (times) 0.59 0.58 0.35 

Interest coverage ratio (times) 5.47 5.90 4.94 

When comparing the year of 2 0 1 9  to 2 0 2 0 , the debt-to-equity ratio of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Company were at 2 . 2 6  times and 2 .5 5  times, respectively, and the debt-to-equity ratio 
(company only) were at 0.58 times and 0.62 times, respectively. The increase of the ratio was due mainly to the 
increase of short-term and long-term loans, both from domestic and foreign financial institutions and the 
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issuance of debentures to invest in various projects. Meanwhile, the Company’s interest coverage ratio has 
continuously increased.  

When comparing the year of 2 0 20 to 2 0 2 1, the debt-to-equity ratio of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Company were at 2 . 52 times and 2 . 78 times, respectively, and the debt-to-equity ratio 
(company only) were at 0.59 times and 0.58 times, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021, the 
Company maintained its financial ratios in accordance with its loan agreements, for which the Company's loan 
agreements consider the financial ratio (company only). For example, the debt-to-equity ratio remains at the 
level of not more than 3 .0  times, for which the Company can maintain its financial proportion according to the 
stipulations in its contracts. 

When comparing the year of 2 0 21 to 2 0 2 2, the debt-to-equity ratio of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Company were at 2 . 78 times and 1. 57 times, respectively, and the debt-to-equity ratio 
(company only) were at 0 . 5 8 times and 0 .35 times, respectively, the debt-to-equity ratio decreased dueto 
repayment of long term loan. 
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5.1 General Information 

1) Company name and location of establishment 

Company Name: Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited 
(SSP) 

Business Operations: Holding Company 

Registration number: 0107560000010 

Registered/paid capital:  1,503,506,001 baht (as of January 19, 2022)  

Number of shares: 1,503,506,001 shares (as of January 19, 2022) 

Par vale: 1.0 baht 

Head office address: 325/14 Lan Luang Road, Mahanak Intersection, Dusit 
District, Bangkok 10300 

Phone number: 02-628-0991-2 

Fax: 02-628-0993 

Website: http://www.sermsang.com 

Company secretary: Phone number 02-6280991-2#156 

e-mail: supitcha@sermsang.co.th 

Investor relations department: Phone number 02-6280991-2#290 

e-mail:  Chayut.l@sermsang.co.th 

5. General Information and Other Information 
5. General Information and Other Information
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Other Personnel Information for Reference 

Securities Registrar Thailand Securities Depository Company (Thailand) Limited 

No. 93, Ratchadaphisek Road, Din Daeng District, Bangkok 
10400 

Phone number +662-009-9000 

Fax + 662-009-9991 

Auditor 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Debenture Registrar 

 

 

 

Legal counsel 

 

Primary financial institution 

 

 

 

Mr. Supachai Phanyawattano / Certified Public Accountant, 
License Number 3930 

EY Office Company Limited 

Floor 33, Lake Ratchada Building Office Complex, Office No. 
193/136-137, Ratchadaphisek Road, Klongtoey Subdistrict, 
Klongtoey District, Bangkok 10110 
Phone number +662-264-0777 

Fax +662-264-0789-90 
 
Bank of Ayudhya Public Company Limited  
1222 Rama III Road, Bang Phongphang Subdistrict, Yannawa 
District, Bangkok 10120 
Phone number +662-296-3582 
Fax +662-683-1293 

None 

 
TMB Bank Public Company Limited  
3000 Phaholyothin Road, Chomphon Subdistrict, Chatuchak 
District, Bangkok 10900 
Phone + 662-299-1111, + 662-617-9111 
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 Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited  
333 Silom Road, Silom Subdistrict, Bang Rak District, Bangkok 
10500 
Phone +662-353-5849 

 

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited 
Head office 
Postal code: 100-8233 
1-4-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 
Fax number: 03-3286-4614 
 
International Financial Corporate 
2121 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW Washington,  
DC 20433, USA 
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5.2 Details on other important contracts of the Company Group 

(1) TK Investment Contracts: (TokumeiKumiai Agreement or “TK Agreement”) 

As of December 31, 2022, SEG, which is a subsidiary company that the Company holds shares 
in to a proportion of 100%, entered into a TK investment agreement, for which a number of 4 contracts are 
still enforced for the Yamaga, Zouen, and Leo projects, for which all contracts have the same details 
provided below. 

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
TK Investor  SEG 
Business Operator 
 

GSSE (Yamaga Project) 
ZOUEN (Zouen Project) 
Ashita Power 1 GK and Ashita Power 2 GK (Leo Projects) 

Contract Duration 20 years counting from the project’s first day of commercial operations 
Rights and duties of 
the TK Investor 

▪ The TK Investor has the duty of paying investment funds to the business operators as 
stipulated in the contract at proportions of  90%, 100%, and 100% for the Yamaga, 
Zouen, and Leo projects entirely with TK investment funds, respectively.  

▪ The TK Investor shall not have any rights in making decisions about the various matters 
regarding the normal business operations of the projects. 

▪ The TK Investor shall not be responsible for any liabilities, damages, or claims byond 
the quantity of invested TK funds. 

▪ In the event that the TK Investor has any inquires regarding the drafted annual 
operating plan, or in the event that any events and/or significant changes occur, which 
may influence the business operations of a particular proect, SEG can request a 
consultation meeting with the Property Manage to resolve these aforementioned plans 
and/or any operations.  

Rights and duties of 
the business 
operator 

▪ The business operator has the duty of operating the business of electricity sales 
generated by the project to electricity purchaser companies, and shall operate their 
duty under the status of a business operator with the highest degrees of caution and 
responsibility, by considering the highest benefits to the project. 
▪ The business operator has the right to carry out business under their own name, and 

has the right to decide in various matters regarding business operators as a sole entity. 
Thus, the business operator shall be the sole entity responsible for any liabilities, 
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Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
accountabilities, or damages that occur from normal business operations towards 
outside persons. 

▪ The business operator has the duty of bearing responsbility for any liabilities, 
accountabilities, damages, or claims exceeding the quantity of investment funds made 
by the TK Investor. 

Profit/Loss Share 
Allocation 

The TK Investor shall receive a share of the profit/loss, including the various income of the 
projects, at rates stipulated in the contracts (90% for the Yamaga Project, 100% for the 
Zouen Project, and 100% for the Leo Projects). 

 

(2) Asset Management Agreement 

As of December 31, 2022, the Operators of the Solar Farm Projects in Japan have entered into 
the following asset manager employment agreements: 

• GSSE, with the status of the Yamaga Project owner, entered into an asset manager 
employment contract with TSM Asset Management Co., Ltd., with a contract duration of 
5 years, starting from the starting date of commercial operations, extendable at durations 
of 1 year per extension. 

• ZOUEN, with the status of the Yamaga Project owner, entered into an asset manager 
employment contract with TSM Asset Management Co., Ltd., with a contract duration of 
5 years, starting from the starting date of commercial operations, extendable at durations 
of 1 year per extension. 

• A sh i t a  P o we r  1 , with the status of the Yamaga Project owner, entered into an asset 
manager employment contract with TSM Asset Management Co., Ltd., with a contract 
duration of 5 years, starting from the starting date of commercial operations, extendable 
at durations of 1 year per extension. 

(3) EPC Agreement 

As of December 31, 2022, the Operator of the Solar Farm projects in Japan entered into contracts 
with the following Engineering, Procurement, and Construction contractors: 
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• Ashita Power 1, with the status of the Leo 1 Project owner, entered into an Engineering, 
Procurement, and Construction contract with DAIWA HouseIndustry Co., Ltd., with the 
following significant quality guarantees: 

o A quality guarantee for solar cell panels by the panel producer, to a duration of 
15 years starting from the date the manufacturer ships the solar panels to the 
project. 

o An efficiency guarantee of direct current electricity generation from photovoltaic 
solar cell panels (PV OutputWarranty), by the panel producer to a period of 25 
yers starting from the date the manufacturer ships the solar panels. The loss 
rate from direct current electricity will be guaranteed, and calculated at a 
cumulative rate from the first year during which commercial operations have 
commenced.  

o A guarantee of construction project quality (Defect Warranty) by DAIWA House 
Industry Co., Ltd., for which details of warranty coverage will be shown in the 
following time periods:  

 

Main Equipment Warranty 
Duration (years) 

Solar cell panels (PV Module) 2 

Electric current converter system 
(Inverter) 2 

Other projects 2 

If the aforementioned details are caused by excess negligence of the 
Engineering, Procurement and Construction contractor, these previously mentioned 
warranties will be extended to a duration of 10 years, or until the expiration of the 
warranties for the aforementioned equipment. 

 

(4) Surface Right Reservation Agreement or Land Purchase Agreement 

As of December 31, 2022, the Opeartor of the Solar Farm projects in Japan have entered 
into land leasing contracts with various projects, and SJC has entered into land purchase 
contracts for the Leo Projects, as shown below: 



SERMSANG POWER CORPORATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED156 

  Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited 

   
Form 56-1-2022: General Information and Other Important Information                                                                                           Section 5 Page18 

• GSSE, with the status of the Yamaga Project owner, entered into a Surface Right 
Agreement contract with a duration of 20 years starting from the starting date of project 
commercial operations. 

• ZOUEN with the status of the Zouen Project owner, entered into a Surface Right 
Agreement contract with a duration of 20 years starting from the starting date of project 
commercial operations. 

• SJC entered into a Land Purchase Agreement contract, to obtain land to be used as the 
location of establishment for the Leo Projects, with the following divided payment terms:  

o The Leo Projects received a permit for power plant operations from METI (METI 
Approval) and a power grid connection permit (Grid Connection Approval). 

o The purchased land shall be free of any obligations or various related liabilities. 

o The seller shall be unable to negotiate the purchase, sale, and/or transfer of 
rights in these aforementioned projects to any other person, unless written 
consent has been obtained from the purchaser. 

5.3 Details on Major Loan Contracts 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company Group had a total of 11 loan agreement with commercial institutions, 
divided into 4 loan agreement from domestic commercial institutions, and 7 loan agreement from foreign 
commercial institutions, with details provided as follows: 

5.3.1 Loan contracts with domestic commercial institutions 
i. SPN Loan contracts 

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
Borrower SPN 
Lender 1 commercial banks in Thailand and 1 International financial institution 
Objective To be used as restructure loan, invest in construction of new projects, and in addition, to 

be used as working capital and operational support 
Contract date 23 December 2022 
Loan limit Loan limits are categorized into: 

▪ Facility Loan: Long-term loans with a limit not in excess of 2,180 million baht, to be used 
to restructure loan and invest in construction of new projects 
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Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
▪ Working Capital: Loan working capital in various forms, to be used as working capital 

for the projects 
Interest rates Facility Loan: Floating interest rates referring to THBFIX, added to the interest rate 

difference as stipulated in the contract 
Working Capital: Interest rate equivalent to MLR – the discount rate stipulated in the 
contract 

Loan repayment Facility Loan:  Interest and principal repayments shall be paid every 3 months, to a total 
duration of 39 installments, in quantities stipulated in the contract, with the first installment 
payment to be made in June 2015 

ii. SSP Loan contracts 

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
Borrower SSP 
Lender 1 commercial banks in Thailand 
Objective To be used as construction investment funds and development of the Group Company, 

and in addition, to be used as working capital and operational support 
Contract date June 23, 2021 

Loan limit Long-term loans, 180 million baht  
Interest rates Interest rates equal to MLR – the discount rate stipulated in the contract. 
Loan repayment Interest and principal repayments shall be paid every 6 months, with the first installment 

payment to be made on August, 2020. 

iii. WVO Loan contracts 

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
Borrower SS 
Lender 1 commercial bank in Thailand 
Objective To be used as the specified construction investment funds and project development of the 

Company, and in addition, to be used as working capital and operational support. 
Contract date August 7, 2020 

Loan limit Long-term loans, 95 million baht  



SERMSANG POWER CORPORATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED158 

  Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited 

   
Form 56-1-2022: General Information and Other Important Information                                                                                           Section 5 Page20 

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
Interest rates Interest rates equal to MLR – the discount rate stipulated in the contract. 
Loan repayment Interest and principal repayments shall be paid every 3  months, with the first installment 

payment to be made on September 30, 2020. 
iv.     SSP Loan contracts 

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
Borrower SSP 

Lender 1 commercial bank in Thailand 

Objective To be used as the specified construction investment funds and project development of the 
Company, and in addition, to be used as working capital and operational support. 

Contract date 23 March 2021 

Loan limit Long-term loans, 180 million baht 
Interest rates Interest rates equal to MLR – the discount rate stipulated in the contract. 
Loan repayment Interest and principal repayments shall be paid every 6 months, with the first installment 

payment to be made on August 2021. 

v. UPT Loan contracts 

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
Borrower UPT 

Lender 1 commercial bank in Thailand 

Objective To be used as the specified construction investment funds and project development of the 
Company, and in addition, to be used as working capital and operational support. 

Contract date 9 April 2018 

Loan limit ▪ Facility Loan:  Long-term loans with a quantity of 602 million baht, to be used in project 
construction. 

▪ Working Capital: Promissory Note, to be used as working capital for the projects 

Interest rates Interest rates equal to MLR – the discount rate stipulated in the contract. 
Loan repayment Facility Loan: Interest and principal repayments shall be paid every 3  months, to a total 

duration of 32 installments, in quantities stipulated in the contract, with the first installment 
payment to be made on November, 2019. 
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5.3.2 Loan contracts with foreign financial institutions 
i. GSSE Loan contracts 

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
Borrower GSSE 
Lender 1 commercial bank in Japan 
Objective To be used as construction investment funds and development of the Yamaga project. 
Contract date July 27, 2017 
Loan limit ▪ Facility Loan:  Long-term loans with a quantity of 9,227 million yen, to be used in project 

construction. 
▪ Consumption Tax Loan: Short-term loans with a quantity of 796 million yen, to be used for 

the payment of the Consumption Tax associated with project construction. 
Interest rates ▪ Facility Loan:  Long-term loans with an interest rate of Japanese Yen TIBOR +  additional 

rates as specified in the contract. 
▪ Consumption Tax Loan: Short-term loans with a ‘Short Term Prime Lending Rate’ interest 

rate + additional rates as specified in the contract. 
Loan repayment ▪ Facility Loan: Principal repayments shall be made every 3 months, to a total duration of 68 

installments, at rates stipulated in the loan contract, with the first installment payment to 
be made in March 2021. 

▪ Consumption Tax Loan: Principal to be repaid in one payment, either on the day the 
borrower receives their Consumption Tax refund, or on September 30, 2021, on the date 
during which either of these events occurs first. 

ii. ZOUEN Loan contracts 

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
Borrower ZOUEN 
Lender 1 commercial bank in Japan 
Objective To be used as construction investment funds and development of the Zouen project. 
Contract date 15 November 2017 
Loan limit ▪ Facility Loan:  Long-term loans with a quantity of 2,290 million yen, to be used in project 

construction. 
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Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
▪ Consumption Tax Loan: Short-term loans with a quantity of 163 million yen, to be used for 

the payment of the Consumption Tax associated with project construction. 
Interest rates ▪ Facility Loan:  Long-term loans with an interest rate of Japanese Yen TIBOR +  additional 

rates as specified in the contract. 
▪ Consumption Tax Loan: Short-term loans with a ‘Short Term Prime Lending Rate’ interest 

rate + additional rates as specified in the contract. 
Loan repayment ▪ Facility Loan: Principal repayments shall be made every 3 months, to a total duration of 68 

installments, at rates stipulated in the loan contract, with the first installment payment to 
be made in March 2019. 

▪ Consumption Tax Loan: Principal to be repaid in one payment, either on the day the 
borrower receives their Consumption Tax refund, or on September 30, 2019, on the date 
during which either of these events occurs first. 

iii. Ashita Power 1 (Leo 1 Project) Loan Contracts 

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
Borrower Ashita Power 1 
Lender 1 commercial bank in Japan 
Objective To be used as construction investment funds and development of the Leo project. 
Contract date 14 September 2018 
Loan limit ▪ Facility Loan:  Long-term loans with a quantity of 11,158 million yen, to be used in project 

construction. 
▪ Consumption Tax Loan: Short-term loans with a quantity of 777 million yen, to be used for 

the payment of the Consumption Tax associated with project construction. 
Interest rates ▪ Facility Loan: Long-term loans with an interest rate of Japanese Yen 6M-TIBOR + additional 

rates as specified in the contract. 
▪ Consumption Tax Loan: Short-term loans with an interest rate of Japanese Yen 3M-TIBOR 

+ additional rates as specified in the contract. 
Loan repayment ▪ Facility Loan: Principal repayments shall be made every 6 months, to a total duration of 34 

installments, at rates stipulated in the loan contract, with the first installment payment to 
be made in June 2022. 
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Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
▪ Consumption Tax Loan: Principal to be repaid in one payment. 

iv. TGC Loan contracts (Khunsight Kundi project) 

vi. TTQN Loan contracts (Binh Nguyen project) 

 

 

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
Borrower TGC 
Lender International financial institutions 
Objective To be used as construction investment funds and development of the Khunsight Kundi 

project. 
Contract date March 20, 2019 
Loan limit Long-term loans with a quantity of 18.7 million US dollars, to be used in project construction. 

Interest rates Fixed interest rate throughout the loan duration.  
Loan repayment Principal repayments shall be made every 6 months, to a total duration of 20 installments, at 

rates stipulated in the loan contract, with the first installment payment to be made in 
February 2020. 

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
Borrower TTQN 
Lender International financial institutions and commercial bank in Vietnam 
Objective To be used as construction investment funds and development of the Binh Nguyen Solar 

project. 
Contract date June 10, 2021 
Loan limit Long-term loans with a quantity of 32.5 million US dollars, to be used in project construction. 
Interest rates LIBOR interest rate + additional rates as stipulated in the contract.  
Loan repayment Principal repayments shall be made every 3 months, to a total duration of 56 installments, at 

rates stipulated in the loan contract. with the first installment payment to be made in 
December 2021. 
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vii. SSE Loan contracts 

5.4 Legal disputes 

As of December 31, 2020, the Group Company has no lawsuits undergoing the process of arbitration or any 
other case significant case proceedings directly related to the Company Group that might severely and negatively 
impact the property of Company group or the shareholder’s equity, or impact the financial status, operating results, 
and future business operation trends. 

5.5 History of defaulting on principal, or interest on debenture, or defaulting on loans from commercial banks, 
finance companies, credit foncier companies, or legally established financial institutions in the last 3 years 

The cause of actions/disputes and the operations by UPT are as follows: 

The cause of actions/disputes originated from the construction of a power plant in Si-kiew Subdistrict, Si-
kiew District Nakhon Ratchasima Province, in and around 2016, in respect of which local residents formed a 
group of Si-kiew people objecting to the power plant, and filed their complaints with various authorities, i.e., 
Division for Peace and Order in Nakhon Ratchasima Province and the Nakhon Ratchasima Provincial 
Administrative Court, regarding such power plant construction. On August 9, 2017, the Nakhon Ratchasima 
Administrative Court has a judgment to revoke the Building Construction License (Aor. 1) and a Factory License 
(Ror Ngor. 4) effective from the date of issuance of such licenses. In addition, it has an order to temporarily 
compulsory suspend the enforceability of the Building Construction License (Aor. 1) and aFactory License (Ror 
Ngor.4) until the final judgment or the court orders otherwise.    

Contract Subject Details of the Contract 
Borrower SSE 

Lender International financial institutions 

Objective To be used as construction investment funds and development of Solar Roof Panel 

Contract date 30 November 2021 

Loan limit Long-term loans with a quantity of 11.5 million US dollars, to be used in project construction. 
Interest rates 3M JIBOR interest rate + additional rates as stipulated in the contract. 

Loan repayment Principal repayments shall be made every 3 months, to a total duration of 28 installments, at 
rates stipulated in the loan contract. with the first installment payment to be made in January 
2023. 
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 However, the Supreme Administrative Court has issued an order following an appeal petition with the 
reversal of the order of the Nakhon Ratchasima Administrative Court to dismiss the request to compulsory 
suspend the enforceability of the Building Construction License (Aor. 1) and a Factory License (Ror Ngor. 4). 
Therefore, such licenses are still enforceable and effective. 

The issues to be considered and key arguments are as follows 

 At present, the case is pending the consideration of the Supreme Administrative Court, with key issues and 
arguments as follows: 

 Did UPT duly hold a public hearing in compliance with the law; in other words, was UPT required to comply 
with the Regulations of the Prime Minister’s Office on Public Hearing B.E. 2548 (2005) (the “PMO Regulations”)? 
Given the fact that UPT is a private company and thus not subject to the PMO Regulations. The Company has 
clearly clarified this issue, together with the relevant documents, in UPT’s appeal. 

 Was UPT required to comply with the Regulations of the Ministry of Industry Governing Public Hearing on 
Consideration and Issuance of the Receipt of Notification on Factory Operation Commencement, Factory 
Business License, Factory Expansion License under the Factory Law, B.E. 2555 (2012) (the “MOI 
Regulations”)? UPT applied for the building construction license (Or.1) and the factory business license 
(Ror.Ngor.4) since 2011, whereby UPT did comply with the applicable rules and laws in force at that time in all 
respects. The MOI Regulations were issued later on, and as such, the subsequently issued law should not 
apply in such manner unfavorable to UPT, which is contrary to the principle of non-retroactivity of administrative 
acts and UPT has already clarified this issue in its appeal. 

 Were the facts relating to the power plant publicly announced for the purpose of public participation and 
opinion? UPT has clarified this issue in its appeal that UPT did provide information on such impact and 
corrective measures in such announcement, and should the people have any question or argument, they could 
have raised their objection accordingly in accordance with the purpose of such announcement. However, upon 
completion of the public announcement period, no objection was raised by the people. 

 Did the application for the building construction license (Or.1) and the factory business license 
(Ror.Ngor.4) require approval from the Subdistrict Administrative Organization? The Subdistrict Council and 
Subdistrict Administrative Organization Act B.E. 2537 (1994) ( the “ SAO Act” ) provides that the general 
administration, e.g., order, permission and approval, shall be the functions of the Chief Executive of the 
Subdistrict Administrative Organization, although such major matters as the protection and care of natural 
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resources and the environment, the Chief Executive of the Subdistrict Administrative Organization or the 
Subdistrict Administrative Organization Council may request a joint consideration. In UPT’s opinion, the initial 
approval in respect of such permission constituted a general administration work of the Subdistrict 
Administrative Organization, which should likely be within the power of the Chief Executive of the Subdistrict 
Administrative Organization. UPT has clearly clarified this issue in its appeal that UPT did duly proceed in 
compliance with the law. 

Timeframe of the Case 

 Currently, the case in question remains pending the Supreme Administrative Court’s consideration. 
According to the most recent off-record follow-up on the development of the case with the Supreme 
Administrative Court, the Court’s official informed that the case is in the course of preparing the case statement 
by the judge in charge for submission to the tribunal, although the date for reading of the Supreme 
Administrative Court’s judgment has not yet been scheduled. 

The procedure to mitigate the risk from the dispute in Shares Purchase Agreement 

 the seller shall responsible and assist UPT to file the applications for the new relevant licenses to enable 
the operation of biomass power plant within 1 year from the date of the judgment of the Supreme Administrative 
Court and the seller shall responsible for any actual expenses which UPT has to pay to keep the biomass power 
plant in ready to-use condition throughout the period during which biomass power plants cease to operate until 
the biomass power plants can operate normally  

 In the case that the biomass power plant cannot operate within 1 year from the date of the judgment of the 
Supreme Administrative Court, the Company reserve the right to terminate the Share Purchase Agreement and 
the seller shall be obliged to pay for any actual damages incurred including but not limited to the investment 
value of THB 500,000,000, the relevant Transaction’s cost and the Company's financial cost minus 

the actual received dividend by the Company. 

5.6 History of terms and conditions breaches in the last 3 years 

-None- 
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6. Corporate Governance Policy 
6.1 An overall picture of corporate governance policies and practices. 

The Group Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance that it is an essential 
factor in promoting the Group Company's operations to be efficient and achieving sustainable growth, which 
will bring maximum benefits to all stakeholders ranging from employees, investors, shareholders, and other 
stakeholders. It covers key principles ranging from the structure, roles, duties, and responsibilities of the 
Board of Directors including the principles of management that is transparent, clear, and auditable to guide 
the management of the organization, creating confidence that any operations of the Group Company are fair 
and having the best interests of all shareholders and stakeholders in mind. 

The Board of Directors has focused on conforming with good corporate governance principles, 
covering key principles in accordance with corporate governance principles in 5 categories as follows:  

Section 1 The Rights of Shareholders 

The Company places importance on the rights of shareholders, which may not be limited to the rights 
required by law. It does not act in violation of or deprives shareholders of their rights and encourages 
shareholders to exercise their rights. Basic rights of shareholders include trading or transferring shares, 
receiving a share of the Company's profits, receiving adequate news and information about the Company, 
attending the meeting to exercise voting rights at the shareholders' meeting to appoint or remove directors, 
appointment of auditors and matters affecting the Company such as dividend allocation, prescribing or 
amendment of the Company's Articles of Association and Memorandum of Association, capital reduction or 
capital increase and approval of special items, etc. 

In addition to the basic rights mentioned above, the Company has also established guidelines on 
matters that promote and facilitate the exercise of rights of shareholders as follows: 

1) Disclosure of policies to support or promote shareholders of all groups to attend the 
shareholders' meeting. 

2) Provide information on the date, time, place, and agenda of the meeting with clarifications and 
reasons for each agenda item or accompanying the resolutions requested as specified in the 
invitation to the Annual General Meeting and Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders or 
in the agenda attachment and shall not take any action that limits the shareholders' chances of 
studying the Company's information. 

3) Facilitate shareholders to exercise their right to attend meetings and vote fully, and refrain from 
any actions that limit the chances of the shareholders attending shareholders' meetings, such as 
attending meetings to vote. 

6. Corporate Governance Policy
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4) The resolution should be a simple process, and the meeting should not be excessively costly, 
and the venue of the shareholders' meeting should be convenient to travel. 

5) The Chairman of the meeting will allocate time appropriately and encourage shareholders to 
have the opportunity to express their opinions and ask questions to the meeting on matters 
relating to the Company, as well as allow shareholders to submit questions in advance of the 
meeting date by clearly establishing the criteria for submitting questions in advance and 
notifying shareholders together with the delivery of invitations to shareholders' meetings. The 
criteria for submitting such questions shall also be published in advance on the Company's 
website. 

6) Encourage shareholders to use proxy letter in the format that shareholders can determine the 
direction of voting, nominate at least 1 independent directors as an alternative to shareholder 
proxy. 

7) Encourage the Company to apply technology in shareholders' meetings, including shareholder 
registration, vote counting and display, so that the meeting can be conducted quickly, precisely, 
and accurately. 

8) Encourage all directors of the Company to attend shareholders' meetings to respond to 
shareholders' inquiries. 

9) Arrange a resolution of the shareholders' meeting for each item in the event that there are 
multiple agenda items, such as the agenda of the appointment of directors. 

10) Encourage independent individuals to count or monitor votes at the General Meeting and 
Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders and disclose them to the meeting and record 
them in the minutes of the meeting. 

11) Encourage the use of ballots on important agenda items such as connected transactions, 
transactions involving acquiring or disposing of assets etc. for transparency and accountability, 
in the case there is a dispute afterwards. 

12) Arrange for the minutes of the shareholders' meeting to record the clarification of voting 
procedures and the method of displaying the voting results to the meeting before conducting the 
meeting, including allowing shareholders to raise points or ask questions. The questions, 
answers, and the results of the vote counts on each agenda shall recorded with details on how 
shareholders agree, oppose, or abstain from voting, including records of attendees and 
directors who are on leave. The minutes of the meeting shall be disclosed on the Company's 
website. 
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13) Publicly disclose the results of the vote of each agenda item at the Annual General Meeting and 
Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on the next business day on the Company’s 
website. 

Section 2 The Equitable Treatment of Shareholders   

The Company has a policy to treat all shareholders, including executive and non-executive 
shareholders, both major and minority shareholders, as well as foreign shareholders equally and fairly under 
the following guidelines: 

1) Send the invitation letter to the Shareholders' Meeting with the agenda and opinions of the Board 
of Directors to the Stock Exchange of Thailand and publish it on the Company's website for at 
least 7 days or 14 days.  The invitation letter of the shareholders' meeting should be prepared in 
English and published together with the invitation letter of the Thai-language shareholders' 
meeting. 

2) Notify shareholders of any rules used in the meeting, voting procedures, including voting rights 
based on each type of share. 

3) The voting rights at the meeting shall be in accordance with the number of shares held by the 
shareholders. One share is entitled to one vote. In addition, the Company grants shareholders 
who attend the meeting after the meeting has begun the right to vote for the agenda that is under 
consideration and has not yet been voted on. The late attendees are counted as a quorum from 
the agenda item to the meeting and the vote onwards. 

4) Set out the criteria for minority shareholders to propose agenda items in advance of the 
shareholders' meeting to demonstrate fairness and transparency in determining whether to add 
the agenda proposed by minority shareholders. In addition, the shareholders who are executives 
shall not add agenda items without giving an advance notice if not necessary, especially the 
agendas that the shareholders would need time to study information before making a decision. 

5) Determine how minority shareholders nominate candidates to serve as directors. Nominations can 
be made through the Nomination and Remuneration Committee in advance of the date of the 
shareholders' meeting together with information to support the qualification consideration and the 
consent of the nominees.  

6) Opportunity for shareholders to use their right to appoint directors individually. 

7) All directors and executives are responsible for reporting their securities holdings in accordance 
with the law. Such reports are to be submitted regularly and it will be disclosed in the annual 
report as well.  
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8) Establish guidelines for maintaining and preventing the use of inside information in writing and 
notifying such guidelines to everyone in the Company. It is prohibited for persons involved in 
internal information to trade the Company's securities within 1 month prior to the disclosure of 
quarterly and annual financial statements. 

9) Requiring directors to report their interests at least before the consideration of the agenda and 
record them in the minutes of the Board of Directors' meetings and ensure that directors who are 
significant stakeholders in such agenda, which may prevent them from being able to opinionate 
freely, to refrain from being involved in the meeting during the consideration of the agenda.  

 

Section 3 Roles of Stakeholders 

The Company recognizes the importance of caring for and taking into account all stakeholders. The 
Group Company also takes into account the rights of all stakeholders in accordance with the following 
guidelines: 

(1) The Company recognizes that employees are a factor in achieving the Company's goals 
with great value, so it is the Company's policy to treat employees fairly in terms of opportunities, 
compensation, appointment, transfer, as well as potential development. In order to comply with the 
policy, the Company has established the following principles: 

1) Treat employees with courtesy and respect their individuality. 

2) Provide fair compensation to employees, including establishing a provident fund for 
employees as prioritizing looking after the welfare of employees.  

3) Maintain a safe working environment for employees' lives and property. 

4) Focus on improving the knowledge and capabilities of employees by providing opportunities 
thoroughly and consistently to develop employees' capabilities to support the growth of the 
organization. 

5) The appointment, relocation, including rewarding and punishing employees, is done in good 
faith, and is based on the knowledge, competence, and suitability of the employees. 

6) Listen to comments and suggestions based on the professional knowledge of employees. 

7) Strictly comply with all laws and regulations relating to employees. 
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(2) Policies and Guidelines for Shareholders  

1) Perform duties with integrity and make any decisions in accordance with the principles of 
the profession with caution, prudence and fairness to both major and minor shareholders in 
the best interests of the shareholders as a whole. 

2) Presentation of the Company's status, information on financial position, accounting, and 
other reports regularly and truthfully. 

3) Inform all shareholders equally about the future prospects of the Group Company, both 
positive and negative, based on possibilities with sufficient supporting and rational 
information. 

4) It is prohibited to seek personal gains and gains for others by using any information of the 
Group Company which has not been made public or take any actions that may cause 
conflicts of interest with the Company. 

(3) Customer Policy and Guidelines 

The Company puts its customers first by building good relationships with customers continuously 
and consistently, focusing on fulfilling contracts, agreements and various conditions that have been 
made with the customers transparently and fairly. It also creates customer satisfaction and confidence 
in obtaining quality products and services under appropriate safety and technology and prioritizes the 
confidentiality of customers. 

(4) Policies and guidelines for business partners and/or creditors 

The Company has a policy for employees to treat all partners and/or creditors fairly, honestly and 
without exploiting the partners, taking into account the best interests of the Company, the basis of fair 
returns on both sides, avoid situations that cause conflicts of interest and problem negotiations are 
based on business relations. The guidelines are as follows: 

1) The Company shall not request, accept or pay dishonest trading benefits with trading 
partners and/or creditors. 

2) In the event where it has been found that there are any dishonest request, acceptance or 
payments of benefits, details must be disclosed to partners and/or creditors to jointly resolve 
the issue fairly and quickly. 

3) Strictly comply with the agreed conditions. In the event that the Company is unable to 
comply with any conditions, the Company must inform creditors in advance to jointly 
consider solutions. 
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4) The Company shall treat creditors as a very important business partner. Therefore, it is 
committed to comply with all obligations under the contract made with the creditors as well 
as refraining from concealing information or facts which may damage the creditors. If there 
is a case where the Company is unable to deliver the contractual obligations, the Company 
shall notify the creditors in advance to jointly find a solution to such problem, including 
guarantee terms, capital management, and defaulting on debts. 

(5) Policy and Treatment to Competitors 

The Company has the policy to treat competitors without breaching the confidentiality or knowing 
the confidentiality of competitors with fraud and set the following policy: 
1. to follow the rules on competition 
2. not to seek confidentiality of competitors by bad faith or inappropriate means. 
3. not to destroy competitors’ reputation by malicious accusation. 

(6) Policies and guidelines for society and/or communities 

The Group Company has a policy to conduct business that benefits the economy and society and 
adheres to the practice of being a good citizen and follows all relevant laws and regulations. The 
Company thrives on growing its business while enhancing the sustainable quality of the society and 
community it operates in. In addition, The Company has a sustainable growth policy. The Company has 
plan and control construction to not affect with water for agriculture and consumption in community. 

(7) Environmental Policy 

The Group Company has a policy to support activities that enhance the quality, occupational 
health, and environment, as well as maintain a safe working environment for the lives and property of 
employees. The Company and/or its subsidiaries operate in conjunction with taking into account the 
impact on the environment and well-being of local communities to help promote and preserve the 
environment of the community while growing the Group Company's business. 

 

Section 4 Disclosure and Transparency 

(1) The Board of Directors attaches importance to the disclosure of important information relating to 
the Company and/or the subsidiaries, both financial and non-financial information. The disclosure 
must be accurate, complete, timely and transparent in accordance with the rules of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and the Stock Exchange of Thailand, including other information that 
may affect the price of the Company's securities, which all affect the decision-making process of 
investors and stakeholders of the Company. As follows, there is a mechanism to ensure that the 
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information disclosed to investors is accurate, not misleading, and sufficient for the investors to 
make a decision. 

(2) Report of the corporate governance policy, code of conduct, risk management policy, and the 
environmental and social care policy that has been approved in summary and the results of the 
implementation of such policy, as well as the inability to comply with such policies with reasons. 
This report shall be published through channels such as annual reports and the Company's 
website.  

(3) The Board of Directors' responsibilities will be reported in conjunction with the auditor's report in 
the annual report. 

(4) Ensure that audit fees and other services provided by the auditor are disclosed. 

(5) Provide the disclosure of roles and duties of the Board of Directors and sub-committees, the 
number of meetings and the number of times each director attended the meeting in the past year, 
and opinions from performing the duties, including the continuous training and development of 
professional knowledge of the Board of Directors in the annual report. 

(6) Disclose the remuneration policy to directors and top management that reflects the duties and 
responsibilities of each person, including the form or nature of remuneration. The amount of 
remuneration disclosed should include the remuneration that each director receives as a director 
of the subsidiary as well. 

(7) In addition to disseminating information in accordance with the criteria specified and through the 
channels of the Stock Exchange of Thailand, annual registration statement (Form 56-1) and 
annual report, The Board of Directors will consider disclosing information through other channels 
as well, such as the Company's website. 

(8) All directors and executives of the Company and its subsidiaries shall report to the Company their 
interests or related parties relating to the management of the Company or its subsidiaries in 
accordance with the rules and procedures announced by the Capital Market Supervisory Board, 
as well as to update and report to the Company within 30 days from the date of such change of 
interest. 

(9) The Company is encouraged to prepare management discussion and analysis statement to 
disclose the financial statements quarterly. This is to keep investors informed and to have a better 
understanding of the changes to the Company's financial position and performance each quarter 
aside from the numerical data in the financial statements alone.  
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Section 5 Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 

(1) Structure of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors has at least five directors, with number of independent directors at not less 
than one-third of the total number of directors, and at least three independent directors who meets the 
securities and exchange commission criteria. The Board of Directors consists of qualified persons from 
a wide range of professions, including business, accounting, and finance. The Company has four 
additional sub-committees including executive committee, audit committee, nomination and 
remuneration committee, and risk management committee.  

Directors or senior executives of the Company have not been employees or partners of the 
external audit company that the Company uses the service of within the past 2 years. 

All independent directors of the Company are independent of management and major 
shareholders of the Company, and none of the independent directors serve as directors in more than    
five listed companies in Thailand, and no executive directors of the Company has been a director in 
listed companies in Thailand of more than two companies.   

The Company's policy regarding the determination of the term of office of the Director is in 
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company which stipulates that at the Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders, the directors shall be removed from their positions at a rate of one-three, 
based on the longest served in the office shall be removed. Directors have a term of office of 3 years at 
a time, and directors who have left their positions may be re-elected by the shareholders' meeting to re-
take the position. 

In addition, the Company has arranged the appointment of Executive Committee, Audit 
Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and the Risk Management Committee as well as 
clearly defined the scope, authority, duties, and responsibilities of such committees to prevent any 
director from having unlimited powers. The Company Secretary has also been appointed to oversee 
the activities of the Board of Directors, including coordinating the compliance with the Board of 
Directors' resolutions. 

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR QUALIFICATIONS 

1. Independent directors must hold no more than one percent of shares eligible for voting in The 
Company, the parent company, subsidiaries, associated companies, major shareholders or individuals 
with control authority over The Company including shares held by individuals related to that 
independent director. 
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2. Independent directors must not be or have status as directors who were involved in 
management, employees, salaried consultant employees or individuals with control authority over The 
Company, the parent company, subsidiaries, associated companies, subsidiaries of the same level, 
major shareholders or individuals with control authority over The Company unless independent 
directors have been free of the aforementioned characteristics for no less than two years before 
accepting the position. The aforementioned prohibitions do not include cases where independent 
directors were civil servants or government consultants who are major shareholders or individuals with 
control authority over The Company. 

3. Independent directors must not be related by blood or legal registration as a father, mother, 
spouse, sibling and child including as a spouse of the children of other directors, executives, major 
shareholders, individuals with control authority or individuals who will be nominated to be directors, 
executives or individuals with control authority over The Company or subsidiaries. 

4. Independent directors must not have or have had business relations with The Company, the 
parent company, subsidiaries, associated companies, major shareholders or individuals with control 
authority over The Company with characteristics such that independent judgment may be prevented. 
Furthermore, independent directors must not be or have been a significant shareholder or individual 
with control authority over individuals who have business relations with The Company, major 
shareholders, subsidiaries, associated companies, major shareholders or individuals with control 
authority over The Company unless independent directors have not had the aforementioned 
characteristics for no less than two years before accepting the position. 

5. The aforementioned business relationships include normal commercial transactions conducted 
for business operations, renting or leasing real estate, transactions involving assets or services or 
provision or acceptance of financial support by accepting or offering loans, guarantees, offering assets 
as collateral for debts including any other similar circumstances that cause The Company or parties to 
a contract to have debt obligations to be paid to one another valued at three percent of The Company’s 
tangible assets or 20 million baht and up, whichever is lower. Calculation of the aforementioned debt is 
to be consistent with methods for calculating value of connected transactions pursuant to the Capital 
Market Supervisory Board Notification on Criteria for Allowing Connected Transactions. Consideration 
of the aforementioned debt is to include debts incurred in one year before the date of business 
relations with the same person. 

6. Independent directors must not be or have been auditors of The Company, the parent 
company, subsidiaries, associated companies, major shareholders or individuals with control authority 
over The Company and independent directors must not be major shareholders, individuals with control 
authority or a partner of the auditing office where auditors of The Company, the parent company, 
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subsidiaries, associated companies, major shareholders or individuals with control authority over The 
Company work unless independent directors have not had the aforementioned characteristics for no 
less than two years before accepting the position. 

7. Independent directors must not be or have been providers of any professional services 
including services as a legal or financial consultant who was paid service fees exceeding two million 
baht per year by The Company, the parent company, subsidiaries, associated companies, major 
shareholders or individuals with control authority over The Company in addition to not being a major 
shareholder, an individual with control authority or a partner of that professional service provider unless 
independent directors have not had the aforementioned characteristics for no less than two years 
before accepting the position. 

8. Independent directors must not be directors who were appointed to represent directors of The 
Company, major shareholders or shareholders who are connected to major shareholders. 

9. Independent directors must not engage in businesses with the same conditions as the 
business of The Company or subsidiaries and businesses in significant competition with the business 
of The Company or subsidiaries. Independent directors must not be a major partner in partnerships or 
a director who is involved in management, an hired worker, an employee, a salaried consultant or a 
shareholder of more than one percent of all shares eligible for voting in other companies engaged 
businesses with the same conditions as the business of The Company or subsidiaries and businesses 
in significant competition with the business of The Company or subsidiaries. 

10. Independent directors must not have any other characteristics preventing independent 
directors from providing independent opinions regarding The Company’s operations. 

DIRECTOR QUALIFICATIONS 

1. Directors must be individuals who have knowledge, abilities, honesty, business ethics and 
sufficient time to dedicate knowledge, abilities and perform duties for The Company. 

2. Directors must have qualifications and no prohibited characteristics pursuant to laws on public 
limited companies, laws on securities and exchanges and other relevant laws including no 
characteristics indicative of lack of suitability for trust to manage businesses with publicly held shares 
according to notifications and specifications of the Capital Market Supervisory Board. 

3. Directors must not be an individual who operates a business with the same characteristics as 
The Company and in competition with The Company’s business or become a partner or director in 
juristic persons that operate a business with the same characteristics as The Company in competition 
with The Company’s business regardless of whether such business operations were for personal gain 
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or for the benefit of others unless directors informed the shareholder meeting before the vote to appoint 
the director. 

4. Independent Directors must have qualifications concerning independence specified by The 
Company consistent with guidelines prescribed by Capital Market Supervisory Board Notifications. 
Furthermore, independent directors must be individuals capable of equitably maintaining the interests 
of all shareholders to prevent conflicts of interest. Moreover, independent directors must be able to 
attend Board of Directors meetings and offer independent opinions. 

(2) Sub-Committees 

The Board of Directors has appointed four sub-committees, namely the Executive Committee, the 
Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and the Risk Management Committee to 
moderate operations within the scope of authority established to enhance the performance of the Board 
of Directors. The composition and appointment of such sub-committees is in accordance with the 
criteria in the composition and appointment of the Board of Directors, Executive Committee, Audit 
Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and Risk Management Committee. 

(3) Scope of Dutiesand Responsibilities of Chairman 

3.1) The Chairman or other assigned person convenes the Board of Directors’ meeting. 
Encourage the directors to attend the Board of Directors’ meeting. 

3.2) Perform duties in determining the meeting agenda with the Chief Executive Officer.  

3.3) Be the Chairman at the Board of Directors’ meeting, and control the meeting efficiently in line 
with the agenda, articles of association and applicable laws, allocate sufficient time for the 
management to propose topics, support and give the directors an opportunity to discuss and exercise 
their independent opinions, control discussion of issues, and declare a resolution in the meeting. 

3.4) Be the Chairman at the shareholders’ meeting, and control the meeting efficiently in line with 
the agenda, articles of association and applicable laws, allocate sufficient time for the management to 
propose topics, support and give the directors an opportunity to discuss and exercise their 
independent opinions, control discussion of issues, and declare a resolution in the meeting. 

3.5) Encourage the directors and executives and employees of the company to perform in line 
with the Good Corporate Governance Policy of the company.  

3.6) Inform the Board of Directors of any important information. 

3.7) Oversee and ensure that the Board of Directors to perform their duties in line with the scope 
of roles, duties, and responsibilities of the Board of Directors, applicable laws as well as the good 
corporate governance principles its duties efficiently to achieve the Company’s objectives. 
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3.8) Promote a culture of openness and debate through ensuring constructive relations between 
the executive directors and non-executive directors, and between the Board of Directors and the 
management. 

(4) Roles, Duties and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 

4.1) Corporate Governance Policy 

 The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of good corporate governance in 
the Company by adhering to the principles of good corporate governance in accordance with good 
corporate governance principles for listed companies 2012 of the Stock Exchange of Thailand. The 
Company has also adopted the Code of Conduct, which has been approved by the Board of Directors 
and has been promoted throughout the organization to be understood and practiced at all times. In 
addition, Standard Operating Procedures have been developed to control operations and 
performances within the organization. the Board of Directors also periodically approves and 
promulgates new internal rules and regulations aimed at improving the Company's good corporate 
governance.  

4.2)   Code of Conduct 

 The Company has created a Code of Conduct manual approved by the Board of Directors 
and it is required that the employees, management, and directors shall comply with such Code of 
Conduct strictly. The mentioned Code of Conduct has also been promoted throughout the organization 
to be understood via e-mail as well as placing on the public relations board to promote compliance. 

 The code of conduct was drafted under integrity principles, transparency principles, good 
corporate governance principles and good social ethics. 

4.3)   Conflicts of Interest 

 Transactions between the Company and any connected persons that may bring conflicting 
shall be thoroughly considered by the audit committee. If it is an important inter-transaction, the 
transaction must be approved by the Board of Directors and/or the shareholders' meeting, depending 
on the nature and size of the transaction according to the requirements of the Capital Market 
Supervisory Board. Any directors or executives who has interests or is involved will not participate in 
the decision-making process of the mentioned transaction. 

 In this regard, such transactions must be made under normal trading conditions, with a fair 
and at arms' length basis. The Company will refer to the independent appraiser's report appointed by 
the Company to set a fair price for both the Company and related parties. 
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4.4) Internal Control and Audit System 

The Company recognizes the importance of an effective internal control system by the 
Board of Directors and has assigned the Audit Committee to make sure that the Company has 
adequate internal control systems (in five different areas: organization and environment, risk 
management, management operational control, information and communication system, and 
monitoring system) and to report to the Board of Directors. 

Internal Audit 

The Company has established an independent internal audit department with an internal 
audit supervisor overseeing the internal audit process and reporting directly to the Audit Committee 
to monitor and assess the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control of the Company and its 
subsidiaries in accordance with the annual audit form approved by the Audit Committee and 
reported to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of 
the Group Company's operations.  

In this regard, the appointment, removal, and relocation of the position of Internal Audit 
Supervisor must be approved by the Audit Committee. 

4.5)   Whistleblowing Channels 

The Board of Directors provides clear guidelines for those who wish to report clues or 
stakeholders through the Company’s website (www.sermsang.com) under “complaint on 
misconduct” heading or report directly to the Company. The channel for whistleblowing is assigned 
through the Company's Internal Audit Supervisor in order to report to the independent directors or 
the Audit Committee of the Company in order to review the information in accordance with the 
procedures established by the Company and report to the committee. 

4.6) Establish risk management policy 

The Board of Directors establishes risk management policy to cover the entire organization 
by having management regularly follow policies and reports to the Board of Directors, and should 
review the system or evaluate the effectiveness of risk management at least once a year and disclose 
it in the annual report and at any time that the risk level of change is found, including the emphasis 
on early warning signs and the various irregular transactions. 

4.7) Supervision of operations of subsidiaries and/or associated companies 

In regard to supervising the Company's holding business, the Company has placed an 
emphasis on establishing guidelines for supervising the operations of its subsidiaries and joint 
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ventures in its Investment, Supervision of Operations and Management in Subsidiaries and 
Associated Companies Policy. 

The Company has assigned directors and representatives who are experts in the 
Company's business to represent the Company in serving as a director in the Company’s 
subsidiaries or associated companies, to supervise the management and report the performance to 
the Board of Directors' meeting on a quarterly basis. The proportion of representatives of the 
Company who hold directorship positions in subsidiaries and associated companies, at least, is in 
proportion to the Company's shareholding in that company. In addition, the determination of 
important policies and voting on important agenda items of subsidiaries and associated companies 
must be approved by the Board of Directors. 

In this regard, supervision of the operations of the Company's subsidiaries and overseas 
subsidiaries shall be to the extent that is not contrary to the foreign law, rules or regulations and/or 
regulations of such Company, and as far as it does not make or may not result in its subsidiaries and 
overseas subsidiaries being obliged to take any further action beyond the compliance with applicable 
laws or regulations, and to the extent that it does not cause its subsidiaries and overseas subsidiaries 
to lose any benefits that should be obtained under foreign law. 

However, in the event that the Company is unable to push its subsidiaries and/or affiliates 
to comply with this policy due to the legal restrictions of the country in which the Company's 
subsidiaries and/or affiliates is located, the Company will take other equivalent measures to ensure 
that the Company has a governance mechanism that enables the Company to supervise, manage and 
take responsibility for the operations of its subsidiaries and/or affiliated companies that operate its 
core business as an entity of the Company, as well as to provide measures to monitor the 
management of such companies in order to preserve the interests of the Company's investments. In 
this regard, subsidiaries and/or affiliated companies engaged in the Company's core business shall 
be defined in accordance with the definitions set forth in the Notification of the Capital Market 
Supervisory Board No. 39/2016 and the amended version. 

(5) Meetings of the Board of Directors and Sub-Committees 

(5.1) Board of Directors 

The Company will hold at least four regular board meetings each year on a quarterly 
basis, which will be determined and notified in advance. 

In this regard, the dedication of each director to the Company should not be focused 
solely on spending time attending meetings. However, it should include exchange of opinions, 
advice, experience, and networking to increase the benefits of the Group Company's business.  
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(5.2) Executive Committee 

The Company will hold regular meetings of the Executive Committee at least once a year, 
which will be determined and notified in advance. 

In this regard, the dedication to the Company of each executive committee member 
should not be focused solely on spending time attending meetings. However, it should include an 
exchange of opinions, advice, experience, and networking to increase the benefits of the Group 
Company's business.  

(5.3) Audit Committee 

The Company will hold regular meetings of the Audit Committee, at least four times each 
year on a quarterly basis, which will be determined and notified in advance. 

(5.4) Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

The Company will hold a meeting of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee at least 
once a year, which will be determined and notified in advance. 

(5.5) Risk Management Committee 

The Company will hold risk management committee meetings at least once a year, which 
will be determined and notified in advance. 

(6) Self-assessment of the Board of Directors 

The Company has established an annual evaluation of the performance of the Board of Directors 
to jointly consider and summarize the results of the work assessment and review the performance. The 
Company has established a self-assessment of the Board of Directors in the self-assessment form of 
the entire committee. 

(7) Remuneration for Directors and Executives 

(7.1)        Ensure that the remuneration of directors is in a manner comparable to the levels 
practiced in the industry, and the individual’s experience, obligations, scope of roles and 
responsibilities, as well as the expected benefits of each director. Directors who are assigned 
more duties and responsibilities, such as being a member of a sub-committee, should also 
receive additional compensation appropriately. 

(7.2)        Ensure that the remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and senior management is 
in accordance with the principles and policies prescribed by the Board of Directors and in the 
best interests of the Company. 
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(7.3)        All non-executive directors or remuneration committees evaluate directors and 
executives annually for consideration of remuneration of directors and executives by using pre-
agreed norms with directors and executives in accordance with concrete criteria. This includes 
financial performance and portfolio of long-term compliance with strategic objectives and present 
the above assessment results to the Board of Directors for approval, and the Chairman should 
communicate the results to the Chief Executive Officer. 

(8) Director and Executive Development 

(8.1) Promoting and facilitating training and educating stakeholders in the Company's 
corporate governance system, such as directors, to continuously improve the operation. Training 
and education may be done internally in the Company or using the services of external 
institutions. 

(8.2) Every time a new director is appointed, management will provide documents and 
information useful to the duties of the new directors, as well as to introduce the business 
characteristics and business practices of the Group Company to new directors. 

(8.3) Board of directors determines Succession Plan for preparation of plans to significant 
positions including plans to improve personnel to have an appropriate number, knowledge, skills, 
experience and characteristics. In order to enable The Company to operate the business 
continually in the long term. 

 

6.2 Code of Conduct 

(1) Policy 

Code of Conduct is applicable to Directors, Management Team, Employees of the Company, all of its 
affiliated companies at all levels regardless of whether or not they have signed the 
acknowledgement. 

(2) Compliance with the law 

The purpose of the Group Company is to do business lawfully and in accordance with the 
requirements and respect the rights of traders or their counterparts and customers.  

(3) The Company's Code of Conduct consists of: 

3.1 Behaving in accordance with the Company's rules, regulations, announcements and directives.  
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This Code of Conduct is an addition to the regulations, announcements, other orders of the Group Company. If 
any regulatory statements, notices, or directives conflict with those in the Code of Conduct, use the text in this 
Code instead. 

All directors, executives, and employees of the Group Company must behave in accordance with the 
rules, regulations, announcements and directives of the Group Company and of their immediate 
supervisors and supervisors, that is: 

3.1.1 Policy and compliance must be supported as well as regulations, orders, agreements, 
announcements, or circulars of the Group Company which are strictly announced to all 
employees. 

3.1.2 The Company shall carry out its duties with integrity and fairness, as well as report incidents 
that may damage the Group Company's reputation and assets as soon as possible. 

3.1.3 Be polite, courteous, and respectful to colleagues. 

3.1.4 To perform duties with intent and dedication, maintain the Group Company's rules and 
governance to set a good example for employees in general in order for the Company to 
progress rightfully. 

3.1.5 The interests and confidentiality of the Group Company, customers or in connection with any 
business that the Group Company is strictly confidential and must not be disclosed. 
Dissemination of news regarding the Group Company’s finances and business must be 
done only in accordance with the proper and authorized guidelines and must be done with 
prudence and efficiency. Therefore, throughout the period of being an employee of the 
Group Company and after the termination as the Group Company's employees, all 
employees agree to maintain the confidentiality of the mentioned information. If such 
information is disclosed or sent to others or used for any matter other than the performance 
of duties for the Group Company, the employee agrees to be liable to indemnify the Group 
Company as actually incurred in all respects. 

3.1.6 Everyone must be vigilant and help to protect the assets of the Group Company to ensure 
there will be no damages or losses, whether from a person or from any disasters, as fully as 
possible, and must not utilize any items, either equipment or assets of the Group Company 
for personal benefits or for the benefit of others who are not involved in the Group 
Company’s business operations.  
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3.1.7 Administrate all works by adhering to morality and ethics, as well as promoting morality and 
ethics at all levels of the Group Company as well as monitor and manage potential conflicts 
of interest in the Group.  

3.1.8 Close supervision of subordinates must be administered with fairness and no prejudice. 

3.1.9 Must be ready to work as a team and be able to listen to the opinions of others. 

3.1.10 To comply with, as well as promote and supervise the subordinates to strictly comply with 
the regulations, disciplines and requirements of the Group Company in the use of computer 
systems, computer data and computer traffic data of the Group Company to ensure that the 
use of computers of the Group is compliant with computer law, copyright law or other 
applicable laws to prevent any damages to the reputation and image of the Group 
Company. 

3.2 Undesirables 

All directors, executives, and employees of the Group Company shall refrain from practices or 
behaviors that will lead to the degradation of the Group Company and themselves, that is: 

3.2.1 Take the company's working time to do other things or take personal advantage during 
working hours. 

3.2.2 Conduct a business that has the same nature and compete with the business of the Group 
Company, whether for self-benefit gains or the gains of others or become a shareholder with 
management dominance which may be damaging to the Group, either directly or indirectly. 

3.2.3 Behave in a way that may degrade their own work status and the honor of the Group 
Company. 

3.2.4 Inform or use false statements or conceal the truth that should be disclosed to the Group 
Company. 

3.2.5 Work with negligence and act inappropriately under their own duties rather than completing 
the work in a proper and honest way. 

3.2.6 Conceal or distort the truth in order to obtain the interests of oneself or others, which may 
cause damage to the Group, either directly or indirectly. 
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3.2.7 Disrupt or act in any way that impedes the performance of the authorized personnel of the 
Company or issue any orders that force the employees to act wrongfully or unethically.  

3.2.8 Breaking civil and criminal laws that damage oneself or others, whether intentionally or not. 

3.2.9 Disclose wages or salaries or the increased salary rates of themselves or of others, whether 
intentionally or not. 

3.2.10 Demand or consent to accept assets or other benefits from customers, traders, partners, 
competitors, or any other person who does business with the Group or arrange or accept 
hospitality, which proves beyond reasonableness, except for traditional gifts or business 
receptions as usual, or the cost of promoting a business that brings a commercial reputation 
as a customary exchange. 

3.2.11 Bribe and/or take any actions that cause damage to the Group Company and/or corruption, 
either directly or through third parties, and/or improperly influence government agents, 
customers or trade partners which is considered as a violation to the policies of the Group 
Company.  

3.2.12 Take any additional, truncated or corrective actions in any record or information to alter or 
misrepresent performance and record the accounting to be intentionally misrepresented for 
any purpose. 

3.2.13 Payment or management of the business with the intent or to lead people to understand that 
part of the payment or management of the business are done with purposes other than 
those specified in the document for payment or business management. 

3.2.14 Shall not be a person who has an oversupplied debt or has a reason under the law to 
assume that they are an oversupplied debt. 

3.2.15 Fail to maintain information on the intellectual property of the Group Company, or the 
Company, which has been obtained by the employee performing their duties. 

3.2.16 Plagiarize the works and intellectual property of others. 

3.2.17 Perform any act that unlawfully exploits oneself or others. 

3.2.18 Allow a non-procurement organization seek support from a vendor or partner. (If there is a 
need to seek such support for the benefit of the Group Let various agencies consult with the 
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purchasing line to be the person responsible for the action. Except for joint marketing 
activities, the marketing of the marketing and business development line is responsible) 

3.2.19 Acts that neglect or facilitate any person who exploits or accesses or interferes with 
computer systems, computer information, computer traffic information of the Group 
Company, or without the permission of the Group Company, or intentionally, supporting or 
consenting to the occurrence or existence of the misconduct of service providers under 
computer law or copyright law or other applicable laws. 

3.2.20 Use inside information for their own benefit or others to buy or sell shares of the Group 
Company or provide inside information to other parties for the benefit of buying or selling 
shares of the Company. 

(4.) Disciplinary Procedures 

4.1 Non-serious violations:  The person will receive a written warning letter which will indicate the 
nature of the breach as well as the reasons that rely on the principle of the breach, giving the 
person the opportunity to dispute the allegations against the supervisor. If the issue is not 
resolved, the matter shall be presented to the Board of Management for consideration and the 
disciplinary committee's decision shall be final. If there is a second violation or the person does 
not resolve the offence of the breach in the first place as received the warning letter, the person 
will be subject to strict disciplinary action, which may include dismissal. 

4.2 Serious violations, including violations such as giving or receiving bribes, fraud, disclosure of 
confidential information or intellectual property of the Company to third parties and any actions 
that degrade the Company's honor, or concealing or not reporting any important information, 
discussions or documents to the Supervisor. The Company may consider termination without 
compensation and without the need to issue a written warning letter. 
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7. Corporate Governance Structure and significant information about the Board of Directors, the Sub-
committees, the Executives, Employees and others. 

7.1 The Board of Directors 

As of 31 December 2022, Management Structure of the Company consists of the Board of 
Directors and 4 sub-committees as follows: (1) The Audit Committee (2) The Risk Management Committee 
(3) The Nomination and Remuneration Committee and (4) The Executive Committee with the following 
detail. 

(1) The Board of Directors 

List of names Position 
1. Mr. Kamthon Wangudom  Chairman of the Board /Independent Director / Director of 

the Audit Committee 

2. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul  Director /Chairman of the Executive Committee / Chairman 
of the Risk Management Committee/ Director of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

3. Mr. Samrieng Mekkriengkrai  Independent Director / Chairman of the Audit Committee /  
Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

4. Mr. Dhana Buphawanit  Independent Director / Director of the Audit Committee / 
Director of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

5. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul  Director / Executive Director / Director of the Audit 
Committee / the Deputy of Chief Executive Director 

6. Mr. Tanawat Kraipisitkul Director/ Executive Director  
7. Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub  Director / Executive Director / Director of the Risk 

Management Committee / Chief Executive Officer  

8. Mrs. Thanyanee Kraipisitkul  Director 

9. General Phairat Phoubon  Independent Director  
10. Mr. Monchai Pongstabadee Independent Director 

 

 

7.	 Corporate Governance Structure and significant information 
	 about the Board of Directors, the Subcommittees,
	 the Executives, Employees and others.
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(2) The Audit Committee 

List of names Position 

1. Mr. Samrieng Mekkriengkrai Chairman of the Audit Committee 

2. Mr. Dhana Buphawanit Director of the Audit Committee 

3. Mr. Kamthon Wangudom  Director of the Audit Committee 
 

(3) The Risk Management Committee 

List of names Position 

1. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul  Chairman of the Risk Management Committee 
2. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul  Director of the Risk Management Committee  
3. Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub  Director of the Risk Management Committee  

 

(4) The Nomination and Remuneration Committee  

List of names Position 
1. Mr. Samrieng Mekkriengkrai  Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee 

2. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul  Director of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee 

3. Mr. Dhana Buphawanit Director of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee 
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(5) The Executive Committee  

List of names Position 

1. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul  Chief of the Executive Committee 
2. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul  Member of the Executive Committee 
3. Mr. Tanawat Kraipisitkul  Member of the Executive Committee 
4. Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub  Member of the Executive Committee 

 

7.1.1 Authorized Directors  

Authorized Directors are Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul or Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul or Mr. Varut 
Tummavaranukub; two (out of three) who countersign with the Company’s seal binds the Company.  

 

7.1.2 The Committee of the Subsidiaries 

7.1.2.1 The Committee of the Subsidiaries  
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7.1.2.2 The Authorized Directors of the Subsidiaries 

Company Detail 

1. SPN Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul or Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul sign with Company Seal 

2. AE Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub sign with Company Seal  

3. EP Ms. Thantaporn Krapisitkul or Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub sign with Company Seal  

4. PE Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul or Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub sign with Company Seal 

5. PTG Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul or Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub sign with Company Seal 

6. PPP Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul or Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub sign with Company Seal 

7. SCS Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul or Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub sign with Company Seal  

8. SRP Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul or Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub sign with Company Seal 

9. SS Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul or Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub sign with Company Seal 

10. SSC Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul or Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub sign with Company Seal 

11. SI Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul or Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub sign with Company Seal 

12. SN Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul or Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub sign with Company Seal 

13. UPT Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul or Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub sign with Company Seal 

14. SGP Authorized directors sign to bind the Company as per meeting resolution of each committees 

15. SEG Authorized directors sign to bind the Company as per meeting resolution of each committees 

16. ACM Authorized directors sign to bind the Company as per meeting resolution of each committees 

17. SJC Directors sign with the Company Seal 

18. SSSG Authorized directors sign to bind the Company as per meeting resolution of each committees  

19. TGC Authorized directors sign to bind the Company as per meeting resolution of each committees  

20. TTQN Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub or Mr. Passakorn Panyaratanakorn sign with Company Seal 

21. SSEP Authorized directors sign to bind the Company as per meeting resolution of each committees  

22. SSE Authorized directors sign to bind the Company as per meeting resolution of each committees  

23. TTTV Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub or Mr. Passakorn Panyaratanakorn sign with Company Seal  



SERMSANG POWER CORPORATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED194 

  Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited 

    
Form 56-1-2022: Corporate Governance Structure                                                                                                       Section 7 Page 9 

Company Detail 

24.  NRP  Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub or Ms. Thantaporn Krapisitkul sign with Company Seal 

25.  RAP  Mr. Sumet Suttapukti and Miss Siriporn Jungtumdeerungkajorn or Mrs. Jutatip Yimsiri sign with 
Company Seal 

26. RI Mr. Sumet Suttapukti and Miss Siriporn Jungtumdeerungkajorn or Mrs. Jutatip Yimsiri sign with 
Company Seal 

27. SSTE Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub or Ms. Thantaporn Krapisitkul sign with Company Seal 

28. STZ Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub or Ms. Thantaporn Krapisitkul sign with Company Seal 

29. SNV Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub or Ms. Thantaporn Krapisitkul sign with Company Seal 

30. Betten Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub or Ms. Thantaporn Krapisitkul sign  

31. LKY Mr. Sumet Suttapukti and Miss Siriporn Jungtumdeerungkajorn or Mrs. Jutatip Yimsiri sign with 
Company Seal 

32. LCK Mr. Sumet Suttapukti and Miss Siriporn Jungtumdeerungkajorn or Mrs. Jutatip Yimsiri sign with 
Company Seal 

33. LNR Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub or Ms. Thantaporn Krapisitkul sign with Company Seal 

34. LSK Mr. Sumet Suttapukti and Miss Siriporn Jungtumdeerungkajorn or Mrs. Jutatip Yimsiri sign with 
Company Seal 

35. IRP Mr. Sumet Suttapukti and Miss Siriporn Jungtumdeerungkajorn or Mrs. Jutatip Yimsiri sign with 
Company Seal 

 
7.2 The Sub-Committee 

The structure of the Company’s committee consists of the Board of Directors and 4 Sub-Committees 
which is the Audit Committee, the Risk Management Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
and the Executive Committee. 
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7.2.1 The Board of Directors 
Presently, the Board of Directors consists of 10 persons with the following detail. 

List of names Position 
1. Mr. Kamthon Wangudom Chairman /Independent Director 
2. Mr. Samrieng Mekriengkrai  Independent Director 
3. Mr. Dhana Buphawanit Independent Director 
4. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul  Director 
5. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul Director 
6. Mr. Tanawat Kraipisitkul Director 
7. Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub  Director 
8. Mrs. Thanyanee Kraipisitkul Director 
9. General Phairat Phoubon Independent Director 
10. Mr. Monchai Pongsatabadee Independent Director 
Note: Ms. Samornmart Chaiphatikarn works as the Company’s secretary. 

Scope, authority, duty and responsibility of the Board of Directors 

The meeting of the Board of Directors has approved scope, authority, duty and responsibility of 
the Board of Directors as follows:  

1) Comply with applicable laws, the Company‘s objectives and rules, the Board resolution and the 
resolution of shareholder with responsibility, caution and honesty. 

2) Consider and approve vision, business strategy, business direction, goal, corporate approach, 
operation plan and budget of the Company and the subsidiaries as the proposal of the Board of 
Directors and Management.  

3) Supervise the operation management and the performance of the Executive Committee, Chairman, 
Chief Executive Officer, Management and any delegated persons to comply with the policy. 

4) Monitor the performance of the Company, the subsidiaries and the associated continually according to 
the operation plan and the Company‘s budget.  

5) Arrange for the Company, the subsidiaries and the associated to adopt proper and efficient 
accounting system, good internal control and good internal audit.  
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6) Provide the Statement of Position and Income Statement as at end of the fiscal year of the Company 
and the subsidiaries and authorize to certify the financial statement for the proposal of the shareholder 
resolution. 

7) Propose the selection and the appointment to the auditors of the Company and the subsidiaries and 
reasonable audit fee as the Audit Committee‘s proposal to the Annual General Meeting for approval. 

8) Set and adopt the written good corporate governance policy efficiently to ensure that the Group is 
fairly responsible for all stakeholders.  

9) Propose the appointment to the qualified persons to be the Director without the prohibited qualification 
as per Public Limited Companies Act B.E.2535, Securities and Exchange Act B.E.2535 including the 
relevant announcement, rules and/or regulations due to the vacancy of the position of Director in case 
of expiration and other reasons. In addition, determine the Directors‘ remuneration for shareholders’ 
approval. 

10) Appoint sub-committee including the Audit Committee, the Executive Committee, the Nomination and 
the Remuneration, Risk Management Committee or any sub committees as well as determine an 
authority of the sub-committee to assist and support the Board’s operation. 

11) Consider and amend the name of authorized Directors. 

12) Consider the appointment of the Executives and Company’s Secretary as the definition set by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission or the Capital Market Supervisory Board as well as determine 
the executives’ remuneration as proposed by the Nomination and Remuneration.  

13) Ask for professional opinion from external organizations for suitable decision, if necessary. 

14) Encourage Directors and Executives of the Company to participate in seminar courses about their 
duties and responsibilities organized by Thai Institute of Directors Association (IOD).  

15) Supervise the Company’s operation efficiently and protect benefit for all stakeholders. 

16) Organize the Annual General Meeting for shareholders within 4 months after the end of fiscal year. 

17) Organize the Board meeting at least every 3 months. 

18) Generate annual report of the Board and financial statement of the Company and the subsidiaries to 
present the financial position and performance of the Company and the subsidiaries in prior year as 
well as propose for shareholders’ meeting to review and approve.  
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19) Supervise management and operation of the Company and the subsidiaries as per the Company‘s 
policy. In case of change in Directors of the subsidiaries, the Board has to manage to ensure that the 
subsidiaries’ Directors who are nominated or appointed by the Company will acknowledge and comply 
with corporate policies, Public Limited Companies Act, Civil and Commercial Code, Securities Laws 
including announcement, rules, any regulations of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and the Stock Exchange of Thailand such as related company 
transactions,acquisition and disposition of significant assets which is unconflicted to any laws 
including adequate, proper internal control and internal audit.  

20) Set policies, supervise to have a system that well supports anti-corruption efficiently to ensure that the 
Board of Directors has realized and given importance to anti-corruption and instilled it to become the 
organizational culture. 

In addition, the Board of Directors is in charge of determining measurement and mechanism 
direct and indirectly, monitoring the subsidiaries and/or associated (if any) to comply with the 
measurement, mechanism, corporate control policy, Public Limited Companies Act, Civil and 
Commercial Code, Securities Laws including announcement, rules, any regulations of the Capital 
Market Supervisory Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand as well as protecting the interests in corporate investment. In addition, the Board is authority 
in compliance and management to the subsidiaries and/or associated (if any) with previous approval 
from the Board of Directors and shareholder meeting (as the case maybe) and approval from the 
meeting of Board of Directors and/or Shareholder of the subsidiaries and/or associated (as the case 
maybe) as follows:  

(1) Authorization of the Board of Directors 

(a) The appointment or nomination of directors and executives in subsidiaries and/or associated (if 
any) is at least proportion to corporate shareholding in the subsidiaries and/or associated (if any). 
The authority of the appointed or nominated director and executives is the consideration of voting 
in the meeting of subsidiaries and/or associated (if any), general management and normal 
operation of subsidiaries and/or associated (if any) as appropriate to maximize profits unless there 
are any agendas for the approval of the Board or Shareholders ‘meeting.  
Furthermore, the qualification of nominated directors or executives as above is the persons in 
White List of directors and executives of the security issuer who have roles, duties, responsibilities 
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and reliable personality as per the Determination of Untrustworthy Characteristics of Company 
Directors and Executives announced by the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

(b) The consideration of final dividend and interim dividend (if any) of the subsidiaries and/or 
associated (if any). 

(c) The revision of articles of association of the subsidiaries and associated (if any) except the 
revision of significant articles of association as per (2)(e). 

(d) The consideration of annual budget of the subsidiaries and/or associated (if any). 
(e) The appointment for the auditors of the subsidiaries and/or associated (if any) of which the 

auditors are not in an affiliated of a full member audit office of the Company, which does not 
correspond to corporate appointment approach that the auditors of subsidiaries and associated is 
an affiliated of the same audit office as the Company‘s.  
From (f)  to ( i) all transactions are significant and impacts on materiality of financial position and 
operating performance of subsidiaries. Therefore, before the meeting of sub-committees and 
directors who are appointed for subsidiaries. The case is about calculation of financial 
transactions’ size of subsidiaries compared to the Company’s as per the criteria considered by 
the Board of Directors which is quoted from the rules of Acquisition and Disposition of Assets 
and/or the connected transactions (if any). In the consideration of the Board of Directors, all these 
transactions include the following cases. 

(f) The subsidiaries agree to generate related transactions or its transactions about acquisition or 
disposition of assets including but not limited to the following issues. 
(1) The subsidiaries agree to transfer or relinquish the benefits and claims consideration of 

annual budget of the subsidiaries and/or associated (if any). 

(2) Sale or transfer all or part of subsidiaries’ business to third parties.  

(3) Purchase or transfer other business to be owned by subsidiaries.  

(4)  Execution, revision or cancellation for all or parts of leasing business of subsidiaries, 
assignment to the attorney to operate for the subsidiaries or merging subsidiaries with other 
businesses. 

(5) Lease or hire purchase business or assets of all or significant part of subsidiaries’ business.  

(g) Borrowing or lending, credit financing, guarantee, act in the law for subsidiaries’ financial burden 
or subsidy to third-party for abnormal business of subsidiaries.  

(h) Dissolution of subsidiaries.  
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(i) Abnormal and material transactions of subsidiaries.  

 

 

(2) Authorization of Shareholders’ meeting prior to subsidiaries’ generating transactions  

(a) The case is about calculation of financial transactions’ size of subsidiaries compared to the 
Company’s as per the criteria considered by the Board of Directors which is quoted from the rules 
of Acquisition and Disposition of Assets and/or the connected transactions (if any). In the 
consideration of shareholders’ meeting (the criteria for calculation as per relevant announcement 
of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, the Stock Exchange of Thailand). 

(b) Capital increase of subsidiaries, share allocation and capital decrease are not proportion to 
previous shareholding or any action which the proportion of the Company’s’ voting right in 
shareholders meeting decreases less than proportion as law and the Company’ s regulation 
directly and/or indirectly impact on has no authority to control subsidiaries. Moreover, calculation 
for transactions size compared with the company’s size is to be approved in shareholders meeting 
(the criteria for calculation as per relevant announcement of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, 
the Stock Exchange of Thailand). 

(c) The dissolution of subsidiaries of which transaction calculation is not compared to the Company’s 
and approved by shareholder meeting (the criteria for calculation as per relevant announcement 
of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, the Stock Exchange of Thailand about acquisition or 
disposition of assets). 

(d) Any unusual transactions of business which impact on subsidiaries significantly have calculated 
transaction size approved by shareholders’ meeting (the criteria for calculation as per relevant 
announcement of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, the Stock Exchange of Thailand about 
acquisition or disposition of assets). 

(e) The revision of subsidiaries in materiality to financial position and performance of subsidiaries 
includes but is not limited to only revision of subsidiaries which impact on voting right of the 
Company in meeting of subsidiaries’ Board of Director and /or Shareholders or dividend payment. 
In addition, Directors will operate subsidiaries to have internal control risk management system, 

anti-corruption system including proper, efficient and concise monitoring measurement for operation of 
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subsidiaries and associated which ensures operation of subsidiaries and associates corresponds to 
plan, budget and policy of the Company as well as announcement, rules and criteria related to the 
announcement , rules and criteria of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand , the Security and Exchange Commission, monitor subsidiaries and/or associates to disclose 
related transaction and /or acquisition or disposition of assets and/or materiality transactions of the 
Company and operate according to plan, budget, policy and criteria in corporate governance and 
operation management completely and accurately.  

Board of Directors can empower and /or delegate a representative within scope of authority as per 
a power of attorney and/or principles, rules or order of the Company. The Board of Directors and 
Representative who have duties and responsibilities have no authority to approve conflict transactions 
the Board of Directors has no conflict as per the definition as announcement of the Security and 
Exchange Commission and/or the Capital Market Supervisory Board and/or the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand) , any interests or benefits or conflict with the Company and subsidiaries except approval as the 
policy and approved criteria in Shareholders or Board of Directors Meeting as well as approval in normal 
and condition business as per announcement of the Security and Exchange Commission and/or the 
Capital Market Supervisory Board and/or the Stock Exchange of Thailand and/or relevant institution.  

Moreover, Directors and Executives and/or subsidiaries have the following duties. 

1) Disclose financial position, operating performance, related transactions of the Company and/or 
subsidiaries including acquisition or disposition of assets with materiality to the Company and/or 
subsidiaries completely, accurately and timely. The Board of Directors of the Company and/or 
subsidiaries investigate related transactions or acquisition or disposition of assets with materiality of 
the Company and subsidiaries according to the announcement of the Capital Market Supervisory 
Board and/or the Stock Exchange of Thailand. 

2) Disclose and submit their information and related persons to the Board of the Company and 
subsidiaries to inform relationship and operation with the Company and subsidiaries which causes 
conflict of interests and avoid conflict of interests transactions with the Company and subsidiaries. The 
Board of the Company and subsidiaries have to inform this issues for any consideration with benefit to 
the Company and subsidiaries. 

Furthermore, Directors and Executives of the Company and/or subsidiaries have not to participate in 
their interests or conflict directly and indirectly. 
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The following actions causes Directors, Executives or related persons with the Company and/or 
subsidiaries get financial advantage in addition to normal remuneration or damage the Company. 
These actions assume conflict of interests of the Company materially.  

(a) Transactions of the Company and subsidiaries with Directors, Executives or related persons 
do not comply with criteria of connected transactions.  

(b) Use of the Company and subsidiaries information except public information.  

(c) Utilization of property or business opportunity of the Company and subsidiaries in the same 
way as the Company and subsidiaries do (if any) which breaks criteria or regulation as the 
Capital Market Supervisory Board‘s determination.  

3) Report business plan, business expansion, big investment project including investment with other 
entrepreneurs with operating performance reports as Directors determine, present and/or submit 
documents for review as the Company requests.  

4) Submit information or operating document to the Company as requested. 

5) Inform and/or relevant documents to the Company if the Company finds material fact findings.  

6) Arrange proper and adequate internal control for anti-corruption to the Company and/or subsidiaries, 
clear operating system to shows that the Company has sufficient disclosure system, transaction 
processing with materiality as per the criteria continually and reliably and channels for Directors and 
Executives of the Company and /or subsidiaries to monitor operating performance, financial position, 
intercompany transactions with Directors, transaction processing of subsidiaries with its Directors and 
Executives, transaction processing with materiality of the Company and/or subsidiaries efficiently. 
Moreover, the Directors and Executives have to arrange for mechanism in operating system 
investigation in subsidiaries; whereas internal audit team and independent directors of the Company 
can access to information directly and there are internal audit reports for Directors and Executives to 
ensure that the Company and subsidiaries comply with working system regularly. 

7) Prohibit Directors, Executive, Employee or delegator of the Company and /or subsidiaries including 
spouse and underage child of these persons to use internal information of the Company and/or 
subsidiaries which derives from duties, effect the Company and/or subsidiaries materially, give 
benefits or returns to themselves or others directly and/or indirectly. 

8) Directors, Executives or related persons of the Company and subsidiaries will operate with the 
Company and/or subsidiaries whenever the transactions are approved by the Company’s Board of 
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Directors and/or the subsidiaries’ Board of Directors (as the case maybe) depending on sizes of 
calculated transactions as per the announcement about connected transactions and relevant criteria 
of the Security and Exchange Commission and the Stock Exchange of Thailand; unless, transactions 
are trade agreement as persons of ordinary prudence will treat to their counterparties in the same 
situation with trade bargaining power, but without influence as the status of Directors, Executives or 
related persons(as the case maybe). The trade agreement is needed to be approved by the Board or 
corresponds to the principle as the Board approved. 

9) Comply with the Company’s policies which the nominate or appointed directors will perform to ensure 
that subsidiaries will comply with various policies of the Company.  

In addition, operational duties of the Board of Directors of subsidiaries and/or associates will have no 
conflict with laws, principles or international regulation and/or articles of associations, no influence on subsidiaries 
and associates to perform outside the laws or relevant regulations and no effect for subsidiaries and associates to 
lose their benefits according to international laws. 

However, if the Company cannot operate for subsidiaries and/or associates to comply with authority, duty 
and responsibility as specified in this report due to restriction of local laws of subsidiaries and associates as 
above, the Company can operate with other measurement as equivalent to ensure that the Company has 
mechanism of corporate governance to control management and responsibility of subsidiaries and associates as 
the parts of the Company. The Company can also arrange measurement to monitor corporate operation to protect 
interests in the Company’s investment for the definition of subsidiaries to correspond with the announce of the 
Capital Market Supervisory Board no.TJ 39/2559 and the revision. 

 

7.2.2 Sub-Committee 
7.2.2.1 The Audit Committee 
At present, the Audit Committee of the Company consists of 3 Audit Directors as below:  

List of names Position 
1. Mr. Samrieng Mekkriengkrai Chairman of Audit Committee 
2. Mr. Dhana Buphawanit  Audit Director 
3. Mr. Kamthon Wangudom  Audit Director 
Note: Ms. Sarmornmart Chaiphatikarn acts as Company’s Secretary 
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Mr. Thana Buphawanit is Audit Director with knowledge and expertise in review of corporate 
financial statement who is appointed as Audit Committee an 2nd/2015 Extraordinary General Meeting of 
Shareholders on 28th October 2015 by Mr. Thana Buphawanit who reviews Consolidated Financial 
Statements and/or review of the Group as scope, authority, duty and responsibility as specified. 

Scope Authority Duty and Responsibility of Audit Committee  

The Boards’ Meeting has resolution to approve charters for the Audit Committee, scope, 
authority, duty and responsibility of the Audit Committee as follows:  

1) Review financial reports for the Company and subsidiaries accurately and sufficiently and coordinate 
with external auditors and Executives who have responsibility to generate quarterly and annual 
financial statements. In addition, the Audit Committee might propose auditors to review or investigate 
any material and necessary transactions during auditing of the Company and/or subsidiaries.  

2) Review internal control and internal audit of the Company and subsidiaries properly, adequately and 
efficiently, consider independence of Internal Audit Office and agree to appoint, transfer, terminate 
internal audit office controller or any department who is responsible for internal audit. 

3) Review compliance to Securities and Exchange Laws, Rules or any laws related to business of the 
Group.  

4) Consider, select, appoint any independent persons to be auditors of the Company and subsidiaries, 
propose audit fee with regard to reliability, resource sufficiency, audit volume of an audit office and 
experience of the delegated audit of the Company and subsidiaries as well as join meeting with 
auditors without management once a year.  

5) Consider related or conflict of interest transactions to be accurately and completely according to laws 
and rules of the Stock Market of Thailand to ensure those transactions is reasonable and maximize 
benefits for the Group. 

6) Generate report of the result for corporate governance of the Audit Committee by disclosure in annual 
report of the Company certified by the Chairman of Audit Committee and consists of at least 
information as follows: 

▪ Comment for accuracy, completeness and reliability of corporate financial report 

▪ Comment for sufficiency of internal control of the Group 
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▪ Comment for compliance with Security and Exchange laws, rules of the Stock Market of Thailand 
and related laws of the Group’s business 

▪ Comment for suitability of auditors 

▪ Comment for conflict of interests transactions 

▪ Number of meeting and attendance of each Audit Directors  

▪ Comment or overall fact findings which the Audit Committee gets operation as per Charter 

and 

▪ Other transactions to be acknowledged by Shareholders and Investors within scope and 
responsibility delegated from the Board of Directors. 

7) Operate any other assignment from the Board of Committee with agreement from the Audit Committee. 

8) In Audit Committee‘s operation, if any doubt or material transactions to financial position and operating 
performance is found, the Audit Committee have responsibility to report to the Board to improve or 
revise within proper period as the Audit Committee agrees. The Audit Committee has authority to 
consult with professional consultants if necessary when considering corporate expenditure and/or 
subsidiaries to operate within responsibility to be successful.  

(a) Conflict of interests transactions 

(b) Corruption or abnormality or significant defect in internal control 

(c) Violation of Security and Exchange Laws, rules of the Stock Market of Thailand or laws about the 
company’s business 

If the Board or Executives of the Company and/or subsidiaries do not operate to improve or revise 
within proper period according to paragraph1, an Audit Director can report for the transactions or any 
actions according to paragraph1 to the Security and Exchange Commission or the Stock Market of 
Thailand. 

9) Review and propose to revise scope, duty and responsibility of the Audit Committee as appropriate. 

10) Review rules or operating performance in prior year at least once a year. 

11) Acknowledge and feedback on the follow-up of anti-corruption measures and review of financial and 
accounting reporting systems, internal control systems, internal audit systems and risk management 
systems linked to potential risks of corruption to ensure that the Company operations are concise, 
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appropriate, op-to-date and efficient, comply with generally accepted standards, and also 
acknowledge complaints and whistle blow about corruptions both within and outside related to the 
organization, check the facts as informed by the Audit Committee, and present the complaints to the 
Board of Directors to jointly consider punishing or solving the said problems according to the anti-
corruption policy 
As above responsibility, the Audit Committee have responsibility to the Board of Directors director 
who has responsibility to third parties. 

 

7.2.2.2  The Risk Management Committee 
Presently, the Risk Management consists of 3 Risk Management Directors with the following 

details. 

List of names Position 
1. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul  Chairman of Risk Management 
2. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul  Director of Risk Management 
3. Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub  Director of Risk Management  
Note: Ms. Sarmornmart Chaiphatikarn acts as the Company’s Risk Management Director. 

Scope Authority Duty and Responsibility of the Risk Management 

Meeting of the Board has the resolution to approve scope, authority, duty and responsibility of 
the Risk Management Committee. 

1) Consider and screen the Company’s overall risk management policies and guidelines which covers 
key categories of risks, such as financial risks, investment risks, business risks, corruption risks, as 
well as assess, monitor, review adequacy of the policies and risk management systems, including 
effectiveness of the system and compliance to the specified policies to propose to the Board of 
Directors for approval. 

2) Supervise and support for operation for risk management to correspond to the Company’s strategy, 
goal including variable situation. 

3) Supervise for compliance to policy and framework of risk management to ensure that the Company 
has efficient risk management as a whole and continuous operation. The Board can consider to 
delegate the representative in individual and/or group to operate as assigned and appropriate. The 
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objective is for the delegators to operate, monitor and report to the Risk Management about 
compliance to the Company’s risk management policy.  

4) Consider risk report from related committee to monitor important risk in organization level and 
comment for possible risk, determination for measurement of risk control or risk management plan to 
ensure that the Group has appropriate and sufficient risk management. 

5) Report to the Board for material risks, risk management plan, results from risk assessment and 
corporate compliance, compliance to measurement of risk control and/or specified risk management 
to the Board continually. If any significant factors or events which will influence on the materiality of 
financial position and operating performance of the Group, the Risk Management have to report to the 
Board to consider for the measurement of risk control and/or risk management as soon as possible. 

6)  Coordinate with the Audit Committee about risk information and significant internal control for the 
Audit Committee to consider for approval of internal control plan and to ensure that the Group have 
proper internal control system for risk management including suitable risk management adaptation to 
operate for all organization. 

7) Enhance for culture of risk management within the Group. 

8) Hold a meeting for the Risk Management Committee at least once a year. 

9) Operate with risk management as the Board assigns. 

 

7.2.2.3 The Nomination and Remuneration  
Presently, the Nomination and Remuneration consists of 3 members as follows: 

List of names Position 
1. Mr. Samrieng Mekkriengkrai  Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration 
2. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul Director of the Nomination and Remuneration 
3. Mr. Dhana Buphawanit Director of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Note: Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul acts as the Secretary to the Nomination and Remuneration. 

Scope Authority Duty and Responsibility of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Meeting of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee has resolution to approve scope, 
authority, duty and responsibility of the Nomination and Remuneration as follows: 

1) Propose structure, composition and qualifications of the Board of Directors and others Sub-Committee. 
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2) Consider criteria and process to recruit and nominate proper personnel to be Directors, Chief 
Executive Officer when expired or vacancy or other executive position as the Board assigns for the 
Board of Directors to meeting of the Board of Directors or Shareholders (as the case maybe). 

3) Propose list of names of Directors for the position in sub-committee of the Company. 

4) Consider for approval in succession plan of top executives of the Company (as the definition 
“Executives” specified by the announcement of the Securities and Exchange Commission Re: 
Determination of Definitions in Notices on Issuance and Offering for Sale of Securities). 

5) Consider the criteria in assessment performance of Executive Directors and Executive Committee and 
propose to the Board of Directors. 

6) Performance appraisal for Executive Directors and Executive Committee and propose for approval 
from the Board of Director. 

7) Propose guidelines for remuneration, remuneration method and other benefits to the Board of 
Directors and sub-committees appointed by the Board. 

8) Consider annual remuneration for Directors, Chief Executive Officer including meeting allowance, 
annual bonus, welfare and other fringe benefits and propose to meeting of the Board and /or 
Shareholders (as the case maybe). 

9) Responsible and accountable for reviewing policies as appropriate and supporting effective anti-
corruption to comply with changes in business, and relevant rules, regulations and laws, and 
approving the amendment to propose to the Board of Directors for approval 
 

7.2.2.4 The Executive Committee 
Presently, the Executive Committee consists of 4 directors as follows:  

List of names Position 
1. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul  Chairman of the Executive Committee 
2. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul  Director of Executive Committee 
3. Mr. Tanawat Kraipisitkul  Director of Executive Committee 
4. Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub  Director of Executive Committee 

Note: Ms. Samornmart Chaiphatikarn acts as Secretary of Executive Committee. 
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Scope Authority Duty and Responsibility of the Executive Committee 

Meeting of the Board of Directors has resolution for approval scope, authority, duty and 
responsibility of the Executive Committee. 

1) Consider and set policy, business strategy, goal, operation plan, financial goal and budget by analysis 
of business factors properly to propose for approval from the Board. In case of change of situation, the 
Executive Committee will review approved budget to be suitable for situation.  

2) Supervise, investigate, monitor business operation of the Group as per policy, business strategy, goal, 
operating plan, financial goal and budget approved by the Committee with efficiency and 
effectiveness, consult and recommend to management. 

3) Determine organization structure about the Group’s management, appointment for management ‘s 
transfer of each business, consider and follow succession plan of executives, unplanned human 
resources in annual budget, criteria for remuneration appraisal criteria for management criteria and 
approval for compensation for the position next to Chief Executive Officer. 

4) Study financial feasibility for new project, authorize to consider and approve for the Company and/or 
subsidiaries to invest or co-invest with individual, corporate or any business organization in the form of 
the Executive Committee’s agreement to operate as objectives of the Company and/or subsidiaries, 
consider and approve payment for investment, sign contract and/or operate in financial amounts 
and/or relevant law and regulation and/or article of association.  

5) Monitor operating performance and progress of project investment of each business and report the 
result, problems or obstacles and guidelines for revision to the Board. 

6) Consider, recommend or suggest to the Board of Directors about project’s proposal or operation of the 
Group and consider selection in fund raising if necessary, which is over financial amount and/or laws 
and relevant principles or article of association. The meeting of Shareholders and/or the Board will 
approve as determined. 

7) Consider, approve financial transactions with financial institution in open an account, borrow, loan 
request, pledge, pawn, guarantee, land trading and ownership registration for benefit to business 
operation of the Company and/or subsidiaries, signing contract, contact with government sector for 
the right of the Company, and/or any operation until finished within specified financial amount and/or 
laws and relevant principles or article of association. 
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8) Consider and approve principles rules, policy of management and operation of the Group or operation 
relevant to the Company. 

9) Appoint and/or delegate to Executive Directors or one or many persons who act within scope of 
authority of Executives Committee in proper period as the Executive Committee agrees; whereas the 
Executive Committee can cancel or change that authority.  

10) Authorize and responsible as delegation or policy which is the Board of Directors assigns 
occasionally. 

11) Consider and approve for manuals of power of authority for the representatives and /or the authorized 
persons to know their scope, responsibility and authority This manual are used for operational manual 
with reference evidence and follow the process systematically. 

12) Consider, approve and signing contract of normal business operation of the Company and/or 
subsidiaries according to capital budget or budget approved by the Directors. Financial amount of 
each transactions is specified in table of power of authority approved by the Board but not over annual 
budget approved by the Board.  

13) Hold meeting for the Executive at least once a year. 

14) Responsible and accountable for establishing the system and promoting and supporting the 
implementation of anti-corruption measures, being a role model, supervising employees to comply with 
anti-corruption measures, communicating to employees and related parties in all departments, and 
reviewing the suitability of systems and measures to comply with changes in business, rules, 
regulations and legal requirements 

15) Set guidelines and recommend policies, strategies, operational frameworks, and set the goal as the 
Company with good governance and sustainable development which will lead to standardized 
organizational rules and regulations with the right approach in accordance with the organizational 
objective of building the trust and sustainability for all groups of stakeholders and related organizations 
both internally and externally with international standards 

7.2.2.5 Chief Executive Officer 

Meeting of Executive Committee has resolution for approval scope, authority, duty and 
responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer as follows: 
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1) Set policy, strategy, structure and authority including responsible for strategy planning and annual 
budget as the Executives propose for approval from the Executive Committee and the Board. 

2) Control, comply and operate and/or manage general work as per policy, plan and budget approved 
by the Board. 

3) Be representatives of the Company and/or subsidiaries according to objective, rules, policy, 
principles, requirements, command, budget approved by the Board and/or Shareholders’meeting, 
investigate and assess performance of the Group as specified in policy and report management 
performance including operating progress to the Audit Committee or the Executive Committee (as the 
case may be). 

4) Authorize and be representatives of the Company to third parties in related business and benefit to the 
Company. 

5) Consider to approve operational plan of each department of the Company, requests from each 
department which are out of their authorization, normal business operation of the Company as capital 
budget or budget approved by the Directors including signing relevant contracts. Financial amount of 
each transactions is specified in table of power of authority approved by the Board but not over annual 
budget approved by the Board.  

6) Authorize for command, regulation, announcement, record for operation as per policy and benefit to 
the Company and for discipline in organization. 

7) Delegate the executives to have authority to act in one or many issues as appropriate. 

8) Approve appointment for various business consultants to correspond to the regulation of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and the Stock Exchange of Thailand. 

9) Have authority, duty and responsibility to manage subsidiaries and each department in the Company. 

10) Have other operation as the Board or the sub-committee assigns occasionally. 

11) Set regulations, criteria, principles, rules for organization structure from the position next to Chief 
Executive Officer including appointment, employment, transfer, remuneration, bonus and termination 
of employees with the position next to Chief Executive Officer. 

12) Have authority in power of attorney and /or delegate other persons to act for some duties by power of 
attorney and/or delegation within scope of power of attorney and/or regulation, rules or command 
specified by the Board and /or the Company. 



Annual Registration Statement 2022 (Form 56-1 One Report 2022) 211 

  Sermsang Power Corporation Public Company Limited 

    
Form 56-1-2022: Corporate Governance Structure                                                                                                       Section 7 Page 26 

13) Responsible and accountable for establishing the system and promoting and supporting the 
implementation of anti-corruption measures, being a role model, supervising employees to comply with 
anti-corruption measures, communicating to employees and related parties in all departments, and 
reviewing the suitability of systems and measures to comply with changes in business, rules, 
regulations and legal requirements. 
Delegation for authority and responsibility of Chief Executive Officer or the representatives of Chief 
Executive Officer have no authority to delegate or give power of attorney to approve conflict 
transactions for himself or any persons( as the definition of the Securities and Exchange Commission 
and/or the announcement of the Capital Market Supervisory Board and/or the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand and/or the relevant office), have interests or get advantage or have conflict of interests with 
the Company or subsidiaries except the approval as per policy and regulations approved by 
Shareholders or the Board meeting. In addition, the approval is for normal business operation and 
trading conditions according to the definition by the Securities and Exchange Commission and/or the 
announcement of the Capital Market Supervisory Board and/or the Stock Exchange of Thailand and/or 
the relevant office. 

7.2.2.6 Directors from major Shareholders 
As at 30 December 2022, the Company has 3 Directors as major shareholders (for direct and 

indirect shareholding), 5 independent directors (3 Directors of the Audit Committee) and 10 Directors who 
have specified qualifications in the announcement of the Capital Market Supervisory Board as the following 
details of major shareholders.  

List of major shareholders 

Direct and indirect 
proportion 

as at 30 December 
2022 

Corporate Position of 
Directors 

1. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul 17.3% Director 
2. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul 14.9% Director 
3. Mr. Tanawat Kraipisitkul 10.7% Director 
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7.3 Executives 

 7.3.1 List of names and position of the Executives 

As at 31 December 2022, the Company has 5 Executives as the following detail. 

List of names Position 

1. Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub Chief Executive Officer  
2. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul Deputy of Chief Executive Officer 
3. Mr. Chayut Leehacharoenkul Chief Financial Officer 
4. Mr. Passakorn Panyaratanakorn Chief Operating Officer 
5. Ms. Phonkamon Hongwilai Assist Vice President - Accounting 
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7.3.2 Organization Structure 

As at 31 December 2022, management organization structure is shown as below:  

 

  

Risk Management Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee 

Audit Committee Executive 
Committee 

Company Secretary 
(Ms. Samornmart Chaiphatikarn)  

(act in place of) 
Assistant Vice President, 

Finance and Investor Relations  
(Mr. Chayut Leehacharoenkul) 

 

Assist Vice President - 
Accounting  

(Ms. Phonkamon Hongwilai) 

Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
(Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul) 

(Chief Operating Officer) 
(Mr. Passakorn Panyaratanakorn) 

Chief Executive Officer 
(Mr. Varut Thammavaranukub) 

Chief Financial Officer  
(Mr. Chayut Leehacharoenkul) 

Board of Directors 
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7.3.3 Organization structure of subsidiaries 

At present, the Group has totally 35 subsidiaries (excluding operating company (“GK 
Operator in investment structure as GK-TK)).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chief Operating Officer  
Mr. Passakorn Panyaratanakorn 

Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul  

Chief Executive Officer 
Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub 

Assistant Vice President, 
Finance and Investor Relations 
(Ms. Chayut Leehacharoenkul) 

Acting 

Assist Vice President - 
Accounting  

(Ms. Phonkamon Hongwilai) 

The Board of Directors 

Chief Financial Officer  
(Mr. Chayut Leehacharoenkul) 
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7.3.4 The Company operator (“GK Operator”) in GK-TK investment organization structure  

For the Company who operates or manages solar power plant project in Japan within GK-TK 
investment structure. The Group is a silent investor who has not operated or managed in solar power plant 
project. Therefore, no representatives from the Company are directors, executives of the operator. However, the 
Group specifies the duty of outside service provider who acts as directors and/or executives of the operators. 
The operators will sign a contract as third -party with the following detail. 

Asset Management Company will act as the Executives of the operator who is (1) monitor an 
operation as scope of service providers as per contract such as the complete contractor and service provider 
for operation and maintenance and (2) coordinate with other service providers such as accounting and 
administration service provider and tax service provider etc. to ensure that those service providers comply with 
conditions and rules in contracts. 

 

7.4 Remuneration for Directors and Executives 

7.4.1 Remuneration for Directors 

(1) Cash remuneration 

Shareholders' meeting for the year ended 2022, on 26 April 2022 has resolution for 
remuneration of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Risk Management Committee and the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee to consider remuneration for the year ended 2022 as 
follows: 

Directors who is not Executives 

The Company has policy to pay remuneration for Directors who is not Executive or 
employee of the Company as follows: 
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The Committee 
Meeting allowance per time 
(Baht/Number of Meeting) 

Monthly remuneration 
(Baht/month) 

 
Non-cash 

remuneration 

2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 
The Board of Directors 

- Chairman 
- Directors 

 
24,000.0 
20,000.0 

 
24,000.0 
20,000.0 

 
30,000.0 
20,000.0 

 
30,000.0 
20,000.0 

 
-none- 
-none- 

 
-none- 
-none- 

The Audit Committee 
- Chairman of Audit Committee 
- Audit Committee Directors 

 
24,000.0 
20,000.0 

 
24,000.0 
20,000.0 

 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 

 
-none- 
-none- 

 
-none- 
-none- 

The Executive Committee 
- Chairman of Audit Committee 
- Executive Directors 

 
24,000.0 
20,000.0 

 
24,000.0 
20,000.0 

 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 

 
-none- 
-none- 

 
-none- 
-none- 

The Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee 

- Chairman of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee 

- Director of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee 

 
24,000.0 
20,000.0 

 
24,000.0 
20,000.0 

 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 

 
-none- 
-none- 

 
-none- 
-none- 

Risk Management Committee 
- Chairman of Risk Management 

Committee 
- Director of Risk Management 

Committee 

 
24,000.0 
20,000.0 

 
24,000.0 
20,000.0 

 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 

 
-none- 
-none- 

 
-none- 
-none- 
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Directors who is Executives 

The Company has no policy to pay remuneration to Directors who is Executives or 
employees of the Company as at 31 December 2021 and 31st December 2022, the Company 
summarizes remuneration of Directors as follows: 

 

List of names Position 

Total remuneration (Baht) 
As at 31 December 

2022 
As at 31 December 

2023 

Baht Non-cash  Baht Non-cash  

1. Mr. Kamthon Wangudom  Chairman / Independent 
Director/Audit Director 

652,000.00 -none- 608,000.00 -none- 

2. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul  Chief Executive Chairman /  
Risk Management Chairman /  
Nomination and Remuneration 
Director / Director 

448,000.00 -none- 448,000.00 -none- 

3. Mr. Samrieng Mekriengkrai  Audit Committee Chairman / 
Nomination and Remuneration 
Director/ Independent Director 

544,000.00 -none- 500,000.00 -none- 

4. Mr. Dhana Buphawanit  Audit Directors / Independent 
Directors / Nomination and 
Remuneration Director 

500,000.00 -none- 460,000.00 -none- 

5. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul  Executive Director / Risk 
Management Director / Director  

- -none- - -none- 

6. Mr. Tanawat Kraipisitkul  Executive Director / Director 420,000.00 -none- 380,000.00 -none- 
7. Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub  Executive Director / Risk 

Management Director/ Director 
- -none- - -none- 

8. Mrs. Thanyanee Kraipisitkul  Director 400,000.00 -none- 380,000.00 -none- 
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List of names Position 

Total remuneration (Baht) 
As at 31 December 

2022 
As at 31 December 

2023 

Baht Non-cash  Baht Non-cash  

9. General Phairat Phoubon Independent Director 
400,000.00 -none- 380,000.00 -none- 

10. Mr. Monchai Pongsatabadee  Independent Director 400,000.00 -none- 360,000.00 -none- 

Total  3,764,000.00 -none- 3,516,000.00 -none- 

 

7.4.2 Remuneration for Executives 

(1) Cash remuneration 

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022, the Company has 
remuneration for Executives as below: 

Type of remuneration 
Remuneration (Baht) 

As at 31 December 
2021 

As at 31 December 
2022 

No. of Executives (persons) 4 5 
Salary and bonus (Baht) 20,185,966  26,435,271  
Provident fund contributions and 
other benefits (Baht) 

1,881,498  2,316,970  
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7.5 Employees of the Group 

7.5.1 Number of Employees 

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022, the Group have totally 39 and 39 employees 
(not including Executives) consecutively as shown in table below: 

Department 
Number of Employees 

31 December 2021 31 December 2022 
Male Female Male Female 

Business Development  2 6 4 3 

Engineering and Maintenance 9 3 8 3 

Production Department 2 1 4 0 

Accounting and Finance 2 7 3 7 

Administration and Support 0 7 0 7 

Total 15 24 19 20 

 

7.5.2 Change in numbers of employee significantly in 3 last years 

-none- 

7.5.3 Remuneration for employees 

Remuneration for employees (except Executives) of the Company and the subsidiaries for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 and ended 31 December 2022 is Baht 70,000,038 and 89,656,428 consecutively; 
additionally, remuneration consists of salary, allowance, bonus, provident fund, social security contribution and 
workmen compensation fund. 

7.5.4 Labor dispute 

-none- 

7.5.5 Human Resource Development Policy 

The Group focuses on development for knowledge and competency of all employees who are part of 
success of the Group. Therefore, human resource development for employees’ knowledge and competency in 
their responsibility is the key success factor for the Group’s business and encourage the business to grow for 
stability. 
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Development for Directors and Executives 

(1) Support and facilitate for training and seminar to the persons who is responsible for 
corporate governance such as Directors, Audit Directors, Executives, Company’s 
Secretary etc. to improve for operation continually. Training and seminar is held by in-
house or outsource institution. 

(2) Whenever there is an appointment for new Directors, Executives will prepare document 
and information, business introduction and operating business guidelines for the new 
Director.  

Development for Employees 

The Company always focuses on knowledge and competency development for employees thoroughly to 
develop competency of employees for potential to professional operation. 

7.6 Company’s Secretary 

The Board’s Meeting for 2/2558 on 13 October 2011 appointed Ms. Sarmornmart Chaiphatikarn 
to be the Company’s Secretary with the following responsibility as per Securities Act.  

(1) Provide basic advice to directors on how to comply with the law, regulations, rules and 
regulations of the company. And monitor and ensure that it is practically practiced 
correctly. 

(2) Monitor and supervise to disclose and report information technology relevant to 
regulations, announcement and rules of the Stock Exchange of Thailand, the Security and 
Exchange Commission and the Capital Market Supervisory Board. 

(3) Prepare and keep the following important documents. 

(1) Directors’ registration  

(2) Notice of Committee Meeting and Minute of Committee Meeting 

(3) Notice of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders and Minute of Shareholders 
meeting  

(4) Corporate annual report  

(4) Keep report of interests by Directors or Executives. 

(5) Other actions as the announcement of the Capital Market Supervisory Board. 
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7.7 Audit Fee 

(1) Audit Fee 

The Group pays for audit fee of the Company and subsidiaries for the following details.  

Audit Fee 2021 
(Baht) 

2022 
(Baht) 

Company  2,894,751.8 2,350,000.0 
Subsidiaries 13,077,467.4 8.930,898.5 
Total 15,972,219.4 11,280,898.5 

(2) Non-Audit Fee 

The Group pays for other service fee such as tax consultant fee about foreign investment for the 
year ended 31 December 2021 Baht 1,675,000 and 31 December 2022 Baht 2,050,962 
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Report of corporate governance 

8.1 Summary of the Board's Performance in the past year 

8.1.1 Board of Directors Meetings 

(1) Meeting of the Board of Directors  

Name list 

Number of meetings attended / total meetings 

 for the year ended 31 December 

2021 2022 

1. Mr. Kamthon Wangudom  8/8 7/7 

2. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul  7/8 7/7 

3. Mr. Samrieng Mekkriengkrai   8/8 7/7 

4. Mr. Dhana Bubphavanich  8/8 7/7 

5. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul 8/8 7/7 

6. Mr. Tanawat Kraipisitkul 8/8 6/7 

7. Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub 8/8 7/7 

8. Mrs. Thanyanee Kraipisitkul 8/8 7/7 

9. Gen. Phairat Phoubol 8/8 7/7 

10. Mr. Monchai Phongstabadee 8/8 6/7 

 

 

8.	Report corporate governance
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(2) Meeting of the Audit Committee 

Name list 
Number of meetings attended / total meetings  

for the year ended 31 December 
2021 2022 

1. Mr. Samrieng Mekkriengkrai  5/5 4/4 
2. Mr. Dhana Bubphavanich 5/5 4/4 
3. Mr. Kamthon Wangudom 5/5 4/4 

(3) Meeting of the Risk Committee  

Name list 

Number of meetings attended / total meetings 
 for the year ended 31 December 

2021 2022 

1. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul 1/1 1/1 

2. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul 1/1 1/1 

3. Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub 1/1 1/1 

(4) Meetings of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Name list 
Number of meetings attended / total meetings 

for the year ended 31 December 
2021 2022 

1. Mr. Samrieng Mekkriengkrai  1/1 1/1 

2. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul 1/1 1/1 

3. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul 

(Took office till February 28, 2022) 

 Mr. Dhana Bubphavanich 

(Took office on March 01, 2022) 

1/1 1/1 
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(5) Meeting of the Executive Committee  

Name list 

Number of meetings attended / total meetings 
for the year ended 31 December 

2021 2022 

1. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul 1/1 1/1 

2. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul 1/1 1/1 

3. Mr. Tanawat Kraipisitkul 1/1 1/1 

4. Mr. Varut Tummavaranukub 1/1 1/1 
 

 

8.2 Self-evaluation of the Board of Directors 
From Corporate Governance Code, the Board of Directors and sub-committee shall assess the self-
evaluation for the purpose of using as the framework for the self-evaluation during the past year which will 
be used to resolve and increase the efficiency in working. The evaluation will be submitted to the Board of 
Directors for acknowledgment. The assessment of performance on an individual basis and committee 
basis. The areas to be assessed are:  

1) Structure and qualifications of the Board of directors  
2) Board Meetings  
3) Roles, duties and responsibilities of the Board  
The criteria for evaluation are determined as a percentage of the total score are more than 90% 

is excellent, more than 80% is very good, more than 70% is good, more than 60% is fairly good more than 
50% fair, lower than 50% is need improvement. 

 Result of Self-evaluation of the Board of Directors and committee 
 Average (percentage) Rank 

committee 
basis 

individual 
basis 

Summary 

Board of Directors 96% 98% 97% Excellent 

Sub-committees     

Management committee 93% 97% 94% Excellent 
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Audit committee 99% 99% 99% Excellent  

Nomination and remuneration 
committee 

90% 92% 91% Excellent 

Risk committee 97% 97% 97% Excellent 

 
8.3 Nomination and Appointment of Directors and Top Executives 
 

8.3.1 Nomination and Appointment of the Board of Directors 
 

The Board of Directors consists of at least 5 directors, with at least half of the directors required 
to have residency in Thailand where the Company's directors may or may not be shareholders of the 
Company, with minimum number of independent directors in accordance with the notification of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and / or the notification of the Stock Exchange of Thailand. 

In appointing a director, the Company will consider the knowledge, capability and experience 
related to the business or considering from the major shareholders of the company who have experience 
in the business that will benefit the company. However, the appointment of new directors must be approved 
by the Board of Directors and / or the shareholders' meeting, depending on the case. In this regard, the 
shareholders' meeting shall elect directors in accordance with the following rules and procedures: 

(1) In voting for the election of directors, it is considered that one shareholder has a number of 
votes equal to one share per one vote. 

(2) In voting for the election of directors, each shareholder may use all his votes under (1) to elect 
one or more persons as directors. In the event that multiple persons are elected as directors, 
the votes may be split to any person. 

(3) Persons who receive the highest number of votes in descending order will be elected as 
directors equal to the number of directors required or to be elected at that time. In the event 
that persons elected in descending order have equal votes in excess of the number of 
directors required or to be elected at that time, the Chair of the meeting shall have a casting 
vote. 

At every annual general meeting of shareholders, one third of the directors shall retire from office 
at that time. If the number of directors cannot be divided into three parts, the number closest to one-third 
shall be retired by considering the directors who have been in office the longest to retire from office. In this 
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regard, the directors of the company hold office for a term of 3 years and the retiring directors may be re-
elected by the shareholders' meeting to re-take the directorship position. 

In the event that the director's position is vacant due to any reason other than the expiration of the 
term, The Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall elect qualified persons who does not have any 
prohibited characteristics under the law on public limited companies and the law on securities and 
exchange to be the director at the next board meeting unless the remaining term of that director is less 
than 2 months, the person who is appointed as the said director may hold office for only the remaining term 
of the director whom he or she replaces. In this regard, the resolution of the Board of Directors as above 
must consist of not less than three-fourths of the votes of the remaining directors. 
 
8.3.2 Nomination and Appointment of Executive Committee 

The Board of Directors appoints the Executive Committee by considering selecting from directors 
or senior executives of the Company who are able to manage matters related to normal operations, 
business and management of the Group Company and can formulate policies, business plan, budget, and 
management structure including the audit and monitoring of the operating results of the Group in 
accordance with the policies set by the Board of Directors. 

 
8.3.3 Nomination and Appointment of the Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee consists of at least 3 independent directors with a term of office for a term 
of 3 years. The Company has a policy to nominate an audit committee in accordance with the 
announcement of the Securities and Exchange Commission as follows: 

1. Hold shares not more than one percent of the total number of shares with voting rights of the 
Company, parent company, subsidiary company, associated company, major shareholder or 
controlling person of the Company. This shall include the shares held by related persons of that 
independent director. 

2. Not being or having been a director who takes part in management, staff, employees, advisors 
who earn regular salary or controlling person of the Company, parent company, subsidiary 
company, associated company, same level subsidiary, major shareholders or of the Company's 
controlling person, unless he has retired from the aforementioned characteristics for at least two 
years prior to the date of his appointment as the Audit Committee. Such prohibited 
characteristics do not include cases where independent directors used to be government 
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officials or consultants of government agencies who are major shareholders or controlling 
persons of the Company. 

3. Not being a person having blood relations or by legal registration in the manner of parent, 
spouse, sibling and child, including the spouse of children of other directors, executives, major 
shareholders, controlling person or person who will be nominated as a director, executive or 
controlling person of the Company or a subsidiary. 

4. Does not have or ever had a business relationship with the Company, parent company, 
subsidiaries, associated companies, major shareholders or the Company's controlling person in 
a manner that may hinder his independent judgment Including not being or having been a 
significant shareholder or controlling person of any person having a business relationship with 
the Company, parent company, subsidiary company, associated company, major shareholder 
or the Company's controlling person, unless he or she has retired from such a nature for at least 
two years prior to the date of submission of the application to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. 

Such business relationship includes regular commercial transactions for the purpose of 
conducting business, renting or leasing real estate, transactions relating to assets or services or 
giving or receiving financial assistance by accepting or lending, guaranteeing assets as 
collateral for liabilities including other similar circumstances resulting in the Company or its 
counterparties having an obligation to pay to the other party from at least three percent of the 
net tangible assets of the Company or from twenty million baht or more, whichever is lower. Such 
debt load calculation shall be in accordance with the method for calculating the value of 
connected transactions in accordance with the Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory 
Board on Rules on Connected Transactions mutatis mutandis. However, in determining the said 
debt burden, it shall include the debt burden that occurred during one year prior to the date of 
having a business relationship with the same person. 

5. Not being or having been an auditor of the Company, its parent company, subsidiary company, 
associated company, major shareholder or controlling person of the Company, and is not a 
significant shareholder, controlling person or partner of the audit firm which has auditors of the 
Company, parent companies, subsidiaries, associated companies, major shareholders or the 
controlling person of the holding company of the Company, unless they have been discharged 
from the aforementioned nature for at least two years prior to the date of submission of the 
application to the Securities and Exchange Commission 
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6. Not being or having been a service provider of any kind including legal advisor or financial 
advisor receiving a service fee of more than two million baht per year from the Company, parent 
company, subsidiary company, associated company, major shareholders or a controlling person 
of the Company and not a significant shareholder, controlling person or a partner of that 
professional service provider, unless they have been discharged from the aforementioned 
characteristics for at least two years prior to the date of submission of the application to the 
Securities and Exchange Commission. 

7. Not being a director who has been appointed to represent the Company's directors, major 
shareholders or shareholders who are related to the major shareholders. 

8. Shall not operate a business that has the same nature and is in significant competition with the 
Company's business or a subsidiary or not being a significant partner in a partnership or being 
a director who takes part in management of the operation, staff, employee, advisor who receives 
regular salary or holds more than one percent of the total voting shares of other companies 
operating a business that has the same nature and is in significant competition with Company 
Business or a subsidiary. 

9. Not having any other characteristics that make them incapable of expressing independent 
opinions with regard to the Company's operations. 

10. Not being a director who has been assigned by the Board of Directors to make business 
decisions of the Company, subsidiaries, associated companies, same-level subsidiaries, major 
shareholders, or the Company's controlling person and 

11. Not being a director of the Company, subsidiaries or same level subsidiaries that are listed 
companies. 

In addition, at least one independent director who serves as an audit committee member must 
have knowledge and experience in accounting or finance sufficient to be able to perform the duty of 
reviewing the reliability of the financial statements. In addition, the company shall also consider other 
qualifications, such as business experience, specializations related to business and ethics, etc. 

The rules and procedures for the appointment of the Audit Committee shall be in accordance with 
the rules and procedures for the appointment of Company directors. An audit committee member who 
vacates office upon the expiration of the term may be re-appointed. In the event that the position of the 
audit committee is vacant for any reason other than the expiration of the term, the board of directors of the 
company shall appoint a qualified person to be a member of the audit committee to ensure that the number 
of audit committee members reaches the number specified by the board of directors. The person who is a 
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replacement member of the audit committee may hold office for the remainder of the term of the audit 
committee whom he or she replaces. 

 
8.3.4 Nomination and Appointment of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

The nomination and remuneration committee of the Company is made by appointing a number of 
directors to be the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and at least one-third of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee shall be an independent director. 

In this regard, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall hold office for a term of 3 years 
from the date of appointment and upon the completion of such term of office, members of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee who vacate office upon the expiration of their term may be re-elected. 

 

8.3.5 Nomination and Appointment of the Risk Management Committee 

The appointment of the Company's Risk Management Committee is done by appointing a number 
of the Company's directors and / or executives as the Risk Management Committee. 

In this regard, the Risk Management Committee shall hold office for a term of 3 years from the 
date of appointment and upon the completion of such term of office, the member of the Risk Management 
Committee who retires by rotation may be re-elected. 

 

8.3.6 Directors from major shareholders 

As of 30 December 2022, the Company has a director who is a major shareholder of the Company 
(Including both direct and indirect shareholding) of 3 persons, 5 independent directors (3 of which are 
audit committee members) out of 10 directors with qualifications as specified in the announcement of the 
Capital Market Supervisory Board. The details of the 3 directors who are the major shareholders are as 
follows: 

List of Major Shareholders  

Proportion of shareholding 
in the Company 

Both direct and indirect 
 As of December 30, 2022 

Directorship in the 
Company 

1. Mr. Viwat Kraipisitkul 17.3% Director 
2. Ms. Thantaporn Kraipisitkul 14.9% Director 
3. Mr. Tanawat Kraipisitkul 10.7% Director 
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8.4 Supervision of Operations of Subsidiaries and Associated Companies 

The Company operates its business by holding shares in other companies (Holding Company) and does not 
have any significant business operations by itself. Therefore, in order for the company to be able to supervise the 
management and to be responsible for the operations of subsidiaries and associated companies as if they are a 
unit of the Company, the Board of Directors' meeting therefore passed a resolution approving the Investment Policy, 
Operation Supervision and Management of the Subsidiaries and Associates (Including the revised version) with 
details as follows: 

Investment Policy in Subsidiaries and Associates 

The Company has a policy to invest in subsidiaries and associates that are consistent with the vision and 
growth plans of the Group Company, which will enable the Group to have higher operating results or profits or to 
invest in businesses that are beneficiary (Synergy) to the Group in order to enhance the competitiveness of the 
Group and to enable the Group to achieve its goal of being a leading operator in the Group's core businesses. In 
this regard, the Company, its subsidiaries and / or associates may consider investing in other businesses if it is a 
business that has potential for business growth or is beneficial to the business of the Group Company which can 
generate good returns on investment. The investment consideration of the company, subsidiary and / or associated 
company must be agreed upon and / or approved by the Board of Directors' meeting or the shareholders' meeting 
of the company, as the case may be. 

Policy on Supervision of Operations in Subsidiaries and Associated Companies 

The Company sets a policy on supervision and management of subsidiaries and / or affiliates with the 
objective of defining direct and indirect measures and mechanisms for the Company to be able to supervise and 
manage the business of the Company, subsidiaries and / or associates, including monitoring and supervising 
subsidiaries and associated companies to comply with various measures and mechanisms that can be defined as 
if it is the Company's own unit and in accordance with the Company's policy. This includes, but is not limited to, in 
the event of a change in directors in subsidiaries and / or associates (as the case may be) the Company board of 
directors must take actions to ensure that the nominated or appointed directors of the subsidiaries and / or 
associates (as the case may be) acknowledge and comply with the Company's policies. This includes the Public 
Company Law, the Civil and Commercial Code, the Securities Law, as well as the relevant announcements, 
regulations and criteria of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the 
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Stock Exchange of Thailand. This is to protect the interests of the Company's investments in such subsidiaries and 
associated companies. 

In the event that this policy requires any transactions or actions that have significance or impact on the 
financial status and operating results of subsidiaries and associated companies, it is subject to approval from the 
Board of Directors or the shareholders' meeting of the company, as the case may be. The Company's directors are 
responsible for arranging a meeting of the board of directors and / or the shareholders' meeting of the company to 
consider and approve such matters before the subsidiary and / or associated companies organize a meeting of the 
board of directors and / or their own shareholders to consider and approve the transaction or proceed in such 
matter. In this regard, the Company shall disclose information and comply with the rules, conditions, procedures, 
and methods related to the matter for which such approval is to be obtained in accordance with the Public Company 
Law, Securities Law, other relevant laws, as well as the notifications, regulations and criteria of the Capital Market 
Supervisory Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the Stock Exchange of Thailand, mutatis 
mutandis( to the extent that is not against or contradicting) completely and accurately. 

Details of operational supervision of subsidiaries and associated companies according to the control policy 
and corporate governance mechanism invested by the Company are as follows: 

1) Any transactions or actions performed by subsidiaries and / or associates (as the case may be) in the 
following cases must be approved by the board of directors or the shareholders' meeting of the 
company, as the case may be, prior to receiving approval from the board of directors’ meeting of 
subsidiaries and / or associated companies and / or shareholders' meetings of subsidiaries and / or 
associated companies, as the case may be.  
(1) Matters that must be approved by the Board of Directors  

(A) Appointment or nomination of persons to be directors or executives in subsidiaries and / or 
associated companies (if any), at least in proportion to the Company's shareholding in 
subsidiaries and / or affiliated companies (if any), with the directors and executives 
nominated or appointed by the Company to have discretion in considering voting. In the 
Board of Directors' meetings of subsidiaries and / or affiliates (if any) in matters relating to 
general management and normal business operations of subsidiaries and / or associated 
companies (if any) as specified by the directors, management of subsidiaries and / or 
associates (if any) will deem appropriate for the best interests of subsidiaries and / or 
affiliates (if any), except for matters requiring approval from the Board of Directors’ meeting 
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or shareholders' meeting of the Company, as the case may be, before the subsidiary enters 
the transaction 

In this regard, the nominated director or executive under the above paragraph must be 
a person listed in the whitelist of directors and executives of the securities issuing 
company with qualifications, roles, duties, and responsibility, as well as lack of 
untrustworthy characteristics according to the Notification of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission concerning Determination of Untrustworthy Characteristics of 
Company Directors and Executives. 

(B) Consideration and approval of annual and interim dividends (if any) of subsidiaries and / or 
associated companies (if any). 

(C) Amendments to the articles of association of subsidiaries and / or associated companies (if 
any), except for amendments to the regulations on significant matters in (2) (e). 

(D) Consideration and approval of the annual budget of subsidiaries and / or associated 
companies (if any). 

(E) Appointment of auditors of subsidiaries and / or associates (if any), only if such auditors are 
not affiliated with the audit firm that is a full member in the same network as the Company's 
auditors, which are not in accordance with the guidelines for the appointment of the auditors 
of the Company that the auditors of subsidiaries and / or associated companies (if any) must 
be affiliated with the audit firm in the same network as the auditor of the company.  

The transactions from items (f) to (i) are considered as significant transactions and, if entering the 
transaction, it will have a material impact on the financial position and operating results of the 
subsidiary. Therefore, prior to the meeting of the board of directors of the subsidiary and the 
directors appointed by the Company to hold positions in the subsidiary will vote on the following 
matters, such director must be approved by the Board of Directors. In this case, when calculating 
the transaction size that a subsidiary will enter into a transaction compared with the size of the 
Company is within the criteria that it must be approved by the Board of Directors (by applying the 
criteria for the calculation of transactions as prescribed in the announcements of the Capital 
Market Supervisory Board and the Stock Exchange of Thailand Re: Acquisition or Disposition of 
Assets and / or Connected Transactions, as the case may be, mutatis mutandis) is within the 
criteria that must be approved by the Board of Directors, which are as follows: 
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(F) In the event that a subsidiary agrees to enter into a transaction with a subsidiary's connected 
person or transactions relating to the acquisition or disposition of assets of a subsidiary, 
including but not limited to the following cases: 

(1) Transfer or waiving of benefits including waiving claims against those who cause 
damage to the subsidiary. 

(2) Sale or transfer of the business of all or a significant part of the subsidiary to another 
person. 

(3) Purchase or acceptance of business transfer of other companies to subsidiary 
companies. 

(4) Entering into, amending, or terminating the rental agreement of all or significant 
parts of the subsidiary's business, assignment of other persons to manage the 
subsidiary's business or merging the business of subsidiaries with other persons. 

(5) Hiring or leasing of all business or assets of subsidiaries or significant parts. 
(G) Borrowing money, lending money, granting credit, guaranteeing, undertaking legal acts 

binding a subsidiary to bear additional financial obligations, or providing any other kind of 
financial assistance to other persons that is not the regular business of subsidiaries. 

(H) Dissolution of the subsidiary company 
(I) Any other transaction which is not a normal business transaction of the subsidiary and which 

will have a significant impact on the subsidiary. 
(2) Matters that need to be approved by the shareholders' meeting of the Company before the 

subsidiary enters the transaction. 
(A) In the event that a subsidiary agrees to enter into a transaction with a subsidiary's connected 

person or a transaction relating to the acquisition or disposition of assets of the subsidiary. 
In this case, when calculating the transaction size that the subsidiary will enter into 
compared to the size of the company, it must be approved by the shareholders' meeting of 
the company (by applying the criteria for the calculation of transactions as specified in the 
relevant notifications of the Capital Market Supervisory Board and the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand Board mutatis mutandis) 

(B) Capital increase by issuing shares of subsidiary companies and share allotment Including 
the reduction of registered capital which does not conform to the existing shareholding 
proportion of the shareholders or any other action resulting in exercise of voting rights, both 
directly and / or indirectly, of the Company at the shareholders' meeting of any subsidiary 
in any level to be less than the proportion of voting rights of the Company as specified in 
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the law applicable to the Company, resulting in the Company having no control over the 
Subsidiary. This must be the case when calculating the size of the transaction compared 
with the size of the company and it is in the criteria that must be approved by the 
shareholders' meeting of the Company. (By applying the criteria for the calculation of 
transactions as prescribed in the relevant notifications of the Capital Market Supervisory 
Board and the announcement of the board of directors of the Stock Exchange of Thailand 
mutatis mutandis). 

(C) Dissolution of the subsidiary company, in this case, when calculating the size of the 
business of the subsidiary that will be dissolved with the size of the company and it is in the 
criteria that must be approved by the shareholders' meeting of the Company (by applying 
the criteria for calculation of transactions as prescribed in the notification of the Capital 
Market Supervisory Board and the announcement of the Stock Exchange of Thailand 
Committee Re: Acquisition or disposition of property to be enforced mutatis mutandis). 

(D) Any other transaction which is not a normal business transaction of the subsidiary and a 
transaction that will have a significant impact on the subsidiary. In this regard, it should be 
a case when calculating the transaction size compared to the size of the company, it is in 
the criteria that must seek approval from the shareholders' meeting of the Company (by 
applying the criteria for calculation of transactions as prescribed in the notification of the 
Capital Market Supervisory Board And the announcement of the Stock Exchange of Thailand 
On the acquisition or disposition of assets to be enforced mutatis mutandis). 

(E) Amendments to the Articles of Association of the Subsidiary in matters that may materially 
affect the financial position and operating results of the subsidiary, including but not limited 
to amendments to the Articles of Association of the Subsidiary that have an impact on the 
voting rights of the Company at the Board of Directors’ meetings of the subsidiaries and / or 
the shareholders' meetings of subsidiaries or the payment of dividends of subsidiaries, etc. 

2) Directors must ensure that the subsidiaries have internal control systems, risk management systems, 
and anti-corruption systems, including setting up appropriate, effective and concise measures to monitor 
the performance of subsidiaries and associated companies sufficiently to ensure that the operations of 
subsidiaries and / or associates will be in accordance with plans, budgets, company policies, articles of 
association, including laws and notices on good corporate governance of listed companies, including 
relevant announcements, regulations and rules of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, the Securities 
and Exchange Commission, and the Stock Exchange of Thailand, and monitor the subsidiary and / or 
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associated companies to disclose information on the connected transaction and / or the acquisition or 
disposition of assets and / or transactions with other significance to the Company and perform various 
actions to comply with the plans, budgets, policies, and regulations on supervision and management of 
subsidiaries and associated companies as specified in the Company's Articles of Association completely 
and correctly. 

Management policy in subsidiaries and associates 

The Company operates its business by holding shares in other companies (Holding Company) and does not 
have any significant business operations by itself. Therefore, to supervise the operations of that subsidiary and / or 
associated company, the Company will send a representative of the Company to be a director in subsidiaries and 
/ or affiliated companies according to the Company's shareholding in that company. Such persons must have 
qualifications and experience suitable for such business and have no conflict of interest in the business. The 
representative is required to manage and administrate the subsidiary's business and / or associated companies in 
accordance with the policies assigned by the Company and in accordance with the rules and regulations as 
stipulated in the Articles of Association and the laws of related subsidiaries and / or associated companies. 

In addition, the Company assigns directors and executives of subsidiaries to have the following duties: 

1) Must disclose information on the financial status and operating results, connected transactions of the 
subsidiary, as well as the acquisition or disposition of significant assets to the Company and / or its 
subsidiaries completely and correctly and within the reasonable time as specified by the company. In 
addition, the Board of Directors of the Subsidiary shall consider entering into a connected transaction, 
acquisition or disposition of significant assets of the Subsidiary by applying and enforce the relevant 
notifications of the Capital Market Supervisory Board and the Notification of the Board of the Stock 
Exchange of Thailand mutatis mutandis). 

2) Disclosure and submission of personal interests and related persons to the Board of Directors and / or 
subsidiaries for their acknowledgement of the relationship and transactions with the Company and / or 
its subsidiaries in a manner that may cause a conflict of interest and avoiding any transactions that may 
lead to conflicts of interest with the Company and / or its subsidiaries within the time limit set by the 
company as a supporting information for any decision or approval. Such consideration will take into 
account the overall benefits of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

In this regard, the directors and executives of the subsidiary must not participate in approving matters in 
which they have a stake or conflict of interest, either directly and / or indirectly. In addition, the following 
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acts that allow directors, executives, or related persons of the subsidiary to receive financial benefits 
other than those that are normally expected or cause damage to the Company and / or its subsidiaries, 
it is assumed that it is an act that materially conflicts with the interests of the Company. 

(A) Transactions between subsidiaries and directors, executives, or related persons that are not in 
accordance with the rules of entering into connected transactions. 

(B) Use of known information of the Company and / or its subsidiaries unless information has been 
disclosed to the public. 

(C) The use of assets or business opportunities of the Company and / or its subsidiaries in the same 
manner as the Company and / or its subsidiaries (as the case may be) and violates the rules or 
common practices as announced by the Capital Market Supervisory Board.  

3) Must report business plans, business expansion, large investment projects, as well as joint investments 
with other entrepreneurs to the Company through regular performance reports as specified by the 
Company's directors and explain and / or submit supporting documents for consideration in such cases 
if the Company requests. 

4) Information or documents related to the operations must be submitted to the Company upon request as 
appropriate. 

5) Clarification and / or submit relevant documents to the Company in the event that the Company detected 
any significant issues. 

6) Responsible to ensure that the subsidiary company has internal control system, risk management 
system, and anti-corruption system that is appropriate, efficient and concise enough to ensure that the 
operations of subsidiaries are in line with the plans, budgets, policies of the Company, the Articles of 
Association of the subsidiary, as well as the laws and announcements of good corporate governance of 
listed companies, including announcements, regulations and relevant rules of the Capital Market 
Supervisory Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the Stock Exchange of Thailand. 
Establish a clear work system to demonstrate that the subsidiary company has sufficient system to 
disclose significant transactions in accordance with the specified criteria continuously and reliably, and 
has channels for directors and executives of the Company to obtain information on the Company to 
monitor the operating results and financial position, transactions between subsidiaries and the directors 
and management of subsidiaries, and the transactions that are significant to the subsidiaries effectively. 
In addition, there must be a mechanism to audit such work systems in the subsidiary, allowing the internal 
audit team and independent directors of the Company to have direct access to the information and to 
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report the audit results of such work systems to the directors and executives of the Company to ensure 
that the subsidiary company has consistently followed the established work system. 

7) No directors, executives, staff, employees, or assignees of a subsidiary, including their spouses and 
underaged children, are prohibited from using inside information of the Company and / or its 
subsidiaries, whether acquired from performing duties or in any other way that has or may have a material 
impact on the Company and / or its subsidiaries for the benefit of oneself or others, whether directly and 
/ or indirectly and whether or not it is rewarded. 

8) Directors, executives, or related persons of the subsidiary may enter into transactions with subsidiaries 
only when such transactions are approved by the subsidiary's board of directors and / or the board of 
directors of the Company and / or the meeting of shareholders of subsidiaries and / or shareholders' 
meetings of the Company (as the case may be) according to the size of the calculated transaction by 
applying the rules prescribed in the notification of connected transactions and related rules of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and the Stock Exchange of Thailand mutatis mutandis. In this 
regard, unless it is a trade agreement in the same manner that a person would do with a general 
contractor in the same situation, with a trade bargaining power without influence in his or her status as 
an executive director or people who are related (as the case may be) and is a commercial agreement 
approved by the board of directors or in accordance with the principles approved by the board of 
directors. 

9) Comply with the Company's policies where the nominated or appointed director by the Company has to 
ensure that the subsidiary is compliant with the Company's policies. 

This policy applies to the extent it is not against with or contradict with any foreign law, rule, or 
regulation and / or the regulations of such companies and to the extent that it will not or may not cause the 
Company's overseas subsidiaries and associates to perform or do anything in addition to the action 
required by applicable laws or regulations, and to the extent that the Company's overseas subsidiaries 
and associates may not lose any benefits which may be obtained in accordance with foreign laws. 

However, in the event that the company is unable to enforce this policy on the subsidiary company 
and / or its associates due to legal restrictions of the country in which the subsidiary companies and / or 
its associates are located as above. The Company will take other comparable measures to ensure that the 
Company has a supervisory mechanism that enables the Company to supervise the management and to 
be responsible for the operations of its subsidiaries and / or associated companies that operate their core 
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businesses as if they were a unit of the Company, including measures to monitor the management of such 
company in order to safeguard the benefits of the Company's investment. 

Currently, the company invests in solar power plant projects in Japan under the GK-TK structure 
as a TK investor who is not involved in management due to legal requirements in Japan. However, the 
Company has measures to supervise the interests of the projects that the Company invests in. The 
Company, as a TK investor, is overseeing related activities which are divided into two phases, namely (1 ) 
prior to the commencement of the commercial operation and (2 )  period after the commencement of the 
commercial operation. 

Before the commercial operation 

During the project development stage, the Company, as a TK investor, determines the investment 
objectives and defines all important activities involved in investment, development, construction, and 
project management such as: 

 Specify investment objectives to expand the business of generating and distributing 
electricity from renewable energy in Japan only. 

 Define all important activities involved such as land acquisition, financing, turnkey 
contractor recruitment (EPC Contractor), Operation and Maintenance Service Provider 
(O&M Contractor), etc. 

 The Company defines the framework for the relevant activities, the scope of the contract, 
including the duties of the person performing such activities. 

 The company participates in selecting service providers to carry out related activities as 
specified in the agreement. 

Period after the opening of commercial operation 

The company supervises business operations through relevant service agreements such as Asset 
Management Agreement, Professional Service Agreement, and Tax Service Agreement, etc. Each 
service provider must perform the work according to the conditions and duties specified in the 
contract. 

The Asset Manager is responsible for overseeing and inspecting those involved in the power plant 
operation and is responsible for complying with the terms and scope of the contract that was 
originally defined. The Asset Manager has the duties according to the contract, which must be 
performed in the best interest of the business operation in line with the interests of TK investors. 
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In the event that there are any issues that materially affect the business operation of the project 
and the guideline has not been clearly identified, GK Company and TK investors will meet to 
discuss solutions or formulate joint guidelines as specified in the TK Agreement. In this regard, 
GK Company is responsible for operating solar power plants in place of TK investor with the utmost 
care and take into account the interests (profits) of TK investors. 

In addition, the Company has arranged for the Kraipisitkul family, the directors involved in the 
management, and the management of the Company to sign a document agreeing that in the event that a 
company under the GK-TK  structure in Japan will enter into a transaction with such person, related person, 
and / or close relatives in the future, such person agrees to exercise their rights as a director or an executive 
of the Company in order to allow the Company to consider entering into a connected transaction in 
accordance with the rules prescribed in the Notification on Entering into a Connected Transactions of 
Japan before entering the transaction. 

Based on the aforementioned policies, the Group has strictly adhered to, except in the event that 
the Group is unable to comply with the legal restrictions of the country in which its subsidiaries and / or 
associates are located, however, the Group Company has established equivalent measures to supervise 
the management and operation of associated companies operating their core businesses in foreign 
countries. 

 
8.5 Supervision of the use of inside information 

The Company realizes the importance of good corporate governance and has established rules 
on the use of inside information in the Company's inside information usage policy which has been approved 
by the Board of Directors' meeting. The Group Company has a policy and method to prevent directors, 
executives, and employees from using inside information of the Group which has not yet been disclosed 
to the public for personal gain, including securities trading, as follows: 

1) The Group Company shares knowledge to directors, executives, including those holding executive 
positions in accounting or finance or equivalent on their duties to prepare and submit a report on their 
securities holding, their spouse, and underaged children to the Office of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission under Section 59 and the penalties under Section 275 of the Securities and Exchange Act 
1992 (including the additional amendment). 

2) The Group Company requires directors, executives, including those holding managerial positions in 
accounting or finance or equivalent to prepare and submit reports on their securities holding, spouse, 
and underaged children to the Company Secretary before submitting to the Office of the Securities and 
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Exchange Commission every time. The preparation and submission should be within 30 days from the 
date of appointment as director and / or executive or report the change of securities holding within three 
business days from the date of purchase, sale, transfer, or acceptance of transfer of such securities. 

3) The Group Company requires that directors, executives, including those holding executive-level 
positions in accounting or finance or equivalent, and related personnel who have received material inside 
information which affects the change of securities price suspend trading of the Company's securities for 
a period of time before the financial statements or financial position and status has been disclosed the 
public. The "Embargo Period" means the period of one month prior to the announcement of the 
Company's quarterly and annual financial performance. Directors, executives, including persons holding 
executive positions in accounting or finance or equivalent, are to refrain from trading the Company's 
securities in writing for at least 1 month before the public disclosure of information. It is also prohibited 
to disclose such material information to other persons and should wait at least 24 hours after disclosing 
the information to the public and prohibiting the disclosure of such material information to other persons. 

4) The Group Company imposes disciplinary action for any violation on the use of inside information for 
personal gain, starting with written warning, wage cut, unpaid temporary break, or dismissal from 
employment. Punishment is determined by the intent of the act and the seriousness of the offense. 

8.6 Compliance with good corporate governance principles in other matters 

As for the principles of good corporate governance for listed companies in 2019 (CG Code), the 
Board of Directors has assigned the management to assess the performance of the CG Code and the 
Board has considered such assessments with summarized results in the overview as follows: 

The Board of Directors understands and acknowledges the roles, duties, responsibilities, and 
governance of the CG Code, many of which are consistent with the objectives, goals, philosophies / 
guidelines / business strategies, policy guidelines, and the structure, as well as the principles of corporate 
governance that the company has in place today. 

In 2019, the Company has set up a channel for employees, business partners, customers, 
shareholders, and interested persons involved in the Company to report or complain about any suspected 
misconduct in order to allow the company to investigate and take appropriate action at 
https://www.sermsang.com/home#whistle_blowing 

In 2020, the Company has expressed its intention to join the Thai Private Sector Collective Action 
Coalition against Corruption and is committed to creating a corruption free corporate culture. The Company 
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has announced an Anti-Corruption Policies and Guidelines for directors, executives, employees, as well 
as third parties involved in the Company, subsidiaries, or companies under control, to understand and 
cooperate with each other in following strictly and take part in driving the Company to be a transparent 
organization, free from corruption. 

In 2021, the Company created sustainability report based on Global Reporting Initiatives (GRI) 
standard to demonstrate the company's continued commitment to transparency across its operations and 
supply chain. The report is easily accessible and searchable for the readers. and freely available via the 
website https://www.sermsang.com/policy/sustainable-development 
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9. Internal control and related party transaction 
9.1 Conclusion of Board of Directors’ Opinion about the Company’s Internal Control System 

The Company realizes about the importance of internal control appropriately and adequacy for the 
management to be in line with goal, purpose, law and related regulations efficiency which help protect to manage 
the risk management or other damage may occur in the company and stakeholder, itcould be protected the asset 
from the corruption, damage and preparing the accuracy and reliability of accounting report. 

The Board of Directors assigned the Audit Committee (AC) to review the appropriate and effective of internal 
control to ensure that the companys internal control system has an adequate, appropriate and compliance with 
COSO internal control framework (The Committee of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission), which 
will cover the Management Control, the Operational Control, the Accounting and Financial Controland compliance 
with law and regulations of compliance control. 

In the Board of Directors meeting 07/2016 dated 27 December 2016,Audit Committee (AC) and Independent 
Director participated in the meeting, the Board of Directors assessed the adequacy of the internal control systems, 
which interrogate the information from management and related parties by comparing a guidance of internal control 
under the concept of Committee of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission(COSO) as details follow: 

(1) Control Environment  

(2) Risk Management  

(3) Control Activities 

(4) Information and Communication  

(5) Monitoring Activities 

The Audit committee and Board of Directors have the opinions that the company has the internal control 
systems, staff adequately and appropriately to manage under the internal control systems effectively, and 
monitoring the operations of the subsidiaries which protect the assets of the Company and the subsidiaries from 
directors or the management abuse of asset spending.  For internal control in other topics, the Committee considers 
that the Company has internal control adequately and appropriately as well.  

In addition, the company has evaluated the sufficiency of the internal control system for the year 2 022 
according to the assessment form set by the Securities and Exchange Commission. This is a tool that allows the 
company to be used as a guideline for self-assessment of the adequacy of the Company's internal control system. 
In conclusion, the Company has established adequate internal control measures which are relevant to the 
operations, risk management and supervision and monitoring of the management and the Board of Directors 

9.	 Internal control and related party transaction
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9.2 Internal Audit Observations 

The company has nominated Dharmniti Internal Audit Company Limited ("Internal Auditor") to assess and 
review the sufficiency of the internal control system for the year 2 0 2 2 of its affiliates, including the revised internal 
control monitoring from January 2 0 2 2 to December 2 0 2 2.  The audit results is reported to the Audit Committee in 
total 4  times by the internal auditors. According to the four internal auditors' reports, the company have a workflow 
and operations management processes, which have an adequate and effective internal control system. 

The company has revised various issues according to the recommendations of the internal auditors in order 
to increase the efficiency of the internal control. The follow-up results is acknowledged and agreed upon by the 
Audit Committee, which is the result of the internal control improvement following the Audit Committee meeting. 

 

9.3 Head of companys internal audit and Head of company’s operation control 

9.3.1 Head of companys internal audit  

The Company has appointed Dharmniti company limitedto be head of internal audit of the company 
to review the company’s internal control for 2016 - 2022 respectively. The Dharmniti will review, monitor and 
assess the company’s internal control process following yearly monitoring plan, and there are the report and 
recommendation for improving to be in line with plan and policy of the company’ s internal control, and the 
following 5 components of COSO as above 

9.3.2 The appointment of Audit Committee about an adequacy of Head of internal audit 

The Audit Committee has appointed, Head of internal audit who has appropriate educational 
background, experienced, knowledge and ability performed for the internal audit efficiency. 

9.3.3 The guideline of consider approving, dismissal and transferring of Head of internal audit 

In order to consider approving, dismissal and transferring of the incumbent as a head of internal 
audit of the company must be approved from the Audit Committee which is in order to charter of The Audit 
Committee’sCompany and approved by the Board of Directors
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Form 56-1-2022: Internal control and related party transaction                                                                             Section 9 Page 7 

9.4.3 Measurements and Procedures for Approval of Related parties transactions 

The meeting of the Board of Directors of the company approved the policy on entering into related 
parties transactions to allow the transactions between the company and/or its subsidiaries with the individuals 
or juristic persons that may have conflicts in a transparent manner. Also, it can maintain the benefits of the 
company group, so this can be summarized as follows. 

The related parties transactions or connected transactions of the company group shall comply with 
the rules of the Securities and Exchange Act and the notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board about 
the rules of connected transaction. Moreover, the notification of the Board of Governors of the Stock Exchange 
of Thailand about the disclosure of information and other actions of the registered companies in regard to the 
connected transactions and other related rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and/or the Stock 
Exchange of Thailand shall comply with the conditions about the disclosure the related parties transactions in 
the Notes to Financial Statements audited by the company's auditors. 

In case the law requires the company group to get approved from the meeting of the Board of Directors 
and/or the shareholders (as the case may be) before entering into any connected transactions, the company 
shall arrange the Audit Committee to consider and comment on such transactions. The opinions of the Audit 
Committee are also presented in the meeting of the Board of Directors and/or the shareholders (as the case 
may be) to ensure that the proposed transactions are in the best interest of the company group. 

In the event that the related party transaction of the company and/or its subsidiaries with individuals who 
have a stake or may have conflicts about benefits in the future, the Audit Committee will give opinions on the 
necessity of entering into the transaction and the appropriateness of the price of such transaction based on the 
conditions. It is in line with normal business operations in the industry, and the prices will be compared with 
outsiders or market prices. If the Audit Committee does not have the expertise to consider the related parties 
transactions, the Company will arrange the independent experts or the auditors of the company to give 
comments on such transaction to be used for the decision of the Audit Committee, Board of Directors or 
shareholders as the case may be. The stakeholders are not allowed to vote for the approval of the transaction. 
Also, related party transactions will be disclosed in the notes of financial statements audited or reviewed by the 
company's auditors. 

In principle, the management department can approve such transactions if those transactions have trade 
agreements in the same way that a man should deal with a general partner in the same situation. With bargaining 
power on trades without the influence of being a committee, executive or related person, the company will 
prepare a summary report of such transaction to present in the next meeting of Board of Directors. 
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9.4.4 Policy and Trend of Future Related Parties Transactions 

For entering into a connected transaction between the company and/or its subsidiaries, it has a stake or 
may have a conflict about benefits. The company will comply with the rules and regulations of the Stock 
Exchange of Thailand and the Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand which become effective.  

If the company and/or its subsidiaries aims to enter into a connected transaction with the connected 
person who have a stake or may have the conflict about benefits in the future, the company will strictly abide 
by the policies and procedures mentioned above. The Audit Committee has provided guidance for 
consideration on the necessity of the transaction to the company's operations. The committee not only consider 
the comparison of the prices with comparable items which have been done with outsiders (if any) but also the 
significance of the size of the transaction. 

However, if there is a connected transaction, the company will arrange the Audit Committee to comment 
on the appropriateness of such transaction. In the event that the Audit Committee does not have the expertise 
to consider any related parties transactions, the company will provide knowledgeable persons or specialized 
expertise such as auditors or independent property appraisers to give an opinion on related parties 
transactions. The opinion of the Audit Committee or the persons with special expertise will be used for the 
decision of the Board of Directors or shareholders as the case may be.  Therefore, the company can ensure 
that such transaction will not be transference or transfer of benefits between the company and/or its subsidiaries 
or shareholders of the company, but it is the transaction that the company considers the highest benefit of all 
shareholders. 
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ot
 s

ub
je

ct
 to

 w
ith

dr
aw

al
 

re
st

ric
tio

ns
. 
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5.
3 

In
ve

nt
or

y 

 
In

ve
nt

or
y 

ar
e 

va
lu

ed
 a

t t
he

 lo
w

er
 o

f c
os

t a
nd

 n
et

 r
ea

lis
ab

le
 v

al
ue

. T
he

 c
os

t o
f i

nv
en

to
rie

s 

in
cl

ud
es

 a
ll 

pu
rc

ha
se

 c
os

ts
 a

nd
 d

ire
ct

 re
la

te
d 

ex
pe

ns
es

 u
nd

er
 th

e 
av

er
ag

e 
co

st
 m

et
ho

d.
 

5.
4 

In
ve

st
m

en
ts

 in
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s 

an
d 

an
 a

ss
oc

ia
te

 

 
In

ve
st

m
en

t i
n 

an
 a

ss
oc

ia
te

 is
 a

cc
ou

nt
ed

 f
or

 in
 t

he
 c

on
so

lid
at

ed
 f

in
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 a
nd

 

in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 in
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s 

ar
e 

ac
co

un
te

d 
fo

r 
in

 t
he

 s
ep

ar
at

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
, u

si
ng

  

th
e 

eq
ui

ty
 m

et
ho

d.
 

5.
5 

Po
w

er
 p

la
nt

s 
un

de
r c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

 
Al

l e
xp

en
di

tu
re

s 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

re
la

te
d 

ex
pe

ns
es

 in
cu

rre
d 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n 
of

 th
e 

po
w

er
 

pl
an

ts
 t

o 
m

ak
e 

th
e 

pl
an

ts
 o

pe
ra

tio
na

l a
re

 c
ap

ita
lis

ed
 a

s 
so

la
r 

po
w

er
 p

la
nt

s.
 S

uc
h 

pr
oj

ec
t 

co
st

s 
in

cu
rre

d 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n 

ph
as

e 
in

cl
ud

e 
m

at
er

ia
ls

 a
nd

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t, 

pr
oj

ec
t 

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n 

co
st

s,
 m

an
ag

em
en

t f
ee

s,
 c

on
su

lti
ng

 fe
es

, d
ire

ct
 c

os
ts

 a
nd

 b
or

ro
w

in
g 

co
st

s.
 

5.
6 

Pr
op

er
ty

, p
la

nt
 a

nd
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t/D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 

 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
po

lic
y 

ad
op

te
d 

si
nc

e 
30

 J
un

e 
20

22
 

 
La

nd
 i

s 
st

at
ed

 a
t 

re
va

lu
ed

 a
m

ou
nt

. 
Bu

ild
in

gs
 a

nd
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t 
ar

e 
st

at
ed

 a
t 

co
st

 l
es

s 

ac
cu

m
ul

at
ed

 d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
an

d 
al

lo
w

an
ce

 fo
r l

os
s 

on
 im

pa
irm

en
t o

f a
ss

et
s.

 (i
f a

ny
). 

 
La

nd
 i

s 
in

iti
al

ly
 r

ec
or

de
d 

at
 c

os
t 

on
 t

he
 a

cq
ui

si
tio

n 
da

te
, 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
ly

 r
ev

al
ue

d 
by

  

an
 in

de
pe

nd
en

t p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l a
pp

ra
is

er
 to

 it
s 

fa
ir 

va
lu

es
. R

ev
al

ua
tio

ns
 a

re
 m

ad
e 

w
ith

 s
uf

fic
ie

nt
 

re
gu

la
rit

y 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 t
he

 c
ar

ry
in

g 
am

ou
nt

 d
oe

s 
no

t 
di

ffe
r 

m
at

er
ia

lly
 f

ro
m

 f
ai

r 
va

lu
e 

 

at
 th

e 
en

d 
of

 re
po

rti
ng

 p
er

io
d.

 

 
D

iff
er

en
ce

s 
ar

is
in

g 
fro

m
 th

e 
re

va
lu

at
io

n 
ar

e 
de

al
t w

ith
 in

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

 

- 
W

he
n 

an
 a

ss
et

’s
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

am
ou

nt
 is

 in
cr

ea
se

d 
as

 a
 re

su
lt 

of
 a

 re
va

lu
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
G

ro
up

’s
 

as
se

ts
, 

th
e 

in
cr

ea
se

 i
s 

cr
ed

ite
d 

di
re

ct
ly

 t
o 

th
e 

ot
he

r 
co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 i
nc

om
e 

an
d 

 

th
e 

cu
m

ul
at

iv
e 

in
cr

ea
se

 is
 re

co
gn

is
ed

 in
 e

qu
ity

 u
nd

er
 th

e 
he

ad
in

g 
of

 “R
ev

al
ua

tio
n 

su
rp

lu
s”

. 

H
ow

ev
er

, a
 r

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
in

cr
ea

se
 is

 r
ec

og
ni

se
d 

as
 in

co
m

e 
to

 th
e 

ex
te

nt
 th

at
 it

 r
ev

er
se

s 
 

a 
re

va
lu

at
io

n 
de

cr
ea

se
 in

 re
sp

ec
t o

f t
he

 s
am

e 
as

se
t p

re
vi

ou
sl

y 
re

co
gn

is
ed

 a
s 

an
 e

xp
en

se
. 

- 
W

he
n 

an
 a

ss
et

’s
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

am
ou

nt
 is

 d
ec

re
as

ed
 a

s 
a 

re
su

lt 
of

 a
 re

va
lu

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

G
ro

up
’s

 

as
se

ts
, t

he
 d

ec
re

as
e 

is
 re

co
gn

is
ed

 in
 p

ro
fit

 o
r l

os
s.

 H
ow

ev
er

, t
he

 re
va

lu
at

io
n 

de
cr

ea
se

 is
 

ch
ar

ge
d 

to
 t

he
 o

th
er

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 i

nc
om

e 
to

 t
he

 e
xt

en
t 

th
at

 i
t 

do
es

 n
ot

 e
xc

ee
d 

 

an
 a

m
ou

nt
 a

lre
ad

y 
he

ld
 in

 “R
ev

al
ua

tio
n 

su
rp

lu
s”

 in
 re

sp
ec

t o
f t

he
 s

am
e 

as
se

t. 

 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
po

lic
y 

ad
op

te
d 

be
fo

re
 3

0 
Ju

ne
 2

02
2 

 
La

nd
 i

s 
st

at
ed

 a
t 

co
st

. 
Bu

ild
in

gs
 a

nd
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t 
ar

e 
st

at
ed

 a
t 

co
st

 l
es

s 
ac

cu
m

ul
at

ed
 

de
pr

ec
ia

tio
n 

an
d 

al
lo

w
an

ce
 fo

r l
os

s 
on

 im
pa

irm
en

t o
f a

ss
et

s 
(if

 a
ny

). 

9 

 
D

ep
re

ci
at

io
n 

of
 b

ui
ld

in
gs

 a
nd

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t i

s 
ca

lc
ul

at
ed

 b
y 

re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 th
ei

r c
os

ts
 le

ss
 re

si
du

al
 

va
lu

es
 (i

f a
ny

) o
n 

th
e 

st
ra

ig
ht

-li
ne

 b
as

is
 o

ve
r t

he
 fo

llo
w

in
g 

es
tim

at
ed

 u
se

fu
l l

iv
es

: 

La
nd

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 
20

, 2
5 

ye
ar

s 

O
ffi

ce
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

an
d 

bu
ild

in
g 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

20
 y

ea
rs

 

Po
w

er
 p

la
nt

s 
12

, 2
0,

 2
5 

ye
ar

s 

So
la

r r
oo

f s
ys

te
m

s 
25

, 3
0 

ye
ar

s 

M
ac

hi
ne

ry
, e

qu
ip

m
en

t a
nd

 s
pa

re
 p

ar
ts

 
12

, 2
0,

 2
5 

ye
ar

s 

Eq
ui

pm
en

t, 
to

ol
s,

 fu
rn

itu
re

 a
nd

 fi
xt

ur
es

 
3,

 5
, 1

0,
 2

0 
ye

ar
s 

Ve
hi

cl
es

 
5 

ye
ar

s 

 
D

ep
re

ci
at

io
n 

is
 c

ha
rg

ed
 t

o 
pr

of
it 

or
 lo

ss
. 

N
o 

de
pr

ec
ia

tio
n 

is
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

on
 la

nd
 a

nd
 a

ss
et

s 
 

un
de

r i
ns

ta
lla

tio
n 

an
d 

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n.

 

 
An

 it
em

 o
f p

ro
pe

rty
, p

la
nt

 a
nd

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t i

s 
de

re
co

gn
is

ed
 u

po
n 

di
sp

os
al

 o
r w

he
n 

no
 fu

tu
re

 

ec
on

om
ic

 b
en

ef
its

 a
re

 e
xp

ec
te

d 
fro

m
 it

s 
us

e 
or

 d
is

po
sa

l. 
An

y 
ga

in
 o

r l
os

s 
ar

is
in

g 
on

 d
is

po
sa

l 

of
 a

n 
as

se
t i

s 
in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 p
ro

fit
 o

r l
os

s 
w

he
n 

th
e 

as
se

t i
s 

de
re

co
gn

is
ed

. 

5.
7 

B
or

ro
w

in
g 

co
st

s 

 
Bo

rro
w

in
g 

co
st

s 
di

re
ct

ly
 a

ttr
ib

ut
ab

le
 to

 th
e 

ac
qu

is
iti

on
, c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

or
 p

ro
du

ct
io

n 
of

 a
n 

as
se

t 

th
at

 n
ec

es
sa

ril
y 

ta
ke

s 
a 

su
bs

ta
nt

ia
l p

er
io

d 
of

 ti
m

e 
to

 g
et

 r
ea

dy
 fo

r i
ts

 in
te

nd
ed

 u
se

 o
r 

sa
le

  

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
lis

ed
 a

s 
pa

rt 
of

 th
e 

co
st

 o
f t

he
 re

sp
ec

tiv
e 

as
se

ts
. A

ll o
th

er
 b

or
ro

w
in

g 
co

st
s 

ar
e 

ex
pe

ns
ed

 

in
 th

e 
pe

rio
d 

th
ey

 a
re

 in
cu

rre
d.

 B
or

ro
w

in
g 

co
st

s 
co

ns
is

t o
f i

nt
er

es
t a

nd
 o

th
er

 c
os

ts
 th

at
 a

n 
en

tit
y 

in
cu

rs
 in

 c
on

ne
ct

io
n 

w
ith

 th
e 

bo
rro

w
in

g 
of

 fu
nd

s.
 

5.
8 

In
ta

ng
ib

le
 a

ss
et

s 

 
In

ta
ng

ib
le

 a
ss

et
s 

ar
e 

re
co

gn
is

ed
 a

t c
os

t. 
Fo

llo
w

in
g 

th
e 

in
iti

al
 re

co
gn

iti
on

, t
he

 in
ta

ng
ib

le
 a

ss
et

s 

ar
e 

ca
rri

ed
 a

t 
co

st
 le

ss
 a

ny
 a

cc
um

ul
at

ed
 a

m
or

tis
at

io
n 

an
d 

an
y 

ac
cu

m
ul

at
ed

 im
pa

irm
en

t 

lo
ss

es
 (i

f a
ny

). 
 

 
In

ta
ng

ib
le

 a
ss

et
s 

w
ith

 fi
ni

te
 li

ve
s 

ar
e 

am
or

tis
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

st
ra

ig
ht

-li
ne

 b
as

is
 o

ve
r t

he
 e

co
no

m
ic

 

us
ef

ul
 li

fe
 a

nd
 te

st
ed

 fo
r i

m
pa

irm
en

t w
he

ne
ve

r t
he

re
 is

 a
n 

in
di

ca
tio

n 
th

at
 th

e 
in

ta
ng

ib
le

 a
ss

et
 

m
ay

 b
e 

im
pa

ire
d.

 T
he

 a
m

or
tis

at
io

n 
pe

rio
d 

an
d 

th
e 

am
or

tis
at

io
n 

m
et

ho
d 

of
 s

uc
h 

in
ta

ng
ib

le
 

as
se

ts
 a

re
 re

vi
ew

ed
 a

t l
ea

st
 a

t e
ac

h 
fin

an
ci

al
 y

ea
r e

nd
. T

he
 a

m
or

tis
at

io
n 

ex
pe

ns
e 

is
 c

ha
rg

ed
 

to
 p

ro
fit

 o
r l

os
s.

 

 
A 

su
m

m
ar

y 
of

 th
e 

in
ta

ng
ib

le
 a

ss
et

s 
w

ith
 fi

ni
te

 u
se

fu
l l

iv
es

 is
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:
 

 
U

se
fu

l l
iv

es
 

El
ec

tri
c 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n 

lin
ka

ge
 ri

gh
t 

12
, 2

5 
ye

ar
s 

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

an
d 

ex
te

rn
al

 e
le

ct
ric

 d
is

tri
bu

tio
n 

sy
st

em
 

20
, 2

5 
ye

ar
s 

C
om

pu
te

r s
of

tw
ar

e 
3,

 5
 y

ea
rs
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5.
9 

Le
as

es
 

 
At

 in
ce

pt
io

n 
of

 co
nt

ra
ct

, t
he

 G
ro

up
 a

ss
es

se
s 

w
he

th
er

 a
 co

nt
ra

ct
 is

, o
r c

on
ta

in
s,

 a
 le

as
e.

 A
 co

nt
ra

ct
 

is
, o

r c
on

ta
in

s,
 a

 le
as

e 
if 

th
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

 c
on

ve
ys

 th
e 

rig
ht

 to
 c

on
tro

l t
he

 u
se

 o
f a

n 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
se

t 

fo
r a

 p
er

io
d 

of
 ti

m
e 

in
 e

xc
ha

ng
e 

fo
r c

on
si

de
ra

tio
n.

 

 
Th

e 
G

ro
up

 a
s 

a 
le

ss
ee

 a
pp

lie
d 

a 
si

ng
le

 re
co

gn
iti

on
 a

nd
 m

ea
su

re
m

en
t a

pp
ro

ac
h 

fo
r a

ll l
ea

se
s,

 

ex
ce

pt
 fo

r 
sh

or
t-t

er
m

 le
as

es
 a

nd
 le

as
es

 o
f 

lo
w

-v
al

ue
 a

ss
et

s.
 A

t t
he

 c
om

m
en

ce
m

en
t d

at
e 

 

of
 th

e 
le

as
e 

(i.
e.

, t
he

 d
at

e 
th

e 
un

de
rly

in
g 

as
se

t i
s 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
fo

r u
se

), 
th

e 
G

ro
up

 re
co

gn
is

es
 

rig
ht

-o
f-u

se
 a

ss
et

s 
re

pr
es

en
tin

g 
th

e 
rig

ht
 t

o 
us

e 
un

de
rly

in
g 

as
se

ts
 a

nd
 l

ea
se

 l
ia

bi
lit

ie
s 

 

ba
se

d 
on

 le
as

e 
pa

ym
en

ts
. 

 
R

ig
ht

-o
f-u

se
 a

ss
et

s 

 
R

ig
ht

-o
f-u

se
 a

ss
et

s 
ar

e 
m

ea
su

re
d 

at
 c

os
t, 

le
ss

 a
cc

um
ul

at
ed

 d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n,
 a

ny
 a

cc
um

ul
at

ed
 

im
pa

irm
en

t 
lo

ss
es

, 
an

d 
ad

ju
st

ed
 f

or
 a

ny
 r

em
ea

su
re

m
en

t 
of

 l
ea

se
 l

ia
bi

lit
ie

s.
 T

he
 c

os
t 

 

of
 ri

gh
t-o

f-u
se

 a
ss

et
s 

in
cl

ud
es

 th
e 

am
ou

nt
 o

f l
ea

se
 li

ab
ilit

ie
s 

in
iti

al
ly

 re
co

gn
is

ed
, i

ni
tia

l d
ire

ct
 

co
st

s 
in

cu
rre

d,
 a

nd
 le

as
e 

pa
ym

en
ts

 m
ad

e 
at

 o
r b

ef
or

e 
th

e 
co

m
m

en
ce

m
en

t d
at

e 
of

 th
e 

le
as

e 

le
ss

 a
ny

 le
as

e 
in

ce
nt

iv
es

 re
ce

iv
ed

. 

 
D

ep
re

cia
tio

n 
of

 ri
gh

t-o
f-u

se
 a

ss
et

s 
ar

e 
ca

lcu
la

te
d 

by
 re

fe
re

nc
e 

to
 th

ei
r c

os
ts

, o
n 

th
e 

st
ra

ig
ht

-li
ne

 

ba
si

s 
ov

er
 th

e 
sh

or
te

r o
f t

he
ir 

es
tim

at
ed

 u
se

fu
l l

iv
es

 a
nd

 th
e 

le
as

e 
te

rm
. 

La
nd

 
20

, 2
5,

 3
0 

ye
ar

s 

M
ot

or
 v

eh
ic

le
s 

5 
ye

ar
s 

 
If 

ow
ne

rs
hi

p 
of

 th
e 

le
as

ed
 a

ss
et

 is
 t

ra
ns

fe
rre

d 
to

 t
he

 G
ro

up
 a

t t
he

 e
nd

 o
f t

he
 le

as
e 

te
rm

  

or
 t

he
 c

os
t 

re
fle

ct
s 

th
e 

ex
er

ci
se

 o
f 

a 
pu

rc
ha

se
 o

pt
io

n,
 d

ep
re

ci
at

io
n 

is
 c

al
cu

la
te

d 
us

in
g 

 

th
e 

es
tim

at
ed

 u
se

fu
l l

ife
 o

f t
he

 a
ss

et
. 

 
Le

as
e 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 

 
Le

as
e 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
ar

e 
m

ea
su

re
d 

at
 th

e 
pr

es
en

t v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 le
as

e 
pa

ym
en

ts
 to

 b
e 

m
ad

e 
ov

er
 

th
e 

le
as

e 
te

rm
. 

Th
e 

le
as

e 
pa

ym
en

ts
 i

nc
lu

de
 f

ix
ed

 p
ay

m
en

ts
 l

es
s 

an
y 

le
as

e 
in

ce
nt

iv
es

 

re
ce

iv
ab

le
, 

va
ria

bl
e 

le
as

e 
pa

ym
en

ts
 t

ha
t 

de
pe

nd
 o

n 
an

 i
nd

ex
 o

r 
a 

ra
te

, 
an

d 
am

ou
nt

s 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 t
o 

be
 p

ay
ab

le
 u

nd
er

 r
es

id
ua

l v
al

ue
 g

ua
ra

nt
ee

s.
 M

or
eo

ve
r, 

th
e 

le
as

e 
pa

ym
en

ts
 

in
cl

ud
e 

th
e 

ex
er

ci
se

 p
ric

e 
of

 a
 p

ur
ch

as
e 

op
tio

n 
re

as
on

ab
ly

 c
er

ta
in

 t
o 

be
 e

xe
rc

is
ed

 b
y 

 

th
e 

G
ro

up
 a

nd
 p

ay
m

en
ts

 o
f 

pe
na

lti
es

 f
or

 t
er

m
in

at
in

g 
th

e 
le

as
e,

 if
 t

he
 le

as
e 

te
rm

 r
ef

le
ct

s 
 

th
e 

G
ro

up
 e

xe
rc

is
in

g 
an

 o
pt

io
n 

to
 te

rm
in

at
e.

 V
ar

ia
bl

e 
le

as
e 

pa
ym

en
ts

 th
at

 d
o 

no
t d

ep
en

d 
 

on
 a

n 
in

de
x 

or
 a

 ra
te

 a
re

 re
co

gn
is

ed
 a

s 
ex

pe
ns

es
 in

 th
e 

pe
rio

d 
in

 w
hi

ch
 th

e 
ev

en
t o

r c
on

di
tio

n 

th
at

 tr
ig

ge
rs

 th
e 

pa
ym

en
t o

cc
ur

s.
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Th

e 
G

ro
up

 d
is

co
un

te
d 

th
e 

pr
es

en
t v

al
ue

 o
f t

he
 le

as
e 

pa
ym

en
ts

 b
y 

th
e 

in
te

re
st

 ra
te

 im
pl

ic
it 

 

in
 t

he
 l

ea
se

 o
r 

th
e 

G
ro

up
’s

 i
nc

re
m

en
ta

l 
bo

rro
w

in
g 

ra
te

. 
Af

te
r 

th
e 

co
m

m
en

ce
m

en
t 

da
te

, 
 

th
e 

am
ou

nt
 o

f l
ea

se
 li

ab
ilit

ie
s 

is
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

to
 r

ef
le

ct
 th

e 
ac

cr
et

io
n 

of
 in

te
re

st
 a

nd
 r

ed
uc

ed
  

fo
r t

he
 le

as
e 

pa
ym

en
ts

 m
ad

e.
 In

 a
dd

iti
on

, t
he

 c
ar

ry
in

g 
am

ou
nt

 o
f l

ea
se

 lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
is

 re
m

ea
su

re
d 

if 
th

er
e 

is
 a

 c
ha

ng
e 

in
 t

he
 le

as
e 

te
rm

, 
a 

ch
an

ge
 in

 t
he

 le
as

e 
pa

ym
en

ts
 o

r 
a 

ch
an

ge
 in

  
th

e 
as

se
ss

m
en

t o
f a

n 
op

tio
n 

to
 p

ur
ch

as
e 

th
e 

un
de

rly
in

g 
as

se
t. 

 
Sh

or
t-t

er
m

 le
as

es
 a

nd
 le

as
es

 o
f l

ow
-v

al
ue

 a
ss

et
s 

 
A 

le
as

e 
th

at
 h

as
 a

 le
as

e 
te

rm
 le

ss
 th

an
 o

r e
qu

al
 to

 1
2 

m
on

th
s 

fro
m

 c
om

m
en

ce
m

en
t d

at
e 

or
 

a 
le

as
e 

of
 lo

w
-v

al
ue

 a
ss

et
s 

is
 re

co
gn

is
ed

 a
s 

ex
pe

ns
es

 o
n 

a 
st

ra
ig

ht
-li

ne
 b

as
is

 o
ve

r t
he

 le
as

e 
te

rm
. 

5.
10

 
R

el
at

ed
 p

ar
ty

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 

 
R

el
at

ed
 p

ar
tie

s 
co

m
pr

is
e 

en
te

rp
ris

es
 o

r 
in

di
vi

du
al

s 
th

at
 c

on
tro

l, 
or

 a
re

 c
on

tro
lle

d 
by

, 
 

th
e 

C
om

pa
ny

, 
w

he
th

er
 d

ire
ct

ly
 o

r 
in

di
re

ct
ly

, 
or

 w
hi

ch
 a

re
 u

nd
er

 c
om

m
on

 c
on

tro
l 

w
ith

  
th

e 
C

om
pa

ny
. 

 
Th

ey
 a

ls
o 

in
cl

ud
e 

as
so

ci
at

es
 a

nd
 in

di
vi

du
al

s 
or

 e
nt

er
pr

is
es

 w
hi

ch
 d

ire
ct

ly
 o

r i
nd

ire
ct

ly
 o

w
n 

 

a 
vo

tin
g 

in
te

re
st

 in
 th

e 
C

om
pa

ny
 th

at
 g

iv
es

 th
em

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t i

nf
lu

en
ce

 o
ve

r 
th

e 
C

om
pa

ny
, 

 

ke
y 

m
an

ag
em

en
t p

er
so

nn
el

, d
ire

ct
or

s,
 a

nd
 o

ffi
ce

rs
 w

ith
 a

ut
ho

rit
y 

in
 th

e 
pl

an
ni

ng
 a

nd
 d

ire
ct

io
n 

of
 th

e 
C

om
pa

ny
’s

 o
pe

ra
tio

ns
. 

5.
11

 
B

us
in

es
s 

co
m

bi
na

tio
ns

 u
nd

er
 c

om
m

on
 c

on
tr

ol
 

Bu
si

ne
ss

 c
om

bi
na

tio
ns

 u
nd

er
 c

om
m

on
 c

on
tro

l 
ar

e 
ac

co
un

te
d 

fo
r 

us
in

g 
th

e 
po

ol
in

g 
of

 
in

te
re

st
s 

m
et

ho
d,

 w
ith

 th
e 

co
st

 o
f t

he
 b

us
in

es
s 

co
m

bi
na

tio
ns

 u
nd

er
 c

om
m

on
 c

on
tro

l b
ei

ng
 

th
e 

fa
ir 

va
lu

e,
 a

t t
he

 d
at

e 
of

 e
xc

ha
ng

e,
 o

f 
th

e 
co

ns
id

er
at

io
n 

tra
ns

fe
rre

d 
to

 o
bt

ai
n 

co
nt

ro
l. 

 

Th
e 

as
se

ts
 a

nd
 li

ab
ilit

ie
s 

of
 th

e 
en

tit
ie

s 
po

ol
ed

 a
re

 re
co

gn
is

ed
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

th
ei

r b
oo

k 
va

lu
es

, 
 

in
 p

ro
po

rti
on

 to
 th

e 
in

te
re

st
s 

pr
ev

io
us

ly
 u

nd
er

 c
om

m
on

 c
on

tro
l. 

 
D

iff
er

en
ce

s 
be

tw
ee

n 
th

e 
co

st
 o

f 
th

e 
bu

si
ne

ss
 c

om
bi

na
tio

n 
un

de
r 

co
m

m
on

 c
on

tro
l 

an
d 

 

th
e 

ac
qu

ire
r’s

 p
ro

po
rti

on
at

e 
in

te
re

st
s 

in
 t

he
 b

oo
k 

va
lu

e 
of

 t
he

 p
oo

le
d 

en
tit

ie
s 

ar
e 

di
re

ct
ly

 
re

co
gn

is
ed

 in
 s

ha
re

ho
ld

er
s’

 e
qu

ity
 (a

nd
 if

 th
e 

po
ol

ed
 e

nt
iti

es
 h

av
e 

pr
of

it 
or

 lo
ss

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 
di

re
ct

ly
 r

ec
og

ni
se

d 
in

 t
he

 s
ha

re
ho

ld
er

s’
 e

qu
ity

, 
th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 a

fte
r 

bu
si

ne
ss

 
co

m
bi

na
tio

n 
pr

es
en

t t
he

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
n 

as
 if

 th
e 

bu
si

ne
ss

 c
om

bi
na

tio
n 

oc
cu

rre
d 

at
 th

e 
ea

rli
es

t 
re

po
rti

ng
 d

at
e)

. 
Th

e 
re

m
ai

ni
ng

 d
iff

er
en

ce
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

co
st

 o
f 

th
e 

bu
si

ne
ss

 c
om

bi
na

tio
n 

un
de

r c
om

m
on

 c
on

tro
l a

nd
 th

e 
ac

qu
ire

r’s
 p

ro
po

rti
on

at
e 

in
te

re
st

 in
 th

e 
bo

ok
 v

al
ue

 th
e 

po
ol

ed
 

en
tit

ie
s,

 a
fte

r 
re

co
gn

is
in

g 
th

e 
pr

of
it 

or
 l

os
s 

tra
ns

ac
tio

ns
 d

ire
ct

ly
 i

n 
sh

ar
eh

ol
de

rs
’ 

eq
ui

ty
, 

 

is
 

pr
es

en
te

d 
as

 
“S

ur
pl

us
 

(d
ef

ic
it)

 
on

 
bu

si
ne

ss
 

co
m

bi
na

tio
n 

un
de

r 
co

m
m

on
 

co
nt

ro
l” 

 

in
 s

ha
re

ho
ld

er
s’

 e
qu

ity
  

 
C

os
ts

 re
la

tin
g 

to
 b

us
in

es
s 

co
m

bi
na

tio
ns

 u
nd

er
 c

om
m

on
 c

on
tro

l a
re

 a
cc

ou
nt

ed
 fo

r a
s 

ex
pe

ns
es

 
in

 th
e 

pe
rio

d 
in

 w
hi

ch
 th

e 
bu

si
ne

ss
 c

om
bi

na
tio

n 
oc

cu
rre

d.
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5.
12

 
Fo

re
ig

n 
cu

rr
en

ci
es

 

 
Th

e 
co

ns
ol

id
at

ed
 a

nd
 s

ep
ar

at
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 a
re

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 in

 B
ah

t, 
w

hi
ch

 is
 a

ls
o 

 

th
e 

C
om

pa
ny

’s
 fu

nc
tio

na
l c

ur
re

nc
y.

 It
em

s 
of

 e
ac

h 
en

tit
y 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 th

e 
co

ns
ol

id
at

ed
 fi

na
nc

ia
l 

st
at

em
en

ts
 a

re
 m

ea
su

re
d 

us
in

g 
th

e 
fu

nc
tio

na
l c

ur
re

nc
y 

of
 th

at
 e

nt
ity

. 

 
Tr

an
sa

ct
io

ns
 in

 f
or

ei
gn

 c
ur

re
nc

ie
s 

ar
e 

tra
ns

la
te

d 
in

to
 f

un
ct

io
na

l c
ur

re
nc

ie
s 

of
 e

ac
h 

en
tit

y 
 

at
 t

he
 e

xc
ha

ng
e 

ra
te

 r
ul

in
g 

at
 t

he
 d

at
e 

of
 t

he
 t

ra
ns

ac
tio

n.
 M

on
et

ar
y 

as
se

ts
 a

nd
 li

ab
ilit

ie
s 

de
no

m
in

at
ed

 in
 f

or
ei

gn
 c

ur
re

nc
ie

s 
ar

e 
tra

ns
la

te
d 

in
to

 f
un

ct
io

na
l c

ur
re

nc
ie

s 
of

 e
ac

h 
en

tit
y 

 

at
 th

e 
ex

ch
an

ge
 ra

te
 ru

lin
g 

at
 th

e 
en

d 
of

 re
po

rti
ng

 p
er

io
d.

 

 
G

ai
ns

 a
nd

 lo
ss

es
 o

n 
ex

ch
an

ge
 a

re
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 d
et

er
m

in
in

g 
in

co
m

e,
 e

xc
ep

t f
or

 g
ai

n 
an

d 
lo

ss
 

on
 e

xc
ha

ng
e 

ra
te

 o
f 

fin
an

ci
al

 l
ia

bi
lit

ie
s 

de
si

gn
at

ed
 a

s 
he

dg
in

g 
in

st
ru

m
en

ts
 f

or
 c

as
hf

lo
w

 

he
dg

e.
 T

he
 e

ffe
ct

iv
e 

po
rti

on
 o

f 
th

e 
ga

in
 o

r 
lo

ss
 o

n 
ex

ch
an

ge
 r

at
e 

is
 r

ec
og

ni
se

d 
in

 o
th

er
 

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 i

nc
om

e 
in

 t
he

 c
as

h 
flo

w
 h

ed
ge

 r
es

er
ve

, 
w

hi
le

 a
ny

 i
ne

ffe
ct

iv
e 

po
rti

on
  

is
 re

co
gn

is
ed

 im
m

ed
ia

te
ly

 in
 p

ro
fit

 o
r l

os
s.

 

 
Fo

re
ig

n 
op

er
at

io
ns

 

 
As

se
ts

 a
nd

 lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
of

 e
ac

h 
fo

re
ig

n 
op

er
at

io
n 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 th

e 
co

ns
ol

id
at

ed
 fi

na
nc

ia
l s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

ar
e 

tra
ns

la
te

d 
in

to
 B

ah
t u

si
ng

 th
e 

ex
ch

an
ge

 r
at

e 
pr

ev
ai

lin
g 

at
 th

e 
en

d 
of

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
pe

rio
d.

 

Ite
m

s 
in

 s
ta

te
m

en
t o

f c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 in

co
m

e 
of

 fo
re

ig
n 

op
er

at
io

ns
 tr

an
sl

at
ed

 in
to

 B
ah

t u
si

ng
 

th
e 

ex
ch

an
ge

 r
at

e 
ru

lin
g 

at
 th

e 
da

te
 o

f t
he

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
n 

or
 y

ea
rly

 a
ve

ra
ge

 e
xc

ha
ng

e 
ra

te
s.

  

Th
e 

ex
ch

an
ge

 d
iff

er
en

ce
s 

ar
is

in
g 

on
 t

ra
ns

la
tio

n 
fo

r 
co

ns
ol

id
at

io
n 

ar
e 

re
co

gn
is

ed
 in

 o
th

er
 

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 in

co
m

e,
 a

nd
 p

re
se

nt
ed

 in
 th

e 
fo

re
ig

n 
cu

rre
nc

y 
tra

ns
la

tio
n 

re
se

rv
e 

in
 e

qu
ity

. 

 
W

he
n 

th
e 

se
ttl

em
en

t o
f a

 m
on

et
ar

y 
ite

m
 b

or
ro

w
in

g 
fro

m
 o

r 
le

nd
in

g 
to

 a
 fo

re
ig

n 
op

er
at

io
n 

 

is
 n

ei
th

er
 p

la
nn

ed
 n

or
 lik

el
y 

in
 th

e 
fo

re
se

ea
bl

e 
fu

tu
re

, g
ai

ns
 a

nd
 lo

ss
es

 a
ris

in
g 

fro
m

 tr
an

sl
at

io
n 

of
 s

uc
h 

m
on

et
ar

y 
ite

m
 a

re
 r

ec
og

ni
se

d 
in

 o
th

er
 c

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 in
co

m
e,

 a
nd

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 in

  

th
e 

fo
re

ig
n 

cu
rre

nc
y 

tra
ns

la
tio

n 
re

se
rv

e 
in

 e
qu

ity
 u

nt
il 

lo
an

 s
et

tle
m

en
t. 

5.
13

 
Im

pa
irm

en
t o

f n
on

-fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s 

 
At

 th
e 

en
d 

of
 e

ac
h 

re
po

rti
ng

 p
er

io
d,

 th
e 

G
ro

up
 p

er
fo

rm
s 

im
pa

irm
en

t r
ev

ie
w

s 
in

 r
es

pe
ct

 o
f 

 

th
e 

pr
op

er
ty

, p
la

nt
 a

nd
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t, 
rig

ht
-o

f-u
se

 a
ss

et
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 in
ta

ng
ib

le
 a

ss
et

s 
w

he
ne

ve
r 

ev
en

ts
 o

r c
ha

ng
es

 in
 c

irc
um

st
an

ce
s 

in
di

ca
te

 th
at

 a
n 

as
se

t m
ay

 b
e 

im
pa

ire
d.

 A
n 

im
pa

irm
en

t 

lo
ss

 is
 re

co
gn

is
ed

 w
he

n 
th

e 
re

co
ve

ra
bl

e 
am

ou
nt

 o
f a

n 
as

se
t, 

w
hi

ch
 is

 th
e 

hi
gh

er
 o

f t
he

 a
ss

et
’s

 

fa
ir 

va
lu

e 
le

ss
 c

os
ts

 to
 s

el
l a

nd
 it

s 
va

lu
e 

in
 u

se
, i

s 
le

ss
 th

an
 th

e 
ca

rry
in

g 
am

ou
nt

. 

 
An

 im
pa

irm
en

t l
os

s 
is

 re
co

gn
is

ed
 in

 p
ro

fit
 o

r l
os

s.
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5.
14

  
Em

pl
oy

ee
 b

en
ef

its
 

 
Sh

or
t-t

er
m

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
 b

en
ef

its
 

 
Sa

la
rie

s,
 w

ag
es

, 
bo

nu
se

s 
an

d 
co

nt
rib

ut
io

ns
 t

o 
th

e 
so

ci
al

 s
ec

ur
ity

 f
un

d 
ar

e 
re

co
gn

is
ed

  

as
 e

xp
en

se
s 

w
he

n 
in

cu
rre

d.
 

 
Po

st
-e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t b

en
ef

its
  

 
D

ef
in

ed
 C

on
tri

bu
tio

n 
pl

an
s 

 
Th

e 
G

ro
up

 a
nd

 it
s 

em
pl

oy
ee

s 
ha

ve
 jo

in
tly

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

a 
pr

ov
id

en
d 

fu
nd

. T
he

 fu
nd

 is
 m

on
th

ly
 

co
nt

rib
ut

ed
 b

y 
em

pl
oy

ee
s 

an
d 

by
 th

e 
G

ro
up

. T
he

 fu
nd

’s
 a

ss
et

s 
ar

e 
he

ld
 in

 a
 s

ep
ar

at
e 

tru
st

 

an
d 

th
e 

G
ro

up
’s

 c
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

 a
re

 re
co

gn
iz

ed
 a

s 
ex

pe
ns

es
 w

he
n 

in
cu

rre
d.

  

 
D

ef
in

ed
 b

en
ef

it 
pl

an
s 

 
Th

e 
G

ro
up

 h
as

 o
bl

ig
at

io
ns

 in
 re

sp
ec

t o
f t

he
 s

ev
er

an
ce

 p
ay

m
en

ts
 it

 m
us

t m
ak

e 
to

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
s 

up
on

 r
et

ire
m

en
t 

un
de

r 
la

bo
r 

la
w

. 
Th

e 
G

ro
up

 t
re

at
s 

th
es

e 
se

ve
ra

nc
e 

pa
ym

en
t 

ob
lig

at
io

ns
  

as
 a

 d
ef

in
ed

 b
en

ef
it 

pl
an

. 

 
Th

e 
ob

lig
at

io
n 

un
de

r 
th

e 
de

fin
ed

 b
en

ef
it 

pl
an

 is
 d

et
er

m
in

ed
 b

y 
a 

pr
of

es
si
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 p
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 p
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 b
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 re
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e 

su
m

 o
f i

nc
om

e 
ta

x 
cu

rre
nt

ly
 p

ay
ab

le
 a

nd
 d
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 p
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e 
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d 
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 b
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e 
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n 
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e 
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 d
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d 
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e 
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 d
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ce
s 

be
tw

ee
n 

th
e 

ta
x 
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d 
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r c
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in
g 
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ou
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 th
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h 
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 p
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 th
e 
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en
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e 
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ng

 p
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 d
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d 
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se
ts
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 te
m
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d 
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 c
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d 
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d 
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ex
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 p
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e 
th

at
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e 
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of
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bl
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ch

 d
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le
 te
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 d
iff
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d 
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 c
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rti
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 d

at
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 th
e 

G
ro

up
 re

vi
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an
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re
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e 

ca
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in
g 

am
ou

nt
 o

f d
ef

er
re

d 
ta

x 
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se

ts
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 th
e 

ex
te

nt
 th

at
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 is
 n

o 
lo

ng
er

 p
ro

ba
bl

e 
th

at
 s

uf
fic

ie
nt

 ta
xa

bl
e 

pr
of

it 
w
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ila
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to
 a

llo
w
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ll 
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 d
ef
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 u
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Th

e 
G

ro
up

 in
iti

al
ly

 m
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ra

ns
ac

tio
n 

co
st

s.
 H

ow
ev
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 d
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a 
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in
an
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 c
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ne

nt
, 
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e 
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at
 th
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n 

pr
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 d
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ed
 in

 th
e 
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un
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fie
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t 

in
iti

al
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 b
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 c
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ir 
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e 
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ot
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 f
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va

lu
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ro
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pr
of
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 c
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n 
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 fi
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al
 r
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 d
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 b
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th
e 

G
ro

up
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 b
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m

od
el
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r m

an
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in
g 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

th
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l 

ca
sh

 fl
ow
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ch
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te
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e 
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an
ci

al
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ss
et
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 c
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Th

e 
G

ro
up
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 c
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l c
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d 
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e 
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e 
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an

ci
al

 a
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 c
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el
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 c
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ra
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d 
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G
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gn
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ed
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 p
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he
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e 
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se
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, m
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en
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 c
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 e
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 c
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ru
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 d
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C

I. 
Th

e 
cl

as
si
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 d

et
er

m
in

ed
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t b
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 c
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 c
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 d
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 d
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 c
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 c
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d 
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ce
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 f
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 d
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at
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e 
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lit
ie
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 a

t 
in

iti
al
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ec

og
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tio
n 

th
e 

G
ro

up
’s

 f
in

an
ci

al
 l

ia
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lit
ie

s 
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e 

re
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gn
is

ed
 a

t f
ai

r v
al

ue
 n

et
 o

f t
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ns
ac

tio
n 
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st

s 
an

d 
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si

fie
d 
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ie
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to
 b

e 
su
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ue
nt
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m
ea

su
re

d 
at

 a
m

or
tis

ed
 c

os
t u

si
ng
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e 

EI
R
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et

ho
d.

 G
ai
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 a
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 lo
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 re
co

gn
is

ed
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 p
ro
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 w

he
n 
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e 
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lit
ie

s 
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e 
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gn
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ed
 a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
th
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ug

h 
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e 
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R
 a

m
or

tis
at
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n 

pr
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es
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In
 d

et
er

m
in

in
g 

am
or

tis
ed

 c
os

t, 
th
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G

ro
up

 t
ak

es
 in

to
 a

cc
ou

nt
 a

ny
 f

ee
s 

or
 c

os
ts

 t
ha

t 
ar

e 
 

an
 in

te
gr

al
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 E
IR

. T
he

 E
IR

 a
m

or
tis

at
io

n 
is

 in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 fi

na
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e 
co

st
s 

in
 p

ro
fit

 o
r l

os
s.

 

 
D

er
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og
ni

tio
n 

of
 fi
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nc

ia
l i

ns
tr

um
en

ts
 

 
A 

fin
an

ci
al

 a
ss

et
 i

s 
pr

im
ar

ily
 d

er
ec

og
ni

se
d 

w
he

n 
th

e 
rig

ht
s 

to
 r

ec
ei

ve
 c

as
h 

flo
w

s 
fro

m
  

th
e 

as
se

t 
ha

ve
 e

xp
ire

d 
or

 h
av

e 
be

en
 t

ra
ns

fe
rre

d 
an

d 
ei

th
er

 t
he

 G
ro

up
 h
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 t

ra
ns

fe
rre

d 

su
bs

ta
nt

ia
lly

 a
ll 

th
e 

ris
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 a
nd

 r
ew
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f 

th
e 

as
se

t, 
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 t
he

 G
ro

up
 h
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 t

ra
ns

fe
rre

d 
co

nt
ro

l  

of
 th

e 
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se
t. 

 
A 

fin
an

ci
al

 li
ab

ilit
y 

is
 d

er
ec

og
ni

se
d 

w
he

n 
th

e 
ob

lig
at

io
n 

un
de

r 
th

e 
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lit

y 
is

 d
is

ch
ar

ge
d 

or
 

ca
nc

el
le

d 
or

 e
xp

ire
s.

 W
he

n 
an

 e
xi

st
in

g 
fin

an
ci

al
 lia
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lit

y 
is

 re
pl

ac
ed

 b
y 

an
ot

he
r f

ro
m

 th
e 

sa
m

e 

le
nd

er
 o

n 
su

bs
ta

nt
ia

lly
 d

iff
er

en
t t

er
m
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 o

r 
th

e 
te
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s 
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 a

n 
ex

is
tin

g 
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lit

y 
ar

e 
su
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ta

nt
ia

lly
 

m
od

ifie
d,

 s
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h 
an

 e
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ng

e 
or

 m
od

ific
at

io
n 

is 
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at
ed

 a
s 

th
e 

de
re

co
gn

itio
n 

of
 th

e 
or

ig
in

al
 li
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y 

an
d 

th
e 

re
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gn
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 o
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a 
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w
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ilit
y.

 T
he

 d
iff

er
en

ce
 in
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pe
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iv
e 

ca
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g 

am
ou

nt
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co
gn
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 in
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ro
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f f
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G
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 f
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r 
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l 
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st
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m

en
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 F
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PL
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C
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 b
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 o

n 
th

e 
di
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e 
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n 
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e 

co
nt

ra
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ua
l 

ca
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 fl
ow

s 
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or
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e 

w
ith

 th
e 
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nt
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 a
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 a
ll 

th
e 

ca
sh

 fl
ow

s 
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at
 th
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G

ro
up

 e
xp

ec
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 re
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iv

e,
 d

is
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un
te

d 
at

 a
n 

ap
pr

ox
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at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

or
ig

in
al

 e
ffe

ct
iv

e 
in

te
re

st
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r c
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 d
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 p
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 c
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it 
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 r
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 c
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d 
w

he
n 

co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l 

pa
ym

en
ts

 a
re

 m
or

e 
th

an
 3

0 
da

ys
 p

as
t d

ue
 a

nd
 c

on
si

de
rs

 a
 fi

na
nc

ia
l a

ss
et

 a
s 

cr
ed

it 
im

pa
ire

d 

or
 d

ef
au

lt 
w

he
n 

co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l p

ay
m

en
ts

 a
re

 9
0 

da
ys

 p
as

t 
du

e.
 H

ow
ev

er
, 

in
 c

er
ta

in
 c

as
es

, 
 

th
e 

G
ro

up
 m

ay
 a

ls
o 

co
ns

id
er

 a
 fi

na
nc

ia
l a

ss
et

 to
 h

av
e 

a 
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 in
cr

ea
se

 in
 c

re
di

t r
is

k 
an

d 

to
 b

e 
in

 d
ef

au
lt 

us
in

g 
ot

he
r i

nt
er

na
l o

r e
xt

er
na

l i
nf

or
m

at
io

n,
 s

uc
h 

as
 c

re
di

t r
at

in
g 

of
 is

su
er

s.
 

 
Fo

r 
tra

de
 r

ec
ei

va
bl

es
, 

th
e 

G
ro

up
 a

pp
lie

s 
a 

si
m

pl
ifi

ed
 a

pp
ro

ac
h 

in
 c

al
cu

la
tin

g 
EC

Ls
. 

Th
er

ef
or

e,
 th

e 
G

ro
up

 d
oe

s 
no

t t
ra

ck
 c

ha
ng

es
 in

 c
re

di
t r

is
k,

 b
ut

 in
st

ea
d 

re
co

gn
is

es
 a

 lo
ss

 

al
lo

w
an

ce
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

lif
et

im
e 

EC
Ls

 a
t 

ea
ch

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
da

te
. 

EC
L 

ar
e 

ca
lc

ul
at

ed
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

 

its
 h

is
to

ric
al

 c
re

di
t 

lo
ss

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
e 

an
d 

ad
ju

st
ed

 f
or

 f
or

w
ar

d-
lo

ok
in

g 
fa

ct
or

s 
sp

ec
ifi

c 
to

  

th
e 

de
bt

or
s 

an
d 

th
e 

ec
on

om
ic

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t. 

 
A 

fin
an

ci
al

 a
ss

et
 i

s 
w

rit
te

n 
of

f 
w

he
n 

th
er

e 
is

 n
o 

re
as

on
ab

le
 e

xp
ec

ta
tio

n 
of

 r
ec

ov
er

in
g 

 

th
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l c

as
h 

flo
w

s.
 

 
O

ffs
et

tin
g 

of
 fi

na
nc

ia
l i

ns
tr

um
en

ts
 

 
Fi

na
nc

ia
l 

as
se

ts
 a

nd
 f

in
an

ci
al

 l
ia

bi
lit

ie
s 

ar
e 

of
fs

et
, 

an
d 

th
e 

ne
t 

am
ou

nt
 i

s 
re

po
rte

d 
in

  

th
e 

st
at

em
en

t 
of

 f
in

an
ci

al
 p

os
iti

on
 if

 t
he

re
 is

 a
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 e
nf

or
ce

ab
le

 le
ga

l r
ig

ht
 t

o 
of

fs
et

  

th
e 

re
co

gn
is

ed
 a

m
ou

nt
s 

an
d 

th
er

e 
is

 a
n 

in
te

nt
io

n 
to

 s
et

tle
 o

n 
a 

ne
t b

as
is

, t
o 

re
al

is
e 

th
e 

as
se

ts
 

an
d 

se
ttl

e 
th

e 
lia

bi
lit

ie
s 

si
m

ul
ta

ne
ou

sl
y.
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D

er
iv

at
iv

es
 a

nd
 h

ed
ge

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

 
Th

e 
G

ro
up

 u
se

s 
de

riv
at

iv
es

, s
uc

h 
as

 fo
rw

ar
d 

cu
rre

nc
y 

co
nt

ra
ct

s 
an

d 
in

te
re

st
 r

at
e 

sw
ap

s,
  

to
 h

ed
ge

 it
s 

fo
re

ig
n 

cu
rre

nc
y 

ris
ks

 a
nd

 in
te

re
st

 ra
te

 ri
sk

, r
es

pe
ct

iv
el

y.
 

 
D

er
iv

at
iv

es
 a

re
 in

iti
al

ly
 r

ec
og

ni
se

d 
at

 fa
ir 

va
lu

e 
on

 th
e 

da
te

 o
n 

w
hi

ch
 a

 d
er

iv
at

iv
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

  

is
 e

nt
er

ed
 in

to
 a

nd
 a

re
 s

ub
se

qu
en

tly
 r

em
ea

su
re

d 
at

 f
ai

r 
va

lu
e.

 T
he

 s
ub

se
qu

en
t c

ha
ng

es
  

ar
e 

re
co

gn
is

ed
 in

 p
ro

fit
 o

r l
os

s 
un

le
ss

 th
e 

de
riv

at
iv

e 
is

 d
es

ig
na

te
d 

an
d 

ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
as

 a
 h

ed
gi

ng
 

in
st

ru
m

en
t u

nd
er

 c
as

h 
flo

w
 h

ed
ge

. D
er

iv
at

iv
es

 a
re

 c
ar

rie
d 

as
 fi

na
nc

ia
l a

ss
et

s 
w

he
n 

th
e 

fa
ir 

va
lu

e 
is

 p
os

iti
ve

 a
nd

 a
s 

fin
an

ci
al

 li
ab

ilit
ie

s 
w

he
n 

th
e 

fa
ir 

va
lu

e 
is

 n
eg

at
iv

e.
  

 
D

er
iv

at
iv

es
 a

re
 p

re
se

nt
ed

 a
s 

no
n-

cu
rre

nt
 fi

na
nc

ia
l a

ss
et

s 
or

 n
on

-c
ur

re
nt

 fi
na

nc
ia

l l
ia

bi
lit

ie
s 

 

if 
th

e 
re

m
ai

ni
ng

 m
at

ur
ity

 o
f t

he
 in

st
ru

m
en

t i
s 

m
or

e 
th

an
 1

2 
m

on
th

s 
an

d 
it 

is
 n

ot
 d

ue
 to

 b
e 

re
al

is
ed

 o
r 

se
ttl

ed
 w

ith
in

 1
2 

m
on

th
s.

 O
th

er
 d

er
iv

at
iv

es
 a

re
 p

re
se

nt
ed

 a
s 

cu
rre

nt
 f

in
an

ci
al

 

as
se

ts
 o

r c
ur

re
nt

 fi
na

nc
ia

l l
ia

bi
lit

ie
s.
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H

ed
ge

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

 
Th

e 
G

ro
up

 a
pp

lie
s 

he
dg

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

as
 c

as
h 

flo
w

 h
ed

ge
s 

fo
r r

ec
og

ni
se

d 
lia

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
a 

hi
gh

ly
 

pr
ob

ab
le

 fo
re

ca
st

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
n.

 

 
At

 t
he

 in
ce

pt
io

n 
of

 a
 h

ed
gi

ng
 r

el
at

io
ns

hi
p,

 t
he

 G
ro

up
 fo

rm
al

ly
 d

es
ig

na
te

s 
an

d 
do

cu
m

en
ts

  
th

e 
he

dg
in

g 
re

la
tio

ns
hi

p 
to

 w
hi

ch
 i

t 
w

is
he

s 
to

 a
pp

ly
 h

ed
ge

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

an
d 

th
e 

ris
k 

m
an

ag
em

en
t o

bj
ec

tiv
e 

an
d 

st
ra

te
gy

 fo
r u

nd
er

ta
ki

ng
 th

e 
he

dg
e.

  

 
Th

e 
do

cu
m

en
ta

tio
n,

 a
t 

th
e 

in
ce

pt
io

n 
of

 t
he

 h
ed

ge
 a

nd
 o

n 
an

 o
ng

oi
ng

 b
as

is
, 

in
cl

ud
es

 
id

en
tif

ic
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
he

dg
in

g 
in

st
ru

m
en

t, 
th

e 
he

dg
ed

 it
em

, t
he

 n
at

ur
e 

of
 th

e 
ris

k 
be

in
g 

he
dg

ed
 

an
d 

ho
w

 t
he

 G
ro

up
 w

ill 
as

se
ss

 w
he

th
er

 t
he

 h
ed

gi
ng

 r
el

at
io

ns
hi

p 
m

ee
ts

 t
he

 h
ed

ge
 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
, 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
an

al
ys

is
 o

f 
th

e 
so

ur
ce

s 
of

 h
ed

ge
 i

ne
ffe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
 

an
d 

ho
w

 th
e 

he
dg

e 
ra

tio
 is

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

. 
 

 
A 

he
dg

in
g 

re
la

tio
ns

hi
p 

qu
al

ifi
es

 fo
r 

he
dg

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

if 
it 

m
ee

ts
 a

ll 
of

 th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
he

dg
e 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
: 

- 
Th

er
e 

is
 ‘a

n 
ec

on
om

ic
 re

la
tio

ns
hi

p’
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

he
dg

ed
 it

em
 a

nd
 th

e 
he

dg
in

g 
in

st
ru

m
en

t. 

- 
Th

e 
ef

fe
ct

 o
f 

cr
ed

it 
ris

k 
is

 n
ot

 t
he

 d
om

in
an

t 
fa

ct
or

 i
n 

th
e 

va
lu

e 
ch

an
ge

s 
th

at
 r

es
ul

t 
 

fro
m

 th
at

 e
co

no
m

ic
 re

la
tio

ns
hi

p.
 

- 
Th

e 
he

dg
e 

ra
tio

 o
f t

he
 h

ed
gi

ng
 re

la
tio

ns
hi

p 
is

 th
e 

sa
m

e 
as

 th
at

 re
su

lti
ng

 fr
om

 th
e 

qu
an

tit
y 

of
 t

he
 h

ed
ge

d 
ite

m
 t

ha
t 

th
e 

G
ro

up
 a

ct
ua

lly
 h

ed
ge

s 
an

d 
th

e 
qu

an
tit

y 
of

 t
he

 h
ed

gi
ng

 
in

st
ru

m
en

t t
ha

t t
he

 G
ro

up
 a

ct
ua

lly
 u

se
s 

to
 h

ed
ge

 th
at

 q
ua

nt
ity

 o
f h

ed
ge

d 
ite

m
. 

 
H

ed
ge

s 
th

at
 m

ee
t 

al
l 

of
 t

he
 q

ua
lif

yi
ng

 c
rit

er
ia

 f
or

 h
ed

ge
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
ar

e 
ac

co
un

te
d 

fo
r, 

 

as
 d

es
cr

ib
ed

 b
el

ow
: 

- 
Th

e 
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

po
rti

on
 o

f t
he

 g
ai

n 
or

 lo
ss

 o
n 

th
e 

he
dg

in
g 

in
st

ru
m

en
t i

s 
re

co
gn

is
ed

 in
 o

th
er

 
co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 i
nc

om
e 

in
 t

he
 c

as
h 

flo
w

 h
ed

ge
 r

es
er

ve
, 

w
hi

le
 a

ny
 i

ne
ffe

ct
iv

e 
po

rti
on

  
is

 r
ec

og
ni

se
d 

im
m

ed
ia

te
ly

 in
 p

ro
fit

 o
r 

lo
ss

. T
he

 c
as

h 
flo

w
 h

ed
ge

 r
es

er
ve

 is
 a

dj
us

te
d 

to
  

th
e 

lo
w

er
 (i

n 
ab

so
lu

te
 a

m
ou

nt
s)

 o
f t

he
 c

um
ul

at
iv

e 
ga

in
 o

r l
os

s 
on

 th
e 

he
dg

in
g 

in
st

ru
m

en
t 

an
d 

th
e 

cu
m

ul
at

iv
e 

ch
an

ge
 in

 fa
ir 

va
lu

e 
of

 th
e 

he
dg

ed
 it

em
. 

 

- 
Th

e 
w

ay
 c

as
h 

flo
w

 h
ed

ge
 r

es
er

ve
 a

cc
um

ul
at

ed
 i

n 
ot

he
r 

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 i

nc
om

e 
ar

e 
su

bs
eq

ue
nt

ly
 a

cc
ou

nt
ed

 fo
r, 

de
pe

nd
s 

on
 th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 u

nd
er

ly
in

g 
he

dg
ed

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
n.

 
If 

th
e 

he
dg

ed
 tr

an
sa

ct
io

n 
su

bs
eq

ue
nt

ly
 re

su
lts

 in
 th

e 
re

co
gn

iti
on

 o
f a

 n
on

-fi
na

nc
ia

l i
te

m
, 

th
e 

re
se

rv
e 

ac
cu

m
ul

at
ed

 in
 e

qu
ity

 is
 r

em
ov

ed
 fr

om
 t

he
 s

ep
ar

at
e 

co
m

po
ne

nt
 o

f 
eq

ui
ty

  
an

d 
in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 th
e 

in
iti

al
 c

os
t o

r o
th

er
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

am
ou

nt
 o

f t
he

 h
ed

ge
d 

as
se

t o
r l

ia
bi

lit
y.

 
Th

is
 is

 n
ot

 a
 r

ec
la

ss
ifi

ca
tio

n 
ad

ju
st

m
en

t a
nd

 is
 n

ot
 r

ec
og

ni
se

d 
in

 o
th

er
 c

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 
in

co
m

e 
fo

r t
he

 p
er

io
d.

 F
or

 a
ny

 o
th

er
 c

as
h 

flo
w

 h
ed

ge
s,

 th
e 

re
se

rv
e 

ac
cu

m
ul

at
ed

 in
 o

th
er

 
co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 in
co

m
e 

is
 s

ub
se

qu
en

tly
 re

cl
as

si
fie

d 
to

 p
ro

fit
 o

r l
os

s 
as

 a
 re

cl
as

si
fic

at
io

n 
ad

ju
st

m
en

t i
n 

th
e 

sa
m

e 
pe

rio
d 

w
hi

ch
 th

e 
he

dg
ed

 c
as

h 
flo

w
s 

af
fe

ct
 p

ro
fit

 o
r l

os
s.
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- 
If 

ca
sh

 fl
ow

 h
ed

ge
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
is

 d
is

co
nt

in
ue

d,
 th

e 
ca

sh
 fl

ow
 h

ed
ge

 re
se

rv
e 

ac
cu

m
ul

at
ed

 

in
 o

th
er

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 i

nc
om

e 
w

ill 
be

 i
m

m
ed

ia
te

ly
 r

ec
la

ss
ifi

ed
 t

o 
pr

of
it 

or
 l

os
s 

as
  

a 
re

cl
as

si
fic

at
io

n 
ad

ju
st

m
en

t i
f t

he
 h

ed
ge

d 
fu

tu
re

 c
as

h 
flo

w
s 

ar
e 

no
t e

xp
ec

te
d 

to
 o

cc
ur

. 
 

If 
th

e 
he

dg
ed

 fu
tu

re
 c

as
h 

flo
w

s 
ar

e 
st

ill 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 to

 o
cc

ur
 th

e 
ca

sh
 fl

ow
 h

ed
ge

 r
es

er
ve

 

m
us

t r
em

ai
n 

in
 e

qu
ity

 a
nd

 re
co

gn
is

e 
in

 p
ro

fit
 a

nd
 lo

ss
 s

ta
te

m
en

t i
n 

th
e 

sa
m

e 
pe

rio
d 

w
hi

ch
 

th
e 

he
dg

ed
 c

as
h 

flo
w

s 
af

fe
ct

 p
ro

fit
 o

r l
os

s.
 

5.
19

 
Fa

ir 
va

lu
e 

m
ea

su
re

m
en

t 

 
Fa

ir 
va

lu
e 

is
 th

e 
pr

ic
e 

th
at

 w
ou

ld
 b

e 
re

ce
iv

ed
 to

 s
el

l a
n 

as
se

t o
r 

pa
id

 to
 tr

an
sf

er
 a

 li
ab

ilit
y 

 

in
 a

n 
or

de
rly

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
n 

be
tw

ee
n 

bu
ye

r a
nd

 s
el

le
r (

m
ar

ke
t p

ar
tic

ip
an

ts
) a

t t
he

 m
ea

su
re

m
en

t 

da
te

. T
he

 G
ro

up
 a

pp
lie

s 
a 

qu
ot

ed
 m

ar
ke

t p
ric

e 
in

 a
n 

ac
tiv

e 
m

ar
ke

t t
o 

m
ea

su
re

 th
ei

r a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
th

at
 a

re
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

to
 b

e 
m

ea
su

re
d 

at
 fa

ir 
va

lu
e 

by
 r

el
ev

an
t f

in
an

ci
al

 r
ep

or
tin

g 

st
an

da
rd

s.
 E

xc
ep

t 
in

 c
as

e 
of

 n
o 

ac
tiv

e 
m

ar
ke

t 
of

 a
n 

id
en

tic
al

 a
ss

et
 o

r 
lia

bi
lit

y 
or

 w
he

n 
 

a 
qu

ot
ed

 m
ar

ke
t 

pr
ic

e 
is

 n
ot

 a
va

ila
bl

e,
 t

he
 G

ro
up

 m
ea

su
re

s 
fa

ir 
va

lu
e 

us
in

g 
va

lu
at

io
n 

te
ch

ni
qu

e 
th

at
 a

re
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 i

n 
th

e 
ci

rc
um

st
an

ce
s 

an
d 

m
ax

im
is

es
 t

he
 u

se
 o

f 
re

le
va

nt
 

ob
se

rv
ab

le
 in

pu
ts

 r
el

at
ed

 to
 a

ss
et

s 
an

d 
lia

bi
lit

ie
s 

th
at

 a
re

 r
eq

ui
re

d 
to

 b
e 

m
ea

su
re

d 
at

 fa
ir 

va
lu

e.
 

 
Al

l 
as

se
ts

 a
nd

 l
ia

bi
lit

ie
s 

fo
r 

w
hi

ch
 f

ai
r 

va
lu

e 
is

 m
ea

su
re

d 
or

 d
is

cl
os

ed
 i

n 
th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 

st
at

em
en

ts
 a

re
 c

at
eg

or
is

ed
 w

ith
in

 t
he

 f
ai

r 
va

lu
e 

hi
er

ar
ch

y 
in

to
 t

hr
ee

 l
ev

el
s 

ba
se

d 
on

 

ca
te

go
ris

e 
of

 in
pu

t t
o 

be
 u

se
d 

in
 fa

ir 
va

lu
e 

m
ea

su
re

m
en

t a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

 

Le
ve

l 1
 - 

U
se

 o
f q

uo
te

d 
m

ar
ke

t p
ric

es
 in

 a
n 

ac
tiv

e 
m

ar
ke

t f
or

 s
uc

h 
as

se
ts

 o
r l

ia
bi

lit
ie

s 

Le
ve

l 2
 - 

U
se
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l b
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Attachment 4

Information of appraised value asset

 - None -
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Attachment 5

Others

 - None --
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